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PART I
ITEM 1. Business
OVERVIEW
Eagle Materials Inc., through its subsidiaries, (the Company, which may be referred to as we, our, or us) is a leading supplier of heavy construction materials and light building materials in the United States. Our
primary products are commodities that are essential in commercial and residential construction; public construction projects; and projects to build, expand, and repair roads and highways. Demand for our products
is generally cyclical and seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We distribute our products across many United States markets, which provides us with regional economic diversification. We
also produce sand used in hydraulic fracturing as part of our Oil and Gas Proppants sector. As previously announced, we are pursuing alternatives for our Oil and Gas Proppants business, which contributed
approximately 3% of fiscal 2020 revenue.
The Company was founded in 1963 as a building materials subsidiary of Centex Corporation (Centex). It operated as a public company under the name Centex Construction Products, Inc. from April 19, 1994 to
January 30, 2004, at which time Centex completed a tax-free distribution of its shares to its shareholders, and the company was renamed Eagle Materials Inc. (NYSE: EXP).
Eagle Materials Inc. benefits from several competitive strengths that have enabled the Company to deliver consistently strong operating results and profitable growth. These advantages include:
Integrated plant network with a broad and diversified geographic reach - our plants are located near both raw material reserves and customers in high-growth U.S. markets, providing regional diversification
and reducing exposure to regional construction cycles;
Low-cost producer position - which we maintain through cycles;
Capacity flexibility - enabling us to operate at high utilization levels generally, quickly position for downturns, and efficiently ramp up for demand rebounds;
Strong raw material reserves - between 20-50 years of raw-material reserves for each of our cement and wallboard facilities, providing uninterrupted supply of low-cost materials;
Proven management - Our current management team has significant and valuable experience, with an average industry experience of over 20 years, spanning several business cycles. Management’s
conservative balance sheet strategy focuses on maintaining prudent levels of leverage and liquidity through the business cycle, to protect the balance sheet through downturns and enable us to take advantage of
growth opportunities, whether organic or through acquisitions;
These strengths form the basis of the Company’s strategy to protect and advance its competitive position and continue to deliver profitable growth.
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Strategy
We rigorously pursue four overarching strategic objectives that consistently differentiate us from our competitors and contribute to our margin performance and growth: being a low-cost producer in all our markets,
maintaining a decentralized operating structure, operating solely in the United States in regionally diverse and attractive markets, and achieving profitable growth through both strategic acquisitions and the organic
development of our asset network.

Continuously innovate to advance our low-cost producer position
Our goal and the bedrock of our strategy, is to be a low-cost producer in each of the markets in which we compete. We have right-sized capacity to service the markets we cover, and we focus diligently on reducing
costs and making our operations more efficient to manage free cash flow though the economic cycle. Maintaining our low-cost position provides meaningful competitive, financial, and environmental benefits. The
products we make are basic necessities, and competition is often based largely on price, with consistent quality and customer service also being important considerations. Thus, being a low-cost producer is a
competitive advantage and can lead to higher margins, better returns and stronger free cash flow generation. Being a low-cost producer is not only key to our commercial success, it also fully aligns with and
advances our commitment to sustainable environmental practices. To maintain our low-cost producer position, we are always innovating our production processes with the aim of using fewer resources to make the
same commodities. We regularly invest in technologies at our facilities to control emissions and to modify the fuels that we burn.

Maintain decentralized operating structure
The Company operates through a decentralized structure: operations are managed separately, and products are branded and marketed by our individual companies. This regional-market strategy provides several
benefits, including increased familiarity with our customers, higher brand recognition, and lower transportation costs, which is a meaningful advantage in the construction materials industry. We view our cement
plant system and our wallboard plant system as discrete integrated networks, allowing us to ship products and minimize freight costs. The impact of regional construction cycles on our businesses is mitigated to
some degree by our geographic diversification and integrated network of plants.

Operate in regionally diverse and attractive markets
Demand for our products depends on construction activity which tends to correlate with population growth. While the Company’s markets include most of the United States, approximately 80% of our total revenue
is generated in ten states: California, Colorado, Illinois, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, Ohio, Oklahoma, Texas, and Wyoming. Population growth, which is a major driver of construction products and building
materials demand, is expected to grow approximately 28% between the 2010 census and 2040 for these ten states, compared to 23% population growth for the United States as a whole, according to the latest
update in December 2018 by the Weldon Cooper Center at the University of Virginia. In our Light Materials sector, we have located operations primarily in the southern part of the United States, known as the Sun
Belt. According to the same study, population in the Sun Belt is expected to grow by approximately 38% between the 2010 census and 2040.
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Achieve profitable growth through acquisition and organic development
We seek to grow the Company through acquisitions and the organic development of our asset network. Since 2012, we have expanded the Heavy Materials sector principally through acquisitions, with total
investments of approximately $1.9 billion, including our recent purchase of Kosmos Cement Company. These investments have more than doubled our U.S. cement capacity, making us the largest independent
U.S. cement producer.
These acquisitions have expanded our geographic footprint so that we now have a contiguous, integrated cement system from California to western Pennsylvania and south to Texas. We have completed additional
bolt-on acquisitions, which also contribute to our expanded geographic footprint.
The Company will continue to proactively pursue acquisition opportunities that further our growth across the Heavy Materials sector. Our free cash flow enables us to consider acquisitions and organic growth
opportunities that align with our return on investment profitability objectives.
When an otherwise attractive potential acquisition or investment in organic growth does not meet our return requirements, our practice is to return cash to shareholders. Since becoming a public company in 1994,
our share count is down approximately 40%, and we have returned approximately $2.1 billion to our shareholders, through a combination of share repurchases and dividends.

Planned Separation of Heavy Materials and Light Materials Businesses
As previously announced on May 30, 2019, the Company plans to separate its Heavy Materials and Light Materials businesses into two independent, publicly traded corporations by means of a tax-free spin-off to
Eagle shareholders. We remain committed to the separation, although the timing is uncertain. We continue preparations to ensure that the two businesses are well-positioned for the separation when the markets
recover from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS
Acquisitions
On March 6, 2020, we acquired the assets of Kosmos Cement Company (Kosmos), a joint venture between CEMEX S.A.B. de C.V. and Buzzi Unicem S.p.A. for approximately $669 million. The acquisition included
a (i) cement plant located in Louisville, Kentucky; (ii) a limestone quarry located in Battletown, Kentucky; (iii) cement distribution terminals located in Indianapolis, Indiana; Cincinnati, Ohio; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania;
Charleston, West Virginia; Ceredo, West Virginia; Mt. Vernon, Indiana; and Lexington, Kentucky; and (iv) certain other properties and assets used by Kosmos in connection with the foregoing (collectively, the
Kosmos Business). We assumed certain liabilities and obligations of Kosmos relating to the Kosmos Business, including contractual obligations, reclamation obligations, and various other liabilities and obligations
arising out of or relating to the Kosmos Business after the transaction closed. The Kosmos Business is included in our Heavy Materials Sector, in the Cement segment.
On August 2, 2019, we acquired the assets of a readymix concrete and aggregates business (the ConAgg Acquisition). The purchase price of the ConAgg Acquisition was approximately $30.4 million. The ConAgg
Acquisition is included in our Heavy Materials sector, in the Concrete and Aggregates segment.
See Footnote (B) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding these acquisitions.
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Divestiture
On April 17, 2020 we sold our Western Aggregates and Mathews Readymix operations for $93.5 million to Teichert, Inc. a California-based construction company. These operations were included in our Concrete
and Aggregates segment. See Footnote (C) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding the sale.

Oil and Gas Proppants
As previously announced, we are pursuing alternatives for the assets and business included in the Oil and Gas Proppants sector. In March 2020, we completed the sale of our Wildcat Minerals distribution
business. We are continuing to explore alternatives for the remaining assets included in our Oil and Gas Proppants business. Although we have pursued for some time the possible sale or disposition of our
remaining Oil and Gas Proppants business to third parties, we are also considering a full curtailment of operations or closure of our Oil and Gas Proppants facilities. There can be no assurance that we will be able
to effect a sale of this business or realize significant proceeds from a sale or other disposition transaction.

EMPLOYEES
As of March 31, 2020, the Company had approximately 2,400 employees, of which approximately 800 were employed under collective bargaining agreements and various supplemental agreements with local
unions.

INDUSTRY SEGMENT INFORMATION
Our business is organized into three sectors: Heavy Materials, which includes the Cement and Concrete and Aggregates segments; Light Materials, which includes the Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled
Paperboard segments; and Oil and Gas Proppants, which are used in oil and gas extraction.
Sector

Primary End Markets

Business Segments

Heavy Materials

Infrastructure
Commercial and
Residential construction
Residential construction

Cement
Concrete and
Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard

Light Materials

Recycled Paperboard

Oil and Gas Proppants

Oil and Gas
Extraction

Frac Sand

For information about the financial results of our business segments, including revenue, average net sales prices, sales volume and operating earnings, please see pages 45-52.

Heavy Materials
Our Heavy Materials sector provides cement and concrete and aggregates for use in infrastructure, commercial, and residential construction. This sector comprises the Cement and Concrete and Aggregates
segments. Demand has been strong for these construction products over the last several years. Cement consumption in the United States, as estimated by the PCA, was approximately 109.8 million short tons in
calendar 2019, compared with 106.1 million short tons in calendar 2018, and imported cement consumption was 16% of total sales in calendar 2019 compared with 15% in calendar 2018.
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CEMENT
Cement is the basic binding agent for concrete, a primary construction material. The principal sources of demand for cement are public infrastructure, commercial construction and residential construction, with
public infrastructure accounting for nearly 50% of cement demand. Because of its low-value-to-weight ratio, the relative cost of transporting cement on land is high and limits the geographic area in which each
producer can market its products profitably. Management believes shipments by truck are generally limited to a 150-mile radius from each plant and approximately 300 miles by rail and further by barge. Therefore,
the U.S. cement industry comprises numerous regional markets rather than a single national market. Cement consumption is affected by the time of year and prevalent weather conditions. Cement sales are
generally greatest from spring through the middle of autumn.
The manufacturing process for portland cement primarily involves four main steps, as shown in the graphic below:

We also produce and market other cementitious products, including slag cement and fly ash. Slag granules are obtained from a steel company and ground in our grinding facility. Slag is used in concrete mix
designs to improve the durability of concrete and reduce future maintenance costs. Fly ash is a by-product of a coal-fired power plant and acts as an extender of cement in concrete.
Cement Plants
We operate eight modern cement plants (one of which is operated through a joint venture); and one slag grinding facility. The acquisition of Kosmos increased our clinker capacity to 6.9 million tons, which is
approximately 6% of total U.S. clinker capacity (clinker is the intermediary product before it is ground into cement powder). All of our cement plants use dry-process technology, and approximately 80% of our clinker
capacity is produced from preheater or preheater/pre-calciner kilns, which are generally more energy-efficient kiln types. In addition to production facilities, we also operate 29 cement storage and distribution
terminals.
Our cement companies focus on the U.S. heartland and operate as an integrated network selling product primarily in California, Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, Ohio,
Oklahoma, and Texas. Our joint venture includes a minority interest in an import terminal in Houston, Texas, from which we can purchase up to 495,000 short tons annually. Our slag facility is located near Chicago,
Illinois and has 500,000 tons annual grinding capacity.
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The following table sets forth information regarding our cement plants at March 31, 2020 (tons are in thousands of short tons):

Plant Location

Owned or
Leased
Reserves

Buda, TX

Owned

1,300

LaSalle, IL
Sugar Creek, MO

Owned
Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased

1,000
1,000

1,100
1,300

650

800

Laramie, WY

Tulsa, OK
Fernley, NV
Louisville, KY (5)
Fairborn, OH

Owned
Leased
Owned
Leased
Owned
Owned
Leased

Total-Gross
Total-Net (6)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

Rated Annual
Clinker
Capacity (1)

Annual
Grinding
Capacity

(4)

1,435

650

900

500

550

1,700
730

2,000
980

7,530
6,880

9,065
8,350

Estimated
Minimum
Limestone
Reserves (2)

Estimated
Minimum
Limestone
Reserves
(Years) (3)

Fiscal
2020
Tons
Mined

1983

222,660

50+

1,880

2006
2002

43,530
123,400
9,740
116,920
101,150

38
50+

1,206
1,115

50+

1,285

49,375
4,450
13,980
68,650
114,000
24,760
4,100

50+

910

50+

506

50+
29

65
1,010

Manufacturing
Process

Number
of Kilns

Kiln
Dedication
Date

Dry – 4 Stage Preheater/
Pre-calciner
Dry – 5 Stage Preheater/Pre-calciner
Dry – 5 Stage Preheater/Pre-calciner

1
1
1

Dry – 2 Stage Preheater

1

1988

Dry – Long Dry Kiln
Dry – Long Dry Kiln
Dry ‒ Long Dry Kiln
Dry – Long Dry Kiln
Dry – 1 Stage Preheater
Dry - 4 Stage Preheater/Pre-calciner
Dry – 4 Stage Preheater

1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1996
1961
1964
1964
1969
1974

One short ton equals 2,000 pounds.
All limestone reserves are considered to be probable under the definition provided by Industry Guide 7.
Years of limestone reserves calculated using annual rated capacity.
The amount shown represents 100% of plant capacity and production. This plant is owned by a separate limited partnership in which the Company has a 50% interest.
Plant was purchased on March 6, 2020.
Net of partner’s 50% interest in the Buda, Texas plant.

All of our cement subsidiaries are wholly owned except the Buda, Texas plant (the Joint Venture), which is owned by Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP, a limited partnership joint venture owned 50% by us and
50% by Lehigh Cement Company LLC, a subsidiary of Heidelberg Cement AG.
Our cement production, including our 50% share of the cement Joint Venture production, totaled 5.4 million short tons in fiscal 2020 and 4.9 million short tons in fiscal 2019. Total net cement sales, including our
50% share of cement sales from the Joint Venture, were 5.9 million and 5.3 million short tons in fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019, respectively.
Demand, Sales, and Distribution
The principal sources of demand for cement and slag are infrastructure, commercial construction, and residential construction, with public works infrastructure comprising nearly 50% of total demand. Cement
consumption in the U.S. increased approximately 3% during calendar 2019 from calendar 2018, and the Portland Cement Association forecasts cement consumption will increase another approximately 2% in
calendar 2020. Demand for cement is seasonal, particularly in northern states where inclement winter weather often affects construction activity. Cement sales are generally greatest from spring through the middle
of autumn. Demand for slag has increased as the availability of fly ash has decreased due to the conversion of power plants from coal to natural gas.
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Because of cement’s low value-to-weight ratio, the relative cost of transporting cement on land is high and limits the geographic area in which each company can market its products profitably. The low value-toweight ratio generally limits shipments by truck to a 150-mile radius of each plant and up to 300 miles by rail and further barge. Consequently, the U.S. cement industry is made up of regional markets rather than a
single national selling market. No single cement company has a distribution of plants extensive enough to serve all geographic areas, so profitability is sensitive to shifts in the balance between regional supply and
demand.
Environmental and zoning regulations have made it increasingly difficult for the U.S. cement industry to expand existing facilities and to build new cement facilities. Although we cannot predict which policies will be
adopted in the future by federal, state, and local governmental bodies, we anticipate that future restrictions will likely continue to make zoning and permitting of new capacity additions difficult. This could potentially
enhance the value of our existing facilities. Furthermore, cost-efficient alternatives to cement are currently limited, and the availability of some alternatives is diminishing. For example, the availability of fly ash, a
cement replacement, has decreased as a result of the conversion of power plants from coal to natural gas and other forms of energy.
The difficulty in adding cement capacity, coupled with limited alternatives, leads to high U.S. cement manufacturing utilization rates, as well as the need for imported cement when demand levels are high. Cement
imports into the U.S. occur primarily to supplement domestic cement production or to supply a particular region. Cement is typically imported into deep water ports along the coast or on the Great Lakes, or
transported on the Mississippi River system near major population centers. Our position in the U.S. heartland, away from import terminals, insulates us from coastal imports, given the expense of transporting
cement from deep water ports into the heartland regions. This geographic position further enhances the value of our plant network.
The Portland Cement Association estimates that imports represented approximately 16% of cement used in the U.S. during calendar 2019, compared with 15% in calendar 2018. The PCA also estimates that
imports will represent approximately 16% of calendar 2020 consumption. Based on the normal distribution of cement into the market, we believe that no less than approximately 5% to 10% of the total consumption
will consistently be served by imported cement.
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The following table sets forth information regarding the geographic areas served by each of our cement and slag plants and the location of our distribution terminals in each area. We have a total of 29 cement
storage and distribution terminals that are strategically located to extend the sales areas of our plants.
Plant Location

Type of Plant

Operating Company Name

Principal Geographic Areas

Distribution Terminals (1)

Buda, Texas

Cement

Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP

Texas and western
Louisiana

LaSalle, Illinois

Cement

Illinois Cement Company

Sugar Creek, Missouri

Cement

Central Plains Cement Company

Tulsa, Oklahoma

Cement

Central Plains Cement Company

Laramie, Wyoming

Cement

Mountain Cement Company

Fernley, Nevada

Cement

Nevada Cement Company

Louisville, Kentucky

Cement

Kosmos Cement Company

Illinois, Michigan and
southern Wisconsin
Western Missouri, eastern
Kansas, eastern Nebraska
and Iowa
Oklahoma, western
Arkansas and southern
Missouri
Wyoming, Utah, Colorado
and western Nebraska
Northern Nevada and
northern California
Kentucky, Ohio, Indiana, West Virginia, eastern
Illinois, western Pennsylvania and northern
Tennessee

Corpus Christi, Texas; Houston, Texas;
Roanoke (Fort Worth), Texas; Waco,
Texas; Houston Cement Company
(Joint Venture), Houston, Texas
Hartland, Wisconsin;
Ottawa, Illinois
Sugar Creek, Missouri; Iola, Kansas;
Wichita, Kansas; Omaha, Nebraska;
Altoona, Iowa; Springfield, Missouri
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma

Fairborn, Ohio

Cement

Fairborn Cement Company

Chicago, Illinois

Slag

Skyway Cement Company

(1)
(2)

Ohio, eastern Indiana and
northern Kentucky
Illinois, Pennsylvania,
Iowa, Ohio, Minnesota,
Missouri and Kansas

Salt Lake City, Utah; Denver, Colorado;
North Platte, Nebraska
Sacramento, California
Indianapolis, Indiana; Ceredo, West Virginia;
Lexington, Kentucky (2); Cincinnati, Ohio;
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania;
Charleston, West Virginia;
Mount Vernon, Indiana (2)
Columbus, Ohio
Kansas City, Missouri; Etna, Pennsylvania;
Fairfield, Ohio (2)

Each of the above distribution terminals are capable of handling both cement and slag.
This facility is being leased.

We are leasing the terminal in Fairfield, Ohio under an initial term of four years, with two one-year options, which expire in fiscal 2025. The terminal in Lexington, Kentucky is being leased under an initial term of five
years and will be up for renewal in fiscal 2024. The terminal in Mt. Vernon, Indiana is leased through fiscal 2031, and contains options that will allow the renewal of this lease for an additional twenty years.
Cement and slag are distributed directly to our customers mostly through customer pickups, and also by common carriers from our plants or distribution terminals. We transport cement, slag, and fly ash by truck,
barge, and rail to our storage and distribution terminals.
No single customer accounted for more than 10% of our Cement segment sales during fiscal 2020. We do not typically enter into long-term sales contracts or have a significant level of order backlog. Cement and
slag are generally sold to companies in private industry that contract with state and local entities for infrastructure and other public works projects.
Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies
The principal raw material used in the production of portland cement is calcium carbonate in the form of limestone. Limestone is obtained primarily through mining and extraction operations conducted at quarries
that we own or lease, and that are located in close proximity to our plants. We believe that the estimated recoverable limestone reserves we own or lease will permit each of our plants to operate at our present
production capacity for at least 25 years. We are actively seeking additional limestone reserves
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close to our plants and believe we will be able to acquire more reserves in the future. Other raw materials used in substantially smaller quantities than limestone are sand, clay, iron ore, and gypsum. These
materials are readily available and can be obtained either from Company-owned or leased reserves or can be purchased from outside suppliers.
We utilize coal, petroleum coke, natural gas, and alternative fuels to fuel our cement plants. The cost of fuel decreased in fiscal 2020, compared with fiscal 2019, due to lower coal and petroleum coke costs. The
Tulsa plant burns fuel-quality wastes, as well as coal and petroleum coke, and the Sugar Creek plant burns alternative fuels and petroleum coke. When we acquired Sugar Creek and Tulsa in late 2012, both plants
had existing alternative fuels programs managed by a company that supplied alternative fuels and materials to the cement plants. In keeping with our commitment to sustainability and cost management, we
continue to use these alternative fuels and materials programs at the Sugar Creek and Tulsa plants.
We have a long-term agreement with a steel manufacturer to supply granules necessary for grinding slag. This agreement requires us to purchase up to 550,000 tons of granules, which meet certain specifications,
made available by the steel manufacturer each year. Electric power is also a major cost component in the manufacturing process for both cement and slag, and we have sought to diminish overall power costs by
adopting interruptible power supply agreements at certain locations. These agreements may expose us to some production interruptions during periods of power curtailment. Historically, we have not had many
production interruptions under these agreements.
Environmental Matters
Our cement operations are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations pertaining to health, safety, and the environment. Some of these laws, such as the federal Clean Air Act and the federal
Clean Water Act (and analogous state laws) impose environmental-permitting requirements and govern the nature and amount of emissions that may be generated when conducting particular operations. Some
laws, such as the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) (and analogous state laws) impose obligations to clean up or remediate spills of hazardous materials
into the environment. Other laws require us to reclaim certain land upon completion of extraction and mining operations in our quarries. We believe that we have obtained all the material environmental permits that
are necessary to conduct our operations. We further believe that we are conducting our operations in substantial compliance with these permits. In addition, none of our manufacturing sites is listed as a CERCLA
Superfund site.
The following seven environmental issues involving the cement manufacturing industry deserve special mention.
The first environmental issue involves cement kiln dust or CKD. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has been evaluating the regulatory status of CKD under the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act (RCRA) for several years. In 1999, the EPA proposed a rule that would allow states to regulate properly managed CKD as a non-hazardous waste under state laws and regulations governing solid waste. In
contrast, CKD that was not properly managed would be treated as a hazardous waste under RCRA. In 2002, the EPA confirmed its intention to continue to exempt properly managed CKD from the hazardous
waste requirements of RCRA. The agency announced that it would collect additional data over the next three to five years to determine if the states’ regulation of CKD is effective. To date, the EPA still has not
completed its 1999 proposal to exempt properly managed CKD waste and establish protective CKD management standards. It is uncertain whether or when this proposal will be finalized. Nevertheless, in the
interim, many state environmental agencies have been using the EPA’s 1999 proposed CKD management standards as general industry guidelines.
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Currently, substantially all CKD produced in connection with our ongoing operations is recycled, and therefore such CKD is not viewed as a waste under RCRA. However, CKD was historically collected and stored
on-site at our Illinois, Nevada, Missouri, Oklahoma and Wyoming cement plants and at a former plant site in Corpus Christi, Texas, which is no longer producing cement. If either the EPA or the states decide to
reclassify or impose new management standards on this CKD at some point in the future, we could incur additional costs to comply with those requirements with respect to our historically collected CKD. CKD that
comes in contact with water might produce a leachate with an alkalinity high enough to be classified as hazardous and might also leach certain hazardous trace metals therein.
The second environmental issue involves the historical disposal of refractory brick containing chromium. Such refractory brick was formerly used widely in the cement industry to line cement kilns. We currently
use a small amount of refractory brick containing chromium, all of which is properly disposed under applicable federal and state laws. Except for such chromium containing refractory, we crush substantially all of
our refractory brick and use the crushed material as raw feed in the kiln.
The third environmental issue involves the potential regulation of our emission of greenhouse gases (GHGs), including carbon dioxide. The consequences of GHG emission reduction regulations for our cement
operations will likely be significant because (1) the cement manufacturing process requires the combustion of large amounts of fuel to generate very high kiln temperatures; and (2) the production of carbon dioxide
is a byproduct of the calcination process, whereby carbon dioxide is removed from calcium carbonate to produce calcium oxide. In the future, it is possible that the EPA will propose performance standards for GHG
emissions for the cement manufacturing sector, as it recently has done for the electric generating sector through the Affordable Clean Energy (ACE) rule, 84 Fed. Reg. 32,520 (Jul. 8, 2019). Further, several states
have individually implemented or are presently considering measures to reduce emissions of GHGs, primarily through the planned development of GHG inventories or registries, or regional GHG cap and trade
programs. It is not possible at this time to predict how any future legislation that may be enacted or final EPA regulations that may be adopted to address GHG emissions would impact our business. However, any
imposition of raw materials or production limitations, fuel-use or carbon taxes, or emission limitations or reductions could have a significant impact on the cement manufacturing industry and a material adverse
effect on us and our results of operations.
The fourth environmental issue is the EPA’s National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants for Portland cement plants (PC NESHAP), which requires cement plants to meet certain emission and
operating standards addressing specific hazardous air pollutants (HAP). Pursuant to CAA Sections 112(d) and (f), the EPA determined on July 25, 2018, that no revisions to the HAP regulations are necessary to
address residual risk from HAP emissions from Portland cement plants, nor to account for developments in practices, process or control technologies. This determination has been challenged by environmental
groups in the D.C. Circuit and the litigation is being held in abeyance while the EPA considers the environmental groups’ administrative petition for reconsideration of the determination. In the future, EPA is
required by the CAA to review whether new developments in practices, process or control technologies require further revisions to the PC NESHAP.
The fifth environmental issue is the EPA’s promulgation pursuant to Section 129 of the CAA of revised regulations for Commercial and Industrial Solid Waste Incineration (CISWI) units. The EPA has approved
several states’ implementation plans under this rule, including plans submitted by Colorado and Oklahoma, and has proposed a federal plan that would apply in states that have not submitted and received approval
for a state plan has. Compared to the PC NESHAP, the CISWI regulations contain requirements across a broader range of pollutants, and the requirement for dioxin/furans for existing and new sources is
somewhat more stringent.
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The sixth environmental issue is a revision to the National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants for hazardous waste combustors (HWC NESHAP). The Tulsa, Oklahoma cement facility utilizes
hazardous waste as fuel and is required to meet the emission and operating standards of the HWC NESHAP. This facility has demonstrated and remains in compliance with all of the requirements of the current
HWC NESHAP. In 2009, EPA agreed to revise the HWC NESHAP to resolve litigation over the rule, but has not indicated when it will issue a proposed rule amending the regulations. It is not possible to predict at
this time the stringency or impact of revised HWC NESHAP regulations or timing required for compliance.
The seventh environmental issue is the EPA’s ongoing review and implementation of the national ambient air quality standards (NAAQS) for ozone. Nonattainment designations in or surrounding our areas of
operations could have a material impact on our consolidated financial results. The CAA requires the EPA to review, and if necessary, revise the NAAQS every five years. Accordingly, the EPA is in the process of
reviewing the ozone NAAQS, and is scheduled to complete this review in 2020.
We believe that our current procedures and practices in our operations, including those for handling and managing hazardous materials, are consistent with industry standards and are in substantial compliance
with applicable environmental laws and regulations. Nevertheless, because of the complexity of our operations and the environmental laws to which we are subject, there can be no assurance that past or future
operations will not result in violations, remediation costs, or other liabilities or claims. Moreover, we cannot predict what environmental laws will be enacted or adopted in the future or how such future environmental
laws or regulations will be administered or interpreted. Compliance with more stringent environmental laws, or stricter interpretation of existing environmental laws, could necessitate significant capital outlays.
In fiscal 2020, we had $1.9 million of capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable to our cement operations. We anticipate spending $1.4 million during fiscal 2021.
CONCRETE AND AGGREGATES
Readymix concrete is a versatile, low-cost building material used in almost all construction. The production of readymix concrete involves mixing cement, sand, gravel or crushed stone and water to form concrete,
which is then sold and distributed to numerous construction contractors. Concrete is produced in batch plants and transported to customers’ job sites in mixer trucks.
The aggregates business consists of mining, extracting, producing, and selling crushed stone, sand, and gravel. Construction aggregates of suitable characteristics are employed in virtually all types of construction,
including the production of readymix concrete, flexible base, and asphaltic mixes used in highway construction and maintenance.
On April 17, 2020 we sold Western Aggregates LLC and Mathews Readymix LLC, our readymix and aggregates companies in Northern California for approximately $93.5 million. See Footnote (C) to the Audited
Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding the sale. Information regarding these entities is included in the tables below as we owned them during fiscal 2020.
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Concrete and Aggregates Plants
During August 2019, we acquired a small concrete and aggregate business in Northern Nevada. During fiscal 2020, we produced and distributed readymix concrete from company-owned sites in Austin, Texas; the
greater Kansas City area; Northern Nevada; and north of Sacramento, California. The following table sets forth information regarding these operations.
Location

Central Texas
Kansas City Area
Northern Nevada
Northern California (1)
Total
(1)

Number of Plants

Number of Trucks

7
8
8
3
26

85
83
61
26
255

These facilities were sold on April 17, 2020.

We conduct aggregate operations near our concrete facilities. Aggregates are obtained principally by mining and extracting from quarries owned or leased by the Company. The following table sets forth certain
information regarding these aggregate facilities.

Location

Owned or Leased

Central Texas

Owned
Leased
Owned
Owned
Leased
Owned

Kansas City Area
Northern Nevada
Northern California (1)

Types
of Aggregates

Estimated Annual
Production Capacity
(Thousand tons)

Estimated Minimum
Reserves
(Thousand Tons) (2)

3,000

4,300
63,400
57,000
32,000
14,000
910,900

Limestone and Gravel
Limestone
Limestone

700
570

Sand and Gravel

4,000

(3)

Estimated Minimum
Reserves (Years)

Fiscal 2020
Tons Mined
(Thousand Tons)

20+

1,830

50+
50+

—
500

100+

1680

(1)
These facilities were sold on April 17, 2020.
(2) All reserves are considered to be probable under the definition of Industry Guide 7.
(3)
Includes reserves located in our underground mine that we believe can be economically used for aggregate supply.

Our total net aggregate sales were 3.3 million tons in fiscal 2020 and 3.2 million tons in fiscal 2019. Total aggregates production was 4.1 million tons in fiscal 2020 and 3.4 million tons in fiscal 2019. During fiscal
2020, approximately 50% of aggregate sales and 40% of aggregates production, related to our northern California business. A portion of our total aggregates production is used internally by our readymix concrete
operations in Texas, northern Nevada, and northern California.
Demand, Sales, and Distribution
Demand for readymix concrete and aggregates largely depends on local levels of construction activity. Construction activity is also subject to weather conditions, the availability of financing at reasonable rates, and
overall fluctuations in local economies, and therefore tends to be cyclical. We sell readymix concrete to numerous contractors and other customers in each plant’s marketing area. Our batch plants in Austin, Texas,
the greater Kansas City area, northern California, and northern Nevada are strategically located to serve each marketing area. Concrete is delivered from the batch plants primarily by company-owned trucks.
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We sell aggregates to building contractors and other customers engaged in a wide variety of construction activities. Aggregates are delivered from our aggregate plants by common carriers and customer pick-up.
No customer accounted for more than 10% of fiscal 2020 segment revenue.
The concrete and aggregates industry is highly fragmented, with numerous participants operating in each local area. Because the cost of transporting concrete and aggregates is very high relative to product
values, producers of concrete and aggregates typically can profitably sell their products only in areas within 50 miles of their production facilities. Barriers to entry in each industry are low, except with respect to
environmental permitting requirements for new aggregates production facilities and zoning of land to permit mining and extraction of aggregates.
Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies
We obtain cement and aggregates for our concrete businesses from related companies, including our Joint Venture, as outlined below:
Percentage of Internally Supplied
Cement

Location

Central Texas
Kansas City Area
Northern Nevada
Northern California (1)
(1)

Aggregates

5%
100%
100%
100%

45%
—
95%
70%

These facilities were sold on April 17, 2020.

We obtain the balance of our cement and aggregates requirements from multiple outside sources in each of these areas.
We mine and extract limestone, sand, and gravel, the principal raw materials used in the production of aggregates, from quarries owned or leased by us and located near our plants. On average, our aggregate
reserves exceed 20 years based on normalized production levels and in many cases much greater.
Environmental Matters
The concrete and aggregates industry is subject to environmental regulations similar to those governing our Cement operations. (See pages 9-11.)
In fiscal 2020, we had $0.2 million of capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable to our Concrete and Aggregates operations. We do not anticipate any such expenditures in
fiscal 2021.
Light Materials
Our Light Materials sector produces gypsum wallboard, which is used in residential and commercial buildings, and recycled paperboard, which is used primarily in the manufacture of gypsum wallboard. The sector
comprises the Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled Paperboard segments. Operations in this sector are concentrated in the Sun Belt of the United States, where the population is projected to grow approximately 38%
between 2010 and 2040, according to the latest update in December 2018 by the Weldon Cooper Center at the University of Virginia. Population growth is a key long-term driver of demand for gypsum wallboard
and recycled paperboard.
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GYPSUM WALLBOARD
Gypsum wallboard is used to finish the interior walls and ceilings in residential, commercial, and industrial structures. Our gypsum wallboard products are marketed under the name American Gypsum.
The gypsum wallboard manufacturing process involves four main steps, as shown in the graphic below.

Gypsum Wallboard Plants
We own and operate five gypsum wallboard plants, outlined in the table below. We anticipate running all of our facilities at the level required to meet customer demand, up to maximum capacity. Our gypsum
wallboard is distributed in the geographic markets nearest to our production facilities.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding our gypsum wallboard plants.

Location

Albuquerque, New Mexico
Bernalillo, New Mexico
Gypsum, Colorado
Duke, Oklahoma

Owned or Leased
Reserves (1)

Approximate Annual
Gypsum Wallboard
Capacity (MMSF) (2)

Owned
Leased

425
550
700
1,300

Owned
Owned
Leased

Georgetown, South Carolina (6)
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)

900
3,875

Estimated
Minimum Gypsum
Reserves
(Thousand Tons) (3)

10,490
54,300

Estimated
Minimum Gypsum
Reserves
(Years) (4)

(5)

50+

(5)

50+
44
22

(5)

48

(6)

470
765

Owned reserves include mining claims.
Million Square Feet (MMSF) based on anticipated product mix.
All gypsum tons are deemed probable under the definition provided by Industry Guide 7.
At 100% capacity utilization.
The same reserves serve both New Mexico plants.
We have a 60-year supply agreement with Santee Cooper for synthetic gypsum that expires in 2068.

Our Gypsum Wallboard production totaled 2,706 MMSF in fiscal 2020 and 2,691 MMSF in fiscal 2019. Total Gypsum Wallboard sales were 2,694 MMSF in fiscal 2020 and 2,651 MMSF in fiscal 2019.
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465

(5)
(5)

30,660
26,550
1,930

Fiscal 2020
Tons Mined
(Thousand Tons)

—

Demand, Sales, and Distribution
The principal sources of demand for gypsum wallboard are (i) residential construction, (ii) repair and remodeling, (iii) non-residential construction, and (iv) other markets such as exports and manufactured housing.
Industry shipments of gypsum wallboard were approximately 25.9 billion square feet in calendar 2019, compared to 24.9 billion square feet in calendar 2018. We estimate that residential and repair and remodel
construction accounted for more than 85% of calendar 2019 industry sales.
Demand for gypsum wallboard remains highly cyclical and closely follows construction industry cycles, particularly housing construction. Demand for wallboard can be seasonal and is generally highest from spring
through the middle of autumn.
We sell Gypsum Wallboard to numerous building-materials dealers, gypsum wallboard specialty distributors, lumber yards, home-center chains, and other customers located throughout the United States, with the
exception of the Northeast. Gypsum wallboard is sold on a delivered basis, mostly by truck. We generally use third-party common carriers for deliveries. Three customers accounted for approximately 30% of our
Gypsum Wallboard segment sales during fiscal 2020.
Although gypsum wallboard is distributed principally in local areas, certain industry producers (including the Company) have the ability to ship gypsum wallboard by rail outside their usual regional distribution areas
to regions where demand is strong. We own approximately 100 railcars for transporting gypsum wallboard. Our rail distribution capabilities permit us to service customers in markets on both the east and west
coasts, except for the Northeast. Less than 10% of our Wallboard volume sold during fiscal 2020 was delivered via rail.
There are currently six manufacturers of gypsum wallboard in the U.S. operating a total of 65 plants, per the Gypsum Association. During 2019, St. Gobain (Certainteed) reached an agreement to acquire
Continental Building Products, and the transaction closed in February 2020. After the acquisition, we estimate that the four largest producers ‒ Knauf, National Gypsum Company, Certainteed, and
Koch Industries ‒ account for approximately 80% of gypsum wallboard sales in the U.S.
Total wallboard-rated production capacity in the United States is currently estimated by the Gypsum Association at approximately 34.1 billion square feet per year; however, certain lines have been curtailed and
plants closed or idled. It is possible that previously closed plants or lines could be brought back into service.
Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies
We mine and extract natural gypsum rock, the principal raw material used in the manufacture of gypsum wallboard, from mines and quarries owned, leased, or subject to mining claims owned by the Company and
located near our plants. Certain of our New Mexico reserves are under lease with the Pueblo of Zia. Gypsum ore reserves at the Gypsum, Colorado plant are contained within a total of 115 placer claims
encompassing 2,300 acres. Included in this are 94 unpatented mining claims where mineral rights can be developed upon completion of permitting requirements. We currently own land containing gypsum in the
area of Duke, Oklahoma, with additional reserves controlled through a lease agreement. Other gypsum deposits are located near the plant in Duke, which we believe may be obtained at a reasonable cost when
needed. We are currently in the eleventh year of a 60-year supply agreement (original 20-year term with two 20-year extension options) with a public utility in South Carolina for synthetic gypsum, which we use at
our Georgetown, South Carolina plant. If the utility is unable to generate the agreed-upon amount of gypsum, it is responsible for providing gypsum from a third party to fulfill its obligations.
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Through our modern low-cost paperboard mill, we manufacture sufficient quantities of paper necessary for our gypsum wallboard production. Paper is a significant cost component in the manufacture of gypsum
wallboard, currently representing approximately one-third of our cost of production. Higher paper costs since March 2020 will increase our operating costs in fiscal 2021. See Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies in the
Recycled Paperboard section for more discussion.
Our gypsum wallboard manufacturing operations use natural gas and electrical power. A significant portion of the Company’s natural gas requirements for our gypsum wallboard plants are currently provided by
three gas producers under gas-supply agreements expiring in October 2020 for Colorado and October 2021 for South Carolina and Oklahoma. If the agreements are not renewed, we anticipate being able to obtain
our gas supplies from other suppliers at competitive prices. Electrical power is supplied to our New Mexico plants at standard industrial rates by a local utility. For our Albuquerque plant, we have an interruptible
power supply agreement, which may expose it to some production interruptions during periods of power curtailment. Power for our Gypsum, Colorado facility is generated at the facility by a cogeneration power
plant that we own and operate. Currently, the cogeneration power facility supplies power and waste hot gases for drying to the gypsum wallboard plant. We do not sell any power to third parties. Gas costs
represented approximately 7% of our production costs in fiscal 2020.
Environmental Matters
The gypsum wallboard industry is subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws and regulations pertaining to health, safety, and the environment. Some of these laws, such as the federal Clean Air Act and the
federal Clean Water Act (and analogous state laws), impose environmental permitting requirements and govern the nature and amount of emissions that may be generated when conducting particular operations.
Some laws, such as CERCLA (and analogous state laws), impose obligations to clean up or remediate spills of hazardous materials into the environment. Other laws require us to reclaim certain land upon
completion of extraction and mining operations in our quarries. None of our gypsum wallboard operations is the subject of any local, state, or federal environmental proceedings. We do not, and have not, used
asbestos in any of our gypsum wallboard products.
On April 17, 2015, the EPA published its final rule addressing the storage, reuse, and disposal of coal combustion products, which include fly ash and flue gas desulfurization gypsum (synthetic gypsum). We use
synthetic gypsum in wallboard manufactured at our Georgetown, South Carolina plant. The rule, which applies only to electric utilities and independent power producers, establishes standards for the management
of coal combustion residuals (CCRs) under Subtitle D of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, (RCRA), which is the Subtitle that regulates non-hazardous wastes. The rule imposes requirements
addressing CCR surface impoundments and landfills, including location restrictions, design, and operating specifications; groundwater monitoring requirements; corrective action requirements; recordkeeping and
reporting obligations; and closure requirements. Beneficial encapsulated uses of CCRs, including synthetic gypsum, are exempt from regulation. The rule became effective on October 19, 2015. Given the EPA’s
decision to continue to allow CCR to be used in synthetic gypsum and to regulate CCR under the non-hazardous waste sections of RCRA, we do not expect the rule to materially affect our business, financial
condition, and results of operations. Similarly, material effects on our business, financial condition, and results of operations are unlikely to result from administrative reconsideration by the EPA of certain aspects of
the final CCR rule, because none of these pending actions currently seek to overturn the management of CCR as non-hazardous waste or the regulatory exemption for beneficial encapsulated use of CCR.
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As discussed in greater detail in the “Environmental Matters” section for Cement, the EPA in October 2015 strengthened the NAAQS for ozone by lowering the primary and secondary standards from 75 parts per
billion (ppb) to 70 ppb. The EPA completed its attainment/nonattainment designations for the revised standards for all areas of the United States in July 2018. Nonattainment designations in or surrounding our
areas of operations could have a material impact on our consolidated financial results. EPA is in the process of reviewing the ozone NAAQS, which it is required to do every five years to determine if it is necessary
to revise the standards.
Our gypsum wallboard manufacturing process combusts natural gas. It is possible that GHG emissions from our manufacturing could become subject to regulation under the CAA. For a more detailed discussion of
this issue, see the “Environmental Matters” section of our Cement business description on pages 9-11.
Although our Gypsum Wallboard operations could be adversely affected by federal, regional, or state climate change initiatives, at this time, it is not possible to accurately estimate how future laws or regulations
addressing GHG emissions would impact our business. However, any imposition of raw materials or production limitations, fuel-use or carbon taxes, or emission limitations or reductions could have a significant
impact on the gypsum wallboard manufacturing industry and a material adverse effect on the financial results of our operations.
There were $0.6 million of capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable to our Gypsum Wallboard operations during fiscal 2020. We anticipate capital expenditures of
approximately $0.9 million related to our Gypsum Wallboard operations during fiscal 2021.
RECYCLED PAPERBOARD
Our Recycled Paperboard manufacturing operation, which we refer to as Republic Paperboard Company, is located in Lawton, Oklahoma, and has a technologically advanced paper machine designed primarily for
gypsum liner production utilizing 100% recycled paper. The paper’s uniform cross-directional strength and finish characteristics facilitate the efficiencies of new high-speed wallboard manufacturing lines and
improve the efficiencies of the slower wallboard manufacturing lines. Although the machine was designed primarily to manufacture gypsum liner products, we are also able to manufacture several alternative
products, including containerboard grades and lightweight packaging grades.
Our paper machine allows the paperboard operation to manufacture high-strength gypsum liner that is approximately 10-15% lighter in basis weight than generally available in the U.S. The low-basis weight product
utilizes less recycled fiber to produce paper that, in turn, requires less energy (natural gas) to evaporate moisture from the board during the gypsum wallboard manufacturing process. The low-basis weight paper
also reduces the overall finished board weight, providing our Wallboard operations with more competitive transportation costs for both the inbound and outbound segments.
During fiscal 2020, we substantially completed the project to enhance and expand our papermill, which has been sold out for several years. The project will enable us to increase line speeds and lower our
operating costs. Once completed, the project will increase the annual capacity at the paper mill to approximately 390,000 tons.
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Demand, Sales, and Distribution
Our manufactured recycled paperboard products are sold to gypsum wallboard manufacturers and other industrial users. During fiscal 2020, approximately 40% of the recycled paperboard sold by our paper mill
was consumed by the Company’s Gypsum Wallboard manufacturing operations. We also have contracts with two other gypsum wallboard manufacturers that represent approximately 50% of our total segment
revenue with the remaining volume shipped to other gypsum liner manufacturers. The current contracts with other gypsum wallboard manufacturers expire in three to five years. The loss of any of these contracts or
a termination or reduction of their current production of gypsum wallboard, unless replaced by a commercially similar arrangement, could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies
The principal raw materials in recycled paperboard are recycled paper fiber (recovered waste paper), water, and specialty paper chemicals. The largest waste paper source used by the operation is old cardboard
containers (known as OCC). A blend of high grades (white papers consisting of ink-free papers such as news blank and unprinted papers) is used in the gypsum liner facing paper, white top linerboard, and white
bag liner grades.
We believe that an adequate supply of OCC recycled fiber will continue to be available from sources located within a reasonable proximity of the paper mill. Although we have the capability to receive rail
shipments, the vast majority of the recycled fiber purchased is delivered via truck. Prices are subject to market fluctuations based on generation of material (supply), demand, and the presence of the export market.
Fiber prices declined in both fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019 from fiscal 2018 prices, which were higher than historical pricing for fiber. OCC prices increased from $45 per ton in March 2020 to $120 per ton in May
2020, primarily related to reduced generation of OCC due the COVID-19 pandemic. Current gypsum liner customer contracts include price escalators that partially offset and compensate for changes in raw
material fiber prices. The chemicals used in the paper making operation, including size, retention aids, biocides, and bacteria controls, are readily available from several manufacturers at competitive prices.
The manufacture of recycled paperboard involves the use of a large volume of water in the production process. We have an agreement with the City of Lawton municipal services for supply of water to our
manufacturing facility. Electricity, natural gas, and other utilities are available to us at either contracted rates or standard industrial rates in adequate supplies. These utilities are subject to standard industrial
curtailment provisions.
Paperboard operations are generally large consumers of energy, primarily natural gas and electricity. We expect the cost of energy to decline in fiscal 2021 compared with fiscal 2020. Electricity is supplied to the
paper mill by Public Service of Oklahoma (PSO) and the Oklahoma Corporation Commission has requested a reduction in rates of approximately 15% for fiscal 2021. This power company is working to switch its
fuel source dependency to natural gas, which could affect our electricity rates in future years. Oklahoma is a regulated state for electricity services, and all rate change requests must be presented to the Oklahoma
Corporation Commission for review and approval before implementation. Natural gas costs in fiscal 2020 decreased compared with fiscal 2019, and they are expected to further decline in fiscal 2021. A significant
portion of our natural gas requirements for our paper mill is provided under a gas supply agreement that expires in December 2020, with approximately 30% remaining under contract through December 2021.
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Environmental Matters
There were no capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable to our Recycled Paperboard operations during fiscal 2020, and none are expected in fiscal 2021.

OIL AND GAS PROPPANTS
The Oil and Gas Proppants sector produces frac sand used in oil and natural gas extraction. As previously announced, we are pursuing alternatives for the assets and business included in the Oil and Gas
Proppants sector. In March 2020, we completed the sale of our Wildcat Minerals distribution business. We are continuing to explore alternatives for the remaining assets included in our Oil and Gas Proppants
business. Although we have pursued for some time the possible sale or disposition of our remaining Oil and Gas Proppants business to third parties, we are also considering a full curtailment of operations or
closure of our Oil and Gas Proppants facilities. There can be no assurances that we will be able to effect a sale of this business or realize significant proceeds from a sale or other disposition transaction.
FRAC SAND PLANTS
We currently own two northern white frac sand mines, two frac sand wet processing plants, and three frac sand drying facilities. Our frac sand mines, wet plants and drying facilities are in New Auburn, Wisconsin
and Utica, Illinois as outlined below. Sand is processed into various mesh sizes and marketed primarily to oil service companies.
The following table provides information regarding our frac sand production facilities at March 31, 2020.

Wet Plant Location

New Auburn, Wisconsin
Utica, Illinois

Owned or
Leased Reserves

Owned
Leased
Owned

Estimated Annual Wet
Production Capacity
(Thousand Tons) (2)

Estimated Minimum
Reserves
(Thousand Tons) (1)

Estimated Minimum
Reserves (Years)

2,800

27,840
7,660
138,090

12

430

50+

1,150

2,200

Dry Plant Location

Dry Plant Capacity (Thousand Tons)

New Auburn, Wisconsin (two lines)
Corpus Christi, Texas
Utica, Illinois

1,900
1,000
1,600

Total
(1)
(2)

Fiscal 2019
Tons Mined
(Thousand Tons)

4,500

All sand tons are deemed to be probable under the definition provided by Industry Guide 7.
Represents throughput capacity.

The Corpus Christi, Texas plant was closed during fiscal 2020. We also idled our New Auburn, Wisconsin facility in March 2020. The cost of maintaining the Corpus Christi and New Auburn plants is not significant.
Demand, Sales, and Distribution
Our frac sand is currently sold into oil and gas producing shale basins across the United States. Demand for oil and gas proppants, such as frac sand, is driven primarily by oil and gas drilling and well-completion
activity.
Drilling and completion activity for oil and gas is highly cyclical in nature. Drilling completion activity is based on many factors, but the primary factor is oil and gas prices. Drilling activity slowed during the latter half
of calendar 2018, and declined even more during the latter half of calendar 2019. More recently, during March and April 2020, oil prices declined to all-time lows due to a pronounced decrease in demand
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for oil resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as an increase in supply caused by disagreements with respect to oil pricing and output between Russia and members of the Organization of the Petroleum
Exporting Countries (“OPEC”), particularly Saudi Arabia. The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a global decrease in all modes of travel, the closure of borders between countries and a general slowing of economic
activity worldwide, all which has decreased demand for oil. In March 2020, Russia and Saudi Arabia ended a three-year supply level agreement, which resulted in each country increasing its oil production. In April
2020, Russia and OPEC agreed to production cuts to mitigate the decline in the price of oil; however, such cuts may not be sufficient to stabilize prices in the oil market, particularly if demand does not increase to
levels consistent with those in prior years. Oil and natural gas prices are expected to continue to be volatile, and we cannot predict when prices will improve or stabilize. These sharp declines in oil prices have led to
further reductions in drilling and well-completion activity during calendar 2020, including the suspension of most new drilling activity since March 2020. As a result, these declines negatively affected demand for our
frac sand, leading to a significant reduction in new orders.
Another factor that has adversely affected our frac sand business relates to the substitution of local, or in-basin sand for relatively more costly northern white sand. In recent periods, oil and gas producers and
service companies in many shale basins, including the Permian Basin, began using, or expanded their use of, in-basin sand instead of northern white sand. This development has significantly reduced demand for
our northern white sand. There is no assurance that this trend will not continue, which would have a material adverse effect on our frac sand business.
A portion of the frac sand we produce is sold under long-term contracts that require our customers to pay a specified price per mesh size for a specified volume of sand each month or quarter, depending on the
contract. The terms of our contracts, including pricing, delivery, and mesh distribution, vary by customer. Certain of our long-term customer contracts contain liquidated damages for non-performance by our
customers. As the demand has slowed, we have negotiated new contract terms with certain of our customers. The renegotiated contracts reflect the reduced demand for frac sand in the current environment by
restructuring the contracts to provide reduced contracted sales volume and prices in the near term, with the contracted minimums being increased in the later years. In addition to the long-term sales contracts, we
sell frac sand through our distribution network under short-term pricing and other agreements. The terms of our short-term pricing agreements vary by customer.
We currently have contracts to provide frac sand to three customers that, collectively, comprised approximately 60% of our segment revenue for fiscal 2020. These contracts have an average remaining life of
approximately two years.
In connection with our previously announced review of alternatives for our Oil and Gas Proppants business, we sold our Wildcat Minerals distribution business in March 2020. After the sale of this business, we
currently have four remaining transload facilities that are located in Gardendale, Texas; Kenedy, Texas; Fowlerton, Texas; and El Reno, Oklahoma. These transload locations were currently idled at March 31, 2020
with the exception of El Reno, Oklahoma. The cost of maintaining the idled facilities is not significant.
At March 31, 2020, we had approximately 1,400 rail cars under lease, with an average term of approximately 5 years.
During both fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019, declining oil prices and increasing use of in-basin sand adversely affected our operating profits, which resulted in our reviewing our long-lived, intangible and other assets for
impairment. In both years, these analyses indicated that certain assets were impaired, and resulted in our recording $224.3 million and $220.3 million impairment charges in fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019,
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respectively. See Footnote (A) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on these impairments.
Raw Materials and Fuel Supplies
Our frac sand is mined from open pit mines and we process the sand in our wet plants. The excavation process includes stripping the overburden overlaying the planned mining area and then removing the sand
through blasting or mechanically removing it with the use of mobile equipment. Processing includes washing the sand with water and screening to remove nonsalable material, after which the sand is dried and
further screened to its final mesh sizes, which range from 20 mesh to 140 mesh. During the winter months, the cold weather adversely affects our ability to operate our wet processing plants, resulting in these
plants being shut down for much of the winter. Generally, our New Auburn, Wisconsin facility is more affected by the weather than our Utica, Illinois facility.
Natural gas is the major fuel used in our dry plants. The cost of natural gas in fiscal 2020 was relatively consistent with the cost in fiscal 2019, and is expected to decline during the first part of fiscal 2021. Electricity
and water are also a major cost component in our manufacturing process. We do not anticipate significant changes in the cost of these utilities in fiscal 2021.
Environmental Matters
We and the commercial silica industry are subject to extensive governmental regulation pertaining to matters such as permitting and licensing requirements, plant and wildlife protection, hazardous materials, air
and water emissions, and environmental contamination and reclamation. A variety of federal, state, and local agencies implement and enforce these regulations. We believe that we have obtained and are in
substantial compliance with all the material environmental permits that are necessary to conduct our operations.
Federal Regulation
At the federal level, we may be required to obtain permits under Section 404 of the Clean Water Act from the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for the discharge of dredged or fill material into waters of the United
States, including wetlands and streams, in connection with our operations. We also may be required to obtain permits under Section 402 of the Clean Water Act from the EPA or the state environmental agencies, to
which the EPA has delegated local implementation of the permit program, for discharges of pollutants into waters of the United States, including discharges of wastewater or storm-water runoff associated with
construction activities. Failure to obtain these required permits, or to comply with their terms, could subject us to administrative, civil, and criminal penalties as well as injunctive relief.
The federal Clean Air Act and comparable state laws regulate emissions of various air pollutants through air emissions permitting programs and the imposition of other requirements. These regulatory programs
may require us to install expensive emissions abatement equipment, modify operational practices, and obtain permits for existing or new operations. Before commencing construction on a new or modified source of
air emissions, such laws may require us to reduce emissions at existing facilities. As a result, we may be required to incur increased capital and operating costs to comply with these regulations. We could be
subject to administrative, civil, and criminal penalties as well as injunctive relief for noncompliance with air permits or other requirements of the federal Clean Air Act and comparable state laws and regulations.
As part of our operations, we use or store petroleum products and other substances such as diesel fuel, lubricating oils, and hydraulic fluid. We are subject to regulatory programs pertaining to the storage, use,
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transportation, and disposal of these substances. Spills or releases may occur in the course of our operations, and we could incur substantial costs and liabilities as a result of such spills or releases, including
claims for damage or injury to property and persons. CERCLA and comparable state laws may impose joint and several liability, without regard to fault or legality of conduct, on classes of persons who are
considered to be responsible for the release of hazardous substances into the environment. These persons include the owner or operator of the site where the release occurred, and anyone who disposed of, or
arranged for disposal, including offsite disposal, of a hazardous substance generated or released at the site. Under CERCLA, such persons may be subject to liability for the costs of cleaning up the hazardous
substances, for damages to natural resources, and for the costs of certain health studies. In addition, it is not uncommon for neighboring landowners and other third parties to file claims for personal injury and
property damage allegedly caused by the hazardous substances released into the environment.
In addition, RCRA and comparable state statutes regulate the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, and cleanup of hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. The EPA and state environmental
agencies, to which the EPA has delegated portions of the RCRA program for local implementation, administer the RCRA program.
Our operations may also be subject to broad environmental review under the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). NEPA requires federal agencies to evaluate the environmental impact of all “major federal
actions” significantly affecting the quality of the human environment. The granting of a federal permit for a major development project, such as a mining operation, may be considered a “major federal action” that
requires review under NEPA. Therefore, our projects may require review and evaluation under NEPA. As part of this evaluation, the federal agency considers a broad array of environmental impacts, including,
among other things, impacts on air quality, water quality, wildlife (including threatened and endangered species), historic and archaeological resources, geology, socioeconomics, and aesthetics. NEPA also requires
the consideration of alternatives to the project. The NEPA review process, especially the preparation of a full environmental impact statement, can be time consuming and expensive. The purpose of the NEPA
review process is to inform federal agencies’ decision-making on whether federal approval should be granted for a project and to provide the public with an opportunity to comment on the environmental impacts of
a proposed project. Though NEPA requires only that an environmental evaluation be conducted and does not mandate a particular result, a federal agency could decide to deny a permit or impose certain
conditions on its approval, based on its environmental review under NEPA, or a third party could challenge the adequacy of a NEPA review in court and thereby delay or block the issuance of a federal permit or
approval.
Federal agencies granting permits for our operations also must consider impacts to endangered and threatened species and their habitat under the Endangered Species Act. We also must comply with, and are
subject to liability under, the Endangered Species Act, which prohibits and imposes stringent penalties for the harming of endangered or threatened species and their habitat. Federal agencies also must consider a
project’s impacts on historic or archaeological resources under the National Historic Preservation Act, and we may be required to conduct archaeological surveys of project sites and to avoid or preserve historical
areas or artifacts.
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State and Local Regulation
We are also subject to a variety of state and local environmental review and permitting requirements. Some states, including Wisconsin where one of our operations is located, have state laws similar to NEPA;
thus, our development of a new site or the expansion of an existing site may be subject to comprehensive state environmental reviews even if the project is not subject to NEPA. In some cases, the state
environmental review may be more stringent than the federal review. Our operations may require state-law based permits in addition to federal permits, which obligate state agencies to consider a range of issues,
many the same as federal agencies, including, among other things, a project’s impact on wildlife and their habitats, historic and archaeological sites, aesthetics, agricultural operations, and scenic areas. Wisconsin
and some other states also have specific permitting and review processes for commercial silica mining operations, and state agencies may impose different or additional monitoring or mitigation requirements than
federal agencies. The development of new sites and our existing operations also are subject to a variety of local environmental and regulatory requirements, including land use, zoning, building, and transportation
requirements.
Some local communities have expressed concern regarding silica sand mining operations. These concerns have generally included exposure to ambient silica sand dust, truck traffic, water usage, and blasting. In
response, certain state and local communities have developed, or are in the process of developing, regulations or zoning restrictions intended to minimize the potential for dust to become airborne, control the flow
of truck traffic, significantly curtail the area available for mining activities, require compensation to local residents for potential impacts of mining activities and, in some cases, ban issuance of new permits for mining
activities. We are not aware of any proposals for significant increased scrutiny on the part of state or local regulators in the jurisdictions in which we operate, or community concerns with respect to our operations
that would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations going forward.
Existing operations could be more significantly affected by increased regulatory activity. In an effort to minimize these risks, we continue to be engaged with local communities in order to grow and maintain strong
relationships with residents and regulators.
There were no capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental regulations applicable to our Oil and Gas Proppants operations during fiscal 2020, and we do not anticipate any such expenditures
during fiscal 2021.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION
We publish our annual reports on Form 10-K and Form DEF 14A, Annual Proxy Statement; our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q; and current reports on Form 8-K. These reports along with all amendments to them,
are available free of charge through the Investor Relations page of our website, located at www.eaglematerials.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC). This reference to our website is intended solely to inform investors where they may obtain additional information; the materials and other information presented on our website are not
incorporated in and should not otherwise be considered part of this Report. Additionally, investors may obtain information by contacting our Investor Relations department directly at (214) 432-2000 or by writing to
Eagle Materials Inc., Investor Relations, 5960 Berkshire Lane, Suite 900, Dallas, Texas 75225.

23

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors
The foregoing discussion of our business and operations should be read together with the risk factors set forth below. They describe various risks and uncertainties to which we are or may become subject, many of
which are outside of our control. These risks and uncertainties, together with other factors described elsewhere in this Report, have affected, or may in the future affect, our business, operations, financial condition
and results of operations in a material and adverse manner.

The current outbreak of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has caused severe disruptions in the U.S. and global economies, and while the scale is unknown at this time, the outbreak and the response to it
could materially impact our business, operating results, cash flows and/or financial condition.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization designated COVID-19, which began spreading globally in late 2019, as a pandemic. Numerous countries, including the United States, have since declared national
emergencies with respect to COVID-19. Many of these countries, including the United States, reacted by taking steps deemed necessary to slow the virus, including instituting stay-at-home orders, and restricting
travel, closing financial markets and/or restricting trading, and limiting operations of non-essential businesses. These actions have had an adverse effect on consumer demand and consumer confidence, as well as
created disruption in global supply chains. The U.S. federal government, and most states, have exempted “essential businesses” from many of these restrictions. Although we have been designated an essential
business in virtually all of the markets we serve, the restrictions in effect in the areas in which we operate may affect many of our suppliers and the end users of the products we supply, and there is no guarantee
that we will continue to be exempted from future government orders.
We are monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on our operations and on the demand for our products. Although we are talking precautions to ensure the safety of our employees, in the event we suffer an outbreak at
one of our manufacturing facilities, we may be forced to suspend operations at such facility until the health conditions improve. Any such reduction in our production capacity could render us unable to continue to
produce our construction products or meet our customers’ demands for our products. With regard to demand for our products, given the COVID-19-related economic uncertainty, the decline in consumer
confidence, and increasing unemployment, contractors, home builders, and customers may delay, or ultimately cancel, building projects. Additionally, as state budgets are increasingly strained by the rapid increase
in unemployment claims and the reduction of revenue from sales and other taxes, including fuel-tax revenues due to remote working and stay-at-home practices, infrastructure projects in states in which we do
business may be delayed or cancelled. With respect to our Oil and Gas Proppants sector, demand for oil has significantly deteriorated as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and corresponding preventative
measures taken around the world to contain its spread and mitigate its public health effects. At the same time, increases in production of oil by Saudi Arabia and Russia created a significant surplus in the supply of
oil. These developments have led to significant reductions in drilling and well-completion activity during calendar 2020, including the suspension of most new drilling activity since March 2020. The reduction in
drilling activity has negatively affected demand for our frac sand, and led to a significant reduction in new orders.
Because of various uncertainties, including the ultimate geographic spread of the virus, the duration of the outbreak, actions that governmental authorities and other third-parties may take in response to the
pandemic, the impact on the economy of the COVID-19 pandemic and government orders to restrict activities, and the timing and pace of any economic recovery, we are unable to accurately predict the impact that
COVID-19 will have on our business, results of operations, cash flows or financial condition.
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We are affected by the level of demand in the construction industry.
Demand for our construction products and building materials is directly related to the level of activity in the construction industry, which includes residential, commercial and infrastructure construction. While the
most recent downturn in residential and commercial construction, which began in calendar 2007, materially affected our business, certain economic fundamentals began improving in calendar 2012, and have
continued to improve; however, the rate and sustainability of such improvement remains uncertain, and the total impact of COVID-19 is not yet known. Infrastructure spending continues to be adversely affected by
several factors, including the budget constraints currently being experienced by federal, state and local governments. Any decrease in the amount of government funds available for such projects or any decrease in
construction activity in general (including any weakness in residential or commercial construction) could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our business is seasonal in nature, and this causes our quarterly results to vary significantly.
A majority of our business is seasonal with peak revenue and profits occurring primarily in the months of April through November when the weather in our markets is more suitable for construction activity. Quarterly
results have varied significantly in the past and are likely to vary significantly in the future. Such variations could have a negative impact on the price of our common stock.

We are subject to the risk of unfavorable weather conditions, particularly during peak construction periods, as well as other unexpected operational difficulties.
Unfavorable weather conditions, such as snow, cold weather, hurricanes, tropical storms, and heavy or sustained rainfall, can reduce construction activity and adversely affect demand for construction products.
Such weather conditions can also increase our costs, reduce our production, or impede our ability to transport our products in an efficient and cost-effective manner. Similarly, operational difficulties, such as
business interruption due to required maintenance, capital improvement projects, or loss of power, can increase our costs and reduce our production. In particular, the occurrence of unfavorable weather conditions
and other unexpected operational difficulties during peak construction periods could adversely affect operating earnings and cash flow and could have a disproportionate impact on our results of operations for the
full year.

We and our customers participate in cyclical industries and regional markets, which are subject to industry downturns.
A majority of our revenue is from customers who are in industries and businesses that are cyclical in nature and subject to changes in general economic conditions. For example, many of our customers operate in
the construction industry, which is affected by a variety of factors, such as general economic conditions, changes in interest rates, demographic and population shifts, levels of infrastructure spending, and other
factors beyond our control. In addition, since our operations are in a variety of geographic markets, our businesses are subject to differing economic conditions in each such geographic market. Economic
downturns in the industries to which we sell our products or localized downturns in the regions where we have operations generally have an adverse effect on demand for our products and negatively affect the
collectability of our receivables. In general, any downturns in these industries or regions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
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Many of our products are commodities, which are subject to significant changes in supply and demand and price fluctuations.
Many of the products sold by us are commodities, and competition among manufacturers is based largely on price. Prices are often subject to material changes in response to relatively minor fluctuations in supply
and demand, general economic conditions, and other market conditions beyond our control. Increases in the production capacity of industry participants for products such as gypsum wallboard, frac sand, or
cement or increases in cement imports tend to create an oversupply of such products leading to an imbalance between supply and demand, which can have a negative impact on product prices. Currently, there
continues to be significant excess nameplate capacity in the gypsum wallboard industry in the United States. In addition, the growing utilization of in-basin frac sand by oil and gas producers and service providers
has resulted in decreased demand for our frac sand. There can be no assurance that prices for products sold by us will not decline in the future or that such declines will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The proposed separation of our Heavy Materials and Light Materials businesses into two independent, publicly traded corporations is subject to various risks and uncertainties, and may not be completed on the
terms or timeline currently contemplated, if at all.
On May 30, 2019, we announced our plan to separate our Heavy Materials and Light Materials businesses into two independent, publicly traded corporations by means of a tax-free spin-off to our shareholders. We
remain committed to the separation, although the timing is uncertain. We continue preparations to ensure the two businesses are well-positioned for the separation when the markets recover from the effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, unanticipated developments other than COVID-19, including possible delays in obtaining the necessary tax opinion, regulatory approvals or clearances and uncertainty of the
financial markets, could further delay or prevent the completion of the proposed separation or cause the proposed separation to occur on terms or conditions that are different from those currently expected. As a
result, we cannot assure that we will be able to complete the proposed separation on the terms or the timeline that we announced, if at all.

The proposed separation of our Heavy Materials and Light Materials businesses may not achieve some or all of the anticipated benefits.
Executing the proposed separation will require us to incur costs, as well as time and attention from our senior management and key employees, which could distract them from operating our business, disrupt
operations, and result in the loss of business opportunities, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We may also experience increased difficulties in attracting,
retaining and motivating key employees during the pendency of the separation and following its completion, which could harm our businesses. Even if the proposed separation is completed, we may not realize
some or all of the anticipated benefits from the separation and the separation may in fact adversely affect our business. As independent, publicly traded companies, both companies will be smaller, less diversified
companies with a narrower business focus and may be more vulnerable to changing market conditions and competitive pressures, which could materially and adversely affect their respective businesses, financial
condition and results of operations. There can be no assurance that the combined value of the common stock of the two publicly traded companies following the completion of the proposed separation will be equal
to or greater than what the value of our common stock would have been had the proposed separation not occurred.
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Our Cement business is capital intensive, resulting in significant fixed and semi-fixed costs. Therefore, our earnings are sensitive to changes in volume.
Due to the high levels of fixed capital required to produce cement, our profitability is susceptible to significant changes in volume. We believe that our current cash balance, along with our projected internal cash
flows and our available financing resources will provide sufficient cash to support our currently anticipated operating and capital needs. However, if we are unable to generate sufficient cash to purchase and
maintain the property and machinery necessary to operate our cement business, we may be required to reduce or delay planned capital expenditures or incur additional debt. In addition, given the level of fixed and
semi-fixed costs within our Cement business and at our cement production facilities, decreases in volume could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

We are subject to risks and uncertainties related to our review of alternatives for our Oil and Gas Proppants Business.
The Company continues to review alternatives for our remaining Oil and Gas Proppants business and is carefully considering the full range of options, including potential transactions with third parties and other
strategic and financial alternatives. There can be no assurance that the review of strategic alternatives will result in any particular action or that a transaction will be consummated. We have and will continue to
incur expenses in connection with the review of alternatives and our future results may be affected by the pursuit or consummation of any specific transaction. While the review of alternatives is ongoing, we are
exposed to certain risks and uncertainties, including the diversion of management’s time to the process; the need to limit and curtail operations in light of significant decrease in demand and exposure to potential
litigation in connection with any specific transaction or other strategic alternative resulting therefrom, all of which could disrupt and negatively affect our business. We may decide to effect the closure of one or more
facilities of our Oil and Gas Proppants business or to idle them pending any possible improvement in market conditions. We can provide no assurance that any transaction or other action we may pursue with
respect to our Oil and Gas Proppants business will have a positive impact on our results of operations or financial condition.

Our Oil and Gas Proppants business and financial performance depends on the level of activity in the oil and natural gas industries.
Our operations that produce frac sand are materially dependent on the levels of activity in oil and natural gas exploration, development, and production. More specifically, the demand for the frac sand we produce
is closely related to the number of oil and natural gas wells drilled and completed in geological formations where sand-based proppants are used in fracture treatments. These activity levels are affected by both
short- and long-term trends in oil and natural gas prices. In recent years, oil and natural gas prices and, therefore, the level of exploration, development, and production activity, have experienced significant
fluctuations. Worldwide economic, political and military events, including war, terrorist activity, events in the Middle East, and initiatives by OPEC, have contributed, and are likely to continue to contribute, to price
volatility.
Oil demand has significantly deteriorated as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and preventative measures taken around the world to contain its spread and mitigate its public health effects. At the same time,
increases in production of oil by Saudi Arabia and Russia have created a significant surplus in the supply of oil. The combination of the dissolution of OPEC oil production quotas and the economic impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic have resulted in significant reductions in demand for oil and an oversupply of oil worldwide. Downward pressure on commodity prices has continued and could continue for the foreseeable
future. A prolonged period of low commodity prices, or further downward pressure on commodity prices, may have a negative impact on drilling and completion activity.
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Additionally, warmer than normal winters in North America and other weather patterns may adversely affect the short-term demand for natural gas and, therefore, demand for our products. Reduction in demand for
natural gas to generate electricity could also adversely affect the demand for frac sand. A prolonged reduction in oil and natural gas prices would generally depress the level of oil and natural gas exploration,
development, production and well completion activity, and would result in a corresponding decline in the demand for the frac sand we produce. In addition, any future decreases in the rate at which oil and natural
gas reserves are discovered or developed, whether due to increased governmental regulation, limitations on exploration and drilling activity or other factors, could have material adverse effect on our Oil and Gas
Proppants business, even in a stronger oil and natural gas price environment.

We may be adversely affected by decreases or shifts in demand for frac sand or the development of either effective alternative proppants or new processes to replace hydraulic fracturing.
Frac sand is a proppant used in the completion and re-completion of oil and natural gas wells through hydraulic fracturing. Frac sand is the most commonly used proppant and is less expensive than ceramic
proppant, which is also used in hydraulic fracturing to stimulate and maintain oil and natural gas production. A significant shift in demand from frac sand to other proppants, such as ceramic proppants, or a shift in
demand from higher-margin frac sand to lower-margin frac sand, such as the current shift to in-basin frac sand, could have a material adverse effect on our Oil and Gas Proppants business. The development and
use of new technology for effective alternative proppants, or new technologies allowing for improved placement of proppants at reduced volumes, or the development of new processes to replace hydraulic
fracturing altogether could also cause a decline in demand for the frac sand we produce and could have a material adverse effect on our Oil and Gas Proppants business. Similarly, the continued presence of lower
cost in-basin frac sand could continue to adversely affect our Oil and Gas Proppants business.

Any material nonpayment or nonperformance by any of our key customers could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Any material nonpayment or nonperformance by any of our key customers could have a material adverse effect on our revenue and cash flows, in particular with respect to our Oil and Gas Proppants business. Our
contracts with our customers provide for different potential remedies to us in the event a customer fails to purchase the minimum contracted amount of product in a given period. If we were to pursue legal remedies
in the event that a customer failed to purchase the minimum contracted amount of product under a fixed-volume contract or failed to satisfy the take-or-pay commitment under a take-or-pay contract, we may
receive significantly less in a judgment or settlement of any claimed breach than we would have received had the customer fully performed under the contract. In the event of any customer’s breach, we may also
choose to renegotiate any disputed contract on less favorable terms (including with respect to price and volume) for us to preserve the relationship with that customer.
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Volatility and disruption of financial markets could affect access to credit.
Difficult economic conditions can cause a contraction in the availability, and increase the cost, of credit in the marketplace. A number of our customers or suppliers have been and may continue to be adversely
affected by unsettled conditions in capital and credit markets, which in some cases have made it more difficult or costly for them to finance their business operations. These unsettled conditions have the potential to
reduce the sources of liquidity for the Company and our customers.

Our and our customers’ operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation, including environmental laws, which can be costly and burdensome.
Our operations and those of our customers are subject to and affected by federal, state, and local laws and regulations with respect to such matters as land usage, street and highway usage, noise level, and health
and safety and environmental matters. In many instances, various certificates, permits, or licenses are required in order for us or our customers to conduct business or carry out construction and related operations.
For example, certain of our waste-burning cement kilns are subject to the Standards of Performance for New Sources and Emissions Guidelines for Existing Sources for Commercial/Industrial Solid Waste
Incinerators (the CISWI Rule). Although we believe that we are in compliance in all material respects with applicable regulatory requirements, there can be no assurance that we will not incur material costs or
liabilities in connection with regulatory requirements or that demand for our products will not be adversely affected by regulatory issues affecting our customers. In addition, future developments, such as the
discovery of new facts or conditions, the enactment or adoption of new or stricter laws or regulations, or stricter interpretations of existing laws or regulations, may impose new liabilities on us, require additional
investment by us, or prevent us from opening, expanding, or modifying plants or facilities, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations. For example, we are
subject to the National Emissions Standards for Hazardous Air 48 Pollutants, or NESHAP, for Portland cement plants (PC NESHAP). In the future, the EPA may propose to further strengthen the emission
limitations applicable under the PC NESHAP to reflect future technological developments, as a result of its periodic reviews of the limitations mandated by the Clean Air Act. Further, out of the 16 states where we
have operations, 10 states contain at least one “area” that was designated as being in nonattainment for the 2015 ozone National Ambient Air Quality Standards (NAAQS) (California, Colorado, Illinois, Missouri,
Nevada, New Mexico, Ohio, Texas, Utah, and Wisconsin). We may be required to meet new control requirements in these states requiring significant capital expenditures for compliance.

Climate change and climate change legislation or regulations may adversely affect our business.
A number of governmental bodies have finalized, proposed, or are contemplating legislative and regulatory changes in response to the potential effects of climate change. Such legislation or regulation has and
potentially could include provisions for a “cap and trade” system of allowances and credits or a carbon tax, among other provisions. Any future laws or regulations addressing GHG emissions would likely have a
negative impact on our business or results of operations, whether through the imposition of raw material or production limitations, fuel-use, or carbon taxes emission limitations or reductions, or otherwise.
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Other potential effects of climate change include physical effects such as disruption in production and product distribution as a result of major storm events and shifts in regional weather patterns and intensities.
Production and shipment levels for our businesses correlate with general construction activity, most of which occurs outdoors and, as a result, is affected by erratic weather patterns, seasonal changes, and other
unusual or unexpected weather-related conditions, which can significantly affect our businesses. There is also a potential for climate change legislation and regulation to adversely affect the cost of purchased
energy and electricity.
The effects of climate change on our operations are highly uncertain and difficult to estimate. However, because a chemical reaction inherent to the manufacture of portland cement releases carbon dioxide, a GHG,
cement kiln operations may be disproportionately affected by future regulation of GHGs. Climate change and legislation and regulation concerning GHGs could have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition, results of operations, and liquidity.

Silica-related legislation, health issues and litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation or results of operations.
The inhalation of respirable crystalline silica is associated with the lung disease silicosis. There is evidence of an association between crystalline silica exposure or silicosis and lung cancer and a possible
association with other diseases, including immune system disorders such as scleroderma. These health risks have been, and may continue to be, a significant issue confronting the frac sand industry and related
transloading operations. Concerns over silicosis and other potential adverse health effects, as well as concerns regarding potential liability from the use or handling of frac sand, may have the effect of discouraging
our customers’ use of our frac sand. The actual or perceived health risks of mining, processing, and handling frac sand could materially and adversely affect frac sand producers and those who transload frac sand,
including us, through reduced use of frac sand, the threat of product liability or employee lawsuits, increased scrutiny by federal, state and local regulatory authorities of us and our customers. We are currently
subject to laws and regulations relating to human exposure to crystalline silica. Several federal and state regulatory authorities, including MSHA and OSHA, may continue to propose and implement changes in their
regulations regarding workplace exposure to crystalline silica, such as permissible exposure limits and required controls and personal protective equipment. We may not be able to comply with any new laws and
regulations that are adopted and required modifications or cessation of operations at our affected operations could have a material adverse effect on those businesses.

We may incur significant costs in connection with pending and future litigation.
We are, or may become, party to various lawsuits, claims, investigations, and proceedings, including but not limited to personal injury, environmental, antitrust, tax, asbestos, property entitlements and land use,
intellectual property, commercial, contract, product liability, health and safety, and employment matters. The outcome of pending or future lawsuits, claims, investigations, or proceedings is often difficult to predict
and could be adverse and material in amount. Development in these proceedings can lead to changes in management’s estimates of liabilities associated with these proceedings including the judge’s rulings or
judgments, settlements, or changes in applicable law. A future adverse ruling, settlement, or unfavorable development could result in charges that could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
and cash flows in a particular period. In addition, the defense of these lawsuits, claims, investigations, and proceedings may divert our management’s attention, and we may incur significant costs in defending
these matters.
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Our results of operations are subject to significant changes in the cost and availability of fuel, energy and other raw materials.
Major cost components in each of our businesses are the costs of fuel, energy, and raw materials. Significant increases in the costs of fuel, energy, or raw materials, or substantial decreases in their availability
could materially and adversely affect our sales and operating profits. Prices for fuel, energy, or raw materials used in connection with our businesses could change significantly in a short period of time for reasons
outside our control. Prices for fuel and electrical power, which are significant components of the costs associated with our Gypsum Wallboard and Cement businesses, have fluctuated significantly in recent years
and may increase in the future. In the event of large or rapid increases in prices, we may not be able to pass the increases through to our customers in full, which would reduce our operating margin.

Changes in the cost or availability of raw materials supplied by third parties may adversely affect our operating and financial performance.
We generally maintain our own reserves of limestone, gypsum, aggregates, and other materials that we use to manufacture our products. However, we obtain certain raw materials used to manufacture our
products, such as synthetic gypsum and slag granules, from third parties who produce such materials as by-products of industrial processes. While we try to secure our needed supply of such materials through
long-term contracts, those contracts may not be sufficient to meet our needs, or we may be unable to renew or replace existing contracts when they expire or are terminated in the future. Should our existing
suppliers cease operations or reduce or eliminate production of these by-products, our costs to procure these materials may increase significantly, or we may be obliged to procure alternatives to replace these
materials, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any such development may adversely affect our operations and financial condition.

We may become subject to significant cleanup, remediation, reclamation, and other liabilities under applicable environmental laws.
Our operations are subject to state, federal, and local environmental laws and regulations, which impose liability for cleanup or remediation of environmental pollution and hazardous waste arising from past acts.
These laws and regulations also require pollution control and prevention, site restoration, reclamation, and operating permits, and/or approvals to conduct certain of our operations or expand or modify our facilities.
Certain of our operations may from time to time involve the use of substances that are classified as toxic or hazardous substances within the meaning of these laws and regulations. We are unable to estimate
accurately the impact on our business or results of operations of any such law or regulation at this time. Risk of environmental liability (including the incurrence of fines, penalties, other sanctions, or litigation
liability) is inherent in the operation of our businesses. As a result, it is possible that environmental liabilities and compliance with environmental regulations could have a material adverse effect on our operations in
the future.
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A frac sand mining facility closure entails substantial costs, and if we close our frac sand mining facilities, our results of operations may be adversely affected.
The closure of a frac sand mining facility would involve significant fixed closure costs, including accelerated employment legacy costs, severance-related obligations, reclamation and other environmental costs and
the costs of terminating long-term obligations, including energy contracts and equipment leases. We accrue for the costs of reclaiming open pits, stockpiles, non-saleable sand, ponds, roads and other mining
support areas over the estimated mining life of our property.

Significant changes in the cost and availability of transportation could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.
Some of the raw materials used in our manufacturing processes, such as coal or coke, are transported to our facilities by truck or rail. In addition, transportation logistics play an important part in allowing us to
supply products to our customers, whether by truck, rail, or barge. For example, we deliver gypsum wallboard to many areas of the United States, and the transportation costs associated with the delivery of our
wallboard products represent a significant portion of the variable cost of our Gypsum Wallboard segment. Significant increases in the cost of fuel or energy can result in material increases in the cost of
transportation, which could materially and adversely affect our operating profits. In addition, reductions in the availability of certain modes of transportation, such as rail or trucking, could limit our ability to deliver
product and therefore materially and adversely affect our operating profits.

Our debt agreements contain restrictive covenants and require us to meet certain financial ratios and tests, which limit our flexibility and could give rise to a default if we are unable to remain in compliance.
Our Revolving Credit Facility, Senior Unsecured Notes, and Term Loan contain, among other things, covenants that limit our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business
activities, including but not limited to our ability to:
•
incur additional indebtedness;
•
sell assets or make other fundamental changes;
•
engage in mergers and acquisitions;
•
pay dividends and make other restricted payments;
•
make investments, loans, advances or guarantees;
•
encumber our assets or those of our restricted subsidiaries;
•
enter into transactions with our affiliates.
In addition, these agreements require us to meet and maintain certain financial ratios and tests, which may require that we take action to reduce our debt or to act in a manner contrary to our business objectives.
Events beyond our control, including the changes in general business and economic conditions, may impair our ability to comply with these covenants or meet those financial ratios and tests. A breach of any of
these covenants or failure to maintain the required ratios and meet the required tests may result in an event of default under these agreements. This may allow the lenders under these agreements to declare all
amounts outstanding to be immediately due and payable, terminate any commitments to extend further credit to us, and pursue other remedies available to them under the applicable agreements. If this occurs, our
indebtedness may be accelerated, and we may not be able to refinance the accelerated indebtedness on favorable terms, or at all, or repay the accelerated indebtedness. In general, the occurrence of any event of
default under these agreements could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of operations.
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We have incurred substantial indebtedness, which could adversely affect our business, limit our ability to plan for or respond to changes in our business, and reduce our profitability.
Our future ability to satisfy our debt obligations is subject, to some extent, to financial, market, competitive, legislative, regulatory, and other factors that are beyond our control. Our substantial debt obligations could
have negative consequences to our business, and, in particular, could impede, restrict, or delay the implementation of our business strategy or prevent us from entering into transactions that would otherwise benefit
our business. For example:
•
we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of our cash flow for other purposes, including
business development efforts, capital expenditures, or strategic acquisitions;
•
we may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to meet our substantial debt service obligations or to fund our other liquidity needs. If this occurs, we may have to take actions such as selling assets, selling
equity, or reducing or delaying capital expenditures, strategic acquisitions, investments and joint ventures, or restructuring our debt;
•
as a result of the amount of our outstanding indebtedness and the restrictive covenants to which we are subject, if we determine that we require additional financing to fund future working capital, capital
investments, or other business activities, we may not be able to obtain such financing on commercially reasonable terms, or at all; and
•
our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry may be limited, thereby placing us at a competitive disadvantage compared with our competitors that have less indebtedness.

Our production facilities may experience unexpected equipment failures, catastrophic events, and scheduled maintenance.
Interruptions in our production capabilities may cause our productivity and results of operations to decline significantly during the affected period. Our manufacturing processes are dependent upon critical pieces of
equipment. Such equipment may, on occasion, be out of service as a result of unanticipated events such as fires, explosions, violent weather conditions, or unexpected operational difficulties. We also have
periodically scheduled shut-downs to perform maintenance on our facilities. Any significant interruption in production capability may require us to make significant capital expenditures to remedy problems or
damage as well as cause us to lose revenue and profits due to lost production time, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Increases in interest rates and inflation could adversely affect our business and demand for our products, which would have a negative effect on our results of operations.
Our business is significantly affected by the movement of interest rates. Interest rates have a direct impact on the level of residential, commercial, and infrastructure construction activity by impacting the cost of
borrowed funds to builders. Higher interest rates could result in decreased demand for our products, which would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. In addition, increases in
interest rates could result in higher interest expense related to borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. Inflation can result in higher interest rates. With inflation, the costs of capital increase, and the
purchasing power of our cash resources can decline. Current or future efforts by the government to stimulate the economy may increase the risk of significant inflation, which could have a direct and indirect
adverse impact on our business and results of operations.
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Any new business opportunities we may elect to pursue will be subject to the risks typically associated with the early stages of business development or product line expansion.
We are continuing to pursue opportunities which are natural extensions of our existing core businesses and which allow us to leverage our core competencies, existing infrastructure, and customer relationships.
See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations – Executive Summary.” Our likelihood of success in pursuing and realizing these opportunities must be considered in
light of the expenses, difficulties, and delays frequently encountered in connection with the early phases of business development or product line expansion, including the difficulties involved in obtaining permits;
planning and constructing new facilities; transporting and storing products; establishing, maintaining, or expanding customer relationships; as well as navigating the regulatory environment in which we operate.
There can be no assurance that we will be successful in the pursuit and realization of these opportunities.

Our operations are dependent on our rights and ability to mine our properties and on our having renewed or received the required permits and approvals from governmental authorities and other third parties.
We hold numerous governmental, environmental, mining, and other permits, water rights, and approvals authorizing operations at many of our facilities. A decision by a governmental agency or other third parties to
deny or delay issuing a new or renewed permit or approval, or to revoke or substantially modify an existing permit or approval, could have a material adverse effect on our ability to continue operations at the
affected facility. Expansion of our existing operations is also predicated on securing the necessary environmental or other permits, water rights, or approvals, which we may not receive in a timely manner or at all.
Title to, and the area of, mineral properties and water rights may also be disputed. Mineral properties sometimes contain claims or transfer histories that examiners cannot verify. A successful claim that we do not
have title to one or more of our properties or lack appropriate water rights could cause us to lose any rights to explore, develop, and extract any minerals on that property, without compensation for our prior
expenditures relating to such property. Our business may suffer a material adverse effect in the event one or more of our properties are determined to have title deficiencies.
In some instances, we have received access rights or easements from third parties, which allow for a more efficient operation than would exist without the access or easement. A third party could take action to
suspend the access or easement, and any such action could be materially adverse to our results of operations or financial conditions.

A cyber-attack or data security breach affecting our information technology systems may negatively affect our businesses, financial condition, and operating results.
We use information technology systems to collect, store, and transmit the data needed to operate our businesses, including our confidential and proprietary information. Although we have implemented industrystandard security safeguards and policies to prevent unauthorized access or disclosure of such information, we cannot prevent all cyber-attacks or data security breaches. If such an attack or breach occurs, our
businesses could be negatively affected, and we could incur additional costs in remediating the attack or breach and suffer reputational harm due to the theft or disclosure of our confidential information.
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We may pursue acquisitions, joint ventures and other transactions that are intended to complement or expand our businesses. We may not be able to complete proposed transactions, and even if completed, the
transactions may involve a number of risks that may result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash flows.
As business conditions warrant and our financial resources permit, we may pursue opportunities to acquire businesses or technologies and to form joint ventures that we believe could complement, enhance, or
expand our current businesses or product lines or that might otherwise offer us growth opportunities. We may have difficulty identifying appropriate opportunities, or if we do identify opportunities, we may not be
successful in completing transactions for a number of reasons. Any transactions that we are able to identify and complete may involve one or more of a number of risks, including:
•
the diversion of management’s attention from our existing businesses to integrate the operations and personnel of the acquired business or joint venture;
•
possible adverse effects on our operating results during the integration process;
•
failure of the acquired business or joint venture to achieve expected operational, profitability, and investment return objectives;
•
the incurrence of significant charges, such as impairment of goodwill or intangible assets, asset devaluation, or restructuring charges;
•
the assumption of unanticipated liabilities and costs for which indemnification is unavailable or inadequate;
•
unforeseen difficulties encountered in operating in new geographic areas; and
•
the inability to achieve other intended objectives of the transaction.
In addition, we may not be able to successfully or profitably integrate, operate, maintain, and manage our newly acquired operations or their employees. We may not be able to maintain uniform standards, controls,
procedures, and policies, which may lead to operational inefficiencies. In addition, future acquisitions may result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of additional indebtedness.

Increases in our effective income tax rate may harm our results of operations.
A number of factors may increase our future effective income tax rate, including:
•
governmental authorities increasing taxes or eliminating deductions, particularly the depletion deduction;
•
the mix of earnings from depletable versus non-depletable businesses;
•
the jurisdictions in which earnings are taxed;
•
the resolution of issues arising from tax audits with various tax authorities;
•
changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities;
•
adjustments to estimated taxes upon finalization of various tax returns;
•
changes in available tax credits;
•
changes in stock-based compensation;
•
other changes in tax laws; and
•
the interpretation of tax laws and/or administrative practices.
Any significant increase in our future effective income tax rate could reduce net earnings and free cash flow for future periods.
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The anticipated benefits of the acquisition of the Kosmos Business may not be realized fully or at all and may take longer to realize than expected.
The acquisition of the Kosmos Business involves the integration of an independently operated business into our business operations. The integration process may be complex, costly and time-consuming, which
could adversely affect our businesses, financial results and financial condition. Our management team will be required to devote significant attention and resources to the integration process. Even if the integration
is successful, it may not result in the realization of the full benefits of synergies, cost savings, innovation and operational efficiencies that we expect to realize or these benefits may not be achieved within a
reasonable period of time.

Our bylaws include a forum selection clause, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.
Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any internal corporate claims within the meaning of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (DGCL), (ii) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (iii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or employees to us or to
our stockholders, or (iv) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, will be a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware in all cases subject to the court’s having
personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and
consented to the foregoing provisions. This forum selection provision in our bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. It is also possible that, notwithstanding
the forum selection clause included in our bylaws, a court could rule that such a provision is inapplicable or unenforceable.

Our bylaws include a forum selection clause, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.
Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any internal corporate claims within the meaning of the Delaware General
Corporation Law (DGCL), (ii) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (iii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers, or employees to us or to
our stockholders, or (iv) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, will be a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware in all cases subject to the court’s having
personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our capital stock is deemed to have notice of and
consented to the foregoing provisions. This forum selection provision in our bylaws may limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us. It is also possible that, notwithstanding
the forum selection clause included in our bylaws, a court could rule that such a provision is inapplicable or unenforceable. If the Company does not consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, this
provision of our bylaws would apply to actions arising under the U.S. federal securities laws and there is uncertainty as to whether a court would enforce this provision with regard to such actions.
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This report includes various forward-looking statements, which are not facts or guarantees of future performance and which are subject to significant risks and uncertainties.
This report and other materials we have filed or will file with the SEC, as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by us contain or may contain forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Exchange Act of 1934, and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. You can identify these statements by
the fact that they do not relate to matters of a strictly factual or historical nature and generally discuss or relate to forecasts, estimates, or other expectations regarding future events. Generally, the words “believe,”
“expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “project,” “may,” “can,” “could,” “might,” “will,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements, including statements related to expected operating and
performing results, planned transactions, plans, and objectives of management, future developments, or conditions in the industries in which we participate, including future prices for our products, audits, and legal
proceedings to which we are a party, and other trends, developments, and uncertainties that may affect our business in the future.
Forward-looking statements are not historical facts or guarantees of future performance but instead represent only our beliefs at the time the statements were made regarding future events, which are subject to
significant risks, uncertainties, and other factors, many of which are outside of our control. Any or all of the forward-looking statements made by us may turn out to be materially inaccurate. This can occur as a
result of incorrect assumptions, changes in facts and circumstances, or the effects of known risks and uncertainties. Many of the risks and uncertainties mentioned in this report or other reports filed by us with the
SEC, including those discussed in the risk factor section of this report, will be important in determining whether these forward-looking statements prove to be accurate. Consequently, neither our stockholders nor
any other person should place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements and should recognize that actual results may differ materially from those that may be anticipated by us.
All forward-looking statements made in this report are made as of the date hereof, and the risk that actual results will differ materially from expectations expressed in this report will increase with the passage of
time. We undertake no obligation, and disclaim any duty, to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, changes in our expectations, or
otherwise.
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ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
There are no unresolved Staff comments.

ITEM 2. Properties
Our operating facilities span the U.S. They include cement plants, quarries, and related facilities; aggregate plants and quarries; gypsum wallboard plants; a recycled paperboard mill; frac sand mines and
processing plants; as well as distribution terminals and our headquarters in Dallas. Other than our leased cement plant located in Sugar Creek, Missouri, none of our facilities are pledged as security for any debts.
Please see the Industry Segment Information section on pages 4-23 for more information about the location of our facilities.
The following map shows the locations of our operating facilities, by type of facility. The Concrete and Aggregate facilities in Northern California were sold on April 17, 2020:
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ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings
Our operations and properties are subject to extensive and changing federal, state, and local laws; regulations and ordinances governing the protection of the environment; as well as laws relating to worker health
and workplace safety. We carefully consider the requirements mandated by such laws and regulations and have procedures in place at all of our operating units to monitor compliance. Any matters which are
identified as potential exposures under these laws and regulations are carefully reviewed by management to determine our potential liability.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Information concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is
included in Exhibit 95 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART II
ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
STOCK PRICES AND DIVIDENDS
As of May 18, 2020, there were approximately 1,200 holders of record of our Common Stock which trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol EXP.

SHARE REPURCHASES
On April 18, 2019, the Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase an additional 10,000,000 shares. Including this latest authorization, our Board of Directors has approved the repurchase in the open market of
a cumulative total of 48,393,305 shares of our Common Stock since we became publicly held in April 1994.
During fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018, we repurchased 3,574,109; 3,309,670; and 627,772 shares, respectively, at average prices of $87.82, $82.18, and $97.30, respectively. We have repurchased
approximately 41.1 million shares from April 1994 through March 31, 2020.
Share repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The timing and amount of any repurchases of shares will be determined by the Company’s
management, based on its evaluation of market and economic conditions and other factors. In some cases, repurchases may be made pursuant to plans, programs, or directions established occasionally by the
Company’s management, including plans to comply with the safe harbor provided by Rule 10b5-1.
The Equity Compensation Plan information set forth in Part III, Item 12 of this Form 10-K is hereby incorporated by reference into this Part II, Item 5.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The following performance graph and related information shall not be deemed soliciting material or to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference
into any future filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to the extent that the Company specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing.
The graph below compares the cumulative 5-year total return to holders of Eagle Materials Inc. common stock with the cumulative total returns of the Russell 1000 index and the Dow Jones US Building Materials &
Fixtures index. The graph assumes that the value of the investment (including the reinvestment of dividends) in the Company’s common stock and in each of the indices was $100 on March 31, 2015, and tracks it
through March 31, 2020.
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The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
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ITEM 6. Selected Financial Data
SUMMARY OF SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA (1)
For the Fiscal Years Ended March 31,
2020

Revenue

$

2019

1,450,814

Earnings Before Income Taxes
45,724
Net Earnings
70,894
Diluted Earnings Per Share
Cash Dividends Per Share
Total Assets
Total Debt
Stockholders’ Equity
Book Value Per Share At Year End
Average Dilutive Shares Outstanding
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

$

1.68
0.40
2,961,020
1,567,315
967,843
23.24
42,285

(2),
(3)
(2),
(3),
(4)
(2),
(3),
(4)
(2),
(3),
(4)

$

$

2018
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

1,393,241

$

1,386,520

(6)

2017

$

2016

1,211,220

(7)

$

1,143,492

(8)

79,735

(5)

271,962

(6)

294,519

(7)

219,252

(8)

68,860

(5)

256,632

(6)

198,219

(7)

152,592

(8)

1.47
0.40
2,169,163
691,592
1,209,487
26.81
46,932

(5)

5.28
0.40
2,368,003
620,922
1,417,690
29.36
48,646

(6)

4.10
0.40
2,247,124
686,467
1,203,450
24.84
48,361

(7)

3.05
0.40
1,883,635
507,714
1,040,531
21.44
50,071

(8)

$

$

$

The Summary of Selected Financial Data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for matters that affect the comparability of the information presented above.
Includes operations related to ConAgg Acquisition from August 2, 2019 through March 31, 2020.
Includes operations related to Kosmos Cement Company from March 6, 2020 through March 31, 2020.
Includes impairment losses of approximately $224.3 million related to our Oil and Gas Proppants segment.
Includes impairment losses of approximately $220.3 million related to our Oil and Gas Proppants segment.
Includes operations related to Wildcat Minerals from July 27, 2017 through March 31, 2018.
Includes operations related to Fairborn Cement from February 10, 2017 through March 31, 2017.
Includes operations related to Skyway Cement from July 14, 2015 through March 31, 2016.

ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
We are a leading supplier of heavy construction materials and light building materials in the United States. Our primary products are commodities that are essential in commercial and residential construction; public
construction projects; and projects to build, expand, and repair roads and highways. Demand for our products is generally cyclical and seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We distribute
our products across many United States markets, which provides us with regional economic diversification. We also produce sand used in hydraulic fracturing as part of our Oil and Gas Proppants sector.
Our business is organized into three sectors: Heavy Materials, which includes the Cement and Concrete and Aggregates segments; Light Materials, which includes the Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled
Paperboard segments; and Oil and Gas Proppants, which are used in oil and natural gas extraction. Financial results and other information for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively,
are presented on a consolidated basis and by these business segments – Cement, Concrete and Aggregates, Gypsum Wallboard, Recycled Paperboard, and Oil and Gas Proppants.
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We conduct one of our cement operations through a joint venture, Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP, which is located in Buda, Texas (the Joint Venture). We own a 50% interest in the Joint Venture and account
for our interest under the equity method of accounting. We proportionately consolidate our 50% share of the Joint Venture’s Revenue and Operating Earnings in the presentation of our Cement segment, which is
the way management organizes the segments within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing performance.
All our business activities are conducted in the United States. These activities include the mining of limestone for the manufacture, production, distribution, and sale of portland cement (a basic construction material
that is the essential binding ingredient in concrete); the grinding and sale of slag; the mining of gypsum for the manufacture and sale of gypsum wallboard; the manufacture and sale of recycled paperboard to the
gypsum wallboard industry and other paperboard converters; the sale of readymix concrete; the mining and sale of aggregates (crushed stone, sand, and gravel); and the mining and sale of sand used in hydraulic
fracturing (frac sand).
Demand for our products is generally cyclical and seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We distribute our products throughout most of the United States, except the Northeast, which
provides us with regional economic diversification. However, general economic downturns or localized downturns in the regions where we have operations may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.
On August 2, 2019, we acquired the assets of a readymix concrete and aggregates business (the ConAgg Acquisition). The purchase price (Purchase Price) of the ConAgg Acquisition was approximately $30.4
million. The Purchase Price and expenses incurred in connection with the ConAgg Acquisition were funded through operating cash flows and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. The ConAgg
Acquisition’s assets and operating results are included in our Concrete and Aggregates segment reporting from August 2, 2019 through March 31, 2020.
On March 6, 2020, we completed the acquisition (the Kosmos Acquisition) of Kosmos Cement Company (a joint venture between CEMEX S.A.B. de C.V. and Buzzi Unicem S.p.A.) (Kosmos), which included (i) a
cement plant located in Louisville, Kentucky, (ii) a limestone quarry located in Battletown, Kentucky, (iii) cement distribution terminals located in Indianapolis, Indiana; Cincinnati, Ohio; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania;
Charleston, West Virginia; Ceredo, West Virginia; Mt. Vernon, Indiana; and Lexington, Kentucky, and (iv) certain other properties and assets used by Kosmos in connection with the foregoing (collectively, the
Kosmos Business) for a purchase price of approximately $669 million. We also assumed certain liabilities and obligations of Kosmos relating to the Kosmos Business, including contractual obligations, reclamation
obligations and various other liabilities and obligations arising out of or relating to the Kosmos Business after the closing of the transaction. We funded the payment of the purchase price and expenses incurred in
connection with the transaction through a combination of cash on hand and a syndicated term loan facility. The Kosmos Business’ assets and operating results are included in our Cement segment reporting from
March 6, 2020 through March 31, 2020.
As previously announced on May 30, 2019, the Company plans to separate its Heavy Materials and Light Materials businesses into two independent, publicly traded corporations by means of a tax-free spin-off to
Eagle shareholders. We remain committed to the separation, although the timing is uncertain. We continue preparations to ensure that the two businesses are well-positioned for the separation when the markets
recover from the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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MARKET CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK
During our fiscal fourth quarter, from a macroeconomic perspective, we saw several positive indicators for the construction sector, including low interest rates, high consumer confidence and robust employment
which led to increasingly positive trends in housing starts, state construction lettings and construction employment. These factors should positively affect both our Heavy Materials and Light Materials
businesses. However, given the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic discussed below, we are closely monitoring these indicators for the impact on our business in subsequent quarters.
In late 2019, a novel strain of the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) virus began spreading globally and is now in every state of the United States. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the COVID-19
outbreak a global pandemic. While COVID-19 did not have a significant impact on our business in fiscal 2020 given the timing of when the effects of the pandemic began to impact our operating markets, we believe
its impact will negatively affect our operations in subsequent periods. The impact on future results, however, is uncertain. With increasing unemployment and waning consumer confidence, we expect the demand
for the new residential market to be affected first. In fiscal 2020, approximately 50% of our wallboard business and 25% of our cement business was driven by new residential construction. In addition, the pandemic
will likely continue to severely affect state and local revenues and budgets, negatively affecting construction projects in the future. We continue to monitor our operations, operations of our customers and the
recommendations of the various national, state and local governments in the areas in which we operate. The extent to which the spread of COVID-19 impacts the national and local economies in which we operate,
and ultimately our business, will depend on numerous developments, which are highly uncertain and difficult to predict. These events, as they continue to develop, could result in business disruption, including
reduced revenue, profitability and cashflow.
Our integrated cement sales network stretches across the U.S. heartland. The Portland Cement Association is estimating cement consumption will increase in calendar 2020 over 2019 by approximately 2%. In
addition to weather, cement and concrete and aggregates markets are affected by infrastructure spending, residential construction, and industrial construction activity.
Our primary Gypsum Wallboard sales network stretches across the southern half of the United States, consistent with our facility network. Wallboard demand is heavily influenced by new residential housing
construction, as well as repair and remodeling activity. Our Recycled Paperboard business primarily sells paper into the gypsum wallboard market, and demand for paper generally follows the demand for gypsum
wallboard. The primary raw material used to produce paperboard business is OCC. OCC prices increased from $45 per ton in March 2020 to $120 per ton in May 2020 largely due to reduced generation of OCC
due the COVID-19 pandemic. Although current gypsum liner customer contracts include price escalators that partially offset and compensate for changes in raw material fiber prices, these increases likely will
adversely affect our wallboard operations by increasing the cost of paper.
During the second half of calendar year 2019, our Oil and Gas Proppants financial results have been negatively affected by a combination of low demand for our products and the increased use of in-basin sand
instead of northern white frac sand. Faced with these market conditions, we recorded long-lived asset and other asset impairments of approximately $224.3 million during the fiscal third quarter. See Footnote (A) to
the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information about the impairment. In addition, during the March and April 2020, oil prices declined to all-time lows due to the decrease in demand for oil
resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as an increase in supply caused by disagreements with respect to oil pricing and output between Russia and members of OPEC, particularly Saudi Arabia. The
COVID-19 pandemic has caused a global decrease in all modes of travel, the closure of borders between countries and a general slowing of economic activity worldwide, which has decreased
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the demand for oil. In early March, Russia and Saudi Arabia ended a three-year supply level agreement, which resulted in each country increasing its oil production. In April 2020 Russia and OPEC agreed to
production cuts to mitigate the decline in the price of oil; however, such cuts may not be sufficient to stabilize the oil market if the decline in demand due to the COVID-19 pandemic continues. Oil and natural gas
prices are expected to continue to be volatile as a result of the increase of near-term supply and the decrease in overall demand caused by these events, and we cannot predict when prices will improve or stabilize.
This sharp decline in oil prices has led to further declines in drilling and well-completion activity, including the suspension of most new drilling activity since March 2020, and has negatively impacted our Oil and Gas
Proppants business. As previously disclosed, we are actively pursuing alternatives for our Oil and Gas Proppants business. If this results in an alternative use or disposition of this business, additional impairment or
other losses may be incurred.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FISCAL YEAR 2020 COMPARED WITH FISCAL YEAR 2019
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(in thousands, except per share)

Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold
Gross Profit
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture
Corporate General and Administrative
Impairment Losses
Litigation Settlements and Losses
Other Non-Operating Income (Loss)
Interest Expense, net
Earnings Before Income Taxes
Income Tax Benefit (Expense)
Net Earnings

$

Diluted Earnings per Share

$

$

1,450,814
(1,119,552)
331,262
42,585
(65,410)
(224,267)
—
(25)
(38,421)
45,724
25,170
70,894
1.68

$

$
$

2019

1,393,241
(1,066,673)
326,568
38,565
(37,371)
(220,265)
(1,800)
2,412
(28,374)
79,735
(10,875)
68,860
1.47

Percentage Change

4%
5%
1%
10%
75%
2%
(100)%
(101)%
35%
(43)%
(331)%
3%
14%

REVENUE
Revenue increased in fiscal 2020 by $57.6 million to $1,450.8 million. The Kosmos and ConAgg Acquisitions contributed approximately $32.2 million to the increase in Revenue. Excluding the Kosmos and ConAgg
Acquisitions, Revenue increased approximately $25.4 million, primarily due to higher Sales Volume of approximately $69.8 million, partially offset by lower average Gross Sales Prices of approximately $44.4
million. The lower Gross Sales Prices related primarily to our Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled Paperboard segments, and is discussed further on pages 50-51.
COST OF GOODS SOLD
Cost of Goods Sold increased by $52.9 million, or 5%, to $1,119.6 million in fiscal 2020. Approximately $38.6 million of the increase was related to the Kosmos and ConAgg Acquisitions. The remaining increase in
Cost of Goods Sold was due to increased Sales Volume, which increased Cost of Goods Sold by approximately $44.4 million, partially offset by lower operating costs of approximately $30.1 million. The decrease in
operating costs related primarily to our Gypsum Wallboard, Recycled Paperboard, and Oil and Gas Proppants segments, and is discussed further on pages 50-52.
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GROSS PROFIT
Gross Profit increased by 1% to $331.3 million in fiscal 2020. Excluding the Kosmos and ConAgg Acquisitions, the increase in Gross Profit was primarily related to higher Sales Volume and lower operating costs,
partially offset by lower average Gross Sales Prices, as noted above. The gross margin remained consistent at 23% for both fiscal 2020 and 2019.
EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture increased by $4.0 million, or 10%. The improvement was primarily due to higher Sales Volume and Gross Sales Prices of approximately $3.1 million and $0.2
million, respectively, as well as lower operating expenses of $0.7 million. The decrease in operating costs was due primarily to purchased cement costs of approximately $2.1 million, partially offset by higher energy
and raw materials costs of $0.8 million and $0.7 million, respectively.
CORPORATE GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE
Corporate General and Administrative expenses increased by approximately $28.0 million, or 75%, to $65.4 million in fiscal 2020. The increase was due primarily to costs incurred in connection with our pending
separation, consulting expenses, acquisition-related expenses, and the acceleration of stock compensation costs upon the retirement of our Chief Executive Officer during the first quarter of fiscal 2020, which
contributed approximately $11.5 million, $1.8 million, $7.0 million, and $5.3 million, respectively, to the increase. The accelerated vesting of all earned but unvested shares of restricted stock held by our Chief
Executive Officer was consistent with the terms of the Company’s incentive plan documents and was approved by the Board of Directors.
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
Impairment Losses in fiscal 2020 were approximately $224.3 million and related to our Oil and Gas Proppants segment. The charges included a $187.6 million impairment of property and equipment, a $29.1 million
impairment of Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets, and a $7.6 million impairment of other current assets, primarily inventories. Impairment Losses in fiscal 2019 were approximately $220.3 million and related to
impairment charges taken in our Oil and Gas Proppants segment. The charges included a $211.3 million impairment of Property and Equipment, and a $9.0 million impairment of Goodwill and Intangible, and Other
Assets. The Impairment Losses have not been included in the Oil and Gas Proppants’ segment Operating Earnings. See Footnote (A) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information.
LITIGATION SETTLEMENTS AND LOSSES
Litigation Settlements and Losses in fiscal 2019 relate to third-party property damage that occurred several years ago in our Recycled Paperboard business. This amount was paid during the first quarter of fiscal
2020.
OTHER NON-OPERATING INCOME
Other Non-Operating Loss was $0.1 million in fiscal 2020, compared with Other Non-Operating Income of $2.4 million in fiscal 2019. Other Non-Operating Income consists of a variety of items that are non-segment
operating in nature, including lease and rental income, non-inventoried Aggregates income, asset sales, and other miscellaneous income and cost items.
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INTEREST EXPENSE, NET
Interest Expense, net, increased by approximately $10.0 million in fiscal 2020. The increase in Interest Expense, net was due primarily to higher interest on borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term
Loan of $9.3 million and $1.4 million, partially offset by lower interest expense on our Private Placement Unsecured Notes. The increase in interest expense for our Revolving Credit Facility was due primarily to
higher outstanding balances related to the repurchase of approximately 3.6 million shares of our outstanding stock during fiscal 2020 and the payment of the remaining notes under the Private Placement
Unsecured Notes. The Term Loan was entered into in March 2020 to fund the Kosmos Acquisition.
EARNINGS BEFORE INCOME TAXES
Earnings Before Income Taxes decreased to $45.7 million during fiscal 2020, primarily due to the increase in Corporate General and Administrative Expense of $28.0 million, Interest Expense of $10.0 million, and
Impairment Losses of $4.0 million. This was offset partially by increased Gross Profit of $4.7 million and Equity in Unconsolidated Joint Venture of $4.0 million.
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
We recorded an Income Tax Benefit of $25.2 million for fiscal 2020 and Income Tax Expense of $10.9 million for fiscal 2019. The tax rate for fiscal 2020 was approximately (55%), compared with 14% for fiscal
2019. The decrease in the fiscal 2020 tax rate was primarily due to the enactment of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act, which allows for a five-year carryback of net operating losses
generated beginning in 2018 and ending in 2021. In March 2020, we recorded a one-time discrete benefit of $31.7 million related to the carryback and utilization of net operating losses in prior-year periods at
higher rates than the current statutory rate.
NET EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Net Earnings increased 3% in fiscal 2020 to $70.9 million. Diluted Earnings per Share in fiscal 2020 were $1.68, compared with $1.47 for fiscal 2019. The increase in Net Earnings and Diluted Earnings per Share
were primarily due to the income tax benefit recognized during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, as discussed above, and the repurchase of approximately 3.6 million outstanding shares of common stock during
fiscal 2020.
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FISCAL YEAR 2020 vs FISCAL YEAR 2019 RESULTS BY SEGMENT
The following presents results within our three business sectors in fiscal 2020 and fiscal 2019. Revenue and operating results are organized by sector and discussed by individual business segment within each
respective business sector.

Heavy Materials
CEMENT (1)
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(in thousands, except per ton information)

Gross Revenue, including Intersegment and Joint Venture
Less Intersegment Revenue
Less Joint Venture Revenue
Gross Revenue, as reported
Freight and Delivery Costs billed to Customers
Net Revenue

$
$
$
$

Sales Volume (M Tons)
Average Net Sales Price, per ton (2)
Operating Margin, per ton
Operating Earnings
(1)
(2)

$

752,002
(21,499)
(113,536)
616,967
(47,009)
569,958

$
$
$

5,931
109.96
30.57
181,330

$
$
$
$

2019

Percentage Change

$

656,759
(14,408)
(104,493)
537,858
(42,614)
495,244

15%
49%
9%
15%
10%
15%

$
$
$

5,340
108.15
30.86
164,782

11%
2%
(1)%
10%

Total of wholly owned subsidiaries and proportionately consolidated 50% interest of the Joint Venture’s results.
Net of freight per ton, including the Joint Venture.

Cement Revenue was $752.0 million for fiscal 2020, a 15% increase over fiscal 2019. Revenue from the Kosmos Acquisition contributed $7.9 million of the increase. The remaining increase in Revenue was
primarily due to an increase in gross sales prices and an 10% increase in Sales Volume, which positively affected Revenue by $17.1 million and $70.2 million, respectively.
Cement Operating Earnings increased 10% to $181.3 million for fiscal 2020. Excluding the Kosmos Acquisition, Operating Earnings increased by $23.3 million in fiscal 2020. The increase in Operating Earnings
was due primarily to higher Sales Volume and gross sales prices of approximately $15.7 million and $17.1 million, respectively. This was partially offset by increased operating costs, which reduced Operating
Earnings by approximately $9.5 million. The increase in operating costs was primarily due to maintenance, freight, and fixed costs of approximately $2.0 million, $2.1 million, and $4.5 million, respectively. The
Operating Margin declined to 24% in fiscal 2020, compared with 25% in fiscal 2019. The Kosmos operating loss reflects the plant’s annual maintenance outage which began shortly after we took ownership, as well
as the impact of the purchase accounting on inventory cost.
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CONCRETE AND AGGREGATES
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(in thousands, except net sales prices)

Gross Revenue, including intersegment
Less intersegment Revenue
Gross Revenue, as reported

$
$

182,775
(1,502)
181,273

$
$

2019

Percentage Change

140,173
(1,422)
138,751

30%
6%
31%

1,074
3,168

29%
5%

Sales Volume M Cubic Yards of Concrete
M Tons of Aggregate
Average Net Sales Price Concrete - Per Cubic Yard
Aggregates - Per Ton

$
$

109.28
9.39

$
$

102.98
9.29

6%
1%

Operating Earnings

$

17,558

$

12,866

36%

1,388
3,313

Concrete and Aggregates Revenue increased 30% to $182.8 million for fiscal 2020. Revenue from the ConAgg Acquisition contributed $24.3 million of the increase. The remaining increase in Revenue was due to
higher Sales Volume and gross sale prices, primarily for Concrete, which increased Revenue by approximately $14.4 million and $3.9 million, respectively.
Operating Earnings increased 36% to approximately $17.6 million for fiscal 2020. Excluding the ConAgg Acquisition, Operating Earnings increased to approximately $17.2 million, an increase of $4.3 million from
fiscal 2019. This increase was a result of higher Sales Volume and gross sales prices, primarily in our Concrete business, which increased Operating Earnings by approximately $1.1 million and $3.9 million,
respectively. This increase was partially offset by higher operating costs of approximately $0.7 million.
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Light Materials
GYPSUM WALLBOARD
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(in thousands, except per MMSF information)

Gross Revenue, as reported
Freight and Delivery Costs billed to Customers
Net Revenue

$

Sales Volume (MMSF)
Average Net Sales Price, per MMSF (1)
Freight, per MMSF
Operating Margin, per MMSF
Operating Earnings
(1)

$

508,145
(109,400)
398,745

$
$
$
$

2,694
148.03
40.61
57.39
154,614

$

2019

Percentage Change

$

532,712
(107,685)
425,027

(5)%
2%
(6)%

$
$
$
$

2,651
160.30
40.62
68.21
180,831

2%
(8)%
—
(16)%
(14)%

Net of freight per MSF

Gypsum Wallboard Revenue decreased 5% to $508.1 million in fiscal 2020, primarily because of an 8% decrease in gross sales prices. The decrease in gross sales prices adversely affected Revenue by
approximately $33.2 million. This decline was partially offset by a 2% increase in Sales Volume that positively affected Revenue by $8.6 million. Our market share was essentially unchanged during fiscal 2020;
higher Sales Volume was primarily due to increased construction activity in the markets we serve.
Operating Earnings declined 14% to $154.6 million for fiscal 2020. This decrease was primarily due to lower gross sales prices of approximately $33.2 million which was partially offset by higher Sales Volume and
lower operating costs of approximately $2.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively. The lower operating costs were primarily related to lower paper costs of approximately $5.2 million, partially offset by an increase in
other raw materials, of approximately $1.4 million. During fiscal 2020, Gypsum Wallboard Operating Margin declined to 30% from 34% in fiscal 2019, primarily because of the decline in gross sales prices, partially
offset by lower operating costs. Fixed costs are not a significant part of the overall cost of wallboard; therefore, changes in volume have a relatively minor impact on our operating cost per unit.
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RECYCLED PAPERBOARD
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(in thousands, except per ton information)

Gross Revenue, including intersegment
Less intersegment Revenue
Gross Revenue, as reported
Freight and Delivery Costs billed to Customers
Net Revenue

$

$
$
$
$

326
476.20
14.31
107.30
34,979

$

Sales Volume (M Tons)
Average Net Sales Price, per ton (1)
Freight, per ton
Operating Margin, per ton
Operating Earnings
(1)

$

159,963
(62,315)
97,648
(4,665)
92,983

$

2019

Percentage Change

$

167,656
(66,723)
100,933
(4,805)
96,128

(5)%
(7)%
(3)%
(3)%
(3)%

$
$
$
$

311
523.05
15.45
113.66
35,349

5%
(9)%
(7)%
(6)%
(1)%

$

Net of freight per ton.

Recycled Paperboard Revenue decreased 5% to $160.0 million for fiscal 2020 as lower gross sales prices adversely affected Revenue by approximately $15.6 million. The decrease in gross sales prices, which
was due to the price-adjustment provisions in our long-term sales agreements, was partially offset by a 5% increase in Sales Volume that increased Revenue by $8.0 million.
Operating Earnings decreased 1% to $35.0 million for fiscal 2020, primarily because lower gross sales prices reduced operating earnings by $15.6 million. The decrease was partially offset by higher Sales Volume
and lower operating costs, which positively affected Operating Earnings by approximately $1.7 million and $13.6 million, respectively. The decrease in operating costs was due primarily to input costs, which
positively affected Operating Earnings by approximately $16.5 million, partially offset by costs incurred during planned outages. In connection with the expansion at our paper mill, we had an extended outage
during both the third and fourth quarters to install new operating equipment. These outages reduced production during the third and fourth quarters and led to increased costs of approximately $4.5 million. During
fiscal 2020, Operating Margin increased to 22% from 21% in fiscal 2019, primarily due to lower operating costs, partially offset by decreased gross sales prices.
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OIL AND GAS PROPPANTS
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(in thousands, except net sales prices)

2019

Percentage Change

Gross Revenue, as reported

$

46,781

$

82,987

(44)%

Sales Volume (M Tons)
Average Net Sales Price, per ton (1)
Operating Loss

$
$

1,264
26.36
(14,634)

$
$

1,574
43.65
(28,695)

(20)%
(40)%
(49)%

(1)

Net of freight per ton.

Revenue from our Oil and Gas Proppants segment decreased 44% to $46.8 million for fiscal 2020. The decrease in Revenue was primarily due to lower gross sales prices and Sales Volume, which adversely
affected Revenue by approximately $19.9 million and $16.3 million, respectively.
Operating Loss for fiscal 2020 declined 49% to $14.6 million. The lower Operating Loss was a result of lower operating costs of approximately $34.0 million. This decrease was partially offset by lower gross sales
prices of approximately $19.9 million. Lower operating costs were primarily related to decreases in contract mining and depreciation and depletion of approximately $7.1 million and $26.9 million, respectively,
partially offset by higher fixed costs of $3.4 million.
During the fiscal 2020 and 2019, we recognized Impairment Losses of approximately $224.3 and $220.3 million, respectively, related primarily to property and equipment. The Impairment Losses are not included in
Operating Earnings disclosed above. See Footnote (A) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more discussion of the Impairment Losses.
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FISCAL YEAR 2019 COMPARED WITH FISCAL YEAR 2018
Please see our Form 10-K for fiscal year 2019 for the discussion of our Results of Operations and results of Revenue and Operating Income by segment for fiscal 2019 compared with fiscal 2018. Our 2019 Form
10-K can be found on the investor page of our website, at www.eaglematerials.com.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Certain of our critical accounting policies require the use of judgment in their application or require estimates of inherently uncertain matters. Although our accounting policies are in compliance with generally
accepted accounting principles, a change in the facts and circumstances of the underlying transactions could significantly change the application of the accounting policies and the resulting financial statement
impact. Listed below are those policies that we believe are critical and require the use of complex judgment in their application.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We assess our long-lived assets, including mining and related assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. Long-lived assets, or groups of assets, are evaluated for impairment at the lowest level for which cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assts. We assess recoverability of
assets, or group of assets, by comparing the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, to the future undiscounted net cash flows that we expect the asset, or group of assets, to generate. These impairment
evaluations are significantly affected by estimates of future revenue, costs and expenses, and other factors. If the carrying value of the assets, or group of assets, exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, then an
impairment is indicated. If such assets, or group of assets, are considered to be impaired, the impairment is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset, or group of assets, exceeds the fair
value of the asset, or group of assets.
During the second half of calendar year 2019, our Oil and Gas Proppants financial results were further negatively affected by a combination of continued low demand for our products and the increased use of inbasin sand instead of northern white frac sand in the Permian and other shale basins. Faced with these dynamics, in connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the three and nine months ended
December 31, 2019, we concluded that the reduction in sales volumes and operating losses were other than temporary and that long-lived asset impairment indicators were present in our Oil and Gas Proppants
segment.
Prior to performing recoverability tests to determine whether an impairment was present, we grouped the long-lived assets of the segment into the lowest level at which cash flows are generated, which is
considered the operating facility or distribution level. We included the value of our Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets that support the operating facilities within the value of the operating facility prior to performing
our recoverability tests. We then performed recoverability tests on each group of assets using probability-weighted estimates of forecasted undiscounted cash flows over the remaining estimated life of each asset
group under a variety of scenarios. Based on these forecasts, we concluded that the carrying values exceeded the undiscounted cash flows for our New Auburn, Wisconsin and Utica, Illinois operating facilities and
several distribution facilities related to these operating facilities, indicating impairment.
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For the impaired asset groups, we calculated the estimated fair value of the operating facilities in New Auburn, Wisconsin; Utica, Illinois; and related distribution terminals, using a discounted cash flow model (Level
3), which utilized a weighted-average cost of capital determined from relevant market comparisons and adjusted for specific risks. We compared the results of the discounted cash flow model to other recent market
information about the value of similar assets, noting the amounts to be consistent. The analysis resulted in an impairment loss of approximately $216.8 million.
The following is a summary of the impairment on the net book value of the long-lived assets:
Net Book Value Before Impairment

Operating Facilities
Transload Locations
Real Estate
Lease Right-of-Use Assets

$

$

170,324
23,264
1,417
32,834
227,839

Impairment
(dollars in thousands)

$

$

(164,449)
(21,815)
(1,367)
(29,146)
(216,777)

Net Book Value After Impairment

$

5,875
1,449
50
3,688
11,062

$

In addition to the impairment of the operating facilities and transload facilities, we also assessed other current and long-term assets for impairment. As part of this analysis, we wrote down certain Inventories,
Accounts and Notes Receivable, and Prepaid and Other Current Assets. The Oil and Gas Proppants business has liabilities related to its capitalized operating leases and asset retirement obligation that total $17.9
million at March 31, 2020.
The following is a summary of Impairment Losses recognized during fiscal 2020, by line item:
(dollars in thousands)

Property, Equipment, and Real Estate
Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Inventories
Accounts and Notes Receivable
Prepaid and Other Current Assets

$

$

187,631
29,146
6,256
617
617
224,267

Our Oil and Gas Proppants business continues to be subject to commodity price volatility related to the price of oil. See “Market Conditions and Outlook” above.
As previously disclosed in Item 1 “Business”, we are actively pursuing alternatives for our Oil and Gas Proppants business. If this process results in an alternative use or disposition of this business, additional
impairment or other losses may be incurred.

Goodwill
We annually assess Goodwill for impairment in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year, or more frequently when indicators of impairment exist. Impairment testing for Goodwill is done at the reporting unit, which is
consistent with our reportable segment.
Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Prior to performing the Step 1 quantitative analysis, we may, at our discretion, perform an optional qualitative
analysis, or we may choose to proceed directly to the Step 1 quantitative analysis. The qualitative analysis considers the impact of the following events and circumstances on the reporting unit being tested:
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, and other relevant entity-specific events. If, as a result of this qualitative analysis, we
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conclude that it is more likely than not (a likelihood of greater than 50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, then an impairment does not exist and the quantitative Step 1 analysis is
not required. If we are unable to conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, then we proceed to the quantitative Step 1 analysis.
Step 1 of the quantitative test for impairment compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, then an impairment is indicated. If facts and circumstances
related to our business change in subsequent years, we may choose to perform a quantitative analysis in those future years. If we perform a Step 1 analysis, and the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, then an impairment charge equal to the difference, not to exceed the total amount of Goodwill, is recorded.
The fair values of the reporting units are estimated by using both the market and income approaches. The market approach considers market factors and certain multiples in comparison to similar companies, while
the income approach uses discounted cash flows to determine the estimated fair values of the reporting units. We also perform an overall comparison of all reporting units to our market capitalization in order to test
the reasonableness of our fair value calculations.
We performed qualitative assessments of our Cement, Gypsum Wallboard, and Recycled Paperboard reporting units in the fourth quarters of fiscal 2020 and 2019. As a result of these qualitative assessments, we
determined that it was not more likely than not that an impairment existed; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test.
Determining the fair value of our reporting units involves the use of significant estimates and assumptions and considerable management judgment. We base our fair value estimates on assumptions we believe to
be reasonable at the time, but such assumptions are subject to inherent uncertainty. The most important assumption underlying our estimates is the projection of construction spending in the U.S. over the next
several years. Actual results may differ materially from those estimates. Changes in market conditions, market trends, interest rates or other factors outside of our control, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, could
cause us to change key assumptions and our judgment about a reporting unit’s prospects. Similarly, in a specific period, a reporting unit could significantly underperform relative to its historical or projected future
operating results. Either situation could result in a meaningfully different estimate of the fair value of our reporting units, and a consequent future impairment charge.
The segment breakdown of Goodwill at March 31, 2020 and 2019, following the Impairment Loss discussed above, was as follows:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020

2019
(dollars in thousands)

Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard

$

205,797
1,639
116,618
7,538
331,592

$

74,214
—
116,618
7,538
198,370

Business Combinations
The acquisition method of accounting requires that we recognize the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their acquisition date fair values. Goodwill is measured as the excess of consideration transferred
over the acquisition date net fair values of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. The purchase price allocation is a critical accounting policy because the estimation of fair values of acquired assets and
assumed liabilities is judgmental and requires various assumptions. Further, the
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amounts and useful lives assigned to depreciable and amortizable assets versus amounts assigned to goodwill, which is not amortized, can significantly affect the results of operations in the period of and for
periods subsequent to a business combination. Although independent appraisals may be used to assist in the determination of the fair values of certain assets and liabilities, the appraised values are usually based
on significant estimates provided by management, such as forecasted revenue or profit, and the replacement cost and useful lives of the acquired property, plant, and equipment.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction, and therefore represents an exit price. A fair value measurement assumes the highest and best
use of the asset by market participants, considering the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally permissible, and financially feasible at the measurement date. We assign the highest level of fair value
available to assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on the following options:
Level 1 – Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 – Observable inputs, other than quoted prices, for similar assets or liabilities in active markets.
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs, which includes the use of valuation models.
Level 2 fair values are typically used to value acquired receivables, inventories, machinery and equipment, land, buildings, deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and accruals for payables, asset retirement
obligations, and contingencies.
Level 3 inputs are used to estimate the fair value of acquired mineral reserves, mineral interests and separately-identifiable intangible assets.
In determining the fair value of property, plant, and equipment, replacement cost, adjusted for the age and condition of the acquired machinery and equipment, is used. The replacement cost is based on estimates
of current cost to construct similar machinery and equipment and compared to amounts paid for similar assets in market transactions for consistency.
In determining the fair value of intangible assets, an income approach is generally used and may incorporate the use of a discounted cash flow method. In applying the discounted cash flow analysis, the estimated
future cash flows and residual values for each intangible asset are discounted to a present value using a discount rate based on an estimated weighted average cost of capital for the building materials industry.
These cash flow projections are based on management’s estimates of economic and market conditions including revenue growth rates, operating margins, capital expenditures, customer attrition rates, and working
capital requirements.
While we use our best estimates and assumptions as part of the process to value assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, our estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement.
During the measurement period, which occurs before finalization of the purchase price allocation, changes in assumptions and estimates that result in adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed are recorded on a retroactive basis as of the acquisition date, with the corresponding offset to Goodwill. Any adjustments subsequent to the conclusion of the measurement period will be recorded to our
Consolidated Statements of Earnings.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Notwithstanding the anticipated challenges associated with COVID-19, we believe at this time we have access to sufficient financial resources from our liquidity sources to fund our business and operations,
including contractual obligations, capital expenditures and debt service obligations. We will continue to monitor the impact of COVID-19 on the economy, and on our operations and future liquidity needs, as a
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continued worldwide disruption of economic activity could materially affect our future access to these sources of liquidity. Please see the Debt Financing Activities section for a discussion of our credit facility and the
amount of borrowings available to us in the next twelve-month period.

Cash Flow
The following table provides a summary of our Cash Flows:
For the Fiscal Years Ended March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Investing Activities:
Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
Acquisition Spending
Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Financing Activities:
Increase in Revolving Credit Facility
Repayment of Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes
Issuance of Term Loan
Dividends Paid to Stockholders
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on Stock Compensation
Payment of Debt Issuance Costs
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

$

$

399,301

$

2019

350,284

(132,119)
(699,361)
400
(831,080)

(168,873)
—
2,281
(166,592)

250,000
(36,500)
665,000
(17,142)
(313,887)
3,298
(4,063)
(4,880)
541,826
110,047

70,000
—
—
(18,927)
(271,988)
2,103
(4,347)
—
(223,159)
(39,467)

$

Cash Flows from Operating Activities increased by $49.0 million to $399.3 million for fiscal 2020. The increase was largely attributable to the reduction of Inventory and Other Assets and the increase in Accounts
Payable and Accrued Liabilities of approximately $45.7 million, $11.1 million, and $49.3 million, respectively. This was partially offset by an increase in Accounts and Notes Receivable of $35.0 million, and net
change in $18.0 million in deferred tax expense and Income Taxes Receivable.
Working capital increased by $260.2 million to $508.5 million at March 31, 2020, primarily due to higher Cash and Cash Equivalents, Accounts and Notes Receivable, and Income Tax Receivable, which increased
working capital approximately $110.0 million, $23.1 million, and $122.9 million, respectively, and lower Current Portion of Long-term Debt of $36.5 million. These increases were partially offset by increased
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities, and Operating Lease Liabilities of approximately $16.7 million and $10.2 million, respectively. The increase in Income Tax Receivable is due primarily to the enactment of
the CARES Act, which created a one-time discrete tax benefit at March 31, 2020, and the carryback of net operating losses related to the Kosmos Acquisition. The increase in Accounts and Notes Receivables is
due primarily to the increase in Revenue during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020, compared with fiscal 2019. The decrease in current maturities of long-term debt is due to the payment of the final tranche of our
Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes.
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The increase in Accounts and Notes Receivable at March 31, 2020 was primarily due to increase in sales, as well as the timing of collections in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 compared with fiscal 2019. As a
percentage of quarterly sales generated in the fiscal fourth quarters, Accounts Receivable was 48% at March 31, 2020, and 45% at March 31, 2019. Management measures the change in accounts receivable by
monitoring the day’s sales outstanding monthly to determine if any deterioration has occurred in the collectability of the Accounts Receivable. No significant deterioration in the collectability of our Accounts
Receivable was identified at March 31, 2020. Notes Receivable are monitored on an individual basis, and no significant deterioration in the collectability of Notes Receivable was identified at March 31, 2020. We
are closely monitoring the impact of COVID-19 on our customers’ ability to pay their outstanding balances.
Our inventory balance declined by approximately $2.7 million, or 1%, at March 31, 2020. Excluding the Kosmos Acquisition, inventory would have declined $31.1 million. Additionally, we wrote-off approximately
$6.3 million of frac sand inventories discussed in Footnote (A) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Excluding both the Kosmos Acquisition and the write-off of frac sand inventories, within our
inventory, raw materials and materials in process, gypsum wallboard, and recycled paperboard decreased by approximately $18.4 million, $2.9 million, and $10.0 million, respectively. The decreases in raw
materials and materials in process and gypsum wallboard was mostly due to timing. The decrease in our paperboard inventory was related to planned outages in the third and fourth quarter in connection with our
papermill expansion project. We have less than one year’s sales of all product inventories, and our inventories have a low risk of obsolescence given that they are basic construction materials. The largest individual
balance in our inventory is repair parts. The size and complexity of our manufacturing plants, as well as the age of certain of our plants, creates the need to stock a high level of repair parts inventory. We believe all
of these repair parts are necessary, and we perform semi-annual analyses to identify obsolete parts.
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities during fiscal 2020 was approximately $831.1 million, compared with $166.6 million in fiscal 2019. The increase was due primarily to the Kosmos and ConAgg Acquisitions,
which increased Net Cash Used in Investing Activities by $699.4 million. This was partially offset by lower capital expenditures in fiscal 2020 of $36.8 million. The decline in capital spending was primarily due to
lower capital spending in our Cement and Oil and Gas Proppants segments of $31.7 million and $52.1 million, respectively. This was partially offset by higher capital expenditures in our Recycled Paperboard
segment of approximately $45.9 million. The decrease in Cement segment capital expenditures was due to the construction of distribution terminals in fiscal 2019 that replaced terminals being leased from third
parties. The decrease in capital spending in our Oil and Gas Proppants segment was due to the completion of the build-out of our Utica, Illinois facility, which was completed in June 2018. The increase in capital
spending in our Recycled Paperboard segment was related to expanding our paper machine, which was completed in March 2020.
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities was approximately $541.8 million in fiscal 2020, compared with Net Cash Used in Financing Activities of $223.2 million in fiscal 2019. The $765.0 million increase was
primarily because of a $808.5 million net increase in borrowings, partially offset by a $41.9 million increase in the repurchase and retirement of common stock. The increase in borrowings was primarily related to
the Kosmos and ConAgg Acquisitions during fiscal 2020.
Our debt-to-capitalization ratio and net-debt-to-capitalization ratio was 61.7% and 60.0%, respectively, at March 31, 2020, compared with 36.4% and 36.1%, respectively, at March 31, 2019.
On April 17, 2020 we announced that we completed the sale of our Western Aggregates and Mathews Readymix operations to Teichert, Inc. for approximately $93.5 million.

58

Debt Financing Activities
REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY
We have a revolving credit facility (the Revolving Credit Facility) that terminates on August 2, 2022. During May 2019, we exercised our option to expand the Revolving Credit Facility and increased the borrowing
capacity from $500.0 million to $750.0 million, provided, however, that on August 2, 2021, the aggregate borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility will be reduced to $665.0 million. The Revolving
Credit Facility also includes a swingline loan sublimit of $25.0 million. On December 20, 2019, we amended the Revolving Credit Facility, to, among other things, (i) modify the interest rates with respect to
outstanding borrowings; (ii) allow for the consummation of the Kosmos Acquisition; (iii) permit the incurrence of additional indebtedness necessary to consummate the Kosmos Acquisition; (iv) modify the financial
covenants to increase maximum leverage permitted under the Revolving Credit Facility; and (v) provide for the selection of an alternate benchmark rate to replace the LIBO Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit
Facility).
On April 9, 2020 we further amended the Revolving Credit Facility to, among other things, (i) extend the maturity date with respect to certain lender commitments thereunder from August 2, 2021 to August 2, 2022,
(ii) modify the financial covenants to increase the maximum leverage that the Company (on a consolidated basis) is required to maintain, (iii) increase the pricing of borrowings based on the then-existing Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) which is based on the ratio of the Company’s Consolidated Total Indebtedness (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) to Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in
the Revolving Credit Facility), and (iv) further restrict the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) from making Restricted Payments (as defined in the Revolving Credit
Facility) with certain exceptions, including, among others, no Default (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) has occurred and is continuing and based on a pro forma basis after giving effect to any such
Restricted Payment the Leverage Ratio would not be greater than 2.50 to 1.00.
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by all of the Company’s material subsidiaries. The debt under the Revolving Credit Facility is not rated by ratings agencies. At the Company’s option,
principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to either (i) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) plus an agreed spread
(ranging from 125 to 200 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2021 and from 150 to 250 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2022), which is established quarterly based on the Company's then
Leverage Ratio; or (ii) an Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), which is the highest of (a) the Prime Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), (b) the NYFRB (as defined in the
Revolving Credit Facility) plus ½ of 1%, and (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one-month interest period on such day, plus 1.0%, in each case plus an agreed upon spread (ranging from 25 to 100 basis points for
loans scheduled to mature in 2021 and from 50 to 150 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2022) which is established quarterly based on the Company's then Leverage Ratio. In the case of loans bearing
interest at a rate based on the Alternate Base Rate, interest payments are payable quarterly. In the case of loans bearing interest at a rate based on the Adjusted LIBO Rate, interest is payable at the end of the
relevant Interest Period (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) for such borrowing unless such Interest Period is for more than three months duration, in which case such interest is payable at intervals of three
months duration after the first day of such Interest Period, which can be up to six months at the option of the Company. The Company is also required to pay a commitment fee on unused available borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Facility (ranging from 15 to 30 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2021 and from 20 to 40 basis points for loans
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scheduled to mature in 2022) which is established quarterly based on the Company's then Leverage Ratio. The Revolving Credit Facility contains customary covenants that restrict the Company’s and its Restricted
Subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional debt; encumber assets; merge with or transfer or sell assets to other persons; make or enter into certain investments, loans, or guaranties; enter into certain swap
agreements; enter into affiliate transactions or restrictive transactions; make restricted payments; prepay subordinated indebtedness; and enter into sale and leaseback arrangements. The Revolving Credit Facility
also requires the Company to maintain at the end of each fiscal quarter a Leverage Ratio of 4.50:1.00 or less and an Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) equal to or greater than
2.50 to 1.00. We were in compliance with all financial ratios and tests at March 31, 2020. We had $560.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility at March 31, 2020. We had $183.5
million of available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, net of the outstanding letters of credit, at March 31, 2020, all of which was available for future borrowings based on our current Leverage Ratio.
The Revolving Credit Facility has a $40.0 million letter of credit facility. The Company pays each lender a participation fee with respect to such lender’s participations in letters of credit, which fee accrues at the
same Applicable Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) used to determine the interest rate applicable to Eurodollar Revolving Loans (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) plus a one-time letter of
credit fee to the issuing bank of such letters of credit in an amount equal to 0.125% of the initial stated amount. At March 31, 2020, we had $6.5 million of outstanding letters of credit. We have also provided an
irrevocable stand-by letter of credit for any borrowings made by our Joint Venture under its credit facility. The Joint Venture has not had any borrowings under the credit facility during the last two fiscal years;
therefore, we have not issued any letters of credit during fiscal 2020 and 2019.
TERM LOAN
On December 20, 2019, we entered into a term loan credit agreement (the Term Loan Agreement) establishing a $665.0 million term loan facility which we used to pay a portion of the purchase price for the
Kosmos Acquisition and fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Kosmos Acquisition in March 2020. On April 9, 2020, we amended the Term Loan Agreement and extended the maturity date thereof to
August 2, 2022, and modified certain other provisions, as noted below, that are similar to those provisions in the Revolving Credit Agreement as set forth above.
Borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement bear interest, at our option, at a variable rate equal to either (i) the Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement and consistent with the Revolving
Credit Facility), plus an agreed spread (ranging from 50 to 150 basis points), or (ii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement) plus an agreed spread (ranging from 150 to 250 basis points),
which is established quarterly based on the Company's then Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement and consistent with the Revolving Credit Facility). The Company must also maintain a
Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio consistent with the Revolving Credit Facility.
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4.500% SENIOR UNSECURED NOTES DUE 2026
On August 2, 2016, the Company issued $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.500% senior notes (Senior Unsecured Notes) due August 2026. Interest on the Senior Unsecured Notes is payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1 of each year until all of the outstanding notes are paid. The Senior Unsecured Notes rank equal to existing and future senior indebtedness, including the Revolving Credit
Facility and Term Loan. On or after August 1, 2019 and prior to August 1, 2021, we may redeem some or all of the Senior Unsecured Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus a make-whole
premium. Beginning on August 1, 2021, we may redeem some or all of the Senior Unsecured Notes at the redemption prices set forth below (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount being redeemed):
Percentage

2021
2022
2023
2024 and thereafter

102.25%
101.50%
100.75%
100.00%

The Senior Unsecured Notes contain covenants that limit our ability and/or our guarantor subsidiaries' ability to create or permit to exist certain liens; enter into sale and leaseback transactions; and consolidate,
merge, or transfer all or substantially all of our assets. The Company’s Senior Unsecured Notes are fully and unconditionally and jointly and severally guaranteed by each of our subsidiaries that is a guarantor
under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan. See Footnote (O) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the guarantors of the Senior Unsecured Notes.
Our Senior Unsecured Notes are rated by Moody’s Investor Service (Moody’s) and Standard and Poor’s Global Ratings (S&P). The ratings are typically monitored by stockholders, creditors, or suppliers, and they
serve as indicators of the Company’s viability. Below is a summary of the ratings published by the agencies as of the date indicated:

Corporate/Family Rating
Outlook
Guaranteed Senior Notes
Date of Latest Report

Moody's

S&P

Baa2
Stable
Baa2
November 2019

BBBNegative
BBBDecember 2019

PRIVATE PLACEMENT SENIOR UNSECURED NOTES
On October 2, 2019, we paid $36.5 million to retire the remaining notes due under the Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes.
OTHER INFORMATION
We lease one of our cement plants from the city of Sugar Creek, Missouri. The city of Sugar Creek issued industrial revenue bonds to partly finance improvements to the cement plant. The lease payments due to
the city of Sugar Creek under the cement plant lease, which was entered into upon the sale of the industrial revenue bonds, are equal in amount to the payments required to be made by the city of Sugar Creek to
the holders of the industrial revenue bonds. Because we hold all outstanding industrial revenue bonds, no debt is reflected on our financial statements in connection with our lease of the cement plant. At the
expiration of the lease in fiscal 2021, we have the option to purchase the cement plant for a nominal amount.
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Other than the Revolving Credit Facility, we have no other source of committed external financing in place. In the event the Revolving Credit Facility should be terminated, no assurance can be given as to our
ability to secure a new source of financing. Consequently, if any balance were outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility at the time of termination, and an alternative source of financing could not be secured, it
would have a material adverse impact on our business. Our Revolving Credit Facility is not rated by the rating agencies.
We do not have any outstanding debt guarantees. We have available under the Revolving Credit Facility a $40.0 million Letter of Credit Facility. At March 31, 2020, we had $6.5 million of letters of credit outstanding
that renew annually. We have also provided an irrevocable stand-by letter of credit for any borrowings made by our Joint Venture under its credit facility. The Joint Venture has not had any borrowings under the
credit facility during the last two fiscal years; therefore, we have not issued any letters of credit during fiscal 2020 and 2019. We are contingently liable for performance under $31.0 million in performance bonds
relating primarily to our mining operations.
We believe that our cash flow from operations and available borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility should be sufficient to meet our currently anticipated operating needs, capital expenditures, and dividend
and debt service requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, our future liquidity and capital requirements may vary depending on a number of factors, including market conditions in the construction
industry, our ability to maintain compliance with covenants in our Revolving Credit Facility, the level of competition, and general and economic factors beyond our control, including the future effects of the COVID-19
pandemic. These and other developments could reduce our cash flow or require that we seek additional sources of funding. We cannot predict what effect these factors will have on our future liquidity.
As market conditions warrant, the Company may from time to time seek to purchase or repay its outstanding debt securities or loans, including the Senior Unsecured Notes, Term Loan, and borrowings under the
Revolving Credit Facility, in privately negotiated or open market transactions, by tender offer or otherwise. Subject to any applicable limitations contained in the agreements governing our indebtedness, any
purchases made by us may be funded by the use of cash on our balance sheet or the incurrence of new debt. The amounts involved in any such purchase transactions, individually or in the aggregate, may be
material. Any such purchases of the notes offered hereby may be with respect to a substantial amount of such notes, with an attendant reduction in the trading liquidity of such notes.

Cash Used for Share Repurchases and Stock Repurchase Program
See table under Item 5. “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities” for additional information.
On April 18, 2019, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to an additional 10,000,000 shares, for a total outstanding authorization, as of that date, of 10,724,758 shares. During fiscal
2020, 2019 and 2018, we spent approximately $313.9 million, $272.0 million and $61.1 million, respectively, on share repurchases. At March 31, 2020, we have authorization to repurchase an additional 7,305,649
shares.
Share repurchases may be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. The timing and amount of any repurchases of shares will be determined by the Company’s
management, based on its evaluation of market and economic conditions and other factors. In some cases, repurchases may be made pursuant to plans, programs, or directions established from time to time by
the Company’s management, including plans to comply with the safe harbor provided by Rule 10b5-1.
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Capital Expenditures
The following table shows Capital Expenditures in fiscal years 2020 and 2019:
For the Fiscal Years Ended March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Land and Quarries
Plants
Buildings, Machinery and Equipment
Total Capital Expenditures

$

9,940
98,948
23,231
132,119

$

2019

$

10,702
111,846
46,325
168,873

$

Capital expenditures for fiscal 2021 are expected to range from $60 million to $70 million and to be allocated across the Heavy Materials and Light Materials sectors. These estimated capital expenditures are
limited to critical maintenance and safety and regulatory projects, as we manage our cash flow in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Contractual and Other Obligations
We have certain Contractual Obligations arising from indebtedness, operating leases, and purchase obligations. Future payments due, aggregated by type of contractual obligation, are set forth as follows:
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
Payments Due by Period
Less than
1 year

Total

Revolving Credit Facility (1)
Senior Unsecured Notes
Term Loan
Interest on Revolving Credit Facility (2)
Interest on Senior Unsecured Notes
Interest on Term Loan
Operating Leases
Purchase Obligations (3)
Total
(1)
(2)

(3)

$

560,000
350,000
665,000
22,042
99,750
43,640
72,614
73,243
1,886,289

$

$

$

—
—
—
13,423
15,750
18,703
12,036
35,307
95,219

1-3 years
(dollars in thousands)

$

$

560,000
—
665,000
8,619
31,500
24,937
20,848
37,936
1,348,840

More than
5 years

3-5 years

$

$

—
—
—
—
31,500
—
15,106
—
46,606

$

$

—
350,000
—
—
21,000
—
24,624
—
395,624

The Revolving Credit Facility expires in August 2022.
At March 31, 2020, we had $560.0 million outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. Interest on the outstanding amounts is based on LIBOR plus a margin based on our leverage ratio. We also pay a commitment fee, which is calculated based on the
available amount of borrowings at 0.35% per annum through the expiration of the facility in August 2022. We estimated the future cash flows for interest by assuming a level repayment of the Revolving Credit Facility over the remainder of the agreement.
Actual amounts paid, as well as the payment time periods, will likely differ from this estimate.
Purchase obligations are non-cancelable agreements to purchase coal, natural gas, slag, and synthetic gypsum, to pay royalty amounts, and to fund capital expenditure commitments.

Based on our current actuarial estimates, we anticipate making contributions to our defined benefit plans of approximately $0.5 million for fiscal year 2021.
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Dividends
Dividends paid in fiscal years 2020 and 2019 were $17.1 million and $18.9 million, respectively. Each quarterly dividend payment is subject to review and approval by our Board of Directors. On April 17, 2020, we
announced that we would pay our dividend declared on February 10, 2020 and paid on May 8, 2020 but that future dividends would be suspended.

Inflation and Changing Prices
The Consumer Price Index rose approximately 2.3% in calendar 2019, 1.9% in 2018, and 2.1% in 2017. Prices of materials and services, with the exception of power, natural gas, coal, petroleum coke, and
transportation freight, have remained relatively stable over the three-year period. During calendar 2019, the Consumer Price Index for energy increased approximately 3.4%, while the Consumer Price Index for
transportation increased approximately 0.6%. The increase in energy prices did not have a material effect on our manufacturing businesses. Freight costs were relatively stable in fiscal 2020, and are expected to
remain so in fiscal 2021. The ability to increase sales prices to cover future increases varies with the level of activity in the construction industry: the number, size, and strength of competitors; and the availability of
products to supply a local market.

GENERAL OUTLOOK
See “Market Conditions and Outlook” within Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations on pages 44-45.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Refer to Footnote (A) to the Audited Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements that may affect our financial statements.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Certain information included in this report or in other materials we have filed or will file with the SEC, as well as information included in oral statements or other written statements made or to be made by us,
contains or may contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Forward-looking statements may be identified by the context of the statement and generally arise when we are discussing our beliefs, estimates or expectations. From time to time, forward-looking statements
also are included in our other periodic reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q, and 8-K; press releases and presentations, on our web site and in other material released to the public. We specifically disclaim any duty to
update any of the information set forth in this report, including any forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are made based on management’s current expectations and beliefs concerning future
events and, therefore, involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Management cautions that forward-looking statements are not guarantees, and our actual results could differ materially from those expressed or
implied in the forward-looking statements. See Item 1A. – Risk Factors for a more detailed discussion of specific risks and uncertainties.

64

ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
We are exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan. We have occasionally utilized derivative instruments, including interest rate swaps, in
conjunction with our overall strategy to manage the debt outstanding that is subject to changes in interest rates. We have a $750.0 million Revolving Credit Facility and an outstanding Term Loan at March 31, 2020,
under which borrowings bear interest at a variable rate. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates on the $1,225.0 million of borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan at March 31,
2020 would increase our interest expense by $12.3 million on an annual basis. We do not presently utilize derivative financial instruments.
We are subject to commodity risk with respect to price changes principally in coal, coke, natural gas, and power. We attempt to limit our exposure to changes in commodity prices by entering into contracts or
increasing use of alternative fuels.
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EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

2020

Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold
Gross Profit
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture
Corporate General and Administrative Expense
Impairment Losses
Litigation Settlements and Losses
Other Non-Operating Income (Loss)
Interest Expense, Net
Earnings Before Income Taxes
Income Taxes
Net Earnings

$

For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

1,450,814
1,119,552
331,262
42,585
(65,410)
(224,267)
—
(25)
(38,421)
45,724
25,170
70,894

$

1,393,241
1,066,673
326,568
38,565
(37,371)
(220,265)
(1,800)
2,412
(28,374)
79,735
(10,875)
68,860

2018

$

1,386,520
1,047,764
338,756
43,419
(41,205)
—
(45,098)
3,728
(27,638)
271,962
(15,330)
256,632

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic

$

1.69

$

1.48

$

5.33

Diluted

$

1.68

$

1.47

$

5.28

AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic

42,021,892

46,620,894

Diluted

42,285,343

46,932,380

CASH DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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0.40

$

0.40

48,141,226
48,645,986
$

0.40

EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Net Earnings
Net Actuarial Change in Defined Benefit Plans:
Unrealized gain during the period, net of tax expense
of $41, $68, and $1,995
Amortization of net actuarial loss, net of tax (expense) benefit of ($120),
$149, and $301
Reclassification of Income Tax Effects to Retained Earnings
Comprehensive Earnings

$

70,894

$

(396)
—
70,629

$

131

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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68,860

2018

$

224

$

472
—
69,556

256,632

3,407

$

955
(978)
260,016

EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts and Notes Receivable, net
Inventories
Income Tax Receivable
Prepaid and Other Assets
Total Current Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment, net
Notes Receivable
Investment in Joint Venture
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net
Other Assets

$

$

118,648
151,786
272,508
128,413
6,862
678,217
1,762,109
9,139
73,958
30,530
396,463
10,604
2,961,020

$

86,197
73,293
10,207
—
169,697
1,567,315
49,809
39,689
166,667
1,993,177

$

$

2019

8,601
128,722
275,194
5,480
9,624
427,621
1,426,939
2,898
64,873
—
229,115
17,717
2,169,163

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities Accounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Operating Lease Liabilities
Current Portion of Long-term Debt
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term Debt
Noncurrent Operating Lease Liabilities
Other Long-term Liabilities
Deferred Income Taxes
Total Liabilities
Stockholders’ Equity –
Preferred Stock, Par Value $0.01; Authorized 5,000,000 Shares; None Issued
Common Stock, Par Value $0.01; Authorized 100,000,000 Shares;
Issued and Outstanding 41,649,041 and 45,117,393 Shares, respectively.
Capital in Excess of Par Value
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses
Retained Earnings
Total Stockholders’ Equity

$

—

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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416
10,943
(3,581)
960,065
967,843
2,961,020

80,884
61,949
—
36,500
179,333
655,092
—
34,492
90,759
959,676
—

$

451
—
(3,316)
1,212,352
1,209,487
2,169,163

EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Earnings
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Earnings to Net Cash Provided
by Operating Activities, Net of Effect of Non-Cash Activity:
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
Impairment Losses
Deferred Income Tax Provision
Stock Compensation Expense
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture
Distributions from Joint Venture
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts and Notes Receivable
Inventories
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Other Assets
Income Taxes Payable (Receivable)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
Acquisition Spending
Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant, and Equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in Revolving Credit Facility
Repayment of Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes
Issuance of Term Loan
Dividends Paid to Stockholders
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on Stock Compensation
Payment of Debt Issuance Costs
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

$

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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70,894

$

68,860

2018

$

256,632

113,518
224,267
75,987
19,823
(42,585)
33,500

122,535
220,265
(28,371)
15,109
(38,565)
34,250

114,015
—
(49,354)
14,079
(43,419)
31,500

(25,005)
26,729
17,265
7,841
(122,933)
399,301

10,180
(19,016)
(31,949)
(3,284)
270
350,284

(2,560)
(5,114)
24,173
4,196
(6,483)
337,665

(132,119)
(699,361)
400
(831,080)

(168,873)
—
2,281
(166,592)

(131,957)
(36,761)
—
(168,718)

250,000
(36,500)
665,000
(17,142)
(313,887)
3,298
(4,063)
(4,880)
541,826
110,047
8,601
118,648

70,000
—
—
(18,927)
(271,988)
2,103
(4,347)
—
(223,159)
(39,467)
48,068
8,601

15,000
(81,214)
—
(19,438)
(61,078)
24,264
(4,974)
—
(127,440)
41,507
6,561
48,068

$

$

EAGLE MATERIALS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital in
Excess of
Par Value

Common
Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Losses

Retained
Earnings

Total

(dollars in thousands)

Balance at March 31, 2017
Net Earnings
Stock Option Exercises and Restricted Share Vesting
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Dividends to Stockholders
Stock Compensation Expense
Cumulative Impact of the Adoption of ASU 2016-09
Reclassification of Income Tax Effects to Retained Earnings
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes
Other
Unfunded Pension Liability, net of tax
Balance at March 31, 2018
Net Earnings
Stock Option Exercises and Restricted Share Vesting
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Dividends to Stockholders
Stock Compensation Expense
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes
Unfunded Pension Liability, net of tax
Balance at March 31, 2019
Net Earnings
Stock Option Exercises and Restricted Share Vesting
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Dividends to Stockholders
Stock Compensation Expense
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes
Cumulative Effect of Change in Accounting For Leases
Unfunded Pension Liability, net of tax
Balance at March 31, 2020

$

485
—
3
(5)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
483
—
1
(33)
—
—
—
—
451
—
1
(36)
—
—
—
—
—
416

$

$

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

$

$

$

149,014
—
24,261
(61,073)
—
14,079
713
—
(4,974)
359
—
122,379
—
2,103
(135,243)
—
15,108
(4,347)
—
—
—
3,298
(8,114)
—
19,822
(4,063)
—
—
10,943

$

$

$

$

1,061,347
256,632
—
—
(19,404)
—
(713)
978
—
—
—
1,298,840
68,860
—
(136,712)
(18,636)
—
—
—
1,212,352
70,894
—
(305,737)
(16,808)
—
—
(636)
—
960,065

$

$

$

$

(7,396)
—
—
—
—
—
—
(978)
—
—
4,362
(4,012)
—
—
—
—
—
—
696
(3,316)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(265)
(3,581)

$

$

$

$

1,203,450
256,632
24,264
(61,078)
(19,404)
14,079
—
—
(4,974)
359
4,362
1,417,690
68,860
2,104
(271,988)
(18,636)
15,108
(4,347)
696
1,209,487
70,894
3,299
(313,887)
(16,808)
19,822
(4,063)
(636)
(265)
967,843

Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

(A) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Eagle Materials Inc. and its majority-owned subsidiaries (the Company), which may be referred to as we, our, or us. All intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated. The Company is a holding company whose assets consist of its investments in its subsidiaries, joint venture, intercompany balances, and holdings of cash and cash equivalents.
The businesses of the consolidated group are conducted through the Company’s subsidiaries. The Company conducts one of its cement plant operations through a joint venture, Texas Lehigh Cement Company
L.P., which is located in Buda, Texas (the Joint Venture). Our investment in the Joint Venture is accounted for using the equity method of accounting, and those results have been included for the same period as
our March 31 fiscal year end.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
We have been deemed an essential business with respect to the COVID-19 pandemic. While we have not yet experienced a material impact on our operations or financial position from this pandemic, there may be
future effects on our business, both directly and indirectly, including with respect to customers, manufacturing operations, employees, suppliers, and the building materials and construction markets in general.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash Equivalents include short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less and are recorded at cost, which approximates market value.

Accounts and Notes Receivable
Accounts and Notes Receivable have been shown net of the allowance for doubtful accounts of $12.4 million and $9.9 million at March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our
customers’ financial condition and generally require no collateral from our customers. The allowance for non-collection of receivables is based on analysis of economic trends in the construction and oil and gas
industries, detailed analysis of the expected collectability of accounts receivable that are past due, and the expected collectability of overall receivables. We have no significant credit risk concentration among our
diversified customer base.
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We had Notes Receivable totaling approximately $9.8 million at March 31, 2020, of which approximately $0.7 million has been classified as current and presented with Accounts Receivable on the balance sheet.
We lend funds to certain companies in the ordinary course of business, and the notes bear interest, on average, at 4.1%. Remaining unpaid amounts, plus accrued interest, mature in fiscal 2025 and 2026. The notes
are collateralized by certain assets of the borrowers, namely property and equipment. We monitor the credit risk of each borrower by focusing on the timeliness of payments, review of credit history, and credit
metrics and interaction with the borrowers.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost (including applicable material, labor, depreciation, and plant overhead) or net realizable value. Raw Materials and Materials-in-Progress include clinker, which is
an intermediary product before it is ground into cement powder. Quantities of Raw Materials and Materials-in-Progress, Aggregates and coal inventories, are based on measured volumes, subject to estimation
based on the size and location of the inventory piles, and converted to tonnage using standard inventory density factors. Inventories consist of the following:
March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Raw Materials and Materials-in-Progress
Finished Cement
Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard
Frac Sand
Repair Parts and Supplies
Fuel and Coal

$

$

110,558
43,538
8,416
4,211
5,715
386
88,095
11,589
272,508

$

$

2019

125,828
27,826
7,351
7,124
15,660
2,557
80,676
8,172
275,194

Property, Plant, and Equipment
Property, Plant, and Equipment are stated at cost. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized and depreciated. Annual maintenance is expensed as incurred. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of depreciable assets and totaled $109.5 million, $118.2 million, and $109.6 million, for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. Raw material deposits
are depleted as such deposits are extracted for production utilizing the units-of-production method. Costs and accumulated depreciation applicable to assets retired or sold are eliminated from the accounts and any
resulting gains or losses are recognized at such time. The estimated useful lives of the related assets are as follows:

Plants
Buildings
Machinery and Equipment

20 to 30 years
20 to 40 years
3 to 25 years

We periodically evaluate whether current events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of our depreciable assets may not be recoverable. During fiscal years 2020 and 2019, we recorded impairments of
approximately $187.6 million and $211.3 million, respectively, related to property and equipment in our Oil and Gas Proppants segment. See Impairment or Disposal of Long-lived and Intangible Assets below for
more information about the impairments.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets
GOODWILL
We annually assess Goodwill in the fourth quarter of our fiscal year, or more frequently when indicators of impairment exist. Impairment testing for Goodwill is done at the reporting unit, which is consistent with the
reportable segment.
Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. Prior to performing the Step 1 quantitative analysis, we may, at our discretion, perform an optional qualitative
analysis, or we may choose to proceed directly to the Step 1 quantitative analysis. The qualitative analysis considers the impact of the following events and circumstances on the reporting unit being tested:
macroeconomic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance, and other relevant entity-specific events. If, as a result of this qualitative analysis, we conclude that it is
more likely than not (a likelihood of greater than 50%) that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, then an impairment does not exist and the quantitative Step 1 analysis is not required. If we
are unable to conclude that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, then we proceed to the quantitative Step 1 analysis.
Step 1 of the quantitative test for impairment compares the fair value of the reporting unit to its carrying value. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, then an impairment is indicated. If facts and circumstances
related to our business change in subsequent years, we may choose to perform a quantitative analysis in those future years. If we perform a Step 1 analysis, and the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, then an impairment charge equal to the difference, not to exceed the total amount of Goodwill, is recorded.
The fair values of the reporting units are estimated by using both the market and income approaches. The market approach considers market factors and certain multiples in comparison to similar companies, while
the income approach uses discounted cash flows to determine the estimated fair values of the reporting units. We also perform an overall comparison of all reporting units to our market capitalization in order to test
the reasonableness of our fair value calculations.
We performed qualitative assessments of our Cement, Gypsum Wallboard, and Recycled Paperboard reporting units in the fourth quarter of fiscal years 2020 and 2019. As a result of these qualitative assessments,
we determined that it was not more likely than not that an impairment existed; therefore, we did not perform a Step 1 quantitative impairment test in either of these two fiscal years.
We performed a quantitative Step 1 impairment test on our Oil and Gas Proppants reporting unit during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019. We estimated the reporting unit’s fair value using a discounted cash flow
model. Key assumptions in the model were: estimated average net sales prices, sales volumes, and the estimated discount rate of 11%. Based on the results of the Step 1 impairment analysis, we concluded that
the entire balance of Goodwill in the Oil and Gas Proppants reporting unit was impaired, and we recorded an impairment loss of approximately $6.8 million in the reporting unit in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible Assets, including the impact of the impairment charges discussed above, at March 31, 2020 and 2019, consist of the following:
March 31, 2020
Amortization
Period

Goodwill and Intangible Assets:
Customer Contracts and Relationships
Permits
Trade Name
Goodwill
Total Goodwill and Intangible Assets

15 years
25-40 years
15 years

Cost

$

$

72,260
28,640
—
198,371
299,271

Accumulated
Amortization

Additions
(dollars in thousands)

$

$

33,550
1,770
1,500
133,221
170,041

$

$

(62,950)
(9,889)
(10)
—
(72,849)

Net

$

$

42,860
20,521
1,490
331,592
396,463

March 31, 2019
Amortization
Period

Goodwill and Intangible Assets:
Customer Contracts and Relationships
Sales Contracts
Permits
Goodwill
Total Goodwill and Intangible Assets

15 years
4 years
40 years

Accumulated
Amortization
(dollars in thousands)

Cost

$

$

72,260
2,500
28,640
205,211
308,611

$

$

(61,009)
(2,500)
(8,968)
—
(72,477)

Impairment

$

$

(178)
—
—
(6,841)
(7,019)

Net

$

$

11,073
—
19,672
198,370
229,115

Amortization expense of intangibles was $2.5 million, $4.3 million, and $4.4 million for the years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. Amortization expense is expected to be approximately $4.3
million for fiscal 2021 and $4.2 million for each of fiscal years 2022 through 2025.

Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived and Intangible Assets
We assess our long-lived assets, including mining and related assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, may not be
recoverable. Long-lived assets, or groups of assets, are evaluated for impairment at the lowest level for which cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assts. We assess recoverability of
assets, or group of assets, by comparing the carrying amount of an asset, or group of assets, to the future undiscounted net cash flows that we expect the asset, or group of assets, to generate. These impairment
evaluations are significantly affected by estimates of future revenue, costs and expenses, and other factors. If the carrying value of the assets, or group of assets, exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, then an
impairment is indicated. If such assets, or group of assets, are considered to be impaired, the impairment is recognized as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset, or group of assets, exceeds the fair
value of the asset, or group of assets. Any assets held for sale are reflected at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.
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Fiscal 2019
During the latter part of fiscal 2019, continued declining sales prices, sales volume and operating results in our Oil and Gas Proppants business led management to conclude that impairment indictors were present.
The decline in sales volume was primarily related to decreased demand from the Permian Basin. The decline in orders was due to several factors, including reduced completion budgets, limited pipeline take away
capacity in the Permian Basin, and an increase in the usage of in-basin regional sand. The capacity for in-basin sand has increased in recent years, and certain of our customers have shifted their purchases from
northern white sand to lower cost regional sand.
Because of the continuing shift in demand to regional sand, and the decline in our operating results, we concluded in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 that the reduction in sales volumes and operating losses were
other than temporary and that long-lived asset impairment indicators were present in our Oil and Gas Proppants segment. Prior to performing tests to determine whether an impairment was present, we grouped the
long-lived assets of the segment into the lowest level where cash flows are generated, which is considered the operating facility or distribution level. We then performed recoverability tests on each group of assets
using probability-weighted estimates of forecasted undiscounted cash flows over the remaining estimated life of each asset group under a variety of scenarios. Based on these forecasts we concluded that the
carrying values exceeded the undiscounted cash flows for our New Auburn, Wisconsin and Corpus Christi, Texas operating facilities and several distribution facilities related to these facilities, indicating impairment.
Our operating facility in Utica, Illinois, which had a net book value of approximately $135.7 million, was not considered impaired at that time, as the undiscounted cash flows related to this facility exceeded its
carrying value.
For those impaired asset groups, we calculated the estimated fair value of the New Auburn, Wisconsin facility and related distribution terminals, using a discounted cash flow model (Level 3) which utilized a
weighted-average cost of capital determined from relevant market comparisons and adjusted for specific risks. We compared the results of the discounted cash flow analysis to other recent market information
about the value of similar assets, and noted the amounts to be consistent. The analysis resulted in an impairment loss of approximately $174.1 million. For our Corpus Christi, Texas facility, we determined that the
value of the real estate was the highest and best use of the property, resulting in an impairment loss of approximately $37.2 million. The above analyses resulted in an impairment loss of approximately $211.3
million.
The following is a summary of the impairment on the net book value of the long-lived assets:
Net Book Value Before Impairment

Operating Facilities
Transload Locations
Real Estate

$

$

331,520
86,741
1,417
419,678

Impairment
(dollars in thousands)

$

$

(151,910)
(59,354)
—
(211,264)

Net Book Value After Impairment

$

$

179,610
27,387
1,417
208,414

After recording these impairment losses, which totaled $211.3 million, the adjusted carrying value of the impaired assets and total long-lived assets was approximately $72.7 million and $208.4 million, respectively.
In addition to the impairment of the operating facilities and transload facilities, we also assessed Goodwill and Intangible Assets and Inventory for impairment. As part of this analysis, we wrote down Goodwill (as
noted above), and certain Intangible Assets and Inventories.
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The following is a summary of Impairment Losses recognized during fiscal 2019, by line item:
(dollars in thousands)

Property, Equipment, and Real Estate
Goodwill
Inventories
Intangible Assets

$

211,264
6,841
1,982
178
220,265

$

Fiscal 2020
During the second half of calendar year 2019, our Oil and Gas Proppants financial results were further negatively affected by a combination of low demand for our products and the increased use of in-basin sand
instead of northern white frac sand. Faced with these dynamics, in connection with the preparation of our financial statements for the three and nine months ended December 31, 2019, we concluded that the
reduction in sales volumes and operating losses were other than temporary and that long-lived asset impairment indicators were present in our Oil and Gas Proppants segment.
Prior to performing recoverability tests to determine whether an impairment was present, we grouped the long-lived assets of the segment into the lowest level at which cash flows are generated, which is
considered the operating facility or distribution level. We included the value of our Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets that support the operating facilities within the value of the operating facility prior to performing
our recoverability tests. We then performed recoverability tests on each group of assets using probability-weighted estimates of forecasted undiscounted cash flows over the remaining estimated life of each asset
group under a variety of scenarios. Based on these forecasts, we concluded that the carrying values exceeded the undiscounted cash flows for our New Auburn, Wisconsin and Utica, Illinois operating facilities and
several distribution facilities related to these operating facilities, indicating impairment.
For the impaired asset groups, we calculated the estimated fair value of the operating facilities in New Auburn, Wisconsin, Utica, Illinois and related distribution terminals, using a discounted cash flow model (Level
3), which utilized a weighted-average cost of capital determined from relevant market comparisons and adjusted for specific risks. We compared the results of the discounted cash flow model to other recent market
information about the value of similar assets, noting the amounts to be consistent. The analysis resulted in an impairment loss of approximately $216.8 million.
The following is a summary of the impairment on the net book value of the long-lived assets:
Net Book Value Before Impairment

Operating Facilities
Transload Locations
Real Estate
Lease Right-of-Use Assets

$

$

170,324
23,264
1,417
32,834
227,839

Impairment
(dollars in thousands)

$

$

(164,449)
(21,815)
(1,367)
(29,146)
(216,777)

Net Book Value After Impairment

$

$

5,875
1,449
50
3,688
11,062

In addition to the impairment of the operating facilities and transload facilities, we also assessed other current and long-term assets for impairment. As part of this analysis, we wrote down certain Inventories,
Accounts and Notes Receivable, and Prepaid and Other Assets. The Oil and Gas Proppants business has liabilities related to its capitalized operating leases and asset retirement obligation that total $17.9 million
at March 31, 2020.
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The following is a summary of Impairment Losses recognized during fiscal 2020, by line item:
(dollars in thousands)

Property, Equipment, and Real Estate
Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Inventories
Accounts and Notes Receivable
Prepaid and Other Assets

$

$

187,631
29,146
6,256
617
617
224,267

Our Oil and Gas Proppants business continues to be subject to commodity price volatility related to the price of oil. As previously disclosed, we are actively pursuing alternatives for our Oil and Gas Proppants
business. If this process results in an alternative use or disposition of this business, additional impairment or other losses may be incurred.

Other Assets
Other Assets are primarily composed of financing costs related to our revolving credit facility, deferred expenses, and deposits.

Income Taxes
We account for Income Taxes using the asset and liability method. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date. We recognize
deferred taxes for the differences between financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of existing assets and liabilities by applying enacted statutory tax rates for future years. In addition, we recognize
future tax benefits to the extent that such benefits are more likely than not to be realized.

Stock Repurchases
On April 18, 2019, the Board of Directors authorized the Company to repurchase up to an additional 10,000,000 shares, for a total outstanding authorization of 10,724,758 shares. During fiscal years 2020, 2019, and
2018, we repurchased 3,574,109; 3,309,670; and 627,722 shares, respectively, at average prices of $87.82, $82.18, and $97.30, respectively. At March 31, 2020, we have authorization to repurchase an additional
7,305,649 shares.

Revenue Recognition
We earn Revenue primarily from the sale of products, which include cement, concrete, aggregates, gypsum wallboard, recycled paperboard, and frac sand. The majority of Revenue from the sale of cement,
concrete, aggregates, and gypsum wallboard is originated by purchase orders from our customers, who are primarily third-party contractors and suppliers. Revenue from our Recycled Paperboard and Oil and Gas
Proppants segments is generated primarily through long-term supply agreements that mature between calendar years 2020 and 2025. We also earn Revenue from transload services and storage; we recognize
Revenue from these services when the product is transferred from the rail car to the truck or silo, or from the silo to the railcar or truck. We invoice customers upon shipment, and our collection terms range from 3065 days. Revenue from the sale of cement, concrete, aggregates, and gypsum wallboard that is not related to long-term supply agreements is recognized upon shipment of the related products to customers, which
is when title and ownership are transferred, and the customer is obligated to pay.
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Revenue from sales under our long-term supply agreements is also recognized upon transfer of control to the customer, which generally occurs at the time the product is shipped from the production facility or
transload location. Our long-term supply agreements with customers define, among other commitments, the volume of product that we must provide and the volume that the customer must purchase by the end of
the defined periods. Pricing structures under our agreements are generally market-based but are subject to certain contractual adjustments. Historically, the pricing and volume requirements under certain of these
contracts have been renegotiated during volatile market conditions. Shortfall amounts, if applicable under these arrangements, are constrained and not recognized as Revenue until agreement is reached with the
customer and there is no risk of reversal.
The Company offers certain of its customers, including those with long-term supply agreements, rebates and incentives, which we treat as variable consideration. We adjust the amount of revenue recognized for
the variable consideration using the most likely amount method based on past history and projected volumes in the rebate and incentive period. Any amounts billed to customers for taxes are excluded from
Revenue.
The Company has elected to treat freight and delivery charges we pay for the delivery of goods to our customers as a fulfilment activity rather than a separate performance obligation. When we arrange for a third
party to deliver products to customers, fees for shipping and handling that are billed to the customer are recorded as Revenue, while costs we incur for shipping and handling are recorded as expenses and
included in Cost of Goods Sold.
Approximately $168.1 million, $169.6 million, and $158.3 million of freight for the years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, were included in both Revenue and Cost of Goods Sold in our
Consolidated Statement of Earnings.
Other Non-Operating Income includes lease and rental income, asset sale income, non-inventoried aggregates sales income, and trucking income, as well as other miscellaneous revenue items and costs which
have not been allocated to a business segment.
See Footnote (I) for disaggregation of Revenue by segment.

Comprehensive Income/Losses
As of March 31, 2020, we have an Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss of $3.6 million, which is net of income taxes of $1.1 million, in connection with recognizing the difference between the fair value of the
pension assets and the projected benefit obligation.
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Consolidated Cash Flows – Supplemental Disclosures
Supplemental cash flow information is as follows:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2018

Cash Payments:
Interest
Income Taxes

$

37,610
20,046

Operating Cash Flows used for Operating Leases

14,926

$

28,191
39,974

$

28,869
69,481

—

—

Non-Cash Financing Activities:
Right-of-use Assets Obtained for Capitalized Operating Lease Liabilities

$

621

$

—

$

—

Statements of Consolidated Earnings – Supplemental Disclosures
Maintenance and repair expenses are included in each segment’s costs and expenses. We incurred $127.0 million, $116.3 million, and $107.3 million of maintenance and repairs expense in the years ended
March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively, which is included in Cost of Goods Sold on the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses
Selling, General, and Administrative expenses of the operating units are included in Cost of Goods Sold on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Corporate General and Administrative (Corporate G&A)
expenses include administration, financial, legal, employee benefits, and other corporate activities, and are shown separately in the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. Corporate G&A also includes stock
compensation expense. See Footnote (L) for more information.
Total Selling, General, and Administrative expenses for each of the periods are summarized as follows:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(dollars in thousands)

Operating Units Selling, G&A
Corporate G&A

$
$

57,077
65,410
122,487

$
$

53,787
37,371
91,158

$
$

62,529
41,205
103,734

The increase in Corporate General and Administrative Expenses during fiscal 2020 is primarily due to business development costs related to our pending separation, acquisitions, and the acceleration of stock
compensation costs upon the retirement of our Chief Executive Officer during the year.
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Earnings Per Share
For the Years Ended March 31,

Weighted-Average Shares of Common Stock Outstanding
Effect of Dilutive Shares:
Assumed Exercise of Outstanding Dilutive Options
Less Shares Repurchased from Proceeds of Assumed Exercised Options
Restricted Stock Units
Weighted-Average Common Stock and Dilutive Securities Outstanding

2020

2019

2018

42,021,892

46,620,894

48,141,226

623,779
(481,853)
121,525
42,285,343

539,135
(374,380)
146,731
46,932,380

1,013,764
(727,904)
218,900
48,645,986

The line Less Shares Repurchased from Proceeds of Assumed Exercised Options includes unearned compensation related to outstanding stock options.
There were 475,082; 461,575; and 98,362 stock options at an average exercise price of $95.46 per share, $90.32 per share, and $98.75 per share, respectively, that were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, because such inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Share-Based Compensation
All share-based compensation is valued at the grant date and expensed over the requisite service period, which is generally identical to the vesting period of the award. Forfeitures of share-based awards are
recognized in the period in which they occur.

Fair Value Measures
Certain assets and liabilities are required to be recorded or disclosed at fair value. The estimated fair values of those assets and liabilities have been determined using market information and valuation
methodologies. Changes in assumptions or estimation methods could affect the fair value estimates; however, we do not believe any such changes would have a material impact on our financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows. There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets;
Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be
corroborated by observable market data; and
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow
methodologies, and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
RECENTLY ADOPTED
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” which supersedes existing lease guidance to require lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for the rights and
obligations created by long-term leases and to disclose additional quantitative and qualitative information about leasing arrangements. We also elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the
transition guidance which, among other things, allowed us to maintain the historic lease classification for leases in effect at the date of adoption, and to not separate lease components from nonlease components
for all leases in effect at the date of adoption. Upon adoption, we recorded a right-of-use asset of approximately $66.7 million, and operating lease liabilities of approximately $71.1 million. See Footnote (F) for more
information.
PENDING ADOPTION
In June 2016, the FASB issued an update on the measurement of credit losses on financial instruments, which requires entities to use a forward-looking approach based on expected losses rather than the current
model of incurred losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including Accounts and Notes Receivable. The application of the forward-looking model may result in earlier recognition of
allowances for losses than the current method. This guidance became effective on April 1, 2020. We are currently assessing the impact of the new standard, but we do not expect the adoption will have a material
effect on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12 which simplifies the accounting for income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions within existing income tax guidance, and clarifies certain aspects of the current
guidance to promote consistency among reporting entities. The updated standard is effective for public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020,
with early adoption permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this standard will have a material impact to our consolidated financial statements.

(B) ACQUISITIONS
Kosmos Acquisition
On March 6, 2020, we completed the previously announced acquisition (the Kosmos Acquisition) of Kosmos Cement Company (a joint venture between CEMEX S.A.B. de C.V. and Buzzi Unicem S.p.A.) (Kosmos).
The assets acquired in the Kosmos Acquisition were (i) a cement plant located in Louisville, Kentucky, (ii) a limestone quarry located in Battletown, Kentucky, (iii) cement distribution terminals located in
Indianapolis, Indiana; Cincinnati, Ohio; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; Charleston, West Virginia; Ceredo, West Virginia; Mt. Vernon, Indiana; and Lexington, Kentucky, and (iv) certain other properties and assets used
by Kosmos in connection with the foregoing (collectively, the Kosmos Business).
Purchase Price: The purchase price of the Kosmos Acquisition was approximately $668.9 million. We funded the payment of the Kosmos Acquisition primarily through a Term Loan borrowing with the remainder
paid using cash on hand. See Footnote (G) for a description of the loan terms.
Recording of Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed: The transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting which requires, among other things, that assets acquired and liabilities
assumed be recognized at their fair values as of the acquisition date. The Company engaged a third party to perform appraisal valuation services to support the Company’s preliminary estimate of the fair value of
certain assets acquired in the Kosmos Acquisition.
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The preparation of the valuation of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Kosmos Acquisition requires the use of significant assumptions and estimates. Critical estimates with respect to the valuation of
property, plant, and equipment include, but are not limited to, replacement cost, condition, and estimated remaining useful lives of property and equipment. Critical estimates related to intangible and other assets
include future expected cash flows, including projected revenues and expenses, customer attrition, and applicable discount rates. These estimates are based on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable.
However, actual results may differ from these estimates.
The Company has determined preliminary fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Kosmos Acquisition. These values are subject to change as we perform additional reviews of the property
and equipment, inventory, and the asset retirement obligation. The following table summarizes the provisional allocation of the purchase price to assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:
As of March 6, 2020
(dollars in thousands)

Inventories
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Intangible Assets
Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Lease Obligations
Long-term Liabilities
Total Net Assets
Goodwill
Total Estimated Purchase Price

$

28,413
477,442
35,500
3,858
(3,858)
(4,000)
537,355
131,582
668,937

$

Goodwill represents the excess purchase price over the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Goodwill was generated by the availability of co-product sales and the opportunity associated with
the expansion of our Cement business to the eastern region of the United States. All of the goodwill generated by the transaction will be deductible for income tax purposes.
The following table is a summary of the fair value estimates of the identifiable intangible assets (dollars in thousands) and their weighted-average useful lives:
Weighted-Average Life

Estimated Fair Value

20
15
10

1,500
32,500
1,500
35,500

Permits
Customer Relationships
Trade Name and Technology
Total Intangible Assets

$

Actual and pro forma impact of Kosmos Acquisition: The following table presents the net sales and operating loss related to the Kosmos Acquisition that has been included in our Consolidated Statement of
Earnings from March 6, 2020 through the end of the fiscal year:
For the Fiscal Year Ended

March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Revenue
Operating Income (Loss)

$
$
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7,880
(6,756)

Operating Loss shown above for fiscal 2020 was affected by approximately $1.8 million related to depreciation and amortization and $1.7 million related to the recording of acquired inventory at fair value.
The unaudited pro forma results presented below include the effects of the Kosmos Acquisition as if it had been consummated as of April 1, 2018. The pro forma results include estimates for depreciation from the
fair value adjustments to acquired Property and Equipment, amortization for acquired Intangible Assets, the Inventory step-up to fair value, and interest expense associated with debt used to fund the Kosmos
Acquisition. To better reflect the combined operating results, material nonrecurring charges directly related to the Kosmos Acquisition of approximately $5.6 million have been excluded from pro forma net income.
Additionally, we excluded a tax benefit of approximately $31.7 million that would not have been available to us had the acquisition occurred on April 1, 2018. See Footnote (J) for more information on the tax
benefit.
For the Fiscal Year Ended March 31,
2020
Unaudited
(dollars in thousands)

Revenue
Net Income
Earnings per share – basic
Earnings per share - diluted

$
$
$
$

1,605,123
50,189
1.19
1.19

$
$
$
$

2019

1,554,337
66,377
1.42
1.41

The pro forma results do not include any anticipated synergies or other expected benefits of the Kosmos Acquisition. Accordingly, the unaudited pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of either future
results of operations or results that might have been achieved had the Kosmos Acquisition been consummated as of April 1, 2018.

ConAgg Acquisition
On August 2, 2019, we acquired the assets of a readymix concrete and aggregates business (the ConAgg Acquisition). The purchase price of the ConAgg Acquisition was approximately $30.4 million. The
purchase price and expenses incurred in connection with the ConAgg Acquisition were funded through operating cash flows and borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility. Operations related to the ConAgg
Acquisition are included in our segment reporting for the Concrete and Aggregates business from August 2, 2019 through March 31, 2020.
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The purchase price for the ConAgg Acquisition was allocated as follows:
As of August 2, 2019
(dollars in thousands)

Accounts Receivable
Inventories
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Intangible Assets
Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Other Assets
Lease Obligations
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Total Net Assets
Goodwill
Total Estimated Purchase Price

$

6,302
1,921
22,620
1,320
3,263
10
(3,263)
(3,388)
28,785
1,639
30,424

$

(C) SUBSEQUENT EVENT
On April 17, 2020, we sold our Western Aggregates LLC (Western) and Mathews Readymix LLC (Mathews) operations to Teichert Inc., a California-based construction company for an aggregate purchase price of
$93.5 million, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. Western Aggregates and Mathews Readymix were part of our Concrete and Aggregates operating segment.
At March 31, 2020, assets and liabilities included on our balance sheet related to Western and Mathews were approximately $43.7 million and $2.3 million, respectively. Revenue from Western and Mathews for
fiscal years 2020, 2019 and 2018 were approximately $32.3 million, $27.8 million and $27.7 million, respectively.

(D) PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
Cost by major category and Accumulated Depreciation are summarized as follows:
March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Land and Quarries
Plants
Buildings, Machinery and Equipment
Construction in Progress

$

Accumulated Depreciation
$
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431,242
2,483,246
255,758
30,406
3,200,652
(1,438,543)
1,762,109

$

$

2019

379,337
2,006,870
219,556
85,886
2,691,649
(1,264,710)
1,426,939

(E) ACCRUED EXPENSES
Accrued expenses consist of the following:
As of March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Payroll and Incentive Compensation
Benefits
Interest
Property Taxes
Power and Fuel
Litigation Settlements and Expenses
Legal and Professional
Sales and Use Tax
Other

$

$

25,584
12,521
4,080
6,676
1,353
—
16,096
1,085
5,898
73,293

2019

$

26,225
12,673
3,852
5,058
1,644
1,900
—
2,167
8,430
61,949

$

(F) LEASES
We lease certain real estate, buildings, and equipment, including rail cars. Certain of these leases contain escalations of rent over the term of the lease, as well as options for us to extend the term of the lease at
the end of the original term. These extensions range from periods of one year to twenty years. Our lease agreements do not contain material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. In
calculating the present value of future minimum lease payments, we use the rate implicit in the lease if it can be determined. Otherwise, we use our incremental borrowing rate in effect at the commencement of the
lease to determine the present value of the future minimum lease payments. Additionally, we lease certain equipment under short-term leases with initial terms of less than twelve months. These short-term
equipment leases are not recorded on the balance sheet.
Lease expense for our operating and short-term leases is as follows:
For the Year Ended
March 31, 2020
(dollars in thousands)

Operating Lease Cost
Short-term Lease Cost
Total Lease Cost

$

13,315
1,470
14,785

$

The Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities are reflected on our Balance Sheet as follows:
For the Year Ended
March 31, 2020
(dollars in thousands)

Operating Leases:
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Current Operating Lease Liabilities
Noncurrent Operating Lease Liabilities

$

30,530

$

10,207
49,809
60,016

$

Total Operating Lease Liabilities

During the quarter ended December 31, 2019, we recognized a $29.1 million impairment related to Right-of-Use assets used by our Oil and Gas Proppants business. See Footnote (A) for additional information
about the impairment loss.
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Future payments for operating leases are as follows:
Amount
(dollars in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total Lease Payments
Less: Imputed Interest

$

Present Value of Lease Liabilities

$

12,036
10,781
10,067
8,222
6,884
24,624
72,614
(12,598)
60,016

$

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term (in years)
Weighted Average Discount Rate

9.2
3.78%

(G) INDEBTEDNESS
Long-term debt consists of the following:
As of March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Revolving Credit Facility
4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2026
Term Loan
Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes
Total Debt
Less: Current Portion of Long-term Debt
Less: Debt Origination Costs
Long-term Debt

$

$

560,000
350,000
665,000
—
1,575,000
—
(7,685)
1,567,315

$

$

2019

310,000
350,000
—
36,500
696,500
(36,500)
(4,908)
655,092

The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility during fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018 was 3.6%, 3.4%, and 2.6%, respectively. The interest rate on the Revolving Credit
Facility was 2.8% and 3.8% at March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
The weighted-average interest rate of borrowings under our Term Loan during fiscal 2020 was 2.8%, which was also the interest rate at March 31, 2020.
Our maturities of long-term debt during the next five fiscal years and thereafter are as follows:
Fiscal Year

Amount

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

$
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—
—
1,225,000
—
—
350,000
1,575,000

Credit Facility
REVOLVING CREDIT FACILITY
We have a revolving credit facility (the Revolving Credit Facility) that terminates on August 2, 2022. During May 2019, we exercised our option to expand the Revolving Credit Facility and increased the borrowing
capacity from $500.0 million to $750.0 million, provided, however, that on August 2, 2021, the aggregate borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility will be reduced to $665.0 million. The Revolving
Credit Facility also includes a swingline loan sublimit of $25.0 million. On December 20, 2019, we amended the Revolving Credit Facility, to, among other things, (i) modify the interest rates with respect to
outstanding borrowings; (ii) allow for the consummation of the Kosmos Acquisition; (iii) permit the incurrence of additional indebtedness necessary to consummate the Kosmos Acquisition; (iv) modify the financial
covenants to increase maximum leverage permitted under the Revolving Credit Facility; and (v) provide for the selection of an alternate benchmark rate to replace the LIBO Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit
Facility).
On April 9, 2020 we further amended the Revolving Credit Facility to, among other things, (i) extend the maturity date with respect to certain lender commitments thereunder from August 2, 2021 to August 2, 2022,
(ii) modify the financial covenants to increase the maximum leverage that the Company (on a consolidated basis) is required to maintain, (iii) increase the pricing of borrowings based on the then-existing Leverage
Ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) which is based on the ratio of the Company’s Consolidated Total Indebtedness (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) to Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in
the Revolving Credit Facility), and (iv) further restrict the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) from making Restricted Payments (as defined in the Revolving Credit
Facility) with certain exceptions, including, among others, no Default (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) has occurred and is continuing and based on a pro forma basis after giving effect to any such
Restricted Payment the Leverage Ratio would not be greater than 2.50 to 1.00.
Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are guaranteed by all of the Company’s material subsidiaries. The debt under the Revolving Credit Facility is not rated by ratings agencies. At the Company’s option,
principal amounts outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to either (i) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) plus an agreed spread
(ranging from 125 to 200 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2021 and from 150 to 250 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2022), which is established quarterly based on the Company's then
Leverage Ratio; or (ii) an Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), which is the highest of (a) the Prime Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility), (b) the NYFRB (as defined in the
Revolving Credit Facility) plus ½ of 1%, and (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a one-month interest period on such day, plus 1.0%, in each case plus an agreed upon spread (ranging from 25 to 100 basis points for
loans scheduled to mature in 2021 and from 50 to 150 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2022) which is established quarterly based on the Company's then Leverage Ratio. In the case of loans bearing
interest at a rate based on the Alternate Base Rate, interest payments are payable quarterly. In the case of loans bearing interest at a rate based on the Adjusted LIBO Rate, interest is payable at the end of the
relevant Interest Period (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) for such borrowing unless such Interest Period is for more than three months duration, in which case such interest is payable at intervals of three
months duration after the first day of such Interest Period, which can be up to six months at the option of the Company. The Company is also required to pay a commitment fee on unused available borrowings
under the Revolving Credit Facility (ranging from 15 to 30 basis points for loans scheduled to mature in 2021 and from 20 to 40 basis points for loans
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scheduled to mature in 2022) which is established quarterly based on the Company's then Leverage Ratio. The Revolving Credit Facility contains customary covenants that restrict the Company’s and its Restricted
Subsidiaries’ ability to incur additional debt; encumber assets; merge with or transfer or sell assets to other persons; make or enter into certain investments, loans, or guaranties; enter into certain swap
agreements; enter into affiliate transactions or restrictive transactions; make restricted payments; prepay subordinated indebtedness; and enter into sale and leaseback arrangements. The Revolving Credit Facility
also requires the Company to maintain at the end of each fiscal quarter a Leverage Ratio of 4.50:1.00 or less and an Interest Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) equal to or greater than
2.50 to 1.00. We were in compliance with all financial ratios and tests at March 31, 2020. We had $560.0 million of borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility at March 31, 2020. We had $183.5
million of available borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, net of the outstanding letters of credit, at March 31, 2020, all of which was available for future borrowings based on our current Leverage Ratio.
The Revolving Credit Facility has a $40.0 million letter of credit facility. The Company pays each lender a participation fee with respect to such lender’s participations in letters of credit, which fee accrues at the
same Applicable Rate (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) used to determine the interest rate applicable to Eurodollar Revolving Loans (as defined in the Revolving Credit Facility) plus a one-time letter of
credit fee to the issuing bank of such letters of credit in an amount equal to 0.125% of the initial stated amount. At March 31, 2020, we had $6.5 million of outstanding letters of credit. We have also provided an
irrevocable stand-by letter of credit for any borrowings made by our Joint Venture under its credit facility. The Joint Venture has not had any borrowings under the credit facility during the last two fiscal years;
therefore, we have not issued any letters of credit during fiscal 2020 and 2019.
TERM LOAN
On December 20, 2019, we entered into a term loan credit agreement (the Term Loan Agreement) establishing a $665.0 million term loan facility which we used to pay a portion of the purchase price for the
Kosmos Acquisition and fees and expenses incurred in connection with the Kosmos Acquisition in March 2020. On April 9, 2020, we amended the Term Loan Agreement and extended the maturity date thereof to
August 2, 2022, and modified certain other provisions, as noted below, that are similar to those provisions in the Revolving Credit Agreement as set forth above.
Borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement bear interest, at our option, at a variable rate equal to either (i) the Alternate Base Rate (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement and consistent with the Revolving
Credit Facility), plus an agreed spread (ranging from 50 to 150 basis points), or (ii) the Adjusted LIBO Rate (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement) plus an agreed spread (ranging from 150 to 250 basis points),
which is established quarterly based on the Company's then Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Term Loan Agreement and consistent with the Revolving Credit Facility). The Company must also maintain a
Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio consistent with the Revolving Credit Facility.
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4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2026
On August 2, 2016, the Company issued $350.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.500% senior notes (Senior Unsecured Notes) due August 2026. Interest on the Senior Unsecured Notes is payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1 of each year until all outstanding notes are paid. The Senior Unsecured Notes rank equal to existing and future senior indebtedness, including the Revolving Credit Facility and
Term Loan. On or after August 1, 2019, and prior to August 1, 2021, we may redeem some or all of the Senior Unsecured Notes at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount, plus a make-whole premium.
Beginning August 1, 2021, we may redeem some or all of the Senior Unsecured Notes at the redemption prices set forth below (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount being redeemed):
Percentage

2021
2022
2023
2024 and thereafter

102.25%
101.50%
100.75%
100.00%

The Senior Unsecured Notes contain covenants that limit our ability and/or our guarantor subsidiaries' ability to create or permit existence of certain liens; enter into sale and leaseback transactions; and
consolidate, merge, or transfer all or substantially all of our assets. The Company’s Senior Unsecured Notes are fully, unconditionally, jointly, and severally guaranteed by each of our subsidiaries that are
guarantors under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan. See Footnote (O) of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for more information on the guarantors of the Senior Unsecured Notes.

Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes
On October 2, 2019, we paid $36.5 million to retire the remaining notes due under the Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes.

Other Information
We lease one of our cement plants from the city of Sugar Creek, Missouri. The city of Sugar Creek issued industrial revenue bonds to partly finance improvements to the cement plant. The lease payments due to
the city of Sugar Creek under the cement plant lease, which was entered into upon the sale of the industrial revenue bonds, are equal in amount to the payments required to be made by the city of Sugar Creek to
the holders of the industrial revenue bonds. Because we hold all outstanding industrial revenue bonds, no debt is reflected on our financial statements in connection with our lease of the cement plant. Upon
expiration of the lease in fiscal 2021, we have the option to purchase the cement plant for a nominal amount.
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(H) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair value of our senior notes has been estimated based upon our current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. The fair value of our Senior Unsecured Notes at March 31,
2020 are as follows:
Fair Value
(dollars in thousands)

4.500% Senior Unsecured Notes Due 2026

$

320,560

The estimated fair value of our long-term debt was based on quoted prices of similar debt instruments with similar terms that are publicly traded (level 2 input). The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents,
accounts and notes receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values at March 31, 2020, due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities. The fair value of our
Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan also approximates their carrying values at March 31, 2020.

(I) BUSINESS SEGMENTS
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise that engage in business activities that earn revenue, incur expenses, and prepare separate financial information that is evaluated regularly by our
chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources and assess performance.
We are a leading supplier of heavy construction materials and light building materials in the United States. Our primary products are commodities that are essential in commercial and residential construction; public
construction projects; and projects to build, expand, and repair roads and highways. Demand for our products is generally cyclical and seasonal, depending on economic and geographic conditions. We distribute
our products across many United States markets, which provides us with regional economic diversification. We also produce sand used in hydraulic fracturing as part of our Oil and Gas Proppants segment.
Our business is organized into three sectors within which there are five reportable business segments. The Heavy Materials sector includes the Cement and Concrete and Aggregates segments. The Light
Materials sector includes the Gypsum Wallboard and Recycled Paperboard segments. The Oil and Gas Proppants segment produces frac sand used in oil and gas extraction.
Our operations are conducted in the U.S. and include the mining of limestone for the manufacture, production, distribution, and sale of portland cement (a basic construction material which is the essential binding
ingredient in concrete); the grinding and sale of slag; the mining of gypsum for the manufacture and sale of gypsum wallboard; the manufacture and sale of recycled paperboard to the gypsum wallboard industry
and other paperboard converters; the sale of readymix concrete; and the mining and sale of aggregates (crushed stone, sand, and gravel) and sand used in hydraulic fracturing (frac sand).
We operate eight modern cement plants (one of which is operated through a joint venture located in Buda, Texas), one slag grinding facility, and 29 cement distribution terminals. Our cement companies focus on
the U.S. heartland and operate as an integrated network selling product primarily in California, Colorado, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kentucky, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, Ohio, Oklahoma, and Texas. We operate 26
readymix concrete batch plants and five aggregates processing plants in markets that are complementary to our cement network. On April 17, 2017 we sold our Concrete and Aggregates companies in northern
California. See Footnote (C) for more information about the sale.
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We operate five gypsum wallboard plants and a recycled paperboard mill. We distribute gypsum wallboard and recycled paperboard throughout the continental U.S., with the exception of the Northeast.
Our Oil and Gas Proppants business owns two frac sand processing facilities, four frac sand drying facilities, and two frac sand trans-load locations. Frac sand is currently sold into shale deposits across the United
States.
We account for intersegment sales at market prices. For segment reporting purposes only, we proportionately consolidate our 50% share of the Joint Venture Revenue and Operating Earnings, consistent with the
way management reports the segments within the Company for making operating decisions and assessing performance.
The following tables below sets forth certain financial information relating to our operations by segment. We do not allocate interest or taxes at the segment level, only at the consolidated company level.
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Revenue Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard
Oil and Gas Proppants

$

Less: Intersegment Revenue
Less: Joint Venture Revenue
$

752,002
182,775
508,145
159,963
46,781
1,649,666
(85,316)
(113,536)
1,450,814

$

$

$

$

21,499
1,502
62,315
85,316

$

$

For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Intersegment Revenue Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Paperboard

656,759
140,173
532,712
167,656
82,987
1,580,287
(82,553)
(104,493)
1,393,241

2018

$

$

14,408
1,422
66,723
82,553

651,750
157,013
491,779
181,742
98,244
1,580,528
(88,124)
(105,884)
1,386,520

2018

$

$

16,442
1,335
70,347
88,124

Cement Sales Volume (M tons) Wholly Owned
Joint Venture

4,975
956
5,931
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4,441
899
5,340

4,453
912
5,365

For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Operating Earnings Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard
Oil and Gas Proppants
Sub-Total
Corporate General and Administrative Expense
Impairment Losses
Litigation Settlements and Losses
Other Non-Operating Income
Earnings Before Interest and Income Taxes
Interest Expense, net
Earnings Before Income Taxes

$

$

181,330
17,558
154,614
34,979
(14,634)
373,847
(65,410)
(224,267)
—
(25)
84,145
(38,421)
45,724

$

138,745
42,585
181,330

$

44,776
11,898
12,771
62,528
146
—
132,119

$

59,081
11,142
20,320
8,945
11,310
2,720
113,518

$

$

2018

164,782
12,866
180,831
35,349
(28,695)
365,133
(37,371)
(220,265)
(1,800)
2,412
108,109
(28,374)
79,735

$

126,217
38,565
164,782

$

76,504
6,649
10,724
16,603
52,286
6,107
168,873

$

52,802
8,176
20,020
8,541
31,328
1,668
122,535

$

$

179,151
17,854
158,551
32,758
(6,139)
382,175
(41,205)
—
(45,098)
3,728
299,600
(27,638)
271,962

Cement Operating Earnings Wholly Owned
Joint Ventures

$
$

$

$

135,732
43,419
179,151

Capital Expenditures Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard
Oil and Gas Proppants
Other, net

$

$

$

$

45,088
4,977
19,382
5,177
56,872
461
131,957

Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard
Oil and Gas Proppants
Corporate and Other

$

$

$

$

50,891
7,931
18,179
8,694
26,872
1,448
114,015

As of March 31,
2020

2019

2018

(dollars in thousands)

Identifiable Assets
Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard
Oil and Gas Proppants
Other, net

$

$
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1,980,306
136,041
375,946
183,288
14,294
271,145
2,961,020

$

$

1,289,468
95,084
372,206
138,614
236,357
37,434
2,169,163

$

$

1,247,504
104,851
386,041
123,819
444,826
60,962
2,368,003

Segment Operating Earnings, including the proportionately consolidated 50% interest in the revenue and expenses of the Joint Venture, represent Revenue less direct operating expenses, segment Depreciation,
and segment Selling, General, and Administrative expenses. Segment Operating Earnings don’t include certain non-recurring losses, such as impairment and legal settlements. We account for intersegment sales
at market prices. Corporate assets consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, general office assets, and miscellaneous other assets.
The basis used to disclose Identifiable Assets; Capital Expenditures; and Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization conforms with the equity method, and is similar to how we disclose these accounts in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets and Consolidated Statements of Earnings.
The segment breakdown of Goodwill at March 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Cement
Concrete and Aggregates
Gypsum Wallboard
Paperboard

$

205,797
1,639
116,618
7,538
331,592

$

$

2019

74,214
—
116,618
7,538
198,370

$

(J) INCOME TAXES
The provision for income taxes includes the following components:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Current Provision (Benefit) Federal
State

$

Deferred Provision (Benefit) Federal
State
Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

$

94

(102,080)
923
(101,157)
76,255
(268)
75,987
(25,170)

$

$

32,710
6,536
39,246
(21,039)
(7,332)
(28,371)
10,875

2018

$

$

58,695
5,989
64,684
(52,333)
2,979
(49,354)
15,330

The effective tax rates vary from the federal statutory rates due to the following items:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

2018

Earnings Before Income Taxes

$

45,724

$

79,735

$

271,962

Income Taxes at Statutory Rate

$

9,602

$

16,744

$

85,804

$

(1,703)
(3,078)
—
307
537
1,018
—
(35,936)
(2,150)
2,212
4,200
(179)
(25,170)

$

(629)
(3,834)
—
(651)
610
1,434
—
—
(940)
(2,100)
—
241
10,875

$

6,139
(6,341)
(5,995)
(4,129)
567
246
(61,692)
—
—
—
—
731
15,330

Increases (Decreases) in Tax Resulting from State Income Taxes, net
Statutory Depletion in Excess of Cost
Domestic Production Activities Deduction
Excess Tax Benefit from Stock Compensation
Meals and Entertainment Disallowance
Limitation on Officer's Compensation
Impact of Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017
Impact of CARES Act of 2020
Credits
Valuation Allowance
Unrecognized Tax Benefits
Other
Provision for Income Taxes
Effective Tax Rate

(55)%

14%

6%

Components of deferred income taxes are as follows:
March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Items Giving Rise to Deferred Tax Liabilities Excess Tax Depreciation and Amortization
State Income Taxes, net
Right-of-Use Asset
Other
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities

$

$

(199,096)
(12,225)
(5,441)
(5,764)
(222,526)

$

9,373
12,632
7,217
2,642
5,590
19,861
11,384
937
69,636
(13,777)
55,859

$

$

2019

(108,505)
(9,236)
—
(5,628)
(123,369)

Items Giving Rise to Deferred Tax Assets Change in Accruals
Depletable Assets
Inventory
Bad Debts
Long-term Incentive Compensation Plan
Credits and Other Carryforwards
Lease Liability
Pension
Subtotal
Valuation Allowance
Total Deferred Tax Assets

$

$

$

8,601
8,995
6,046
2,169
5,154
12,289
—
921
44,175
(11,565)
32,610

We record Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities based upon estimates of their realizable value with such estimates based upon likely future tax consequences. In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we
consider both positive and negative evidence related to the likelihood of realization of the Deferred Tax Assets. If, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that a Deferred Tax Asset will
not be realized, we record a Valuation Allowance.
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During fiscal 2020, we recorded an increase in the Valuation Allowance against our Deferred Tax Assets of $2.2 million. The increase is because of changes in estimates of the realizability of certain deferred tax
assets related to certain state income tax credits.
We have federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $5.4 million at March 31, 2020, and approximately $1.0 million at March 31, 2019. We have federal Research and Development (R&D) and state
income tax credits of $2.2 million at March 31, 2020 and $2.0 million at March 31, 2019, net of Valuation Allowances. The federal R&D credits can be carried forward 20 years and the state income tax credits may
be carried forward indefinitely.
We file income tax returns in U.S. federal and various state jurisdictions. The Company is currently subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for the year ended March 31, 2017 and forward.
Uncertain tax positions
We are subject to audit examinations at federal, state, and local levels by tax authorities in those jurisdictions who may challenge the treatment or reporting of any return item. The tax matters challenged by the tax
authorities are typically complex; therefore, the ultimate outcome of these challenges is subject to uncertainty.
We review and assess all tax positions subject to uncertainty on a more-likely-than-not standard with respect to ultimate outcome if challenged. We measure and record tax benefit or expense only when the morelikely-than-not threshold is met. The change in unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was as follows:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Balance at Beginning of Year
Increase related to current tax positions
Decrease related to current tax positions
Payments

$

$

—
4,200
—
—
4,200

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

2018

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

We recorded a $4.2 million reserve as a result of a position we will take on our fiscal 2020 federal tax return related to the interest limitation under IRC Section 163(j) and the resulting carryback allowed under the
CARES Act. This tax return position reflects an expected update to U.S. Department of the Treasury regulations. We recorded a reserve for financial reporting purposes to reflect the U.S. Department of the
Treasury's current proposed regulations under Section 163(j) which have not yet been withdrawn. We will reevaluate this reserve when new guidance is issued, which is currently expected in calendar 2020.
We classify interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as current income tax expense. We recorded no interest and penalties for each of the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018,
respectively.
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Tax Cuts and Jobs Act
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Act) was enacted on December 22, 2017. The Act, among other changes, reduces the U.S. federal corporate tax rate from 35% to 21%, allows for the immediate 100% deductibility
of certain capital expenditures, repeals the domestic production deduction, and further limits the deductibility of certain executive compensation. In December 2017, we recorded a tax benefit of $61.7 million related
to the change in corporate tax rates that reduced our deferred tax liabilities after the initial assessment of the tax effects of the Act. In the quarter ended December 31, 2018, we finalized our accounting for the Act
with no material changes from our provisional calculations.
CARES Act
The CARES Act was enacted on March 27, 2020. The CARES Act, among other changes, allows for a five-year carryback of net operating losses (NOL) generated beginning in 2018 and ending before 2021. In
March 2020, we recorded a tax benefit of $35.9 million related to the carryback and utilization of NOLs in prior-year tax periods at higher rates than the current statutory rate. The overall benefit created by the
CARES Act was partially offset by a related $4.2 million reserve we recorded as a result of the interest limitation under IRC section 163(j).

(K) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Our operations and properties are subject to extensive and changing federal, state, and local laws; regulations and ordinances governing the protection of the environment; as well as laws relating to worker health
and workplace safety. We carefully consider the requirements mandated by such laws and regulations and have procedures in place at all of our operating units to monitor compliance. Any matters which are
identified as potential exposures under these laws and regulations are carefully reviewed by management to determine our potential liability. Although management is not aware of any exposures which require an
accrual under generally accepted accounting principles, there can be no assurance that prior or future operations will not ultimately result in violations, claims, or other liabilities associated with these regulations.
We have certain deductible limits under our workers’ compensation and liability insurance policies for which reserves are established based on the undiscounted estimated costs of known and anticipated claims.
We have entered into standby letter of credit agreements relating to workers’ compensation and auto and general liability self-insurance. At March 31, 2020, we had contingent liabilities under these outstanding
letters of credit of approximately $6.5 million. We have also provided an irrevocable stand-by letter of credit for any borrowings made by our Joint Venture under its credit facility. The Joint Venture has not had any
borrowings under the credit facility during the last two fiscal years; therefore, we have not issued any letters of credit during fiscal 2020 and 2019.
We are currently contingently liable for performance under $31.0 million in performance bonds required by certain states and municipalities, and their related agencies. The bonds are principally for certain
reclamation obligations and mining permits. We have indemnified the underwriting insurance company against any exposure under the performance bonds. In our past experience, no material claims have been
made against these financial instruments.
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Other
In the ordinary course of business, we execute contracts involving indemnifications that are standard in the industry and indemnifications specific to a transaction such as the sale of a business. These
indemnifications might include claims relating to any of the following: environmental and tax matters; intellectual property rights; governmental regulations and employment-related matters; customer, supplier,
construction contractor, and other commercial contractual relationships; and financial matters. While the maximum amount to which we may be exposed under such agreements cannot be estimated, it is the
opinion of management that these indemnifications are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. We currently have no
outstanding guarantees of third-party debt.
We have certain forward purchase contracts, primarily for natural gas, that expire during calendar 2020 and 2021. The contracts are for approximately 25% of our anticipated natural gas usage.

(L) STOCK OPTION PLANS
On August 7, 2013, our stockholders approved the Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive Plan (the Plan), which increased the shares we are authorized to issue as awards by 3,000,000 (1,500,000
of which may be stock awards). Under the terms of the Plan, we may issue equity awards, including stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs), restricted stock, and stock appreciation rights to employees of the
Company and members of the Board of Directors. Awards that were already outstanding prior to the approval of the Plan remained outstanding. The Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors specifies
the terms for grants of equity awards under the Plan.

Long-Term Compensation Plans
OPTIONS
In May 2019, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the granting to certain officers and key employees of an aggregate of 100,849 performance vesting stock options that are earned only
if certain performance conditions are satisfied (the Fiscal 2020 Employee Performance Stock Option Grant). The performance criterion for the Fiscal 2019 Employee Performance Stock Option Grant is based upon
the achievement of certain levels of return on equity (as defined in the option agreements), ranging from 10.0% to 20.0%, for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2020. All stock options are earned if the return on
equity is 20.0% or greater, and the percentage of shares earned are reduced proportionately to approximately 66.7% if the return on equity is 10.0%. If the Company does not achieve a return on equity of at least
10.0%, all stock options granted will be forfeited. During fiscal 2020, the adjusted return on equity was approximately 16.4%; therefore, 88,755 options were earned, with the remaining options forfeited. The earned
stock options will lapse ratably over four years, with the first fourth lapsing promptly following the determination date, and the remaining options vesting on March 31, 2021 through 2023. The stock options have a
term of 10 years from the date of grant. The Compensation Committee also approved the granting of 84,043 time-vesting stock options to the same officers and key employees, which vest ratably over a four-year
period (the Fiscal 2020 Employee Time-Vesting Stock Option Grant). The stock options have a term of 10 years from the date of grant.
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All stock options issued during fiscal 2020 and 2019 were valued at the grant date using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model to value the
option awards in fiscal 2020 and 2019 are as follows:
2020

Dividend Yield
Expected Volatility
Risk Free Interest Rate
Expected Life

2019

1.3%
31.4%
2.31%
6.0 years

1.3%
32.7%
2.85%
6.0 years

Stock option expense for all outstanding stock option awards was approximately $4.5 million, $3.8 million, and $4.3 million for the years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. At March 31, 2020,
there was approximately $7.2 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to outstanding stock options which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.4 years.
The following table shows stock option activity for the years presented:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019

2020
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares

Outstanding Options at Beginning of Year
Granted
Exercised
Cancelled
Outstanding Options at End of Year
Options Exercisable at End of Year

1,042,925
187,375
(62,326)
(7,883)
1,160,091

$
$
$
$

76.88
91.58
88.28
102.69

$

80.36

Number
of Shares

958,136
125,734
(38,748)
(2,197)
1,042,925

868,081

2018
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

$
$
$
$

72.52
103.53
54.27
100.88

$

76.88

761,564

Weighted-Average Fair Value of Options Granted
during the Year

$

27.35

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number
of Shares

1,323,379
119,986
(448,295)
(36,934)
958,136

$
$
$
$

66.07
100.20
60.27
79.97

$

72.52

$

33.37

651,218
$

33.11

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at March 31, 2020:

Number of
Shares
Outstanding

Range of Exercise Prices

$23.17 - $29.84
$33.43 - $37.34
$53.22 - $77.67
$79.73 - $106.24

65,912
57,728
267,763
768,688
1,160,091

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Options Exercisable
WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

1.35
2.21
5.28
6.72

$
$
$
$

23.27
34.03
72.46
91.49

5.86

$

80.36

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares
Outstanding

65,912
57,728
233,949
510,492
868,081

$
$
$
$

23.27
34.03
72.37
89.24

$

76.01

At March 31, 2020, the aggregate intrinsic value for outstanding and exercisable options was approximately $3.8 million. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020,
2019, and 2018 was approximately $2.2 million, $2.1 million and $18.7 million, respectively.
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RESTRICTED STOCK
In May 2019, the Compensation Committee approved the granting to certain officers and key employees an aggregate of 51,112 shares of performance vesting restricted stock that will be earned if certain
performance conditions are satisfied (the Fiscal 2020 Employee Restricted Stock Performance Award). The performance criterion for the Fiscal 2020 Employee Restricted Stock Performance Award is based upon
the achievement of certain levels of return on equity (as defined in the agreement), ranging from 10.0% to 20.0%, for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020. All restricted shares will be earned if the return on equity
is 20.0% or greater, and the percentage of shares earned will be reduced proportionately to approximately 66.7% if the return on equity is 10.0%. If the Company does not achieve a return on equity of at least
10.0%, all awards will be forfeited. During fiscal 2020, the adjusted return on equity was approximately 16.4%; therefore approximately 44,985 shares were earned, with the remaining shares forfeited. Restrictions
on the earned shares will lapse ratably over four years, with the first fourth lapsing promptly following the determination date and the remaining restrictions lapsing on March 31, 2021 through 2023. The
Compensation Committee also approved the granting of 42,591 shares of time-vesting restricted stock to the same officers and key employees, which vest ratably over four years (the Fiscal 2020 Employee
Restricted Stock Time-Vesting Award). Both of the Fiscal 2020 Employee Restricted Stock Performance Award and the Fiscal 2020 Employee Restricted Stock Time-Vesting Award were valued at the closing price
of the stock on the date of grant and are being expensed over a four-year period.
In August 2019, we granted to members of the Board of Directors 24,589 shares of restricted stock (the Board of Directors Fiscal 2020 Restricted Stock Award) which vested six months after the grant date. The
Board of Directors Fiscal 2020 Restricted Stock Awards were valued at the closing price of the stock on the date of the grant and were expensed over a six-month period.
The fair value of restricted stock is estimated based on the stock price at the date of the grant. The following table summarizes the activity for nonvested restricted shares during the fiscal years ended March 31,
2020, 2019, and 2018:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019

2020
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number
of Shares

Nonvested Restricted Stock at Beginning of Year
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested Restricted Stock at End of Year

300,115
118,292
(169,347)
(15,940)
233,120

$
$
$
$

78.94
90.08
92.98
58.64

$

75.35

Number
of Shares

328,059
121,836
(147,790)
(1,990)
300,115

2018
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

$
$
$
$

72.52
105.73
75.94
100.88

$

78.94

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number
of Shares

371,213
107,964
(119,187)
(31,931)
328,059

$
$
$
$

66.07
100.20
60.27
79.97

$

72.52

Expense related to restricted shares was $15.3 million, $11.3 million, and $9.6 million in fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. At March 31, 2020, there were approximately 233,000
shares with remaining restrictions, for which $15.4 million of unearned compensation will be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.
The number of shares available for future grants of stock options, restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, and restricted stock under the Plan was 3,755,871 at March 31, 2020. Of the available shares, a
total of 1,219,192 can be used for future restricted stock and restricted stock unit grants.
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(M) NET INTEREST EXPENSE
The following components are included within Interest Expense, net:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

2020

Interest Income
Interest Expense
Other Expenses
Interest Expense, net

$

$

(34)
36,956
1,499
38,421

$

$

(123)
27,329
1,168
28,374

2018

$

$

(14)
26,433
1,219
27,638

Interest Income includes interest earned on investments of excess cash. Components of Interest Expense include interest associated with the Revolving Credit Facility, Term Loan, Senior Unsecured Notes, Private
Placement Senior Unsecured Notes, and commitment fees based on the unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. Other Expenses include amortization of debt issuance costs and Revolving Credit Facility
costs.

(N) PENSION AND PROFIT SHARING PLANS
We offer our employees multiple retirement and profit sharing plans.

Pension Plans
We have several defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans which together cover substantially all of our employees. Benefits paid under the defined benefit plans covering certain hourly employees
are based on years of service and each employee’s qualifying compensation over the last few years of employment. Our funding policy is to generally contribute amounts that are deductible for income tax
purposes. The annual measurement date is March 31 for the benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets, and the funded status of the defined benefit plans.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of the Obligations and Fair Values of Plan Assets for all defined benefit plans over the two-year period ended March 31, 2020, and a statement of the funded status as of
March 31, 2020 and 2019:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Reconciliation of Benefit Obligations Benefit Obligation at April 1,
Service Cost - Benefits Earned During the Period
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation
Actuarial (Gain) Loss
Benefits Paid
Benefit Obligation at March 31,
Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets Fair Value of Plan Assets at April 1,
Actual Return on Plan Assets
Employer Contributions
Benefits Paid
Fair Value of Plan Assets at March 31,
Funded Status Funded Status at March 31,

$

2019

33,730
339
1,351
2,464
(1,183)
36,701

$

$

36,541
3,651
—
(1,183)
39,009

$

33,412
2,169
2,040
(1,080)
36,541

$

2,308

$

2,811

$

2,308

$

$

33,370
399
1,347
(306)
(1,080)
33,730

$

Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of Other Assets
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses:
Net Actuarial Loss
Prior Service Cost
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses
Reclassification to Retained Earnings
Tax impact
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses, net of tax

4,709
—
4,709
—
(1,149)
3,560

$

$

2,811
4,346
19
4,365
—
(1,049)
3,316

$

$

The table below summarizes the Company’s Projected Benefit Obligation, Accumulated Benefit Obligation and Fair Value of Plan Assets at March 31, 2020 and 2019:
March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Projected Benefit Obligation
Accumulated Benefit Obligation
Fair Value of Plan Assets

$
$
$

36,701
36,701
39,009

2019

$
$
$

33,730
33,727
36,541

Net periodic pension cost for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018, included the following components:
For the Years Ended March 31,
2019
(dollar in thousands)

2020

Service Cost - Benefits Earned During the Period
Interest Cost of Projected Benefit Obligation
Expected Return on Plan Assets
Recognized Net Actuarial Loss
Amortization of Prior-Service Cost
Settlement
Net Periodic Pension Cost

$

$

102

339
1,351
(1,702)
153
19
—
160

$

$

399
1,347
(1,853)
230
61
—
184

2018

$

$

710
1,466
(2,137)
566
269
649
1,523

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2018, we offered to pay our deferred vested participants that no longer worked for the Company but were not yet retired. We paid approximately $3.9 million to these participants in
March 2018. In connection with this payment, we recognized a settlement cost of approximately $0.6 million.
Expected benefit payments over the next five years, and the following five years under the pension plans are expected to be as follows (dollars in thousands):
Fiscal Years

Total

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030

$
$
$
$
$
$

1,586
1,673
1,721
1,765
1,892
10,197

The following tables set forth the assumptions used in the actuarial calculations of the present value of Net Periodic Benefit Costs and Benefit Obligations:
March 31,

Net Periodic Benefit Costs Discount Rate
Expected Return on Plan Assets
Rate of Compensation Increase

2020

2019

2018

4.09%
4.75%
3.50%

4.12%
5.50%
3.50%

4.03%
7.50%
3.50%

Benefit Obligations Discount Rate
Rate of Compensation Increase

March 31,
2020

2019

3.64%
3.50%

4.09%
3.50%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an assumption reflecting the anticipated weighted-average rate of earnings on the portfolio over the long term. To determine this rate, we developed
estimates of the key components underlying capital asset returns which include: market-based estimates of inflation, real risk-free rates of return, yield curve structure, credit risk premiums, and equity risk
premiums. We used these components as appropriate to develop benchmark estimates of the expected long-term management approach that we employ.
The pension plans’ approximate weighted-average asset allocation at March 31, 2020 and 2019 and the range of target allocation are as follows:
Percentage of Plan Assets at March 31,
Range of
Target Allocation

Asset Category Equity Securities
Debt Securities
Other
Total

10 – 20%
60 – 90%
0 – 20%
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2020

2019

9%
89%
2%
100%

14%
85%
1%
100%

Our pension investment strategies have been developed as part of a comprehensive management process that considers the interaction between the assets and liabilities within each plan. These strategies
consider not only the expected risk and returns on plan assets, but also the detailed actuarial projections of liabilities as well as plan-level objectives such as projected contributions, expense, and funded status.
The principal pension investment strategies include asset allocation and active asset management. The range of target asset allocations has been determined given the current funded status of the plan. Each
asset class is actively managed by one or more external money managers with the objective of generating returns, net of management fees, that exceed market-based benchmarks. None of the plans hold any EXP
stock.
Based on our current actuarial estimates, we anticipate making contributions ranging from approximately $0.5 million to $1.0 million to our defined benefit plans for fiscal year 2021.
The fair values of our defined benefit plans’ consolidated assets by category as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:
March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands)

Equity Securities
Fixed Income Securities
Real Estate Funds
Commodity Linked Funds
Cash Equivalents
Total

$

3,470
34,579
107
—
853
39,009

$

2019

$

4,525
31,516
144
212
144
36,541

$

The fair values of our defined benefit plans’ consolidated assets were determined using the fair value hierarchy of inputs described in Footnote (A) to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The fair values by category of inputs as of March 31, 2020 were as follows:
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs (Level 2)
(dollars in thousands)

Asset Categories

Equity Securities
Fixed Income Securities
Real Estate Funds
Cash Equivalents

$

$

—
—
—
853
853

$

$

3,470
34,579
107
—
38,156

$

$

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)

—
—
—
—
—

Total

$

$

3,470
34,579
107
853
39,009

The fair values by category of inputs as of March 31, 2019 were as follows:
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs (Level 2)
(dollars in thousands)

Asset Categories

Equity Securities
Fixed Income Securities
Real Estate Funds
Commodity Linked Funds
Cash Equivalents

$

$

104

—
—
—
—
144
144

$

$

4,525
31,516
144
212
—
36,397

$

$

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)

—
—
—
—
—
—

Total

$

$

4,525
31,516
144
212
144
36,541

Equity securities consist of funds that are not actively traded. These funds are maintained by an investment manager and are primarily invested in indexes. The remaining funds, excluding cash, primarily consist of
investments in institutional funds.

Profit Sharing Plans
We also provide profit sharing plans, which cover substantially all salaried and certain hourly employees. The profit sharing plans are defined contribution plans funded by employer discretionary contributions;
employees may also contribute a certain percentage of their base annual salary. Employees are fully vested in their own contributions and become fully vested in any Company contributions over a four-year period.
Costs relating to the employer discretionary contributions for our plan totaled $8.2 million, $8.0 million, and $8.4 million in fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
Individuals who became our employees as a result of a previous transaction are provided benefits substantially comparable to those provided under the seller’s benefit plans. These plans include the seller’s 401(k)
plan which allows for employer matching percentages of hourly employees. As a result, we made matching contributions to the hourly profit sharing plan totaling $0.7 million, $0.6 million, and $0.6 million for these
employees during fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.
Approximately fifty of our employees belong to three different multi-employer plans. The collective bargaining agreements for the employees who participate in the multi-employer plans expire in February 2024 and
March 2025. Our expense related to these plans was approximately $1.7 million, $1.5 million, and $1.6 million during fiscal years 2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively. We anticipate the total expense in fiscal 2021
related to these plans will be approximately $1.8 million.

(O) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR GUARANTORS OF THE 4.500% SENIOR UNSECURED NOTES
On August 2, 2016, the Company completed a public offering of its Senior Unsecured Notes. The Senior Unsecured Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and were offered under the Company’s
existing shelf registration statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The Senior Unsecured Notes are guaranteed by all of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, and all guarantees are full and unconditional, and are joint and several. The following unaudited Condensed
Consolidating Financial Statements present separately the Earnings and Comprehensive Earnings, Balance Sheet, and Cash Flows of the parent issuer (Eagle Materials Inc.), and the guarantors (all wholly-owned
subsidiaries of Eagle Materials Inc.) on a combined basis with eliminating entries (dollars in thousands).
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Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings and
Comprehensive Earnings For the Year Ended March 31, 2020

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold
Gross Profit
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture
Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses
Impairment Losses
Other Non-Operating Income (Loss)
Interest Expense, net
Earnings before Income Taxes
Income Taxes
Net Earnings

$

Net Earnings

$

Net Actuarial Change in Benefit Plans, net of tax
Comprehensive Earnings

$

$

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings and
Comprehensive Earnings For the Year Ended March 31, 2019

—
—
—
42,585
100,225
(56,695)
—
(697)
(38,372)
47,046
23,848
70,894

$

70,894
(265)
70,629

$

$

$

$

Net Earnings

$

Net Actuarial Change in Benefit Plans, net of tax
Comprehensive Earnings

$

$

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Earnings and
Comprehensive Earnings For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

—
—
—
38,565
77,954
(31,744)
—
—
(390)
(28,325)
56,060
12,800
68,860

$

68,860
696
69,556

$

$

$

$

Net Earnings

$

Net Actuarial Change in Benefit Plans, net of tax
Comprehensive Earnings

$

106

142,810
(265)
142,545

$

$

$

—
—
—
43,419
289,950
(37,825)
(45,098)
(233)
(27,609)
222,604
34,028
256,632

$

256,632
3,384
260,016

$

$

$

Consolidated

—
—
—
(42,585)
(100,225)
—
—
—
—
(142,810)
—
(142,810)

$

(142,810)
265
(142,545)

$

$

$

Eliminations

1,393,241
1,066,673
326,568
38,565
—
(5,627)
(220,265)
(1,800)
2,802
(49)
140,194
(23,675)
116,519

$

116,519
696
117,215

$

$

$

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold
Gross Profit
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture
Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses
Legal Settlements
Other Non-Operating Income
Interest Expense, net
Earnings before Income Taxes
Income Taxes
Net Earnings

$

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

Revenue
Cost of Goods Sold
Gross Profit
Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Joint Venture
Equity in Earnings of Subsidiaries
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses
Impairment Losses
Legal Settlements
Other Non-Operating Income
Interest Expense, net
Earnings before Income Taxes
Income Taxes
Net Earnings

Eliminations

1,450,814
1,119,552
331,262
42,585
—
(8,715)
(224,267)
672
(49)
141,488
1,322
142,810

$

$

(116,519)
(696)
(117,215)

$

333,369
3,384
336,753

$

$

$

—
—
—
(43,419)
(289,950)
—
—
—
—
(333,369)
—
(333,369)
(333,369)
(3,384)
(336,753)

70,894
(265)
70,629

Consolidated

—
—
—
(38,565)
(77,954)
—
—
—
—
—
(116,519)
—
(116,519)

$

$

Eliminations

1,386,520
1,047,764
338,756
43,419
—
(3,380)
—
3,961
(29)
382,727
(49,358)
333,369

1,450,814
1,119,552
331,262
42,585
—
(65,410)
(224,267)
(25)
(38,421)
45,724
25,170
70,894

1,393,241
1,066,673
326,568
38,565
—
(37,371)
(220,265)
(1,800)
2,412
(28,374)
79,735
(10,875)
68,860
68,860
696
69,556

Consolidated

$

$

1,386,520
1,047,764
338,756
43,419
—
(41,205)
(45,098)
3,728
(27,638)
271,962
(15,330)
256,632

$

256,632
3,384
260,016

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet At March 31, 2020

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

ASSETS
Current Assets Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts and Notes Receivable
Inventories
Income Tax Receivable
Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Notes Receivable
Investment in Joint Venture
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Investments in Subsidiaries and Receivables from Affiliates
Deferred Tax Assets
Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net
Other Assets

$

$
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current LiabilitiesAccounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Operating Lease Liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term Debt
Noncurrent Operating Lease Liabilities
Other Long-term Liabilities
Payables to Affiliates
Deferred Income Taxes
Total Liabilities
Total Stockholders’ Equity

$

$

107

116,269
531
—
128,413
953
246,166
6,606
—
70
9,765
2,489,326
11,409
—
4,417
2,767,759

$

6,365
33,409
1,180
40,954
1,567,315
12,249
—
179,398
—
1,799,916
967,843
2,767,759

$

$

$

2,379
151,255
272,508
—
5,909
432,051
1,755,503
9,139
73,888
20,765
179,398
—
396,463
6,187
2,873,394

$

79,832
39,884
9,027
128,743
—
37,560
39,689
6,324,504
178,076
6,708,572
(3,835,178)
2,873,394

$

$

$

Eliminations

Consolidated

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(2,668,724)
(11,409)
—
—
(2,680,133)

118,648
151,786
272,508
128,413
6,862
678,217
1,762,109
9,139
73,958
30,530
—
—
396,463
10,604
2,961,020

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(6,503,902)
(11,409)
(6,515,311)
3,835,178
(2,680,133)

$

$

$

86,197
73,293
10,207
169,697
1,567,315
49,809
39,689
—
166,667
1,993,177
967,843
2,961,020

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet At March 31, 2019

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

ASSETS
Current Assets Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts and Notes Receivable
Inventories
Income Tax Receivable
Prepaid and Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, net
Notes Receivable
Investment in Joint Venture
Investments in Subsidiaries and Receivables from Affiliates
Goodwill and Intangible Assets, net
Other Assets

$

$
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current LiabilitiesAccounts Payable
Accrued Liabilities
Current Portion of Long-term Debt
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term Debt
Other Long-term Liabilities
Payables to Affiliates
Deferred Income Taxes
Total Liabilities
Total Stockholders’ Equity

$

$

108

5,779
437
—
5,480
1,472
13,168
7,756
—
70
2,322,335
—
4,571
2,347,900

$

5,520
22,470
36,500
64,490
655,092
3,303
406,727
8,801
1,138,413
1,209,487
2,347,900

$

$

$

Eliminations

2,822
128,285
275,194
—
8,152
414,453
1,419,183
2,898
64,803
406,726
229,115
13,146
2,550,324

$

75,364
39,479
—
114,843
—
31,189
5,730,093
81,958
5,958,083
(3,407,759)
2,550,324

$

$

$

Consolidated

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(2,729,061)
—
—
(2,729,061)

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
(6,136,820)
—
(6,136,820)
3,407,759
(2,729,061)

$

$

$

8,601
128,722
275,194
5,480
9,624
427,621
1,426,939
2,898
64,873
—
229,115
17,717
2,169,163

80,884
61,949
36,500
179,333
655,092
34,492
—
90,759
959,676
1,209,487
2,169,163

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended March 31, 2020

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
Investment in Subsidiaries
Acquisition Spending
Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant, and Equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in Revolving Credit Facility
Repayment of Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes
Issuance of Term Loan
Dividends Paid to Stockholders
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on Stock Compensation
Payment of Debt Issuance Costs
Intra-entity Activity, net
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD

$

$

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended March 31, 2019

(181,476)

$

—
(699,361)
—
400
(698,961)

(132,119)
—
(699,361)
—
(831,480)

250,000
(36,500)
665,000
(17,142)
(313,887)
3,298
(4,063)
(4,880)
449,101
990,927
110,490
5,779
116,269

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
250,260
250,260
(443)
2,822
2,379

$

$

33,997

$

(6,107)
—
(6,107)

$

109

316,287

$

$

Consolidated

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(699,361)
(699,361)
—
—
—

$

$

—

399,301
(132,119)
—
(699,361)
400
(831,080)

$

Eliminations

—
—
—
—
—
(156,511)
(156,511)
(709)
3,531
2,822

—
—
699,361
—
—
699,361.00

(162,766)
2,281
(160,485)

70,000
(18,927)
(271,988)
2,103
(4,347)
156,511
(66,648)
(38,758)
44,537
5,779

Eliminations

$

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant, and Equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in Revolving Credit Facility
Dividends Paid to Stockholders
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on
Stock Compensation
Intra-entity Activity, net
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD

580,777

250,000
(36,500)
665,000
(17,142)
(313,887)
3,298
(4,063)
(4,880)
—
541,826
110,047
8,601
118,648

Consolidated

$

350,284

—
—
—

(168,873)
2,281
(166,592)

—
—
—
—

70,000
(18,927)
(271,988)
2,103

—
—
—
—
—
—

(4,347)
—
(223,159)
(39,467)
48,068
8,601

$

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended March 31, 2018

Guarantor
Subsidiaries

Parent

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
Investment in Subsidiaries
Acquisition Spending
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Increase in Revolving Credit Facility
Repayment of Private Placement Senior Unsecured Notes
Dividends Paid to Stockholders
Purchase and Retirement of Common Stock
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises
Shares Redeemed to Settle Employee Taxes on
Stock Compensation
Intra-entity Activity, net
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF PERIOD

$

(83,947)

$

(142)
(36,761)
—
(36,903)

$

110

$

(131,815)
—
(36,761)
(168,576)

15,000
(81,214)
(19,438)
(61,078)
24,264
(4,974)
287,643
160,203
39,353
5,184
44,537

421,612

Eliminations

—
—
—
—
—

$

—
(250,882)
(250,882)
2,154
1,377
3,531

$

—

Consolidated

$

337,665

—
36,761
—
36,761

(131,957)
—
(36,761)
(168,718)

—
—
—
—
—

15,000
(81,214)
(19,438)
(61,078)
24,264

—
(36,761)
(36,761)
—
—
—

$

(4,974)
—
(127,440)
41,507
6,561
48,068

(P) QUARTERLY RESULTS (UNAUDITED)

For the Years Ended March 31,
2020
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

First Quarter Revenue
Gross Profit
Earnings Before Income Taxes
Net Earnings
Diluted Earnings Per Share
Second Quarter Revenue
Gross Profit
Earnings Before Income Taxes
Net Earnings
Diluted Earnings Per Share
Third Quarter Revenue
Gross Profit
Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Net Earnings (Loss)
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Fourth Quarter Revenue
Gross Profit
Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Net Earnings (Loss)
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share

$

$
$

$
$

$
$

$

370,597
75,329
54,861
41,304
0.94

$

414,526
104,506
94,210
71,793
1.72

$

350,249
87,514
(148,565)
(114,632)
(2.77)

$

315,442
63,913
45,218
72,429
1.74

$

$

$

$

$

2019

393,756
91,634
85,021
66,339
1.38
381,499
97,931
91,793
72,603
1.53
333,285
80,421
74,518
57,715
1.24
284,701
56,582
(171,597)
(127,797)
(2.82)

The third quarter of fiscal 2020 included a pre-tax impairment loss of approximately $224.3 million related to the Oil and Gas Proppants segment. See Footnote (A) for more information.
The fourth quarter of fiscal 2020 included costs that were not incurred in the prior year. These pre-tax costs related to business development and separation costs of approximately $6.5 million, outage and
purchase accounting costs at Kosmos Cement Company of approximately $6.8 million, and plant expansion costs at our recycled paper mill of approximately $3.0 million. The outage and purchase accounting
costs and expansion costs are included in Cost of Goods Sold, while the business development and separation costs are included in Corporate, General and Administrative Expense on our Consolidated Statement
of Earnings. The Company also recorded a $31.7 million net income tax benefit related to the CARES Act during the fourth quarter. See Footnote (J) for more information about the CARES Act.
The fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 included a pre-tax impairment loss of approximately $220.3 million related to the Oil and Gas Proppants segment. See Footnote (A) for more information.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of earnings,
comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at March 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020,
based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated May 22, 2020
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting
firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and
performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that:
(1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not
alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or
on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Accounting for Acquisitions
DescriptionDuring the current period audit, the Company completed its acquisition of Kosmos Cement
of the
Company for net consideration of $669 million, as disclosed in Note B to the consolidated
Matter
financial statements. The transaction was accounted for as a business combination.
Auditing the Company's accounting for its acquisition of Kosmos Cement Company was
complex due to the significant estimation uncertainty in the Company’s determination of the
fair value of the acquired property, plant and equipment (PP&E) of $477 million, as well as
identified intangible assets of $36 million, which primarily consisted of customer relationship
assets. The significant estimation uncertainty was primarily due to the sensitivity of the fair
values to changes in the underlying assumptions of estimated replacement cost and
effective age of the PP&E. The Company utilized a discounted cash flow model to
measure the identified intangible assets. The significant assumptions used to estimate the
value of the intangible assets included the discount rate, customer attrition rate, and certain
assumptions that form the basis of the forecasted results (i.e., revenue growth rates and
EBITDA margin).
How We We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating
Addressed effectiveness of controls over the Company’s accounting for acquisitions. Our tests
the Matter included controls over the estimation process supporting the fair value of the PP&E,
in Our
intangible assets and consideration transferred. We also tested management’s review and
Audit
evaluation of the significant assumptions used in determining the estimated replacement
cost and effective age of the PP&E and the discounted cash flow model used to estimate
the value of the intangible assets.
To test the estimated fair value of the PP&E and intangible assets, we performed audit
procedures assisted by our valuation specialists that included, among others, evaluating
the Company’s selection of the valuation methodologies, evaluating the significant
assumptions used by the Company’s management, and evaluating the completeness and
accuracy of the underlying data supporting the significant assumptions and estimates. For
example, we compared the significant assumptions to current industry, market, and
economic trends, to the assumptions used to value similar assets in other acquisitions, to
the historical results of the acquired business and to other guidelines used by companies
within the same industry.
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Materials-in-Progress inventory existence
DescriptionAs described in Note A, the Company’s raw materials and materials-in-progress inventory
of the
balance was $111 million at March 31, 2020. Materials-in-progress inventory is comprised
Matter
of clinker, which is an intermediary product before it is ground into cement powder. Due to
the nature of the materials-in-progress inventory, the Company utilizes technology to
measure the volume of the inventory stockpiles and applies density factors to convert the
measurements to tons of inventory.
Auditing management’s process for measuring materials-in-progress inventory was
complex as auditor judgement was necessary to evaluate the Company’s process for
measuring the inventory, given the technology utilized, and converting the measurements
to tonnage.
How We We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating
Addressed effectiveness of controls over the Company’s process of determining the existence of
the Matter materials-in-progress inventory.
in Our
To test the existence of materials-in-progress inventory, we performed audit procedures,
Audit
assisted by specialists, that included, among others, obtaining inventory measurements
performed by third parties, observing management’s inspection and measurement of
inventory, testing the measurement techniques of the inventory stockpiles, testing the
underlying calculations of the measurements in the conversion calculations utilizing density
factors, and evaluating the appropriateness of the density factors utilized in the calculations
as compared to industry information.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
Dallas, Texas
May 22, 2020

114

TEXAS LEHIGH CEMENT COMPANY LP STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
2019

Net sales
Cost of goods sold
Gross margin
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Operating income
Other income
Equity in earnings of joint venture
Interest expense
Texas margin tax
Net income

$

$

See notes to financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2018
(dollars in thousands, except share and per share data)

222,830
132,951
89,879
5,048
84,831
161
—
—
(744)
84,248

$

$

205,565
121,394
84,171
5,814
78,357
616
1
(50)
(632)
78,292

2017

$

$

212,150
119,003
93,147
5,063
88,084
1,133
—
(114)
(665)
88,438

TEXAS LEHIGH CEMENT COMPANY LP STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS
Year ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(dollars in thousands)

Net Income
Net actuarial gains (losses) of defined benefit plans:
Unrealized gain (loss) during the period
Amortization of net actuarial loss
Comprehensive Income

See notes to financial statements.
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$

84,248

$

(1,052)
212
83,408

$

78,292

$

749
331
79,372

$

88,438

$

(670)
294
88,062

TEXAS LEHIGH CEMENT COMPANY LP BALANCE SHEETS
December 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Accounts and Notes Receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts and discounts of $382 and $196
Inventories:
Cement
Raw materials and materials-in-process
Repair parts and supplied
Total inventories
Prepaid assets
Total current assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment:
Land, including quarry
Cement plant
Mobile equipment and other
Furniture and fixtures
Construction-in-process
Total property, plant and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation and depletion
Property, plant and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Investment in joint venture
Total assets

$

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Operating lease obligation - ST
Due to affiliates
Total Current Liabilities
Pension and other long term liabilities
Operating lease obligation - LT
Commitments and contingencies
Partners’ capital:
General Partners' Capital
TLCC GP LLC
Lehigh Portland Holdings, LLC
Limited Partners' Capital:
TLCC GP LLC
Lehigh Portland Holdings, LLC
Total partners' capital
Total liabilities and partners' capital

$

$

See notes to financial statements.
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5,737
33,337

$

2018

370
28,909

4,562
14,372
21,028
39,962
1,083
80,119

4,600
14,263
21,964
40,827
1,290
71,396

25,586
133,741
7,632
933
16,102
183,994
(120,243)
63,751
6,428
18,052
168,350

25,593
129,280
6,787
712
6,644
169,016
(117,306)
51,710
—
18,052
141,158

11,467
6,093
1,408
223
19,191
4,297
4,866
—

$

$

9,522
6,151
—
279
15,952
4,118
—
—

140
140

121
121

69,858
69,858
139,996
168,350

60,423
60,423
121,088
141,158

$

TEXAS LEHIGH CEMENT COMPANY LP STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
General Partners' Capital

Limited Partners' Capital

Lehigh Portland
Holdings, LLC

TLCC GP LLC

Lehigh Portland
Holdings, LLC

TLCC GP LLC

Total

(dollars in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2016
Net income for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Distribution of earnings
Balance at December 31, 2017
Net income for the year
Other comprehensive gain
Distribution of earnings
Balance at December 31, 2018
Net income for the year
Other comprehensive loss
Distribution of earnings
Balance at December 31, 2019

$

91
89
—
(73)
107
78
1
(65)
121
84
(1)
(64)
140

$

$

$

See notes to financial statements.
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$

$

$

$

91
89
—
(73)
107
78
1
(65)
121
84
(1)
(64)
140

$

$

$

$

45,736
44,130
(188)
(36,427)
53,251
39,068
539
(32,435)
60,423
42,040
(419)
(32,186)
69,858

$

$

$

$

45,736
44,130
(188)
(36,427)
53,251
39,068
539
(32,435)
60,423
42,040
(419)
(32,186)
69,858

$

$

$

$

91,654
88,438
(376)
(73,000)
106,716
78,292
1,080
(65,000)
121,088
84,248
(840)
(64,500)
139,996

TEXAS LEHIGH CEMENT COMPANY LP STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(dollars in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
by operating activities:
Depreciation and depletion
Gain on sale of equipment
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated joint venture
Changes in current assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities and due to affiliates
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to Property, Plant, and Equipment
Proceeds from Sales of Property, Plant, and Equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from line of credit
Payments on line of credit
Distribution of earnings
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF PERIOD
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD

$

$

See notes to financial statements.
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84,248

$

78,292

$

88,438

3,009
(42)
—

2,842
(22)
(1)

2,788
(11)
—

(4,428)
865
207
1,944
(928)
84,875

(3,753)
(409)
24
3,365
285
80,623

4,509
(2,184)
(62)
408
(638)
93,248

(15,057)
49
(15,008)

(5,768)
22
(5,746)

(30,133)
11
(30,122)

—
—
(64,500)
(64,500)
5,367
370
5,737

—
(10,000)
(65,000)
(75,000)
(123)
493
370

20,000
(10,000)
(73,000)
(63,000)
126
367
493

$

$

Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(dollars in thousands)

(A) ORGANIZATION
Texas Lehigh Cement Company (“Texas Lehigh” or the “Company”), a Texas general partnership, was formed June 27, 1986 to operate a cement plant near Austin, Texas. Texas Lehigh was a fifty-fifty joint venture
between Texas Cement Company (“TCC”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Eagle Materials, Inc. (“EXP”, formerly known as Centex Construction Products, Inc.), and Lehigh Portland Cement Company (“Lehigh”). On
October 1, 2000, the existing Texas general partnership was converted to a Texas limited partnership. Subsequent to the limited partnership formation, TCC and Lehigh each contributed a 0.1% interest to a general
partner, TLCC GP LLC and Lehigh Portland Holdings, LLC, and a 49.9% interest to a limited partner, TLCC LP LLC and Lehigh Portland Investments, LLC. The conversion and subsequent contributions were done
to afford the former partners additional liability protection. Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP continues to do business as “Texas Lehigh Cement Company”.
TCC’s initial capital contribution consisted of a cement plant and related real property located in Buda, Texas; four distribution terminals; various operating agreements, licenses, and excavation rights; and net
working capital as specified in the joint venture agreement. Lehigh’s initial capital contribution consisted of a distribution terminal and related operating agreements, licenses, inventory, and cash.
In September 2006, Texas Lehigh paid $24.5 million for a 15% interest in Houston Cement Company (“HCC”), a joint venture. HCC operates two terminals in Houston, Texas. Under the terms of the joint venture
agreement, Texas Lehigh is entitled to sell up to 495 thousand short tons from the terminals each year. Due to a number of factors, namely the shared risks and rights under the joint venture agreement, Texas
Lehigh accounts for its investment in HCC using the equity method.
We evaluated all events or transactions that occurred after December 31, 2019 up through March 25, 2020, the date we issued these financial statements. During this period, we did not have any material
recognizable subsequent events.

(B) PRODUCTS AND MARKETS
Texas Lehigh is a cement company engaged in the production, distribution, and sale of Portland cement, which is the essential binding ingredient in concrete. Texas Lehigh services the construction and oil and
gas extraction industries in the Texas region through our manufacturing facility in Buda, Texas and our distribution terminals in Waco, Roanoke, Corpus Christi, and Houston. Texas Lehigh also owns a minority
interest in Houston Cement Company through which we provide cement to the Houston market.
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(C) RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
Recently Adopted
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases,” which supersedes existing lease guidance to require lessees to recognize assets and liabilities on the balance
sheet for the rights and obligations created by long-term leases and to disclose additional quantitative and qualitative information about leasing arrangements. We adopted the standard on January 1, 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. We also elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which, among other things, allowed us to maintain the historic lease classification
for leases in effect at the date of adoption, and to not separate lease components from nonlease components for all leases in effect at the date of adoption. Upon adoption, we recorded a right-of-use asset of
approximately $8.1 million, and operating lease liabilities of approximately $8.0 million. See Footnote (H) for more information.
Pending Adoption
In June 2016, the FASB issued an update on the measurement of credit losses on financial instruments, which requires entities to use a forward-looking approach based on expected losses rather than the current
model of incurred losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including Accounts and Notes Receivable. The application of the forward-looking model may result in earlier recognition of
allowances for losses than the current method. This guidance becomes effective for us on January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted. We are currently assessing the impact of the new standard, but we do not
expect the adoption will have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements and disclosures.

(D) SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Cash and Cash EquivalentsCash and cash equivalents include investments with original maturities of three months or less. The carrying amount approximates fair value due to the short maturity of those investments.
InventoriesInventories are valued at the lower of average cost or net realizable value. Cement and materials-in-process include materials, labor, and manufacturing overhead.
Concentration of Risk One customer accounted for 12.4%, 13.0% and 9.7% of cement sales in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, and 7.6% and 7.5% of accounts receivable at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. No other
customer accounted for more than 10% of cement sales during the three years presented.
Property, Plant, and Equipment Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost. Texas Lehigh’s policy is to capitalize renewals and betterments and to expense repairs and maintenance when incurred. The cost and related accumulated
depreciation of assets sold or retired are removed from the financial statements, and any gain or loss is recorded in other income (expense) on the statement of earnings. Texas Lehigh periodically evaluates
whether current events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of its depreciable assets may not be recoverable. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, management believes no events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
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Depreciation and DepletionDepreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, which are as follows:
Cement plant
Mobile equipment and other

5 to 30 years
2 to 10 years

Raw material deposits are depleted as such deposits are extracted for production utilizing the units-of-production method.
Revenue Recognition Texas Lehigh earns revenue primarily from the sale of cement to third-party contractors and suppliers. Customers are invoiced upon shipment. Revenue from the sale of cement that is not related to long-term
supply agreements is recognized upon shipment to the customer, which is when title and ownership are transferred and the customer is obligated to pay.
Revenue from sales under long-term supply agreements is also recognized upon transfer of control to the customer, which generally occurs at the time the product is shipped from the production or distribution
facility.
Federal Income Taxes No federal income taxes are payable by Texas Lehigh, and none have been provided for in the accompanying financial statements. The partners include their respective share of Company income or loss in their
tax returns. Texas Lehigh is subject to Texas margin tax on its gross margin earned in Texas.
Texas Lehigh’s tax return and the amount of allocable Company income or losses are subject to examination by federal and state taxing authorities. If such examinations result in changes to Company income or
losses, the tax liability of the partners could be changed accordingly. No such examinations are presently in process.
Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs Texas Lehigh classifies its freight revenue as sales and freight cost as cost of goods sold. Freight costs of $14.8 million, $12.7 million, and $7.1 million were included in cost of goods sold in 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. The Company has elected to treat freight and delivery charges paid for the delivery of goods to our customers as a fulfilment activity rather than a separate performance obligation.
Use of EstimatesThe preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss As of December 31, 2019, Texas Lehigh has an accumulated comprehensive loss of $3.7 million in connection with recognizing the difference between the fair value of the pension assets and the projected benefit
obligation. This amount is excluded from earnings and reported as a component of partners’ capital.
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Fair Value MeasuresCertain assets are required to be recorded at fair value. The estimated fair values of those assets and liabilities have been determined using market information and valuation methodologies. Changes in
assumptions or estimation methods could affect the fair value estimates. However, we do not believe any such changes would have a material impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
There are three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets;
Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or
can be corroborated by observable market data; and
Level 3 – Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash
flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

(E) CASH FLOW INFORMATION - SUPPLEMENTAL
Cash payments made for interest were $0, $0.1 million, and $0.1 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

(F) PURCHASED CEMENT
Texas Lehigh purchases cement for resale primarily in the Houston, Texas market. Sales of purchased cement were $61.0 million, $49.3 million, and $58.4 million, and cost of sales was $41.7 million, $33.3 million,
and $39.8 million for 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

(G) ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2019 and 2018 consist of the following:
Year ended December 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

Payroll and incentive compensation
Benefits and insurance
Property taxes
Other

$

$

2,154
548
2,462
929
6,093

$

$

2018

2,299
550
2,568
734
6,151

(H) LEASES
We lease certain real estate and equipment, including rail cars. Certain of these leases contain escalations of rent over the term of the lease, as well as options for us to extend the term of the lease at the end of
the original term. These extensions are generally for five-year periods. Our lease agreements do not contain material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants. In calculating the present value of
future minimum lease payments, we use the rate implicit in the lease if it can be determined. Otherwise, we use our incremental borrowing rate in effect at the commencement of the lease to determine the present
value of the future minimum lease payments. Additionally, we lease certain equipment under short-term leases with initial terms of less than twelve months. These short-term equipment leases are not recorded on
the balance sheet.
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Lease expense for our operating and short-term leases is as follows:
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(dollars in thousands)

Operating Lease Cost
Short-term Lease Cost
Total Lease Cost

$
$

1,933
156
2,089

Operating Cash Flows used for Operating Leases

$

1,917

The Right-of-Use Assets and Lease Liabilities are reflected on our Balance Sheet as follows:
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(dollars in thousands)

Operating Leases:
Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets
Current Operating Lease Liabilities
Noncurrent Operating Lease Liabilities

$

6,428

$

1,408
4,866
6,274

$

Total Operating Lease Liabilities

Future payments for operating leases are as follows:
Amount
(dollars in thousands)

For the Year Ended December 31,

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter
Total Lease Payments
Less: Imputed Interest

$

Present Value of Lease Liabilities

$

$

Weighted-Average Remaining Lease Term (in years)
Weighted-Average Discount Rate

1,806
542
379
379
379
4,740
8,225
(1,951)
6,274
15.1
3.75%

(I) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Texas Lehigh is involved in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of its business. Management does not believe any of these actions, either individually or in the aggregate, requires accrual or
disclosure at December 31, 2019.

(J) PENSION AND PROFIT SHARING PLANS
Texas Lehigh provides a profit sharing plan, a defined contribution plan (“401(k) plan”) and a noncontributory defined benefit pension plan, which together covers substantially all employees and provides specified
benefits to qualified employees. Texas Lehigh is not a party to any multi-employer pension plan. Benefits paid under the defined benefit plan cover hourly employees and are based on years of service and the
employee’s highest qualifying compensation over any five-year period of employment. Texas Lehigh’s funding policy is to contribute the legally required minimum amounts with the discretion to contribute additional
amounts from time to time.
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The annual measurement date is December 31 for the benefit obligations, fair value of plan assets and the funded status of the defined benefit plan.
The following table provides a reconciliation of the defined benefit pension plan obligation and fair value of plan assets over the two-year period ended December 31, 2019 and a statement of the funded status as
of December 31, 2019 and 2018:
Year ended December 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

Reconciliation of Benefit Obligations Benefit obligation at January 1,
Service Cost
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation
Actuarial loss (gain)
Benefits paid
Benefit obligation at December 31,
Reconciliation of Fair Value of Plan Assets Fair value of plan assets at January 1
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at December 31
Unfunded status at December 31

$

$
$

$

10,256
219
453
1,794
(301)
12,421

$

7,798
1,193
522
(301)
9,212
(3,209)

$

11,668
305
409
(1,870)
(256)
10,256

$

8,035
(521)
540
(256)
7,798
(2,458)

$

December 31,
2019
Amounts Recognized in the Balance Sheet Consist of
Accrued Benefit Liability
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss:
Net Actuarial Loss
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Losses, net of tax

2018

2018

$

(3,209)

$

(2,458)

$

3,706
3,706

$

2,866
2,866

Information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:
December 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

Projected Benefit Obligation
Accumulated Benefit Obligation
Fair Value of Plan Assets

$
$
$

12,421
12,421
9,212

2018

$
$
$

10,256
10,256
7,798

Net periodic pension cost for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 included the following components:
Year ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(dollar in thousands)

Service cost - benefits earned during the period
Interest cost of projected benefit obligation
Expected return on plan assets
Recognized net actuarial loss
Net Periodic Pension Cost

$

$

125

219
453
(451)
212
433

$

$

305
409
(609)
331
436

$

$

263
414
(518)
294
453

Expected benefit payments over the next five years, and the following five years under the pension plan are expected to be as follows:

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025-2029

$
$
$
$
$
$

353
405
418
472
473
2,884

The following table sets forth the rates used in the actuarial calculations of the present value of benefit obligations and the rate of return on plan assets:
Year ended December 31,

Assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at the annual measurement date were:
Obligation discount rate
Compensation incresae rate
Assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit costs were:
Discount Rate
Expected Return on Plan Assets
Rate of Compensation Increase

2019

2018

2017

3.47%
3.00%

4.55%
3.00%

3.54%
4.00%

4.55%
5.75%
3.00%

3.54%
7.50%
4.00%

4.09%
7.50%
4.00%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets is an assumption reflecting the anticipated weighted-average rate of earnings on the portfolio over the long-term. To arrive at this rate, Texas Lehigh developed
estimates of the key components underlying capital asset returns including: market-based estimates of inflation, real risk-free rates of return, yield curve structure, credit risk premiums and equity risk premiums. As
appropriate, these components were used to develop benchmark estimates of expected long-term rates of return for each asset class, which were portfolio weighted.
The pension plan weighted-average asset allocation at December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the range of target follows:
Percentage of Plan
Assets at Year-End
Range of
Target Allocation

Asset Category Equity Securities
Debt Securities
Other
Total

40 – 60%
35 – 65%
0 – 5%

2019

2018

50%
47%
3%
100%

50%
47%
3%
100%

Texas Lehigh’s pension investment strategies have been developed as part of a comprehensive asset/liability management process that considers the interaction between both the assets and liabilities of the plan.
These strategies consider not only the expected risks and returns on plan assets, but also the detailed actuarial projections of liabilities as well as plan-level objectives such as projected contributions, expense and
funded status.
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The principal pension investment strategies include asset allocation and active asset management. The range of target asset allocations have been determined after giving consideration to the expected returns of
each asset class, the expected variability or volatility of the asset class returns over time, and the complementary nature or correlation of the asset classes within the portfolio. Texas Lehigh also employs an active
management approach for the portfolio. Each asset class is managed by one or more external money managers with the objective of generating returns, net of management fees that exceed market-based
benchmarks.
Based on current actuarial estimates, Texas Lehigh anticipates making contributions of approximately $0.3 million to the pension plan during 2020.
The fair values of our defined benefit plans consolidated assets by category as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows:
December 31,
2019
(dollars in thousands)

Equity Securities
Fixed Income Securities
Cash Equivalents
Total

$

4,679
4,293
240
9,212

$

2018

$

3,873
3,657
268
7,798

$

The fair values of our defined benefit plans consolidated assets were determined using the fair value hierarchy of inputs described in Note D. The fair values by category of inputs were as follows:
December 31, 2019
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs (Level 2)
(dollars in thousands)

Asset Categories

Equity Securities (a)
Fixed Income Securities (a)
Cash Equivalents (a)

$

$

705
1,076
240
2,021

$

$

3,974
3,217
—
7,191

$

$

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)

—
—
—
—

Total

$

$

4,679
4,293
240
9,212

December 31, 2018
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
for Identical
Assets (Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable
Inputs (Level 2)
(dollars in thousands)

Asset Categories

Equity Securities (a)
Fixed Income Securities (a)
Cash Equivalents (a)

$

$

(a)

614
916
268
1,798

$

$

3,259
2,741
—
6,000

$

$

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs (Level 3)

—
—
—
—

Total

$

$

Level 2 assets are maintained by an investment manager and consist of collective funds that are not actively traded.

Texas Lehigh also provides a profit sharing plan, which covers substantially all salaried employees, and a 401(k) plan, which covers substantially all employees. Texas Lehigh matches employees’ 401(k)
contributions up to 4% of employees’ salaries. Texas Lehigh’s contributions to the profit sharing and 401(k) plans were $0.8 million, $0.7 million, and $0.7 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.
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3,873
3,657
268
7,798

(K) CREDIT FACILITY
Texas Lehigh has a $25.0 million revolving credit facility (the “Credit Facility”), which terminates on July 20, 2020. Borrowings under the Credit Facility are guaranteed by an irrevocable stand-by letter of credit on
the account of EXP. At the option of Texas Lehigh, outstanding principal amounts on the Credit Facility bear interest at a variable rate equal to (i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) for the selected
period plus an applicable rate of 35 basis points or (ii) an alternative base rate which is the higher of (a) the prime rate, (b) the federal funds rate plus ½% per annum, or (c) LIBOR plus 1% per annum. Interest
payments are payable, in the case of loans bearing interest at a rate based on the federal funds rate, quarterly, or in the case of loans bearing interest at a rate based on LIBOR, at the end of the applicable interest
period. There were no borrowings under our Credit Facility during 2019.

(L) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values at December 31, 2019 due to the short-term maturities of these assets
and liabilities.

(M) RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Texas Lehigh had sales to affiliates of $28.9 million, $30.8 million, and $28.3 million in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, of which $6.5 million and $4.9 million is included in trade accounts receivable at
December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Texas Lehigh purchased $29.8 million, $28.4 million, and $21.3 million of cement from HCC in 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively, $1.0 million of slag from Skyway
Cement Company in 2019, and $0.3 million of cement from Central Plains Cement Company in 2017. Texas Lehigh accrued $0.2 million and $2.3 million for purchased cement and slag received from these
affiliates but not paid for at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Texas Lehigh reimburses EXP for certain expenses paid by EXP on Texas Lehigh’s behalf. Total payments made to EXP for reimbursement of expenses were $3.7 million, $3.4 million, and $4.0 million during 2019,
2018, and 2017, respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, Texas Lehigh had accrued liabilities of $0.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively, for the reimbursement of expenses paid by EXP.
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Report of Independent Auditors

The Management Committee Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP:
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP, which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related statements of earnings,
comprehensive earnings, changes in partners’ capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 26, 2020

129

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9a. Controls and Procedures
EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
We have established a system of disclosure controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC. Such information is also accumulated and communicated to management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e)) was performed as of the end of the period covered by this annual report. This evaluation was performed under the supervision and
with the participation of management, including our CEO and CFO. Based upon that evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that these disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
There were no changes that occurred during our last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). We acquired certain assets of Kosmos Cement Company (the “Acquired Assets”) on March 6, 2020. We excluded
from our evaluation the assessment of the internal controls over financial reporting of the Acquired Assets. The results of operations of the Acquired Assets since the acquisition date are included in the March 31,
2020 consolidated financial statements of Eagle and constituted approximately 23 percent of total assets as of March 31, 2020, and less than 1 percent of revenue for the year then ended. See Note (B) to the
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this annual report for a discussion of this acquisition. Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, our
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2020. The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, has been audited
by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Eagle Materials Inc. and Subsidiaries (the Company) maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on the COSO criteria.
As indicated in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did
not include the internal controls of the acquired assets of Kosmos Cement Company, which is included in the 2020 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted 23% of total assets as of March
31, 2020 and less than 1% of revenues for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting
of the acquired assets of Kosmos Cement Company.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of March 31, 2020 and
2019, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended March 31, 2020, and the related notes, and our
report dated May 22, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the
Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
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of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Dallas, Texas
May 22, 2020

ITEM 9b. Other Information
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Except for the information below regarding our code of ethics, the information called for by Items 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the information included and referenced under the
following captions in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Company’s August 5, 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the 2020 EXP Proxy Statement):
Items
10
10
10
10
11
11
11
12
13
13
14

Caption in the 2020 EXP Proxy Statement
Executive Officers who are not Directors
Election of Directors and Related Matters Stock Ownership-Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting
Compliance
Stock Ownership – Code of Conduct
Executive Compensation
Compensation Discussion and Analysis
Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control
Stock Ownership
Stock Ownership – Related Party Transactions
Election of Directors and Related Matters
Relationship with Independent Public Accountants

CODE OF ETHICS
The policies comprising the Company’s code of ethics (The Eagle Way – A Guide to Decision-Making on Business Conduct Issues) will represent the code of ethics for the principal executive officer, principal
financial officer, and principal accounting officer under SEC rules, as well as the code of business conduct and ethics for directors, officers, and employees under NYSE listing standards. The code of ethics is
published on the corporate governance section of the Company’s website at www.eaglematerials.com.
Although the Company does not anticipate that any waivers of the code of ethics will be granted, should a waiver occur for the principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer, or
controller, it will be promptly disclosed on our website. Also, any amendments of the code will be promptly posted on our website.

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation
See Item 10.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
See Item 10.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN
The following table shows the number of outstanding options and shares available for future issuance of options under the Company’s equity compensation plans as of March 31, 2020. Our equity compensation
plans have been approved by the Company’s stockholders.

Plan Category

Incentive Plan

Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders
Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders

2013

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
See Item 10.

ITEM 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services
See Item 10.
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Number of
securities to
be issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options,
warrants, and
rights

1,161,091
—
1,161,091

$
$

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants, and
rights

Number of
securities
remaining
for future
issuance
under equity
compensation
plans excluding
securities
reflected in
column

80.36
—
80.36

3,755,871
—
3,755,871

PART IV
ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
A.

The following documents are filed as part of this Report:
1.

Financial Statements
Reference is made to the Index to Financial Statements under Item 8 in Part II hereof, where these documents are listed.

2.

Schedules
Schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or not required, or the information required to be set forth therein is included in the consolidated financial statements referenced above in section
(a) (1) of this Item 15.

3.

Exhibits
The information on exhibits required by this Item 15 is set forth in the Eagle Materials Inc. Index to Exhibits appearing on pages 136-141 of this Report.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS
EAGLE MATERIALS INC.
AND SUBSIDIARIES
EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBITS

2.1

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 4, 2003, among Centex Corporation, Centex Construction Products, Inc. (now known as Eagle Materials Inc.), and ARG Merger
Corporation filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the Commission) on November 12, 2003 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated
herein by reference.

2.2

Amended and Restated Distribution Agreement dated as of November 4, 2003 between Centex Corporation and Centex Construction Products, Inc. (now known as Eagle Materials Inc.) filed as Exhibit 2.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Commission on November 12, 2003 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 11, 2006 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

3.2

Restated Certificate of Designation, Preferences and Rights of Series A Preferred Stock filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 11, 2006 (File No. 00112984) and incorporated herein by reference.

3.3

Amended and Restated Bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2007, filed with the Commission on May 29, 2007 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference.

3.4

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on November 24, 2008 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

3.5

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on February 3, 2012 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

3.6

Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 7, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of October 30, 2014 among Eagle Materials Inc., the Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as Administrative Agent, and the other Lenders
party thereto, filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the Commission on November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated
herein by reference.

4.1(a)

Amendment No. 1 to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among the Company, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and the other Lenders party thereto dated August 10, 2015,
filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the Commission on October 27, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1(b)

Amendment No. 2 to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of August 2, 2016, among the Company, the lenders identified therein, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the administrative agent,
issuing bank, and swingline lender thereunder, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 2, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference.

4.1(c)

Amendment No. 3 to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, by and among Eagle Materials Inc., as Borrower, the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
as the Administrative Agent, Issuing Bank and Swingline Lender thereunder, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 20, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference.
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4.1(d)

Amendment No. 4 to Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of April 9, 2020, by and among Eagle Materials Inc., as Borrower, the Lenders party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the
Administrative Agent, Issuing Bank and Swingline Lender thereunder, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 13, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein
by reference.

4.2

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, among Eagle Materials Inc., the Lenders party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, Bank of America, N.A.,
PNC Bank, National Association, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., and Truist Bank, as Co-Syndication Agents, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as Joint Bookrunners and Joint Lead
Arrangers, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on December 20, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.2(a)

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 9, 2020, among Eagle Materials Inc., as the Borrower, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, filed as Exhibit
10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on April 13, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.3

Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2007, among the Company and the purchasers named therein filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
October 3, 2007 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.3(a)

First Amendment to Note Purchase Agreement (Series 2007A) dated September 26, 2012 filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K/A filed with the Commission on September 27, 2012 (File No. 00112984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.4

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 2, 2016, among Eagle Materials Inc., the guarantor parties identified therein, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., filed as Exhibit 4.2 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 2, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

4.5

Form of 4.500% Senior Notes due 2026 filed as Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 2, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.1

Limited Partnership Agreement of Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP by and between Texas Cement Company and Lehigh Portland Cement Company effective as of October 1, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001, filed with the Commission on June 27, 2001 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.1(a)

Amendment No. 1 to Agreement of Limited Partnership by and among Texas Cement Company; TLCC LP LLC; TLCC GP LLC; Lehigh Portland Cement Company; Lehigh Portland Investments, LLC; and Lehigh
Portland Holdings, LLC effective as of October 2, 2000, filed as Exhibit 10.2(a) to the 2001 Form 10-K (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.2

The Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit A to the Company’s Schedule 14A filed with the Commission on June 21, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by
reference. (1)

10.2(a)

Amendment to Amended and Restated Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission on July 28, 2017 (File No.
001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.3

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on August 1, 2006 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.4

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement, filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, filed with the Commission on August 8, 2008 (File No. 001-12984)
and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.5

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with the Commission on August
6, 2010 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.5(a)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2010, filed with the Commission on August 6, 2010 (File No. 001-12984)
and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.6

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011, filed with the Commission on
November 4, 2011 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.6(a)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2011, filed with the
Commission on November 4, 2011 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.7

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, filed with the Commission on
November 8, 2012 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.7(a)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, filed with the
Commission on November 8, 2012 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.7(b)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, filed with the Commission on
November 8, 2012 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.8

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the Commission on
November 7, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.8(a)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the
Commission on November 7, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.8(b)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2013, filed with the Commission on
November 7, 2013 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.9

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the Commission on
November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.9(a)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the
Commission on November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.9(b)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014, filed with the Commission on
November 5, 2014 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.10

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2015, filed with the Commission on August
4, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.10(a)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the
Commission on October 27, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.10(b)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2015, filed with the Commission on
October 27, 2015 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the
Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11(a)

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the Commission on
October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.11(b)

Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with
the Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11(c)

Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the
Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11(d)

Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the
Commission on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.11(e)

Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016, filed with the Commission
on October 24, 2016 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017, filed with the
Commission on October 25, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(a)

Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(b)

Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the
Commission on July 28, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(c)

Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission
on July 28, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(d)

Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, filed with the Commission on July
28, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(e)

Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, filed with the
Commission on July 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(f)

Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, filed with the
Commission on July 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(g)

Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, filed with the Commission
on July 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(h)

Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2018, filed with the Commission on July
30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(i)

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Employee Directors filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018, filed with the
Commission on October 30, 2018 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.12(j)

The Eagle Materials Inc. Retirement Plan filed as Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Form S-8 POS, filed with the Commission on January 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.14

The Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000, filed with the
Commission on June 21, 2000 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.14(a)

First Amendment to the Eagle Materials Inc. Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, dated as of May 11, 2004, filed as Exhibit 10.4(a) to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended March 31, 2006, filed with the Commission on June 2, 2006 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.15

Trademark License and Name Domain Agreement dated January 30, 2004, between the Company and Centex Corporation, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended March 31, 2004, filed with the Commission on June 14, 2004 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.16

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and each of its directors filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2004, filed with the
Commission on June 14, 2004 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.17

Eagle Materials Inc. Director Compensation Summary filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019, filed with the Commission on October 31,
2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.18

Eagle Materials Inc. Salaried Incentive Compensation Program for Fiscal Year 2020 filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 17, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and
incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.19

Eagle Materials Inc. Special Situation Program for Fiscal Year 2020 filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on May 17, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein
by reference. (1)

10.20

Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials Inc. and Michael R. Haack, filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.21

Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials Inc. and D. Craig Kesler, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.22

Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials Inc. and Robert S. Stewart, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.23

Change in Control Continuity Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials Inc. and James H. Graass, filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on
June 25, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.24

Advisory Agreement, dated as of June 20, 2019, by and between Eagle Materials Inc. and David B. Powers, filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on June 25, 2019 (File
No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.25

Form of Performance Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.26

Form of Time Vesting Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.27

Form of Performance Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the
Commission on July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)
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10.28

Form of Time Vesting Restricted Stock Agreement for Senior Executives, filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the Commission on
July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.29

Eagle Materials Inc. Employee Severance Plan and Summary Plan Description, filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2019, filed with the Commission
on July 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.30

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Employee Directors, filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019, filed with the Commission on
October 31, 2019 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference. (1)

10.31

Asset Purchase Agreement between Eagle Materials Inc. and Kosmos Cement Company, dated as of November 25, 2019, filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended December
31, 2019, filed with the Commission on February 2, 2020 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

10.32*

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among CCP Concrete/Aggregates LLC, Eagle Materials Inc., Hammonton Farms, LLC and Teichert, Inc. dated as of April 17, 2020.

10.33

Settlement Agreement filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the Commission on December 29, 2017 (File No. 001-12984) and incorporated herein by reference.

21*

Subsidiaries of the Company.

23.1*

Consent of Registered Independent Public Accounting Firm – Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1*

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of Eagle Materials Inc. pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT
This MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of April 17, 2020, is among CCP Concrete/Aggregates LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“Seller”), Eagle Materials Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Eagle Materials”), Hammonton Farms, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Hammonton Farms”), and
Teichert, Inc., a California corporation (“Teichert” and, together with Hammonton Farms, “Buyer”). Each of Seller, Hammonton Farms, Eagle Materials and Teichert may be referred to in this
Agreement as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.”
WHEREAS, Seller is the lawful owner of all of the issued and outstanding limited liability company membership interests (the “Interests”) of each of Western Aggregates LLC, a
Nevada limited liability company (“Western”), and Mathews Readymix LLC, a California limited liability company (“Mathews” and, together with Western, the “Companies”); and
WHEREAS, (i) Seller desires to sell, and Hammonton Farms desires to purchase, the Interests of Western, and (ii) Seller desires to sell, and Teichert desires to purchase, the
Interests of Mathews, in each case on the terms set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements hereinafter contained, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the Parties
hereby agree as follows:
ARTICLE I – DEFINITIONS
Certain Definitions
. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified in this Section 1.1:
“Acquired Companies” means the Companies and any of their Subsidiaries.
“Acquired Companies Indebtedness” means the aggregate amount of outstanding Indebtedness of the Acquired Companies as of immediately prior to Closing
without giving effect to the Transactions.
“Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, or is controlled by, or is
under common control with, such Person, and the term “control” (including the terms “controlled by” and “under common control with”) means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power
to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by Contract or otherwise. For the avoidance of doubt, the Acquired
Companies shall be deemed to be Affiliates of (a) Seller until the Closing and (b) Buyer from and after the Closing.
“American Ready Mix” means Pyramid Materials, Inc., d/b/a American Ready Mix.
“Ancillary Agreements” means the Cement Purchase Agreement, the Transition Services Agreement and each other agreement, document, instrument and/or
certificate referred to in this Agreement to be executed in connection with the Transactions.

“Anti-Corruption Laws” means all U.S. and non‑U.S. Laws relating to the prevention of corruption and bribery, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of
1977, as amended.
“Business Day” means any day of the year on which national banking institutions in Texas and California are open to the public for conducting business and are not
required or authorized by Law to close.
“Capital Expenditure Plan” means the Companies’ plan for annual capital expenditures as set forth on Section 1.1(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
“Cash” means the amount of cash, cash equivalents and bank deposits as reflected on the books and records, and certificates of deposit, of the Acquired Companies
as of 11:59 p.m. (Pacific time) on the date hereof (without giving effect to the Transactions but after taking into account the Closing Cash Sweep), less the amounts of any issued but unpaid
checks, drafts and wire transfers issued on or prior to 11:59 p.m. (Pacific time) on the date hereof (without giving effect to the Transactions but after taking into account the Closing Cash Sweep).
“Cement Purchase Agreement” means that certain Cement Purchase Agreement entered into as of the Closing by Nevada Cement and American Ready Mix,
pursuant to which Nevada Cement will supply cement to American Ready Mix.
“Centex Property” means the real property described on Section 1.1(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
“Closing Cash Amount” means the actual amount of Cash, which amount shall in no event be less than $0 or greater than $25,000.
“Closing Cash Sweep” means the transfer of Cash out of the Acquired Companies’ accounts by Seller or one of its Affiliates (other than the Acquired Companies) at
or about the close of business (Pacific time) on the date hereof.
“Closing Purchase Price” means an amount equal to the following:
(a)

the Base Purchase Price; plus

(b)

the Estimated Cash Amount; minus

(c)

the Estimated Acquired Companies Indebtedness; minus

(d)

the Estimated Transaction Expenses.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
“Company Employees” means the employees of the Acquired Companies.
“Company Intellectual Property” means all Intellectual Property owned by, or licensed exclusively to, the Acquired Companies.
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“Company IP Agreements” means all written licenses, sublicenses, consent to use agreements, settlements, coexistence agreements, covenants not to sue and other
Contracts (including any right to receive or obligation to pay royalties or any other consideration), relating to Intellectual Property to which any Acquired Company is a party or pursuant to which
its Intellectual Property assets are bound.
“Company Products” means the products that any Acquired Company (a) currently manufactures, markets, distributes, makes available or sells to third parties, or (b)
has previously manufactured, marketed, distributed, made available or sold to third parties.
“Confidentiality Agreement” means the Confidentiality Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2016, by and among A. Teichert & Son, Inc., Seller and Western, as
amended by the parties thereto pursuant to that certain Amendment No. 1 dated as of August 8, 2019.
“Contract” means any oral or written contract, indenture, note, bond, lease, license, commitment, instrument or other agreement or obligation that is legally binding.
“Copyrights” means copyrights and works of authorship, and all registrations and pending applications to register the same.
“Dantoni Rail Property” means the real property described on Section 1.1(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
“Enforceability Exceptions” means, with respect to enforcement of the terms and provisions of this Agreement, (a) the effect of any applicable Law of general
application relating to bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights and relief of debtors generally and (b) the effect of general principles of equity,
including general principles of equity governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in
equity or at law).
“Environmental Law” means any Law relating to the protection of the environment or preservation of natural resources, including the use, storage, recycling,
treatment, generation, transportation, processing, handling, disposal or Release of any Hazardous Substances, in each case as in effect as of the date of this Agreement.
“Estimated Cash Amount” means the estimated amount of Cash, which amount shall in no event be less than $0 or greater than $25,000.
“Final Adjustment Amount” means an amount, which may be positive or negative, equal to the Final Purchase Price minus the Closing Purchase Price.
“Final Purchase Price” means an amount equal to the following:
(a)

the Base Purchase Price; plus

(b)

the Closing Cash Amount; minus

(c)

the Closing Acquired Companies Indebtedness; minus
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(d)

the Closing Transaction Expenses.

“Fraud” means liability for actual fraud under Delaware common law (excluding constructive fraud and negligent fraud), in any case, solely with respect to the
representations and warranties contained in Article IV or Article V.
“Fundamental Buyer Representations” means the representations and warranties made by Buyer in Sections 5.1 [Organization and Good Standing], Section 5.2
[Authorization of the Agreement; Enforceability] and Section 5.5 [Brokers].
“Fundamental Seller Representations” means the representations and warranties made by Seller in Sections 4.1(a) [Organization and Good Standing of Seller and the
Acquired Companies], Section 4.2 [Authorization of the Agreement; Enforceability], Section 4.3 [Ownership of Membership Interests; Subsidiaries], Section 4.7 [Taxes] and Section 4.15
[Brokers].
“GAAP” means United States generally accepted accounting principles.
“Governmental Body” means any federal, state, provincial, territorial, local, municipal or foreign government, regulatory, self-regulatory, legislative, arbitral or
administrative body, or any agency, bureau, board, commission, court, department, tribunal or instrumentality thereof.
“Hazardous Substance” means (a) any chemical, material or substance regulated as hazardous or toxic or as a pollutant, contaminant or waste under any
Environmental Law and (b) petroleum, petroleum products, radioactive materials, asbestos or polychlorinated biphenyls.
“Indebtedness” means, without duplication, (a) all indebtedness for borrowed money, (b) all obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar
instruments (other than the bonds set forth on Section 1.1(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule), (c) all obligations as an account party under letters of credit (to the extent such letter of credit
has been drawn by the beneficiary thereof) or similar facilities, (d) obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services, including any “earn-out” or other deferred purchase price
obligations, (e) obligations in respect of any leases that are required by GAAP to be capitalized (calculated in accordance with GAAP), (f) all direct or indirect guarantee, support or keep well
obligations in respect of obligations of the kind referred to in clauses (a) through (e), (g) obligations in respect of interest under any existing interest rate swap or hedge agreement entered into by
any of the Acquired Companies, and (h) all accrued and unpaid interest and any applicable prepayment, breakage or other premiums, fees or penalties required to be paid with respect to any of the
foregoing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, “Indebtedness” shall not include (i) intercompany indebtedness solely among the Acquired Companies, (ii) any guarantees or other Liabilities with
respect to any credit facility or publicly traded notes of Eagle Materials or any publicly traded entity resulting from the Spin-Off, in each case, that will be released in connection with Closing, (iii)
liabilities of the type included in Working Capital or (iv) any amounts included in the calculation of Transaction Expenses.
“Independent Accounting Firm” means PricewaterhouseCoopers.
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“Intellectual Property” means the following subsisting throughout the world: (a) Patents, (b) Trademarks and Internet domain names, (c) Copyrights, (d) Trade
Secrets and (e) other intellectual property or similar proprietary rights therein (including remedies against infringement thereof and rights of protection of interest therein under the Laws of all
jurisdictions).
“IRS” means the Internal Revenue Service.
“Knowledge of Buyer” means the actual knowledge of those Persons identified on Section 1.1(a) of the Buyer Disclosure Schedule.
“Knowledge of Seller” means the actual knowledge of those Persons identified on Section 1.1(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, in each case, solely with
respect to the representations and warranties listed alongside the name of such Person on Section 1.1(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
“Law” means any domestic, foreign, federal, state or local law (including common law), statute, code, ordinance, rule or regulation of any Governmental Body.
“Legal Proceeding” means any judicial, administrative, investigative or arbitral actions, suits or proceedings (public or private) by or before a Governmental Body.
“Liabilities” means any and all Losses, debts, obligations and liabilities, whether accrued or unaccrued, fixed or variable, known or unknown, absolute or contingent,
matured or unmatured or determined or determinable.
“Lien” means any lien, encumbrance, security interest, pledge, mortgage, deed of trust, hypothecation, claim, lease, charge, option, right of first refusal, easement,
servitude, community property interest or transfer restriction.
“Material Adverse Effect” means any fact, change, event, occurrence or development that, individually or in the aggregate with other facts, changes, events,
occurrences or developments, has, or would reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Acquired Companies;
provided, none of the following shall constitute or be deemed to contribute to a Material Adverse Effect, or shall otherwise be taken into account in determining whether a Material Adverse Effect
has occurred or would reasonably be expected to occur: (a) changes or proposed changes in applicable Laws or GAAP (or the interpretation of GAAP) after the date hereof, (b) changes in general
economic, business, labor or regulatory conditions, or changes in securities, credit or other financial markets, including interest rates or exchange rates, in the United States, regionally, locally or
globally, or changes generally affecting the industries (including seasonal fluctuations) in which the Acquired Companies operate, (c) (i) changes in global, national, regional or local political
conditions (including the outbreak or escalation of war (whether or not declared) or hostilities, military action, sabotage or acts of terrorism), or (ii) changes due to natural disasters or changes in
the weather or changes due to the outbreak or worsening of an epidemic, pandemic or other health crisis (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19)),
(d) the occurrence of any broad-based cyber, military or terrorist attack, whether inside or outside the United States, (e) actions or omissions required of the Acquired Companies or Seller by Law
or under this Agreement or taken or not taken at the written request of, or with the written consent
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of, Buyer or any of its Affiliates, (f) the announcement, pendency or consummation of this Agreement and the Transactions, including the identity of, or the effect of any fact or circumstances
relating to, Buyer or any of its Affiliates, (g) the breach of this Agreement by Buyer or (h) the failure of the financial or operating performance of the Acquired Companies to meet internal or
external projections, forecasts, expectations or budgets for any period (provided, that the underlying causes of such failure, to the extent not otherwise excluded by this definition, may be deemed
to contribute to a Material Adverse Effect); provided, that with respect to the foregoing subclauses (a), (b), (c) and (d), any such fact, change, event, occurrence or development shall be taken into
account if and to the extent it, individually or in the aggregate with any other fact, change, event, occurrence or development, disproportionately affects the Acquired Companies, taken as a whole,
compared to other companies operating in the industries in which the Acquired Companies operate.
“Material Company IP Agreements” means Company IP Agreements (other than non-disclosure agreements, employee and independent contractor agreements and
nonexclusive license agreements for “off-the-shelf” software, or software licensed pursuant to “click through” or similar stock agreements), pursuant to which: (a) any Acquired Company is
granted any license to any Intellectual Property of any third person that is material to the conduct of the business of the Acquired Companies, as currently conducted or which involved payments
by any Acquired Company in excess of $75,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, or (b) any Acquired Company grants any third person any license in or to any Company
Intellectual Property, other than non-exclusive licenses granted in the ordinary course of business which do not impair the conduct of the business of the Acquired Companies as currently
conducted.
“Nevada Cement” means Nevada Cement Company LLC, a Nevada limited liability company, an Affiliate of Seller.
“Order” means any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, writ or arbitration award of a Governmental Body.
“Organizational Documents” means the documents by which any Person (other than an individual) establishes its legal existence or governs its internal affairs. For
example, the “Organizational Documents” of (a) a Delaware limited liability company would be its certificate of formation and operating agreement or (b) a Delaware corporation would be its
certificate of incorporation and bylaws.
“Patents” means registered patents and pending patent applications, and all provisional patent applications, continuations, continuations-in-part, divisions, reissues,
reexaminations, substitutions, renewals, and extensions of the foregoing.
“Permits” means any approvals, authorizations, clearances, consents, licenses, permits or certificates of a Governmental Body.
“Permitted Liens” means (a) restrictions, easements, covenants, reservations, rights of way or other similar matters of title to any of the Acquired Companies’ real
property interests of record for the Real Property or the Yuba Goldfields; (b) Liens for Taxes, assessments or other governmental charges not yet delinquent and for those being contested in good
faith by appropriate proceedings and for which adequate reserves have been established therefor in accordance with
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GAAP; (c) Liens listed on Section 1.1(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; (d) mechanics’, carriers’, workers’, repairers’ and similar Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of
business or that are being contested by any Acquired Company in good faith; (e) Liens arising under original purchase price conditional sales contracts and equipment leases with third parties
entered into in the ordinary course of business; (f) Liens that would be shown by a current, accurate survey of any real property owned, leased or licensed by the Acquired Companies; (g) zoning,
entitlement and other similar land use regulations; (h) title of a lessor under a capital or operating lease; (i) Liens that have been placed by any developer, landlord or other third party on property
owned by third parties over which any Acquired Company has easement rights and subordination or similar agreements relating thereto; (j) Liens incurred or deposits made in connection with
workers’ compensation, unemployment insurance, social security or other similar obligations; (k) Liens not created by Seller, the Acquired Companies or their Affiliates that affect the underlying
fee interest of any real property leased by the Acquired Companies; (l) non-exclusive licenses or other similar rights granted to Company Intellectual Property; (m) Liens that will be released prior
to or as of the Closing; (n) Liens arising under this Agreement; (o) Liens created by or through Buyer or its Affiliates; (p) transfer restrictions under applicable securities laws, if any; (q) Liens
securing Indebtedness that will be released in connection with the Closing; and (r) such other, non‑monetary Liens that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result
in a material reduction in the value of, or interfere in any material respect with the use or operation of, the properties or assets to which they relate.
“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, firm, joint venture, limited liability company, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated
organization, Governmental Body or other entity (including any group of any of the foregoing).
“Personal Information” means information pertaining to an identified and/or identifiable individual that is regulated or protected by one or more federal or state
information privacy or security Laws, including, but not limited to, an individual’s name, address, credit or payment card information, bank account number, email address, date of birth,
government-issued identifier and social security number.
“Post-Closing Period” means any taxable period beginning after the date hereof (and the post-Closing portion of any Straddle Period).
“Pre-Closing Period” means any taxable period ending on or before the date hereof (and the pre-Closing portion of any Straddle Period).
“Real Property” means the Mathews Owned Real Property, the Mathews Leased Real Property and the Western Leased Real Property.
“Related Party” of any Party means such Party’s Affiliates and each controlling Person, shareholder, director, officer, employee, agent, representative, member,
manager, general or limited partner, former, current or future direct or indirect equityholder or assignee of such Party and its Affiliates.
“Release” means any spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, emitting, emptying, discharging, injecting, escaping, leaching, dumping or disposing of any Hazardous
Substances into the environment.
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“Solvent” means, with respect to any Person, that:
(a)
the amount of the fair value of the assets of such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis as of such date, exceeds, on a consolidated basis, the
amount of all liabilities of such Person and its Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, contingent or otherwise;
(b)
the present fair saleable value of the property (on a going-concern basis) of such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, is greater than the
amount that will be required to pay the probable liability, on a consolidated basis, of their debts and other liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such debts and other liabilities
become absolute and matured in the ordinary course of business;
(c)
such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are able to pay their debts and liabilities, subordinated, contingent or otherwise, as such liabilities
become absolute and matured in the ordinary course of business; and
(d)
such Person and its Subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis, are not engaged in, and are not about to engage in, any business or transaction contemplated as of
the date hereof for which they have unreasonably small capital.
“Spin-Off” means the separation of Eagle Materials’ heavy materials and light materials businesses into two independent, publicly traded entities by means of a taxfree spin-off.
“Straddle Period” means any taxable period that begins on or before and ends after the date hereof.
“Subsidiary” of any Person means any other Person of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity or more
than fifty percent (50%) of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than fifty percent (50%) of the general partnership ownership interests, or the ability to elect a majority
of the board of directors or others performing similar functions, are, as of such date, directly or indirectly owned, controlled or held by, or a majority of such other Person’s gains or losses is
entitled to be allocated to, the first Person or one or more subsidiaries of the first Person.
“Tax Return” means all federal, state, local or foreign returns, declarations, reports, estimates, information returns and statements in respect of any Taxes.
“Taxes” means (a) all federal, state, local or foreign taxes, charges, fees, imposts, levies or other like assessments imposed by any Governmental Body, including all
net income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, alternative, environmental, inventory, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security,
unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property (real or personal) and estimated taxes, customs duties, assessments and charges of any kind whatsoever and (b) all interest,
penalties, fines, additions to Tax or additional amounts imposed by any Governmental Body in connection with any item described in clause (a) of this definition. “Tax” and “Taxing” shall have
correlative meanings.
“Third Party Claim” means any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration, inquiry, audit, notice of violation, proceeding, litigation, citation,
summons, subpoena
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or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law or in equity made or brought by any Person who is not a Party to this Agreement or an
Affiliate of a Party to this Agreement or a representative of the foregoing.
“Trade Secrets” means trade secrets and other confidential information, including know-how, inventions, data collections, development tools, diagrams, formulae,
methods, processes and processing instructions, technical data, databases, specifications, research and development information, technology, product roadmaps, customer lists and any other
proprietary information, in each case, to the extent any of the foregoing derives independent economic value (actual or potential) from not being generally known to other persons who can obtain
economic value from its disclosure or use.
“Trademarks” means trademarks, service marks, trade names, designs, logos, slogans, and all registrations and pending applications to register the foregoing and all
of the goodwill associated with the foregoing.
“Transaction Expenses” means any and all (a) legal, accounting, tax, financial advisory and other professional or transaction related costs, fees and expenses incurred
by the Acquired Companies in connection with this Agreement or pursuing or completing the Transactions (including any amounts owed to any consultants, auditors, accountants, attorneys,
brokers or investment bankers), (b) payments of bonuses or severance which become due (or are currently outstanding) or are otherwise required to be made by the Acquired Companies, in each
case, solely as a result of the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding any bonuses, severance or similar payments initiated by
Buyer or its Affiliates and any such payments arising in connection with actions taken or initiated by Buyer or any of its Affiliates at or following the Closing or that are otherwise incurred
following the Closing), and (c) the employer portion of any payroll, or similar Taxes, if any, required to be paid by Buyer (on behalf of the Acquired Companies) or the Acquired Companies with
respect to the amounts described in clauses (a) and (b), in each case of clauses (a) through (c), that have not been paid by or on behalf of the Acquired Companies as of immediately prior to
Closing. For the avoidance of doubt, “Transaction Expenses” shall not include any amounts included in Indebtedness.
“Transition Services Agreement” means that certain Transition Services Agreement entered into as of the Closing by Eagle Materials and Buyer, pursuant to which
Eagle Materials shall provide certain transitional assistance as described in such agreement.
“Vested Rights Area” means the real property described on Section 1.1(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
“Working Capital” means the aggregate current assets of the Acquired Companies (other than any Cash), net of the aggregate current liabilities of the Acquired
Companies (including any reserve for any current period unpaid property or other non-income Taxes). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, “current assets” and “current liabilities” includes
all current tax assets and current tax liabilities, respectively, which excludes all deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities.
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“Yuba Goldfields” means the real property described on Section 1.1(h) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
Cross-Reference of Definitions
. Each capitalized term listed below is defined in the corresponding section of this Agreement:
Term
$
Acquired Companies
Acquired Companies Indebtedness
Acquired Company 401(k) Plan
Affiliate
Agreed Tax Treatment
Agreement
American Ready Mix
Ancillary Agreements
Anti-Corruption Laws
Assignment and Transfer Agreement
Base Purchase Price
Benefit Plan
Benefit Transition Date
Business Day
Buyer
Buyer 401(k) Plan
Buyer Disclosure Schedule
Buyer Indemnified Parties
Buyer Releasees
Cap
Capital Expenditure Plan
Cash
Cement Purchase Agreement
Centex Property
Claim Notice
Closing
Closing Acquired Companies Indebtedness
Closing Cash Amount
Closing Cash Sweep
Closing Purchase Price
Closing Report
Closing Transaction Expenses

Section No.
Section 8.5(b)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 6.5(f)
Section 1.1
Section 6.5(g)
Preamble
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 3.2(a)(i)
Section 2.2
Section 4.10(a)
Section 6.3(g)
Section 1.1
Preamble
Section 6.3(e)
Article V
Section 7.2(a)
Section 8.13(b)
Section 7.2(b)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 7.4(a)
Section 3.1
Section 2.3(b)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 2.3(b)
Section 2.3(b)
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Term
COBRA
COBRA Participants
Code
Companies
Company Disclosure Schedule
Company Employees
Company Intellectual Property
Company IP Agreements
Company Plan
Company Products
Confidential Information
Confidentiality Agreement
Continuation Coverage
Continuing Company Employee
Contract
control
controlled by
Copyrights
Dantoni Rail Property
De Minimis Claim
Deductible
Direct Claim
Disclaimed Real Estate
Dispute Notice
Draft Allocation
Eagle Materials
Enforceability Exceptions
Environmental Law
ERISA
Estimated Acquired Companies Indebtedness
Estimated Cash Amount
Estimated Closing Report
Estimated Transaction Expenses
Final Adjustment Amount
Final Allocation
Final Purchase Price
Financial Statements
Flow-Through Returns

Section No.
Section 6.3(g)
Section 6.3(g)
Section 1.1
Recitals
Article IV
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 4.10(a)
Section 1.1
Section 6.1(a)
Section 1.1
Section 6.3(g)
Section 6.3(e)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 7.2(b)
Section 7.2(b)
Section 7.4(d)
Section 5.9
Section 2.3(c)
Section 2.4
Preamble
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 4.10(a)
Section 2.3(a)
Section 1.1
Section 2.3(a)
Section 2.3(a)
Section 1.1
Section 2.4
Section 1.1
Section 4.5(a)
Section 6.5(a)
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Term
Fraud
Fundamental Buyer Representations
Fundamental Seller Representations
GAAP
Governmental Body
Guarantees
Hammonton Farms
Hazardous Substance
Indebtedness
Indemnified Director and Officer
Indemnified Party
Indemnifying Party
Independent Accounting Firm
Initiating Party
Insurance Policies
Intellectual Property
Interests
IRS
Knowledge of Buyer
Knowledge of Seller
Law
Legal Proceeding
Liabilities
Lien
Loss
Losses
Material Adverse Effect
Material Company IP Agreements
Material Contract
Material Contracts
Mathews
Mathews Leased Real Property
Mathews Owned Real Property
Mathews Real Property Leases
Nevada Cement
Order
Organizational Documents
Parties

Section No.
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 6.10
Preamble
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 6.6(a)
Section 7.4(a)
Section 7.4(a)
Section 1.1
Section 6.8
Section 4.16
Section 1.1
Recitals
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 7.2(a)
Section 7.2(a)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 4.9(a)
Section 4.9(a)
Recitals
Section 4.22(b)
Section 4.22(a)
Section 4.22(b)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Preamble
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Term
Party
Patents
Permits
Permitted Liens
Person
Personal Information
Post-Closing Period
Pre-Closing Period
Privileged Communications
Real Property
Related Party
Release
Restricted Activities
Restricted Activity
Retained Property
Securities Act
Seller
Seller 401(k) Plan
Seller Counsel
Seller Indemnified Parties
Seller Indemnifying Parties
Seller Name
Seller Plan
Seller Releasees
Significant Customers
Significant Suppliers
Solvent
Spin-Off
Straddle Period
Subsidiary
Tax
Tax Return
Taxes
Taxing
Teichert
Teichert Guarantee
Third Party Claim
Trade Secrets

Section No.
Preamble
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 8.12
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 6.11(a)
Section 6.11(a)
Section 6.14
Section 5.7
Preamble
Section 6.3(e)
Section 8.12(a)
Section 7.3(a)
Section 7.2(a)
Section 6.9(a)
Section 4.10(a)
Section 8.13(a)
Section 4.18
Section 4.18
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Preamble
Section 6.13(a)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
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Term
Trademarks
Transaction Expenses
Transactions
Transition Services Agreement
under common control with
Valuation Report
Vested Rights Appeal
Vested Rights Area
Western
Western Leased Real Property
Western Real Property Leases
Working Capital
Yuba Goldfields
Yuba Goldfields Agreements

Section No.
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 2.1
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 6.5(g)
Section 6.4(a)
Section 1.1
Recitals
Section 4.22(c)
Section 4.22(c)
Section 1.1
Section 1.1
Section 4.22(g)

ARTICLE II – PURCHASE AND SALE OF INTERESTS
Purchase and Sale
. At the Closing, (a) Seller hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys and delivers to Hammonton Farms, and Hammonton Farms hereby purchases and accepts from Seller, all of
Seller’s rights, title and interest in the Interests of Western, and (b) Seller hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys and delivers to Teichert, and Teichert hereby purchases and accepts from Seller,
all of Seller’s rights, title and interest in the Interests of Mathews, in each case free and clear of all Liens (other than Permitted Liens), on the terms set forth in this Agreement (the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, the “Transactions”).
Purchase Price
. The Interests will be sold to Buyer for an aggregate purchase price of $93,500,000 (the “Base Purchase Price”), subject to adjustment as provided in Section 2.3. At the Closing,
Buyer shall pay to Seller (or its designee), by wire transfer of immediately available funds to such account as directed by Seller, the Closing Purchase Price.
2.3

Purchase Price Adjustments.

(a)
Prior to the date hereof, Seller has delivered to Buyer a report (the “Estimated Closing Report”) setting forth its good faith calculation of (i) the estimated
Acquired Companies Indebtedness (“Estimated Acquired Companies Indebtedness”); (ii) the estimated Transaction Expenses (“Estimated Transaction Expenses”), (iii) the Estimated Cash Amount
and (iv) the Closing Purchase Price. The Estimated Closing Report shall be binding on the Parties hereto for purposes of determining the Estimated Acquired Companies Indebtedness, Estimated
Transaction Expenses, the Estimated Cash Amount and the Closing Purchase Price.
(b)

Within ninety (90) days after the date hereof, Buyer shall prepare and deliver to Seller a report (the “Closing Report”) setting forth its good faith

calculations of (i) the
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Acquired Companies Indebtedness (“Closing Acquired Companies Indebtedness”); (ii) Transaction Expenses (“Closing Transaction Expenses”); (iii) the Closing Cash Amount and (iv) the Final
Adjustment Amount, in each case, calculated as of the Closing. Buyer (A) shall deliver to Seller any documentary materials and analyses used in the preparation of the Closing Report that are
reasonably requested by Seller and (B) shall, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its accountants to, cooperate with and assist Seller and its accountants in the conduct of the review of
such documentary materials and analyses, including by providing reasonable access to any books, records and work papers and making available personnel to the extent reasonably required in
connection with such review. Buyer agrees that, following the Closing through the date that the Closing Report becomes final, binding and conclusive on all Parties in accordance with this
Section 2.3, it will maintain records in a manner that is not inconsistent with the past practice of the business of the Companies to the extent required to meet Buyer’s obligations set forth in this
Section 2.3(b).
(c)
In the event that Seller does not agree that the Closing Report prepared by Buyer accurately reflects all or any portion of the Closing Cash Amount, the
Closing Acquired Companies Indebtedness, the Closing Transaction Expenses or the Final Adjustment Amount, or that the Closing Report was prepared in the manner required by this Agreement,
Seller shall, within forty-five (45) days of the date on which Buyer delivers the Closing Report to Seller, prepare and deliver to Buyer a written notice of dispute (the “Dispute Notice”), which
Dispute Notice shall set forth the basis for the dispute. In the event that Seller does not deliver a Dispute Notice to Buyer within the time period required by the immediately preceding sentence,
then the Closing Report prepared by Buyer, including the Closing Cash Amount, the Closing Acquired Companies Indebtedness, the Closing Transaction Expenses and the Final Adjustment
Amount set forth therein shall be deemed to be and shall become final, binding and conclusive on all of the Parties hereto.
(d)
In the event that Seller timely delivers a Dispute Notice to Buyer in accordance with the terms hereof, Buyer and Seller shall attempt to reconcile the
disputed items, and any resolution by them as to any such disputes shall be final, binding and conclusive on all of the Parties hereto. If Seller and Buyer are unable to resolve any such dispute
within twenty (20) Business Days of Buyer’s receipt of the Dispute Notice from Seller, Buyer and Seller shall submit the items remaining in dispute for resolution to the Independent Accounting
Firm. Promptly following the submission of the items in dispute to the Independent Accounting Firm, and in any event within ten (10) Business Days following such submission, each of Buyer
and Seller shall submit to such Independent Accounting Firm (and the other Party) all documentary materials and analyses that Buyer or Seller, as the case may be, believes to be relevant to a
resolution of the dispute set forth in the Dispute Notice. The Independent Accounting Firm shall consider only those items or amounts set forth in the Closing Report as to which Seller has
disagreed in the Dispute Notice. The Independent Accounting Firm’s determination shall be based solely on written submissions by Seller and Buyer that are in accordance with the applicable
definitions, guidelines and procedures set forth herein (i.e., not on the basis of independent review). Neither Party shall engage in any ex parte communications with the Independent Accounting
Firm. The Independent Accounting Firm shall, within thirty (30) days after receipt of all such submissions by Buyer and Seller, determine and deliver to Buyer and Seller a written report
containing such Independent Accounting Firm’s determination of all disputed matters submitted to it for resolution, and such written report and the determinations contained therein shall be final,
binding and conclusive on all of the Parties hereto. With respect to each disputed item, such
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determination, if not in accordance with the position of either Buyer or Seller, shall not be in excess of the higher, nor less than the lower, of the amounts advocated by Seller in the Dispute Notice
or Buyer in the Closing Report. The fees and expenses of the Independent Accounting Firm shall be paid by Seller, on the one hand, and by Buyer, on the other hand, based upon the actual
amount not awarded to Seller or Buyer, respectively, in relation to the aggregate amount actually contested by Seller and Buyer.
(e)
Within three (3) Business Days after the Closing Report has become final, binding and conclusive on all Parties in accordance with this Section 2.3,
(i) Buyer shall pay to Seller (or its designee) the Final Adjustment Amount, if such amount is positive, or (ii) Seller shall pay to Buyer (or its designee) the Final Adjustment Amount, if such
amount is negative. Payments under this Section 2.3(e) shall be made by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account that is designated by the Party entitled to payment.
(f)
Any payments made pursuant to this Section 2.3 and any indemnification payments made pursuant to Article VII shall be treated as adjustments to the
Closing Purchase Price by the Parties for Tax purposes, unless otherwise required by Law.
Allocation of Purchase Price
(a)
. Within the later of (a) sixty (60) days after the date hereof or (b) forty-five (45) days following the final determination of the Final Adjustment Amount
pursuant to Section 2.3, Buyer shall deliver to Seller a draft allocation of the Closing Purchase Price (as adjusted pursuant to Section 2.3) and all other amounts treated as consideration for U.S.
federal income tax purposes among the assets of the Companies (the “Draft Allocation”). The Draft Allocation shall be prepared in accordance with Section 1060 of the Code. If Seller disagrees
with the Draft Allocation, Seller may, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Draft Allocation, deliver a written notice to Buyer to such effect, specifying those items as to which Seller disagrees
and setting forth Seller’s proposed allocation in respect of those items. Buyer and Seller shall then use their commercially reasonable efforts to reach agreement on any such disputed items or
amounts. If, after using commercially reasonable efforts, Buyer and Seller are unable to reach such agreement, each of Buyer and Seller may adopt separate positions on their respective Tax
Returns with respect to such disputed items or amounts. Assuming that Buyer and Seller reach such an agreement (the “Final Allocation”), such Final Allocation shall be conclusive and binding
on all Parties. Buyer and Seller agree that they (i) shall (and shall cause their respective Affiliates to) prepare and file all Tax Returns (and IRS Forms 8594) in a manner consistent with the
Agreed Tax Treatment and the Final Allocation and (ii) shall not take (and shall cause their respective Affiliates not to take) any Tax position that is inconsistent with the Agreed Tax Treatment or
the Final Allocation, in each case unless otherwise required by a “determination” within the meaning of Section 1313(a) of the Code.
ARTICLE III – CLOSING
Closing
. The closing of the Transactions (the “Closing”) shall take place by electronic transmission of documents (in .pdf format) (except to the extent that local California or Nevada Law
requires transmission of an original document) and by wire transfer of funds (or in such other manner as the Parties may mutually designate in writing) on the date hereof. The Closing shall be
deemed effective at the close of business (Pacific time) on the date hereof and after giving effect to the Closing Cash Sweep.
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3.2

Closing Deliveries.
(a)

At or prior to the Closing, Seller shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Buyer the following:

(i)
a duly executed counterpart to an assignment and transfer agreement transferring the Interests to Buyer free and clear of all Liens (other than
Permitted Liens) (the “Assignment and Transfer Agreement”);
(ii)
with respect to each Company, a certificate duly executed and completed by the entity that is treated as the owner of such entity for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, substantially in the form specified in Treasury Regulations Section 1.1445-2(b)(2)(iv), certifying such entity’s non-foreign status;
(iii)
with respect to each Acquired Company, a good standing certificate and tax clearance certificate in each such Acquired Company’s state of
formation and in the state in which such Acquired Company is qualified to do business;
(iv)
a manager’s or officer’s certificate of Seller certifying as true and correct copy, and attaching thereto, each Acquired Company’s
Organizational Documents, each as amended to date, and a copy of the resolutions or written consent of the Board of Managers of Seller, including on behalf of
Seller in its capacity as the sole member of each Company, in each case, approving and/or adopting this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement to which such
Company is a party and the Transactions;
(v)
a resignation and release from each officer, director and manager of each Acquired Company from their respective positions as such (and not
from employment), other than the officers, directors and managers listed on Section 3.2(a)(v) of the Company Disclosure Schedule; provided, that no release by any
such officer, director or manager shall inhibit recovery by such Person as an “Indemnified Director and Officer” under the tail insurance policies of the Acquired
Companies described in Section 6.6(b);
(vi)
evidence that the Acquired Companies have no continuing Liability with respect to any credit facility or publicly traded notes of Eagle
Materials or any publicly traded entity resulting from the Spin-Off;
(vii)
all documentation necessary to obtain releases of all Liens (if any) that arise in connection with any Acquired Companies Indebtedness set
forth on Section 3.2(a)(vii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, other than the Permitted Liens;
(viii)
payoff and release letters from the holders of any Acquired Companies Indebtedness set forth on Section 3.2(a)(vii) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule that, in each case, (A) reflect the amounts required in order to pay in full such Acquired Companies Indebtedness and (B) provide that, upon
payment in full of the amounts indicated, all Liens (if any) with respect to such Acquired
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Companies Indebtedness on the assets of the Acquired Companies shall be terminated and of no further force and effect;
(ix)

a duly executed counterpart to each of (A) the Cement Purchase Agreement and (B) the Transition Services Agreement;

(x)
a duly executed quitclaim deed from Mountain Cement Company LLC conveying to Western all of Mountain Cement Company LLC’s right,
title and interest in and to any rights, including the mineral estate, granted to Mountain Cement Company LLC’s predecessor in interest under that certain Grant of
Mineral Estate and Declaration of Covenants made as of December 12, 1989 by and between Yuba Natural Resources, Inc. and H Corp.;
(xi)
a duly executed assignment and assumption agreement from Mountain Cement Company LLC conveying to Western all of Mountain Cement
Company LLC’s right, title and interest in and to any rights granted to Mountain Cement Company LLC’s predecessor in interest under that certain Cooperative
Agreement made as of December 12, 1989 among Western, Yuba Natural Resources, Inc., Westgold Placer Corp., Yuba Placer Gold Company and H Corp.;
(xii)
a duly executed assignment and assumption agreement from Mountain Cement Company LLC conveying to Western all of Mountain
Cement Company LLC’s right, title and interest in and to any rights granted to Mountain Cement Company LLC’s predecessor in interest under that certain
Agreement Regarding Mutual Operations on the Yuba Goldfields entered into as of December 18, 1992 by and among Cal Sierra Gold, Inc., Cal Sierra Development,
Inc., Yuba Placer Gold Company, Western and H Corp.;
(xiii)
a duly executed quitclaim deed from Eagle Materials conveying to Western all of Eagle Materials’ right, title and interest in and to any
rights granted to Eagle Materials with respect to the Centex Property;
(xiv)
copies of all material documents, instruments and agreements (if any), with respect to the release and discharge of all obligations and
intercompany accounts owing between Seller and its Affiliates, on the one hand, and the Acquired Companies, on the hand (other than certain amounts payable by
Mathews to Nevada Cement for the purchase of cement in the ordinary course of business that may be outstanding as of the Closing);
(xv)
evidence of the amendment or other modification of any Contract governing any (A) bank and brokerage account held by, or in the name of,
Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Acquired Companies) or (B) bank and brokerage account held by, or in the name of, any Acquired Company as may be
required to delink the respective accounts described in clauses (A) and (B); and
(xvi)
confirmation from Seller that Seller or its Affiliates have taken the actions set forth on Section 4.12 of the Company Disclosure Schedule
with respect to the claims set forth on Section 4.12 of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
18

(b)

At or prior to the Closing, Buyer shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, to Seller the following:
(i)

the Closing Purchase Price, as provided in Section 2.2;

(ii)

a duly executed counterpart to the Assignment and Transfer Agreement; and

(iii)

a duly executed counterpart to each of (A) the Cement Purchase Agreement and (B) the Transition Services Agreement.

Closing Cash Sweep
. Seller or one of its Affiliates (other than the Acquired Companies) shall be permitted to complete the Closing Cash Sweep prior to the close of business (Pacific time) on the date
hereof. Buyer shall, and shall cause the Acquired Companies to, as applicable, allow Seller or any of its Affiliates to complete the Closing Cash Sweep and cooperate as necessary in connection
therewith.
ARTICLE IV – REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF SELLER
Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Schedule delivered by Seller to Buyer in connection with this Agreement (the “Company Disclosure Schedule”), Seller hereby represents and
warrants to Buyer as follows:
Organization and Good Standing of Seller and the Acquired Companies; No Violations.

(a)
Seller is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has all requisite
limited liability company power and authority to own the Interests. Each Acquired Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of
its jurisdiction of formation, and has all requisite power and authority to own, operate, lease and otherwise hold its assets and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, and is duly
licensed or qualified to do business and is in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which it owns, operates, leases or otherwise holds assets, or conducts business, so as to require such
qualification, except where the lack of such qualification or good standing would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies.
(b)
No Acquired Company is in violation of any of the provisions of its Organizational Documents. Seller has provided to Buyer, prior to the date hereof,
complete and correct copies of the Organizational Documents of the Acquired Companies.
Authorization of Agreement; Enforceability
. Seller has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and to consummate the Transactions. The execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements by Seller and the consummation of the applicable Transactions by Seller have been duly authorized by all requisite
action on the part of Seller. This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements have been duly and validly executed and delivered by Seller and (assuming the due authorization, execution and
delivery by the other Parties hereto and thereto) this
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Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to the Enforceability Exceptions.
4.3

Ownership of Membership Interests; Subsidiaries.
(a)

Seller is the sole member of each Company and has good and valid title to one hundred percent (100%) of the Interests, free and clear of all Liens, except

for Permitted Liens.
(b)
Section 4.3(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true and complete list of Western’s Subsidiaries and the holder(s) of the membership
interests of each such Subsidiary, and each such holder has good and valid title to one hundred percent (100%) of the membership interests of each such Subsidiary, free and clear of all Liens,
except for Permitted Liens. Mathews has no Subsidiaries.
(c)
Other than the Interests and the membership interests of the Companies’ Subsidiaries, no membership interests, equity interests or any other securities in
any Acquired Company have been authorized, issued or are outstanding. As of the date hereof, other than this Agreement, there are no outstanding or authorized rights, or other agreements or
commitments, to which any Acquired Company or Seller is a party or which are binding upon any Acquired Company or Seller providing for the sale or transfer of the Interests or the issuance of
any additional ownership interests in any Acquired Company. The Interests and the membership interests of the Companies’ Subsidiaries are not subject to, or issued in violation of, any purchase
option, call option, right of first refusal, preemptive right, subscription right or any similar right under any applicable Law, the Organizational Documents of the Acquired Companies or any
Contract to which Seller or any Acquired Company is a party or by which Seller or any Acquired Company or any of their respective assets is bound. There are no outstanding obligations arising
under any Contract of Seller or any Acquired Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any Interests.
(d)
4.4

No Acquired Company owns any equity interests in any Person (other than the Companies’ Subsidiaries).

Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties.

(a)
Assuming all waivers, Orders and Permits described in Section 4.4(b) and Section 5.3(b) have been obtained, and all declarations, filings or notifications
described in Section 4.4(b) and Section 5.3(b), if any, have been made, none of the execution, delivery or performance by Seller of this Agreement, or the consummation by Seller of the
Transactions, will conflict with, or result in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of acceleration, termination or cancellation of
any obligation, or result in the creation of any Lien (other than any Permitted Lien) upon any of the properties or assets of Seller or the Acquired Companies, as applicable, under any provision of
(i) the Organizational Documents of Seller or the Acquired Companies, (ii) any Material Contract or any Permit applicable to any Acquired Company or by which any of the properties or assets of
any Acquired Company are bound or (iii) any Law or Order applicable to Seller or any Acquired Company or by which any of the properties or assets of Seller or any Acquired Company are
bound, other than, in the case of subclauses (ii) and (iii), such items that would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies.
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(b)
Subject to Section 4.4(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no waiver, Order, Permit or declaration or filing with, or notification to, any Person (under
any Contract or otherwise) or Governmental Body is required on the part of Seller or the Acquired Companies in connection with the consummation of the Transactions, other than (i) such
waivers, Orders, Permits the failure of which to obtain from, or declarations, filings or notifications the failure of which to make to, any Governmental Body would not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies and (ii) filings necessary to evidence the release of any Liens to be released in connection with the Closing.
4.5

Financial Statements; No Undisclosed Liabilities; Indebtedness.

(a)
Seller has delivered to Buyer copies of (i) the unaudited balance sheet for each Acquired Company as of March 31, 2019, and the related unaudited income
statements for the twelve (12)-month period then ended and (ii) the unaudited balance sheet of each Acquired Company as of December 31, 2019 and the related unaudited income statements for
the nine-month period then ended (collectively, the “Financial Statements”).
(b)
The Financial Statements were derived from the books and records of the Acquired Companies and were prepared in accordance with GAAP, except as
otherwise noted therein, consistently applied, subject in the case of unaudited combined financial statements, to normal year-end adjustments and the absence of footnotes, as at the dates and for
the periods presented, and present fairly in all material respects the financial position and results of operations of the Acquired Companies as at the dates and for the periods presented; provided,
that the Financial Statements are qualified in their entirety by the fact that the Acquired Companies have not operated historically on a stand-alone basis as of the dates or during the periods
presented in the Financial Statements and the Acquired Companies have received certain allocated charges and credits from Eagle Materials and its Affiliates, including general and administrative
expenses, which do not necessarily reflect amounts which would have resulted from arm’s-length transactions or which the Acquired Companies would have incurred had they operated on a standalone basis as of such dates or during such periods and may not be indicative of what the financial position and results of operations of the Acquired Companies would have been with respect to
such allocated charges and credits or will be in the future.
(c)
As of the date hereof, no Acquired Company has any liabilities of any kind that would be required to be reflected in, reserved against or otherwise
described on an audited balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP, and that are not so reflected in, reserved against or described on the Financial Statements as of December 31, 2019, other
than (i) liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business since December 31, 2019 and not exceeding $100,000 individually and $500,000 in the aggregate, (ii) liabilities incurred in connection
with the Transactions or the announcement, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, or (iii) liabilities incurred in connection with (A) nondelinquent executory Contracts with customers and leases, and (B) trade payables and other items of the type included in Working Capital.
(d)
4.6

Section 4.5(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth as of the date hereof a true and complete list of all Indebtedness of the Acquired Companies.

Absence of Certain Developments.
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(a)
Except as otherwise contemplated hereby, from December 31, 2019 through the date hereof, the Acquired Companies have operated, in all material
respects, in the ordinary course of business.
(b)
From December 31, 2019 through the date hereof, (i) there has not been a Material Adverse Effect and (ii) Seller has not caused any Acquired Company
(or, in the case of Section 4.6(b)(x), any applicable Affiliate) to, except (A) as set forth on Section 4.6(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (B) as required or prohibited by applicable Law or
(C) as expressly contemplated by this Agreement:
(i)

dissolve, liquidate or take any action to dissolve or liquidate itself;

(ii)

amend the Organizational Documents of such Acquired Company;

(iii)
other than as required by an existing Benefit Plan or Contract or applicable Law or otherwise in the ordinary course of business or in
connection with changes to employee benefit arrangements applicable to similarly situated employees of Seller and its Affiliates, (A) materially increase the
compensation of any Company Employee by more than 5% in the aggregate; (B) grant any bonus to any Company Employee; (C) materially amend or increase the
compensation or benefits under any Benefit Plan; (D) accelerate the vesting of or lapsing of restrictions with respect to any incentive compensation under any Benefit
Plans; (E) hire any Company Employee with a base salary of more than $100,000 per year (other than any Company Employee who is hired to replace a Company
Employee that has left the applicable Acquired Company); or (F) terminate the employment of any Company Employee earning a base salary of more than $100,000
per year, other than a termination for cause;
(iv)

subject to, or impose any Lien upon, any of the material properties or material assets of such Acquired Company, except for Permitted Liens;

(v)

enter into or agree to enter into any merger or consolidation with any other Person, or acquire the securities of any other Person;

(vi)
issue, sell, deliver or dispose of (or agree to do so) any ownership interests (including securities convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for, or options, warrants, calls, commitments or rights of any kind to acquire, any ownership interests of any Acquired Company) in such Acquired
Company;
(vii)
other than in the ordinary course of business, acquire or purchase the assets of another Person for aggregate consideration in excess of
$500,000, individually, or $1,000,000, in the aggregate, except for capital expenditures made pursuant to the Capital Expenditure Plan;
(viii)
other than in the ordinary course of business, incur or assume or otherwise become responsible for any Indebtedness for borrowed money,
except any such Indebtedness (A) that will be repaid prior to or at Closing or (B) with
22

respect to which such Acquired Company’s obligations will be released prior to or at Closing;
(ix)
other Person;

other than in the ordinary course of business, make any loans or advances or capital contributions to, acquisitions of or investments in, any

(x)
sell, transfer, lease or license (A) any material assets of such Acquired Company, including any interest in or rights related to the ownership or
operation of the Real Property or the Yuba Goldfields, or (B) any material interests, rights or assets necessary to own and operate the business of the Acquired
Companies which are owned by any other Affiliate of Seller holding real estate rights or assets in the Yuba Goldfields, other than (1) nonexclusive licenses of
Company Intellectual Property granted in the ordinary course of business or (2) the sale of such Acquired Company’s or other Affiliate’s inventory, goods, products
and services in the ordinary course of business, and except as may be deemed a Permitted Lien (provided that, for purposes of this paragraph, Permitted Liens shall
be deemed to exclude clauses (a) and (f) of the definition of Permitted Liens);
(xi)

make any material change in any method of financial accounting or financial accounting practice or policy other than as required by GAAP;

(xii)
make any capital expenditure in excess of $500,000, individually, or $1,000,000, in the aggregate, except for capital expenditures made
pursuant to the Capital Expenditure Plan;
(xiii)
waive, release, cancel, assign, settle or compromise any Legal Proceeding against such Acquired Company, other than waivers, releases,
cancellations, assignments, settlements or compromises that involved only the payment of monetary damages not in excess of $500,000, individually, or $1,000,000,
in the aggregate, or that related to Taxes;

4.7

(xiv)

on any Tax Return, make any election that is inconsistent with elections made in preparing or filing similar Tax Returns in prior periods; or

(xv)

authorize, or commit or agree to do, anything set forth in this Section 4.6(b).

Taxes.

(a)
Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies, (i) all Tax Returns
required to be filed by or with respect to the Acquired Companies have been timely filed (taking into account extensions), (ii) all such Tax Returns were prepared in accordance with applicable
Law and are true, correct and complete in all material respects, (iii) all Taxes shown as due and payable by the Acquired Companies on such Tax Returns have been timely paid, (iv) no
examination, audit, claim, assessment, deficiency or Legal Proceeding in respect of any Taxes of the Acquired Companies is pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, has been threatened by any
Governmental
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Body in writing and (v) no Acquired Company has executed or filed with any Governmental Body any agreement currently in effect that extends the period of assessment, reassessment or
collection of any Taxes.
(b)

Each Company is, and has been since April 1, 2004, treated and properly classified as a disregarded entity for U.S. federal and applicable state income tax

purposes.
(c)
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that no representation or warranty is made by Seller in this
Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement in respect of Tax matters, other than the representations and warranties contained in this Section 4.7 and the representations and warranties specifically
referencing the Code contained in Section 4.10.
4.8

Intellectual Property.

(a)
Section 4.8(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all registrations and applications for Patents, Trademarks, Copyrights, and Internet domain name
registrations owned by the Acquired Companies as of the date hereof, including, for each item listed, the owner, jurisdiction and issuance, registration or application number and date, as
applicable, of such item.
(b)

Section 4.8(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all Material Company IP Agreements as of the date hereof.

(c)
Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies, (i) each of the
Acquired Companies owns or has the right to use, in the manner used as of the date hereof, all of the material Company Intellectual Property, (ii) the Acquired Companies have used reasonable
commercial efforts to maintain the confidentiality of material Trade Secrets included in the Company Intellectual Property, (iii) no Acquired Company is in material breach of, or has provided or
received any notice of material breach of, any Material Company IP Agreement and (iv) no Acquired Company has received, since January 1, 2016 through the date hereof, any written charge,
complaint, claim, demand or notice challenging the validity or enforceability of any of the Company Intellectual Property that has not been settled or otherwise fully resolved.
(d)
As of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of Seller, no Person is infringing or otherwise violating any material Company Intellectual Property, and no Legal
Proceedings are pending or threatened against any Person by any Acquired Company in respect thereof. Since January 1, 2016 through the date hereof, no Acquired Company has received written
notice alleging that any material Company Intellectual Property or the conduct of the business of the Acquired Companies infringes or otherwise violates any Person’s Intellectual Property, except
as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies.
(e)
With respect to data protection and privacy, since January 1, 2016, the Acquired Companies have complied in all material respects with all
applicable Laws and all of the Acquired Companies’ internal or customer-facing policies. To the Knowledge of Seller, since January 1, 2016, the Acquired Companies have not suffered any actual
or threatened breach,
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unauthorized disclosure, or misuse of any Personal Information and have not been the subject of any claim, complaint, proceeding or investigation relating thereto.
(f)
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the representations and warranties contained in this Section
4.8 are the only representations and warranties given by Seller with respect to Intellectual Property matters, and no other provisions of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement shall be
interpreted as containing any representation or warranty with respect thereto.
4.9

Material Contracts.

(a)
Section 4.9(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule identifies all of the Contracts in effect as of the date hereof to which any Acquired Company is a party
or by which any of the properties or assets of any Acquired Company are bound (each a “Material Contract” and, collectively, the “Material Contracts”) (excluding any Yuba Goldfields
Agreements, Benefit Plans and Material Company IP Agreements), and Section 4.9(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a written summary of the material terms of any oral Contracts,
that:
(i)
required payments to or from any Acquired Company in excess of $100,000 in the preceding twelve-month period, other than pursuant to
purchase or sales orders made in the ordinary course of business;
(ii)

are made with any Affiliate of any Acquired Company;

(iii)
contain a provision (A) limiting in any material respect the ability of any Acquired Company to engage in any line of business or in any
geographic area or to compete with any Person, to market any product or to solicit customers, (B) granting the other party “most favored nation” status or equivalent
preferential pricing terms that materially limit the operations or conduct of any Acquired Company’s business, as currently conducted, or (C) granting the other party
exclusivity or similar rights that materially limit the operations or conduct of any Acquired Company’s business, as currently conducted;
(iv)

relate to the creation, incurrence, assumption or guarantee of Indebtedness for borrowed money in a principal amount in excess of $150,000;

(v)
provide for the making of any advance, loan, extension of credit or capital contribution to, or other investment in, a Person, in such case
which, individually, is in excess of $150,000;
(vi)

provide for a material joint venture, partnership or similar arrangement;

(vii)
grant any Person (other than Buyer and its Affiliates) an option or a first refusal, first offer or similar preferential right to purchase or acquire
any ownership interests in, or material assets of, any Acquired Company;
(viii)

are with Significant Customers or Significant Suppliers, other than purchase or sales orders made in the ordinary course of business;
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(ix)

are a collective bargaining agreement or with any labor organization;

(x)
are agreements with any employee, individual independent contractor or individual consultant of the Acquired Companies, in each case,
providing for aggregate payments to any such employee, independent contractor or consultant in excess of $150,000 annually, excluding employment offer letters
that set forth the terms of at-will employment and do not contain any severance obligations;
(xi)
relate to the acquisition or disposition (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise) of any Person or material line of business
of another Person pursuant to which any Acquired Company has continuing indemnification or payment obligations, or relate to any such proposed (but
unconsummated) acquisition or disposition (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise);
(xii)
under which any Acquired Company has continuing guarantee, royalty payment, achievement or results payment, milestone payment, “earnout” or other contingent payment obligations, or that provide for future payments by any Acquired Company that are triggered by a change of control of an Acquired
Company;
(xiii)
of this Agreement; or

are settlement, conciliation or similar agreements pursuant to which any Acquired Company will have any material obligation after the date

(xiv)
provide for a term of more than twelve (12) months, are not terminable by the applicable Acquired Company upon less than 30 days’ notice
without penalty and require payments to or from any Acquired Company in excess of $50,000 in the preceding twelve-month period, other than pursuant to purchase
or sales orders made in the ordinary course of business.
(b)
Seller has made available to Buyer a true and complete copy of each written Material Contract, together with all amendments, exhibits and attachments
thereto. Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies, as of the date hereof, (i) each Material Contract is a
legal, valid and binding obligation of the applicable Acquired Company or Seller, as applicable, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, on each counterparty and is in full force and effect, subject to the
Enforceability Exceptions, (ii) the applicable Acquired Company and Seller have performed all material obligations required to be performed by them under the Material Contracts, and they are
not (with or without the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both) in breach or default in any material respect thereunder and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no other party to any Material
Contract is (with or without the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both) in breach or default in any material respect thereunder, and (iii) no Acquired Company has assigned, delegated or
otherwise transferred to any Person any of its rights, title or interest under any Material Contract (other than any interest granted to any lender of Seller and its Affiliates that will be released at
Closing).
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4.10

Employee Benefit Plans.

(a)
Section 4.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list, as of the date hereof, of each material Benefit Plan. For purposes of this Agreement,
“Benefit Plan” shall mean each plan, program, policy or Contract providing for compensation, severance, termination pay, performance awards, equity or “profits interests” awards, health
insurance, 401(k) plan, fringe benefits or other employee benefits, if any, including any “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), which is sponsored, maintained or contributed to by Seller or any of its Affiliates and in which any Company Employee participates, or in respect of which
any Acquired Company has any liability. Section 4.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule indicates each Benefit Plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA. Each Benefit Plan identified with
an asterisk on Section 4.10(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule constitutes a Benefit Plan maintained by an Acquired Company (a “Company Plan,” and each Benefit Plan that is not a
Company Plan, a “Seller Plan”).
(b)
The Acquired Companies have made available to Buyer true and complete copies of each Benefit Plan or a written description thereof, and, to the extent
applicable to a Company Plan, the summary plan descriptions, the most recent determination letter or opinion letter received from the IRS, the most recent annual report (including Form 5500,
with all applicable attachments), and all related trust agreements, insurance Contracts, and other funding arrangements which implement the Company Plan.
(c)
To the Knowledge of Seller, each Company Plan and, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to an Acquired Company, each Seller
Plan has been established, maintained and operated in material accordance with its terms and in material compliance with all applicable Laws, including, if applicable, ERISA and the Code.
(d)
There is no Legal Proceeding pending, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened (other than routine claims for benefits) with respect to any Company Plan
or, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to an Acquired Company, any Seller Plan.
(e)
Each Acquired Company has complied with in all material respects with the requirements of the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of
1985, as amended, and any other applicable Law mandating continuing health care coverage.
(f)
No Acquired Company has incurred (whether or not assessed) or would reasonably be expected to incur or be subject to any material Taxes or other penalty
under Section 4980B, 4980D or 4980H of the Code.
(g)
With respect to each Company Plan and, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to an Acquired Company, each Seller Plan, all
contributions (including all employer contributions and employee salary reduction contributions), distributions, reimbursements and premium payments that are due from an Acquired Company
have been timely made in accordance with the terms of the applicable Benefit Plan and within the time periods prescribed by ERISA and the Code and all contributions, distributions,
reimbursements and premium payments for any period ending on or before the date hereof which are not yet due from an Acquired Company have been made or properly accrued.
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(h)
Each Benefit Plan which is intended to meet the requirements of a “qualified plan” under Section 401(a) of the Code has received a determination letter or
is the subject of an opinion or advisory letter from the IRS that such Benefit Plan is so qualified, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, nothing has occurred that would reasonably be expected to
adversely affect the qualified status of any such Benefit Plan.
(i)
There have been no non-exempt “prohibited transactions” described in Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code with respect to any Company
Plan or, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to an Acquired Company, any Seller Plan. There has been no breach of fiduciary duty (as determined under ERISA) or any
other failure to act or comply in connection with the administration or investment of the assets of any Company Plan.
(j)
No Company Plan provides benefits, including death or medical benefits, beyond termination of service or retirement other than (i) coverage mandated by
Law, (ii) death or retirement benefits under any Company Plan that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, or (iii) severance benefits.
(k)
No Company Plan is, and no Acquired Company has any current or contingent liability with respect to, a “multiple employer plan” (within the meaning of
Section 210 of ERISA or Section 413(c) of the Code) or a “multiple employer welfare arrangement” (as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA). No Acquired Company contributes to, or has any
obligation to contribute to, a multiemployer plan, as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA. Except as set forth on Section 4.10(k) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Acquired Company has
any current or contingent liability or obligation under Title IV of ERISA, including by reason of at any time being treated as a single employer with any other Person under Section 414 of the
Code.
(l)
No contributions are due to any Company Plan that is or was a defined benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA), and, as of March 31, 2019,
each such Benefit Plan was funded to the extent necessary to pay substantially all benefits that would reasonably be expected to be due if such Benefit Plan were terminated as of such date.
(m)
Except as set forth on Section 4.10(m) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, neither the execution of this Agreement nor the consummation of the
Transactions will (whether alone or together with any other event or events) (i) entitle any Person to any increase in any compensation or benefits (including any cash or equity award or benefit or
severance benefit) from an Acquired Company or Company Plan, (ii) accelerate the time at which any compensation, benefits or award from an Acquired Company or Company Plan may become
payable, vested or required to be funded in respect of any such Person, (iii) entitle any Person to any additional compensation, benefits or awards from an Acquired Company or Company Plan or
(iv) result in payments which would not be deductible as a result of Section 280G of the Code.
(n)
No Company Plan and, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to an Acquired Company, no Seller Plan is under audit or, to the
Knowledge of Seller, investigation by, or is the subject of a proceeding with respect to, the IRS, the Department of Labor or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
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(o)
Each Company Plan and, except as would not reasonably be expected to result in liability to an Acquired Company, each Seller Plan, in each case that is a
“nonqualified deferred compensation plan” subject to Section 409A of the Code, complies with and has been maintained in accordance with the requirements of Section 409A(a)(2), (3), and (4) of
the Code and any Department of Treasury or IRS regulations or guidance issued thereunder, and no amount under any such Company Plan or Seller Plan is or has been subject to the interest and
additional tax set forth under Section 409A(a)(1)(B) of the Code. No Acquired Company has any obligation to reimburse or otherwise “gross-up” any Person for the interest or additional tax set
forth under Section 409A(a)(1)(B) or 4999 of the Code.
4.11

Labor.

(a)
Section 4.11(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of all Company Employees, showing for each: (i) name,
(ii) employer, (iii) hire date, (iv) current job title or position (including whether full or part-time), (v) current base salary level and current target bonus, as applicable, and (vi) Fair Labor Standards
Act classification (i.e., “exempt” or “nonexempt”).
(b)
As of the date hereof, other than those collective bargaining agreements listed in Section 4.11(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, no Acquired
Company is a party to, or bound by, any collective bargaining agreement or similar agreement or arrangement with any labor union.
(c)
Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies of (i) all existing severance or other leave agreements and related policies for
any current director, manager, officer, employee or individual service provider, (ii) all employee trade secret, non-compete, non-disclosure and invention assignment agreements and (iii) all
employee manuals and handbooks applicable to any current director, manager, officer, employee or individual service provider of the Acquired Companies. The employment or consulting
arrangement of each officer, employee or individual consultant of the Acquired Companies is, subject to applicable Laws, terminable at will (without the imposition of penalties or damages) by the
applicable Acquired Company (other than employees whose terms and conditions of employment are governed by the collective bargaining agreements listed on Section 4.11(c) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule), and no Acquired Company has any severance obligations if any such officer, employee or consultant is terminated. To the Knowledge of Seller, (A) no Acquired Company
has received written notice that any executive or key employee of any Acquired Company intends to terminate his or her employment with such Acquired Company within the twelve (12) months
immediately following the date hereof and (B) no executive or key employee of any Acquired Company is a party to or bound by any confidentiality, non-competition, proprietary rights or other
similar agreement that would materially restrict the performance of such individual’s employment duties or the ability of the Acquired Companies to conduct their businesses.
(d)
The Acquired Companies have not experienced (nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, have they been threatened with) since January 1, 2016 any (i) strikes,
work stoppages, work slowdowns or lockouts pending or (ii) any union organization campaigns with respect to Company Employees or disputes concerning representation of such Company
Employees. No Acquired Company has received since January 1, 2016 any written communications of the intent of any Governmental Body responsible for the enforcement of labor or
employment Laws to conduct an
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investigation of or affecting any Acquired Company and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no such investigation is in progress.
(e)
Other than any amounts that by their terms are accrued or deferred, since January 1, 2016 the Acquired Companies have paid in full to all of
their employees, independent contractors, and other individual service providers all wages, salaries, commissions, fees, reimbursements, wage premiums, severance, bonuses, benefits and other
compensation due and payable to such employees, independent contractors and other individual service providers pursuant to any Law, Contract or policy. From January 1, 2016 through the date
hereof, the Acquired Companies have complied in all material respects with all applicable labor or employment related Laws including provisions thereof related to employment practices, terms
and conditions of employment, wage and hour, employee classifications, independent contractors, labor relations, discrimination, sexual harassment, immigration and unions. Since January 1,
2016, no Acquired Company has implemented any plant closing or mass layoff implicating the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or similar Law, nor are any such actions
currently contemplated, planned or announced.
Legal Proceedings
. As of the date hereof, except as set forth in Section 4.12 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there is no Legal Proceeding to which any Acquired Company is a party pending or,
to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened in writing, except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies. As of the
date hereof, no Acquired Company is subject to any outstanding Order, except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired
Companies.
4.13

Compliance with Laws; Permits.

(a)
Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies or as set forth on
Section 4.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, from January 1, 2016 through the date hereof, the Acquired Companies have been, and all operations of the Acquired Companies have been
conducted, in compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws of any Governmental Body and no Acquired Company has received any written notice of a violation of any Laws or of
any inquiry, proceeding or investigation (including any site inspections) by any Governmental Body alleging or based on a violation of any applicable Laws by any Acquired Company.
(b)
Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies or as set forth on
Section 4.13(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the date hereof, (i) each Acquired Company has all material Permits which are required for the operation of its business as presently
conducted, and (ii) no Acquired Company has received written notice from any Governmental Body that it is in default or violation (and no event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of
time or both, would constitute a default or violation) of any term, condition or provision of any such Permit.
(c)
No Acquired Company, nor, to the Knowledge of Seller, any of the officers, managers, directors, agents (acting on behalf of any Acquired
Company) or employees of any Acquired Company, or any other Person acting on behalf of any Acquired Company, has since January 1, 2016 (i) made or offered in violation of applicable Law
any contributions, gifts,
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entertainment or other expenses relating to political activity or in connection with the business of the Acquired Companies, (ii) made or offered in violation of applicable Law any payment or loan
to or for the benefit of any officer or employee of any Governmental Body acting in its official capacity, political party or campaign, or any customer or supplier of any Acquired Company in order
to influence any action or decision of the foregoing for the purpose of securing an improper advantage of any Acquired Company in obtaining or retaining business or to expedite or secure the
performance of acts of a routine nature, (iii) violated any Anti-Corruption Laws; (iv) established or maintained, or is maintaining, any illegal fund of corporate monies or other properties; or (v)
made, offered or proposed to make or offer any bribe, payoff, influence payment, kickback, unlawful rebate, or other similar unlawful payment in violation of applicable Law in connection with
the operation of the business of the Acquired Companies, in each case, except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired
Companies.
Environmental Matters
. Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies:
(a)
Each Acquired Company is, and since January 1, 2016 has been, in compliance with those Environmental Laws applicable to its operation. Since January
1, 2016, no Acquired Company has received any written notice, demand or claim alleging that such Acquired Company is in violation of, or liable under, any Environmental Law.
(b)
under any Environmental Law.

There are no Legal Proceedings pending or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened against any Acquired Company alleging any violation of or liability

(c)

Each Acquired Company has obtained and is in compliance with those Permits required pursuant to Environmental Law for the operation of its business as

presently conducted.
(d)
To the Knowledge of Seller, there has been no Release of any Hazardous Substances in, at, on, or under any of the Real Property in a manner that would
reasonably be expected to result in liability to any Acquired Company.
(e)
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the representations and warranties contained in this Section
4.14 and Section 4.22(f)(vi) are the only representations and warranties given by Seller with respect to environmental matters, Environmental Laws and Hazardous Substances, and no other
provisions of this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements shall be interpreted as containing any representation or warranty with respect thereto.
Brokers
. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based on arrangements made by or on
behalf of Seller, the Acquired Companies or any of their respective Affiliates. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in
connection with the Transactions based on arrangements made by or on behalf of Seller, the Acquired Companies or any of their Affiliates that will require any payment by Buyer or any Acquired
Company, or any of their respective Affiliates, after the Closing.
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Insurance
. Section 4.16 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a correct and complete list of the insurance policies covering the Acquired Companies, their assets and their
businesses as of the date hereof, other than any insurance policies in connection with a Benefit Plan (collectively, the “Insurance Policies”). All such policies are in full force and effect, all
premiums due and payable thereon have been paid (other than retroactive or retrospective premium adjustments that are not yet due but may be required to be paid with respect to any period
ending prior to the date hereof) and no notice of cancellation or termination has been received with respect to any such policy which has not been replaced on substantially similar terms prior to
the date of such cancellation; provided, however, all such Insurance Policies that are claims-made policies shall cease to cover the Acquired Companies upon the Closing with respect to claims
that arise after the Closing, and all such Insurance Policies that are occurrence-based policies shall cease to cover the Acquired Companies upon the Closing with respect to claims that relate to
events occurring after the Closing. No Acquired Company has material claims under any of the Insurance Policies for which coverage has been denied or disputed by the applicable insurance
carrier (other than a customary reservation of rights notice). There are no unpaid claims pending under any of such Insurance Policies.
Title to Assets; Sufficiency of Assets
. Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies, and except (a) for Permitted Liens, (b) as set
forth on Section 4.17 of the Company Disclosure Schedule and (c) for the services to be provided (whether or not utilized) by Seller (or its applicable Affiliates) pursuant to the Transition Services
Agreement, as of the Closing, the Acquired Companies will have good and valid title to, or valid leases, licenses or rights to use, all assets that are material to conduct the business of the Acquired
Companies, taken as a whole, in substantially the same manner as it is currently conducted. To the Knowledge of Seller, Section 4.17 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete
list of all equipment and rolling stock of the Acquired Companies as of January 31, 2020. Except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on
the Acquired Companies, and except (a) as set forth on Section 4.17 of the Company Disclosure Schedule and (b) for the services to be provided (whether or not utilized) by Seller (or its
applicable Affiliates) pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, as of the Closing, the assets of the Acquired Companies shall, in the aggregate, constitute all of the assets necessary to
conduct the business of the Acquired Companies, taken as a whole, in substantially the same manner as it is currently conducted as of the date hereof. Except as would not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies, the machinery, equipment, leasehold improvements and other tangible assets that the Acquired Companies
own or lease are in good operating condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear) and are suitable for the purposes for which they are presently used. For the avoidance of doubt, the
representations and warranties in this Section 4.17 shall not apply to, and the assets referred to herein shall not include, any rights in any real property, or real property assets, regardless whether
such rights or assets are (or are purported to be) owned, leased, vested or unvested, and whether created by deed, contract, easement, license, patent or otherwise.
Customers and Suppliers
. Section 4.18 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth the ten (10) largest customers (by total aggregate revenue received by each of the Acquired Companies) (the
“Significant Customers”) and the ten (10) largest suppliers (by total aggregate spend amounts paid to such suppliers by, or on behalf of, each of the Acquired Companies) (the “Significant
Suppliers”), in each case, of the Acquired Companies for the twelve (12)-month period ending on December 31, 2019. As of the date hereof, to the Knowledge of Seller, no
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Significant Customer or Significant Supplier has cancelled or otherwise terminated, or, to the Knowledge of Seller, threatened, to cancel or otherwise to terminate, its relationship with any
Acquired Company.
Bank Accounts
. Section 4.19 of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists all of the bank accounts in the name of any Acquired Company as of the date hereof.
Intercompany Relationships
. Except as set forth on Section 4.20 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, there are no Contracts or any other supply or service arrangements among any Seller and/or any of its
Affiliates (other than the Acquired Companies), on the one hand, and any Acquired Company, on the other hand.
Company Products and Liability
. As of the date hereof, no Acquired Company has since January 1, 2016 received written notice of any claim and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no claim is threatened, against any
Acquired Company that any of the Company Products fail to meet any applicable specifications of any Governmental Body, except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the
aggregate, to have a material effect on the Acquired Companies. Since January 1, 2016, no Acquired Company has filed, or been required to file, a notification or other report with any
Governmental Body, in response to any written inquiry from any such Governmental Body outside the ordinary course of business, concerning actual or potential hazards with respect to Company
Products.
Real Property
.
(a)
Section 4.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a current, complete, and correct list of all real property owned by Mathews (“Mathews
Owned Real Property”). None of the Mathews Owned Real Property nor any portion thereof is subject to any Liens, including any outstanding purchase options, rights of first offer or rights of
first refusal to purchase, other than Permitted Liens. Except as set forth on Section 4.22(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2016, Mathews has not received written notice
from any applicable Governmental Body indicating that its ownership, operation, occupation and/or use of the Mathews Owned Real Property is in material violation of applicable Laws, which
violation remains uncured. Mathews has not leased all or any part of the Mathews Owned Real Property.
(b)
Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies of the leases for real property listed on Section 4.22(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule
pursuant to which Mathews is a party thereunder (the “Mathews Real Property Leases” and, the real property leased pursuant to such leases, the “Mathews Leased Real Property”). There are no
binding oral Mathews Real Property Leases. Except as set forth in Section 4.22(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, since January 1, 2016 through the date hereof, Mathews has not received
written notice from any applicable Governmental Body indicating that any buildings, plants, facilities, installations, fixtures, and other structures or improvements themselves included as part of,
or located on or at, the Mathews Leased Real Property or Mathews’ activities on the Mathews Leased Real Property, are in material violation of, or in material conflict with, any applicable zoning
regulations or ordinances, which violation or conflict remains uncured.
(c)

Seller has made available to Buyer true and complete copies of the leases for real property listed on Section 4.22(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule

pursuant to which
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Western or one of its Subsidiaries is a party thereunder (the “Western Real Property Leases” and, the real property leased pursuant to such leases, the “Western Leased Real Property”). There are
no binding oral Western Real Property Leases.
(d)
Except as set forth in Section 4.22(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the date hereof, neither Western nor any of its Subsidiaries has received
written notice from any counterparty to any Western Real Property Lease indicating that it is in material default under any Western Real Property Lease, which default remains uncured. As of the
date hereof, neither Western nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) delivered or received any written notice of termination under the Western Real Property Leases; or (ii) received written notice of a
breach or default under the Western Real Property Leases that would permit the termination, modification or acceleration of any of Western’s or its Subsidiaries’ obligations under the Western
Real Property Leases.
(e)
All of the Mathews Real Property Leases are in full force and effect, and are valid and enforceable in accordance with their respective terms, subject to the
Enforceability Exceptions. Except as set forth in Section 4.22(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, as of the date hereof, Mathews has not received written notice from any counterparty to any
Mathews Real Property Lease indicating that it is in material default under any Mathews Real Property Lease, which default remains uncured. As of the date hereof, Mathews has not (i) delivered
or received any written notice of termination under the Mathews Real Property Leases; or (ii) received written notice of a breach or default under the Mathews Real Property Leases that would
permit the termination, modification or acceleration of any of the Acquired Companies’ obligations under the Mathews Real Property Leases.
(f)

Except as otherwise set forth in Section 4.22(f) of the Company Disclosure Schedule:

(i)
No portion of the Mathews Owned Real Property, nor any building, improvement or fixture thereon, is subject as of the date hereof to
condemnation proceedings, and, to the Knowledge of Seller, no condemnation or taking is threatened or contemplated.
(ii)
Neither Western nor any of its Subsidiaries has sublet all or any part of the Western Leased Real Property and Mathews has not sublet all or
any part of the Mathews Leased Real Property.
(iii)
Except as may be set forth in any title commitments relating to the Mathews Owned Real Property, to the Knowledge of Seller, no Person
other than Mathews has any right, title or interest in or to the Mathews Owned Real Property, including any right to a royalty or other payment in respect thereof, any
right of first refusal, right of first offer or similar right with respect thereto or any option or other right to purchase or sell the Mathews Owned Real Property.
(iv)
As of the date hereof, Mathews has not received written notice that it is in material violation of any covenant, condition, or restriction
affecting the Mathews Owned Real Property, which violation remains uncured.
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(v)
As of the date hereof, there are no pending land use proceedings initiated by Seller or any Acquired Company relating to or affecting the
zoning or use of the Mathews Owned Real Property (including proceedings to change the zoning or land use classification of the Mathews Owned Real Property or
the conditions applicable thereto).
(vi)
Within the five (5) year period preceding the date hereof, neither Western nor any of its Affiliates has received any written notice from any
Governmental Body of a violation of any Environmental Law relating to a Release by Western or any of its Affiliates of a Hazardous Substance with respect to the
Yuba Goldfields that has not otherwise been addressed or cured.
(g)
Section 4.22(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains, to the Knowledge of Seller, a complete and correct list of all agreements related to real
property, licenses, leases, sublet rights, options, rights of first offer, rights of first refusal, and easements (other than any Permitted Lien (which, solely for purposes of this Section 4.22(g), shall
exclude the reference to “Yuba Goldfields” in clause (a) of such definition)), in each case, in effect as of the date hereof the subject matter of which is real property rights in the Yuba Goldfields
and that have been executed by Western or its Affiliates since January 1, 1987 (collectively, the “Yuba Goldfields Agreements”). Seller has made available to Buyer a true and complete copy of
each written Yuba Goldfields Agreement, together with all amendments, exhibits and attachments thereto. To the Knowledge of Seller, since January 1, 2015 through the date hereof, neither
Western nor any of its Affiliates has received written notice from any counterparty to any Yuba Goldfields Agreement indicating that Western or any of its Affiliates is in material breach or default
under any such Yuba Goldfields Agreement, which breach or default remains uncured. Since January 1, 2015 through the date hereof, no Acquired Company or any of its Affiliates has received
written notice from any Governmental Body that it is in default or violation (and no event has occurred which, with notice or the lapse of time or both, would constitute a default or violation) of
any term, condition or provision of any Permit material to the mining operations of Western or any of its Affiliates within the Vested Rights Area, which default or violation remains uncured. Since
January 1, 2015 through the date hereof, neither Western nor any of its Affiliates has filed with any Governmental Body any application to change the zoning of the Yuba Goldfields (which, for the
avoidance of doubt, shall exclude any proceedings initiated by a Governmental Body or any other party or any responses of Western or any of its Affiliates related thereto). To the Knowledge of
Seller, Section 4.22(g) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete list of all APNs with respect to which Seller (or any of its Affiliates) pays real property Taxes for the real
property in the Yuba Goldfields.
(h)
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Agreement, Buyer acknowledges and agrees that the representations and warranties contained in this Section
4.22 are the only representations or warranties in this Agreement regarding real property assets, rights or related matters, including (i) rights in, or ownership and/or use of, real property, (ii) the
possession of or compliance with any Permits relating to such rights in, or ownership and/or use of, real property or (iii) compliance with applicable Laws related thereto, and no other provisions
of this Agreement (including Section 4.13) or the Ancillary Agreements shall be interpreted as containing any representation or warranty with respect thereto.
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(i)
Except as set forth in Section 4.22(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule or as may be deemed a Permitted Lien, to the Knowledge of Seller, since
January 1, 1987, neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates has sold, transferred, conveyed or exchanged any interest in or rights, in each case, the subject matter of which is real property rights in the
real property described on Section 4.22(i) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, to any Person.
Solvency
. Seller is not entering into the Transactions with the actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors thereof. Immediately after giving effect to the
consummation of the Transactions, Seller on a consolidated basis with its Subsidiaries will be Solvent. For purposes of this Section 4.23, the amount of any contingent liability at any time shall be
computed as the amount that would reasonably be expected to become an actual and matured liability.
ARTICLE V – REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF BUYER
Except as disclosed in the Disclosure Schedule (the “Buyer Disclosure Schedule”) delivered by Buyer to Seller in connection with this Agreement, Buyer hereby
represents and warrants to Seller as follows:
Organization and Good Standing
. Teichert is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of California. Hammonton Farms is a limited liability company duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware. Each of Teichert and Hammonton Farms has all requisite corporate or limited liability company, as
applicable, power and authority to own, operate, lease and otherwise hold its assets and to carry on its business as it is now being conducted, and is duly licensed or qualified to do business and is
in good standing in each other jurisdiction in which it owns, operates, leases or otherwise holds assets or conducts business so as to require such qualification. Neither Teichert nor Hammonton
Farms is in material violation of any of the provisions of its Organizational Documents.
Authorization of Agreement; Enforceability
. Buyer has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver and perform this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and to consummate the Transactions. The execution,
delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements by Buyer and the consummation of the Transactions have been duly authorized by all requisite action on the part of
Buyer. This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements have been duly and validly executed and delivered by Buyer and (assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the other
Parties hereto and thereto) this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to
the Enforceability Exceptions.
5.3

Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties.

(a)
Assuming all waivers, Orders and Permits described in Section 4.4(b) and Section 5.3(b) have been obtained, and all declarations, filings or notifications
described in Section 4.4(b) and Section 5.3(b), if any, have been made, none of the execution, delivery or performance by Buyer of this Agreement, or the consummation by Buyer of the
Transactions, will conflict with, or result in any violation of or default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to a right of acceleration, termination or cancellation of
any obligation
36

under, or result in the creation of any Lien upon any of the properties or assets of Buyer under, any provision of (i) the Organizational Documents of Buyer, (ii) any Contract to which Buyer is a
party or by which any of the properties or assets of Buyer are bound or (iii) any Law, Order or Permit applicable to Buyer or by which any of the properties or assets of Buyer are bound, other
than, in the case of subclauses (ii) and (iii), such items that would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to materially and adversely affect Buyer’s ability to perform its
obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.
(b)
Subject to Section 5.3(b) of the Buyer Disclosure Schedule, no waiver, Order, Permit, or declaration or filing with, or notification to, any Person (under
any Contract or otherwise) or Governmental Body is required on the part of Buyer in connection with the consummation of the Transactions, other than such waivers, Orders or Permits the failure
of which to obtain from, or declarations, fillings or notifications the failure of which to make to, any Governmental Body would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to
materially and adversely affect Buyer’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.
Legal Proceedings
. There is no Legal Proceeding to which Buyer is a party pending or, to the Knowledge of Buyer, threatened in writing, except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or
in the aggregate, to materially and adversely affect Buyer’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. Buyer is not subject to any outstanding Order,
except as would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to materially and adversely affect Buyer’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary
Agreements.
Brokers
. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based on arrangements made by or on
behalf of Buyer or any of its Affiliates. No broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’s or other fee or commission in connection with the Transactions based on
arrangements made by or on behalf of Buyer or any of their Affiliates that will require any payment by Seller or any of its Affiliates after the Closing.
Solvency
. Buyer is not entering into the Transactions with the actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors thereof. Immediately after giving effect to the
consummation of the Transactions, Buyer on a consolidated basis with its Subsidiaries (including the Acquired Companies) will be Solvent. For purposes of this Section 5.6, the amount of any
contingent liability at any time shall be computed as the amount that would reasonably be expected to become an actual and matured liability.
Investment Intent
. Buyer is acquiring the Interests for its own account with the present intention of holding the Interests for investment purposes and not with a view to, or for sale in connection with,
any distribution of such securities in violation of any federal or state securities Laws. Buyer is an “accredited investor” as defined in Regulation D promulgated by the Securities and Exchange
Commission under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”). Buyer acknowledges that it is informed as to the risks of the Transactions and of ownership of the
Interests. Buyer acknowledges that the Interests have not been registered under the Securities Act or any other securities Laws and that the Interests may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale,
assigned, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise disposed of unless such
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transfer, sale, assignment, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition is pursuant to the terms of an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and the Interests are registered under any
other applicable securities Laws or transferred pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act and any other applicable securities Laws.
Investigation
. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in Article IV (subject to the limitations on Seller’s liability with respect to the breach thereof as set forth in this
Agreement), Buyer acknowledges that it is relying on its own independent investigation and analysis in entering into the Transactions. Buyer is knowledgeable about the industries in which the
Acquired Companies operate and is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of the Transactions and is able to bear the substantial economic risk of such investment for an indefinite period of
time. Buyer has been afforded full access to those books and records, facilities and personnel of the Acquired Companies for which it has requested access for purposes of conducting a due
diligence investigation.
No Other Representations or Warranties
. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in Article IV (as modified by the Company Disclosure Schedule), Buyer acknowledges that none of Seller, the
Acquired Companies or their respective Affiliates, or any other Person on behalf of any of them makes or has made, and Buyer has not relied upon, any express or implied representation or
warranty with respect to, or on behalf of, Seller or the Acquired Companies, or any of their respective Affiliates, or their respective businesses or properties or with respect to any other
information, documents, presentations, forecasts, budgets or estimates provided or made available to Buyer in connection with this Agreement or the Transactions, including in any “data rooms”
or management presentations, including the accuracy or completeness thereof, and Seller, the Acquired Companies and their respective Affiliates hereby disclaim any such representation or
warranty whether by Seller or the Acquired Companies, or any of their respective Affiliates, or any other Person on behalf of any of them. Buyer understands that the Acquired Companies own or
have rights to, or purport to have rights to, or utilize, real property and improvements (for which Seller makes no representations or warranties other than as expressly set forth in Article IV (if
any)). In acquiring the Acquired Companies, Buyer acknowledges that Buyer is indirectly acquiring certain rights in, or ownership and/or use of, real property held or owned by Western or any of
its Subsidiaries, including rights in, or ownership and/or use of, real property utilized by the Acquired Companies in the Yuba Goldfields (together, the “Disclaimed Real Estate”), and does so,
subject to the representations, warranties and indemnities in this Agreement, “AS IS, WHERE IS” AND “WITH ALL FAULTS, LIABILITIES, AND DEFECTS, LATENT OR OTHERWISE,
KNOWN OR UNKNOWN,” in their present state and condition, with no right of recourse against Seller (or any related or affiliated party) for same. Buyer acknowledges that Buyer has been, or
will be, given the opportunity to conduct its own investigation as to any matter, fact, or issue that might influence Buyer’s decision to purchase the Acquired Companies. Buyer acknowledges that
Seller and Seller’s agents, contractors, consultants, attorneys, and representatives have not made, do not make, and specifically negate and disclaim, and Buyer is not relying on, any
representations, warranties, promises, covenants, agreements or guaranties of any kind or character whatsoever, whether express or implied, oral or written, past, present or future, of, as to,
concerning, or with respect to the Disclaimed Real Estate, except as expressly set forth in Section 4.6(b)(x) and Section 4.22, including any of the following: the value of the Disclaimed Real
Estate; any income to be derived from the Disclaimed Real Estate; the suitability of the Disclaimed Real Estate for any and all activities and uses which Buyer may conduct thereon, including the
possibilities for future development of the Disclaimed Real Estate;
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the habitability, merchantability, marketability, profitability or fitness for a particular purpose of the Disclaimed Real Estate; the manner, quality, state of repair or lack of repair on the Disclaimed
Real Estate; the nature, quality or condition of the Disclaimed Real Estate, including with respect to water conditions, soil, geological or geotechnical condition (including soil expansiveness,
corrosiveness, or stability, or seismic, hydrological, geological and topographical conditions and configurations, including any opinions or conclusions of any soils engineer(s) retained to perform
geotechnical and/or soils studies or to oversee any soils engineering aspects of developing the Disclaimed Real Estate); the manner or quality of the construction or materials, if any, incorporated
into the Disclaimed Real Estate; compliance with any environmental protection, pollution or land use laws, rules, regulations, orders, codes or requirements (except as may relate to a release of
Hazardous Substances), including, but not limited to, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, California Health & Safety Codes, Environmental Laws and regulations promulgated under any
of the foregoing (all as have been or may be amended from time to time); the presence or absence of any underground storage tanks on the Disclaimed Real Estate or on property adjacent to or
near the Disclaimed Real Estate; the content, completeness or accuracy of any feasibility or due diligence documents, any other materials related to Buyer’s feasibility review, or any preliminary
reports or other reports or commitments regarding title to the Disclaimed Real Estate; the conformity of the Disclaimed Real Estate to past, current or future applicable zoning or building
requirements; deficiency of any undershoring; deficiency of any drainage; the fact that all or a portion of the Disclaimed Real Estate may be located on or near an earthquake fault line or in or near
an earthquake or seismic hazard zone; the fact that all or a portion of the Disclaimed Real Estate may be located in or near a “wildlands” area or a state fire responsibility area; the existence of
vested land use, zoning or building entitlements affecting the Disclaimed Real Estate; water rights or the availability of or access to water; the availability of or access to sewer improvements; or
utilities or availability thereof.
ARTICLE VI – COVENANTS
6.1

Confidentiality; Preservation of Books and Records.

(a)
The Confidentiality Agreement will terminate at the Closing. Following the Closing, without the prior written consent of the other Party, Buyer shall not
disclose any other confidential or proprietary information and data of Seller and its Affiliates (except to the extent related to the Acquired Companies), and Seller shall not disclose any other
confidential or proprietary information and data of Buyer and its Affiliates (including with respect to the Acquired Companies) (collectively, the “Confidential Information”); provided, however,
that Confidential Information shall not include information that (i) is or becomes generally available to the public other than as a result of a disclosure, in violation of this Agreement, by the
receiving Party or its representatives, (ii) is or becomes available to the receiving Party on a non-confidential basis from a source that the receiving Party does not have reason to believe to be
bound by an obligation or duty of confidentiality or another legal, fiduciary or contractual obligation of confidentiality or secrecy, or (iii) is independently developed by the receiving Party or its
representatives after the Closing without use of or reference to any of the Confidential Information. The receiving Party may disclose Confidential Information to the extent required by applicable
Law; provided, that to the extent legally permissible, the receiving Party shall notify the disclosing Party of its intention to make such disclosure and provide a list of the Confidential Information
that the receiving Party intends to disclose prior to making such disclosure. The receiving Party agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to seek an appropriate protective order or other
remedy with
39

respect to disclosing the Confidential Information. In the event that such a protective order or other remedy is not obtained, the receiving Party (A) will furnish only that portion of the
Confidential Information that in the opinion of the receiving Party’s outside legal counsel is required by applicable Law to be disclosed and (B) will use its reasonable best efforts to obtain an
order or other reliable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded to such of the disclosed information that the disclosing Party so designates.
(b)
For six (6) years from and after the date hereof, Buyer shall, and shall cause its Affiliates to, retain all books, records and other documents of the Acquired
Companies relating to periods prior to the date hereof and make the same available for inspection and copying by Seller during normal business hours upon reasonable request and upon reasonable
notice.
Publicity
. Buyer and Seller agree to cooperate with each other prior to any public disclosure of this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements or the Transactions. Buyer and Seller agree that no
public release or announcement concerning the terms of this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements or the Transactions shall be issued by either Party or any Affiliate without the prior consent of
the other Party, except (a) for such release or announcement as may be required by Law or the rules and regulations of any applicable stock exchange upon which the securities of Eagle Materials
or any publicly traded entity resulting from the Spin-Off are listed, or the requirements of any self-regulatory body, in which case Eagle Materials shall use commercially reasonable efforts to
allow Buyer reasonable time to comment on such release or announcement in advance of such issuance (and will consider any such comments in good faith) or (b) to the extent the contents of
such release or announcement have previously been released publicly or are consistent in all material respects with materials that have previously been released publicly (without violation of this
Section 6.2).
6.3

Employment and Employee Benefits.

(a)
As of and after the date hereof, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause to be recognized the service of Company Employees with the
applicable Acquired Company prior to the date hereof as service with Buyer and its Affiliates under each employee benefit plan, policy or arrangement (including vacations, sick time, paid time
off leave and severance policies) sponsored by Buyer or any of its Affiliates for such Company Employees (including any Benefit Plans) for purposes of any waiting period, vesting, eligibility and
benefit entitlement; provided, that such service shall not be credited to the extent such credit would result in any duplication of compensation or benefits. This Section 6.3 shall not apply to
Company Employees whose terms and conditions of employment are governed by a collective bargaining agreement.
(b)
Except as otherwise set forth in Section 6.3(g), effective as of the Closing (or as soon thereafter as reasonably practicable), each Company Employee shall
be given the opportunity to begin participating in any qualified retirement plan or other employee benefit plan sponsored by Buyer or any Affiliate of Buyer (including any health or welfare
benefit plan) if the Company Employee meets the eligibility requirements for such plans after taking into account the employee’s service, if any, credited under Section 6.3(a).
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(c)
On and after the date hereof, each Company Employee shall be credited under Buyer’s vacation, sick leave and personal time policies with vacation, sick
leave or personal time that is earned but unused as of the date hereof.
(d)
Buyer shall be responsible for providing short-term and long-term disability benefits to any Company Employee who was on short-term or long-term
disability leave immediately prior to the date hereof.
(e)
Effective as of the Closing, Buyer shall allow each Company Employee who both (i) remains employed with an Acquired Company following the Closing
(a “Continuing Company Employee”) and (ii) immediately prior to the Closing was eligible to participate in a tax-qualified defined contribution plan maintained by Seller or its Affiliates (a
“Seller 401(k) Plan”) to participate in a tax-qualified defined contribution plan or plans, if any, with a cash or deferred feature (the “Buyer 401(k) Plan”) maintained for the benefit of Buyer’s
employees immediately prior to the Closing to the same extent and for the same purpose as similarly situated employees of Buyer who participate in the Buyer 401(k) Plan. As soon as practicable
after the date hereof, the Seller 401(k) Plan shall, to the extent permitted by Section 401(k)(10) of the Code and the Seller 401(k) Plan, make distributions available to Company Employees, and
the Buyer 401(k) Plan shall accept any such distribution (including loans), as a rollover contribution if so directed by the Continuing Company Employee to the extent permitted by the terms of the
Buyer 401(k) Plan. Seller and Buyer shall reasonably cooperate to effectuate such rollover contributions by Continuing Company Employees.
(f)
On or prior to the date hereof, Seller shall pay, or cause the Acquired Companies to pay, any and all Liabilities, if any, relating to annual bonuses with
respect to the period prior to the Closing for each Company Employee who is or would be eligible to receive any annual bonus under any Benefit Plan pursuant to the terms thereof and shall pay
such bonuses in accordance with the terms of such Benefit Plans. Any such Liabilities shall, to the extent unpaid by the Acquired Companies at or prior to Closing, constitute Transaction
Expenses. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Seller and its Affiliates shall not have or otherwise incur any liability, including in respect of (i) any and all costs related to Buyer’s
termination of any Company Employee, including severance or other termination costs, (ii) Company Employees whose terms and conditions of employment are governed by a collective
bargaining agreement, or (iii) terminations or layoffs of Company Employees that may implicate the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or similar Law (whether federal or state
Laws), in each case, arising in connection with actions that are taken or initiated by Buyer or any of its Affiliates at or following the Closing or that are otherwise incurred following the Closing.
(g)
With respect to Company Employees and their eligible dependents who participate in Seller Plans providing medical, dental or vision benefits as of
Closing (collectively, “COBRA Participants”), Seller and its Affiliates shall, to the extent requested by Buyer, use commercially reasonable efforts to treat the consummation of the Transactions as
a “qualifying event” for purposes of Section 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA (“COBRA”), such that COBRA Participants shall be provided with continuation coverage required under COBRA
in connection with a “qualifying event” (“Continuation Coverage”); provided, however, that Buyer shall establish its own health and welfare benefit plans for the benefit of Continuing Company
Employees (or designate the Continuing Company Employees as eligible for existing health and welfare benefit plans) no later than June 1, 2020 (the “Benefit Transition Date”). Buyer shall
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reimburse Seller and its Affiliates for all out-of-pocket costs incurred by Seller and its Affiliates in connection with the provision of Continuation Coverage pursuant to this Section 6.3(g)
(including with respect to any COBRA Participants who continue to receive Continuation Coverage following the Benefit Transition Date and with respect to claims reported after the Benefit
Transition Date), it being understood that such reimbursements shall include, but not be limited to, (i) with respect to each COBRA Participant, the full cost that Seller and its Affiliates charge in
the ordinary course of business for Continuation Coverage, to be paid monthly by Buyer, and (ii) the amount by which the aggregate out-of-pocket cost of providing the Continuation Coverage
(including with respect to any claims incurred by COBRA Participants) exceeds the aggregate premium amount that relates to such Continuation Coverage, which amount shall be paid by Buyer
within five (5) Business Days following receipt of an invoice from Seller reflecting such amount.
(h)
Without limiting the generality of Section 8.8, the provisions of this Section 6.3 are solely for the benefit of the Parties and no current or former employee,
director, independent contractor, or any other individual associated therewith shall be regarded for any purpose as a third party beneficiary of this Agreement, and nothing herein shall be construed
as an amendment to any Benefit Plan or other employee benefit plan (including any benefit plan of Buyer or its Affiliates) for any purpose. Nothing contained in this Section 6.3 (whether express
or implied) shall (i) be deemed to require Buyer or any Acquired Company to employ Company Employees for any fixed or predetermined time following the Closing or otherwise create or confer
any rights, remedies or claims upon any Company Employee or any right of employment or engagement or continued employment or engagement or any particular term or condition of
employment or engagement for any Company Employee or any other Person, (ii) be considered or deemed to establish, amend, or modify any plan or any other benefit or compensation plan,
program, policy, agreement, arrangement or contract, or (iii) prohibit or limit the ability of Buyer (including, following the Closing, an Acquired Company) to amend, modify or terminate any
benefit or compensation plan, program, policy, agreement, arrangement or contract at any time assumed, established, sponsored or maintained by any of them.
6.4

Assistance and Cooperation.

(a)
Each Party shall execute and deliver, or shall cause to be executed and delivered, such documents and other papers and shall take, or shall cause to be
taken, such further actions as may be reasonably required (i) to carry out the provisions of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and give effect to the Transactions and the Ancillary
Agreements, including the transfer of any Permits used by the Acquired Companies but held by Seller or any Affiliate of Seller and the preparation and recordation of any deeds or other
conveyances of the Real Property or Yuba Goldfields, or (ii) to assist Buyer in its dismissal of the appeal pending before the California Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, entitled A.
Teichert & Son, Inc., v. California State Mining and Geology Board, et al. (3rd DCA No. C082333) (the “Vested Rights Appeal”) at the sole cost and expense of Buyer without any liability or
payment from Seller or its Affiliates. Subject to clause (ii) of this Section 6.4(a), and notwithstanding Section 8.12, Seller agrees to provide a waiver of conflicts solely to the extent necessary for
Buyer to engage Jeffer Mangels Butler & Mitchell LLP in connection with the dismissal of the Vested Rights Appeal.
(b)

If, after the Closing, Seller receives any funds from a third party that are the property of any Acquired Company, Seller shall remit any such funds as

promptly as practicable
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to Buyer. If, after the Closing, Buyer or any Acquired Company receives any funds from a third party that are the property of Seller or its Affiliates, Buyer shall remit any such funds as promptly
as practicable to Seller.
6.5

Tax Matters.

(a)
All Tax Returns for Taxes and Tax items relating to the operations or assets of either of the Acquired Companies, but not imposed on any of the Acquired
Companies, ending on or prior to the date hereof (“Flow-Through Returns”) shall be prepared and filed under the control of Seller. Seller shall pay or cause to be paid all Taxes when due for the
Acquired Companies for any Tax year or period (or portion thereof) ending on or prior to the date hereof.
(b)
Other than Flow-Through Returns described in Section 6.5(a), Buyer shall control the preparation and filing of all other Tax Returns for Pre-Closing
Periods and Straddle Periods with respect to the Acquired Companies that are not due on or before fifteen (15) days following the date hereof (including applicable extensions). With respect to all
Pre-Closing Periods and Straddle Periods, such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner consistent with past practice unless otherwise required by applicable Law and the agreements in this
Section 6.5. Buyer shall provide Seller with copies of all income Tax Returns for any Pre-Closing Period or Straddle Period required to be prepared and filed by Buyer pursuant to this Section
6.5(b) no later than thirty (30) days prior to the due date for filing thereof (including applicable extensions) for Seller’s review and approval (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed).
(c)
Straddle Period Tax Allocation. In the case of any Taxes of any Acquired Company that are payable with respect to any Straddle Period, the portion of any
such Taxes that are allocable to the portion of the Straddle Period ending on the date hereof shall, (i) in the case of Taxes that are based upon or related to income, receipts or expenditures, be
deemed equal to the amount that would be payable if the Tax year or period ended at the close of the date hereof, and (ii) in the case of all other Taxes with respect to the property or assets of the
Acquired Companies as of the date hereof, be deemed to be the amount of such Taxes for the entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of calendar days
in the portion of the Straddle Period ending on and including the date hereof and the denominator of which is the number of calendar days in the entire Straddle Period. Any payments owed to
Buyer or Seller, as applicable, under this Section 6.5(c) shall be made within sixty (60) days after the receipt of Buyer’s or Seller’s invoice with appropriate substantiation of Straddle Period Tax
allocation. The applicable Party shall prepare and send its invoice within a reasonable period of time once the payment amount is determined based on either (A) the filing of the Tax Return or (B)
the payment of Taxes to the applicable Governmental Body.
(d)
None of Buyer, its Affiliates, and, after the Closing, any Acquired Company, shall amend or cause to be amended any Tax Return of the Acquired
Companies that relates to any Pre-Closing Period without the consent of Seller (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed). Buyer and its Affiliates shall promptly
notify Eagle Materials of any examination, audit, claim, assessment, deficiency or Legal Proceeding that arises after the Closing in respect of any Taxes of the Acquired Companies for Pre-Closing
Periods and make available to Eagle Materials all information, records and documents provided by or to any Taxing authorities related to any such examination, audit, claim, assessment,
deficiency or Legal Proceeding. The Parties shall cooperate fully in preparing for and defending any audits of,
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or disputes with, any Taxing authorities regarding any Taxes of the Acquired Companies, and Eagle Materials shall be entitled to control the correspondence with any such Taxing authorities
regarding, and the defense of, any such audits or disputes that relate to the portion of any Taxes for which Seller would be liable under this Agreement, other than with respect to Straddle
Periods. Buyer shall be entitled to control the correspondence with any such Taxing authorities regarding, and the defense of, any such audits or disputes that include the Straddle Periods;
provided, that Buyer shall keep Eagle Materials apprised of the status of matters relating to such audits or disputes and promptly notify Eagle Materials of any substantive communication it or any
of its Affiliates or any of their respective representatives receives from any Taxing authority relating to such audits or disputes and permit Eagle Materials to review in advance and participate in
any proposed communication by Buyer or its Affiliates to any Taxing authority.
(e)
Any Tax refund received by Buyer, its Affiliates or any Acquired Company to the extent that such refund relates to any Pre-Closing Period of the Acquired
Companies shall be for the account of Seller, together with interest received from the applicable Governmental Body with respect to any such refund or portion thereof, and Buyer shall pay over to
Seller any such refund within thirty (30) days of receipt thereof.
(f)
Transfer Taxes. Buyer and Seller shall each be responsible for fifty percent (50%) of all sales, use, stamp, recordation, registration or similar transfer Taxes
imposed on or with respect to the Transactions. Within seventy (70) days after the date hereof, Buyer shall provide to Seller a copy of the draft asset allocation and valuation report prepared for
Buyer by an independent, third party valuation and appraisal firm with respect to the Transactions (the “Valuation Report”). If Seller disagrees with the Valuation Report with respect to any
amounts in which Seller would be responsible for any transfer Taxes, Seller shall provide Buyer with any comments to the Valuation Report within fifteen (15) days after receipt thereof, which
such comments shall be considered by (and discussed with) Buyer in good faith; provided, that if, after such good faith discussions, Buyer and Seller are unable to reach such agreement on such
amounts, Buyer shall be entitled to finalize and submit to the appropriate Governmental Body any change in ownership reports or similar filings that relate to transfer Taxes that may be due with
respect to the Transactions with amounts regarding such disputed items as Buyer shall determine.
(g)
Tax Treatment. Buyer and Seller agree to treat, for U.S. federal income Tax purposes (and applicable state and local Tax purposes), the sale of all of the
Interests of the Companies by Seller to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement as if Seller sold to Buyer all of the assets of the Companies in exchange for the amount treated as consideration for U.S.
federal income Tax purposes (the “Agreed Tax Treatment”).
6.6

D&O Insurance.

(a)
For purposes of this Section 6.6, “Indemnified Director and Officer” shall mean any person who was, is now, or has been at any time prior to the Closing,
an officer, manager or director of any Acquired Company, or has been at any time prior to the Closing, an officer, manager or director of any Acquired Company who was serving at the request of
any Acquired Company as an officer, manager or director of another Person.
(b)

Prior to the date hereof, the Companies have obtained, at the cost of Seller, prepaid “tail” insurance policies, which policies provide each Indemnified

Director and Officer
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with coverage of $3,000,000 for an aggregate period of six (6) years with respect to claims arising from facts or events that occurred on or before the Closing, including in connection with the
adoption and approval of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the Transactions.
(c)
Subject to applicable Law, the rights of any Indemnified Director and Officer under this Section 6.6 shall be in addition to any other rights such
Indemnified Director and Officer may have under the Organizational Documents of the Acquired Companies or any other Contracts as in effect on the date hereof, which such rights shall be
maintained by Buyer for at least six (6) years following the date hereof. The provisions of this Section 6.6 shall survive the consummation of the Transactions, and are expressly intended to
benefit, and to be enforceable by, each of the Indemnified Directors and Officers and their respective heirs and personal representatives.
(d)
If Buyer or any Acquired Company, or any of their respective successors or assigns, transfers or conveys all or substantially all of their properties and
assets to any other Person or consolidates with or merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving Person of such consolidation or merger, then, in each such case, to the
extent necessary, proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Buyer or such Acquired Company, as the case may be, shall assume the obligations of Buyer or such
Acquired Company set forth in this Section 6.6.
6.7

Insurance.

(a)
From and after the Closing, each Acquired Company shall cease to be insured by Seller or any of Seller’s Affiliates’ current claims-made insurance
policies or programs or by any of their current claims-made self-insured programs, and, except as otherwise set forth in this Section 6.7, neither Buyer, the Acquired Companies nor their respective
Affiliates shall have any access, right, title or interest to or in any such claims-made insurance policies, programs or self-insured programs (including to all claims and rights to make claims and all
rights to proceeds) to cover any assets of any Acquired Company or any Liability arising from the operation of the business of the Acquired Companies. Seller or any of its Affiliates may amend
any insurance policies and ancillary arrangements in the manner it deems appropriate to give effect to this Section 6.7. From and after the Closing, Buyer shall be responsible for securing all
insurance with respect to the operation of the Acquired Companies, provided that Seller shall continue to maintain the Acquired Companies as named insureds or loss payees on all historical
occurrence-based policies with respect to the period prior to the date hereof.
(b)
Notwithstanding Section 6.7(a), with respects to acts, omissions, events or circumstances relating to the Acquired Companies that occurred or existed prior
to the Closing that are covered by occurrence-based insurance policies of Seller or any of its Affiliates under which an Acquired Company is an insured prior to Closing, Seller and its Affiliates
shall make such claims for coverage as reasonably requested by Buyer or any Acquired Company and use commercially reasonable efforts to cooperate with Buyer in connection with any such
claim for coverage and the receipt of insurance proceeds on behalf of an Acquired Company, subject to the terms and conditions of such occurrence-based policies and this Agreement, to the
extent such coverage and limits are available. Buyer shall promptly repay or reimburse Seller and its Affiliates, or cause Seller and its Affiliates to be promptly repaid or reimbursed, for all costs
and expenses incurred by Seller and its Affiliates in collecting such proceeds, including the amount of
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any deductibles and self-insured retentions associated with any such claims made by Seller or any of its Affiliates under such occurrence-based policies, and Buyer and its Affiliates (including the
Acquired Companies) shall be liable for all uninsured, uncovered, unavailable or uncollectible amounts of such claims. For the avoidance of doubt, from and after the Closing, none of Buyer or
the Acquired Companies shall have any right to directly make claims or seek coverage under any of the insurance policies provided or made available to the Acquired Companies by Seller or any
of its Affiliates.
Litigation Support
. In the event, and for so long as, Buyer or Seller or any of their respective Affiliates (the “Initiating Party”) is prosecuting, contesting or defending any Legal Proceeding,
investigation, charge, claim or demand by a third party that is not a Governmental Body in connection with the Transactions or the business of the Acquired Companies (other than the Vested
Rights Appeal, which is governed by Section 6.4(a)), the non-Initiating Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates (and its and their officers and employees) to, reasonably cooperate with the
Initiating Party and its counsel in such prosecution, contest or defense, including making reasonably available its personnel, and provide such testimony and access to their books and records as
shall be reasonably necessary in connection with such prosecution, contest or defense, in each case, at the Initiating Party’s sole cost.
6.9

Use of Names.

(a)
As soon as reasonably practicable, but in any event within ninety (90) days after the date hereof, Buyer shall, and shall cause each of its Affiliates
(including the Acquired Companies) to, (i) cease to hold itself out as having any affiliation with Seller or any of its Affiliates (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding the Acquired Companies), (ii)
cease and discontinue use of all Trademarks, domain names and other source or business identifiers of Eagle Materials Inc. (together with all Trademarks, domain names and other source or
business identifiers confusingly similar to or embodying any of the foregoing, “Seller Name”) and (iii) complete the removal of the Seller Name from all products, signage, properties, technical
information, stationery and promotional or other marketing materials and other assets; provided, that, notwithstanding such ninety (90) day period, the Buyer shall not use the Seller Name at any
time following the Closing in any manner that reflects negatively on Seller or its Affiliates. Each of the Parties hereto acknowledges and agrees that the remedy at Law for any breach of the
requirements of this Section 6.9 would be inadequate and agrees and consents that without intending to limit any additional remedies that may be available, Seller and its Affiliates shall be entitled
to specific performance of the terms hereof and immediate injunctive relief and other equitable relief, without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of money damages as a remedy, and the
Parties hereto further hereby agree to waive any requirement for the securing or posting of bond or other undertaking in any action which may be brought to enforce any of the provisions of this
Section 6.9.
(b)
Buyer hereby acknowledges and agrees that (i) Buyer is not acquiring, and no Acquired Company is retaining, any right, title or interest in or to, or right to
use, the Seller Name and (ii) following the Closing, none of Buyer, the Acquired Companies or any of their respective Affiliates shall have any right, title or interest in or to, or right to use, and
Buyer covenants that it and its Affiliates (including, after Closing, the Acquired Companies) will not hereafter adopt, use, apply to register or register, or authorize others to adopt, use, apply to
register or register, any Trademarks consisting of, incorporating or confusingly similar to the Seller Name.
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Guarantees; Commitments
. In the event that, as of the Closing, Buyer or one of its Affiliates shall not have substituted itself for Seller and any of its Affiliates under, and caused Seller and its Affiliates to be
released from, any guarantees, indemnities, letters of credit, letters of comfort, performance bonds, commitments, understandings, agreements and other obligations of such Persons related to the
Acquired Companies set forth on Section 6.10 of the Company Disclosure Schedule (collectively, the “Guarantees”), if any, (a) Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause itself or
one of its Affiliates (including the Acquired Companies) to be substituted for Seller and any of its Affiliates, and for Seller and any of its Affiliates to be released, in respect of all obligations of
Seller and any of its Affiliates under any Guarantee and (b) Buyer shall indemnify and hold harmless Seller and its Affiliates against any Losses that Seller or any of its Affiliates suffers, incurs or
is liable for by reason of or arising out of or in consequence of such Guarantee. Without limiting the foregoing, if Seller and its Affiliates shall not have been released from any Guarantee, after
the Closing, Buyer will not, and will not permit any of its Affiliates to, renew, extend, amend or supplement any loan, contract, lease or other obligation that is covered by a Guarantee without
providing Seller with evidence satisfactory to Seller that such Guarantee has been released. Any cash or other collateral posted by Seller or one of its Affiliates (other than the Acquired
Companies to the extent any such cash or other collateral was taken into account in the calculation of the Closing Purchase Price) and received by Buyer or any of its Affiliates after the Closing in
respect of any Guarantee shall be delivered to Seller.
Restrictive Covenants
. Seller understands that Buyer shall be entitled to protect and preserve the going concern value of the business of the Acquired Companies to the extent permitted by Law and that
Buyer would not have entered into this Agreement absent the provisions of this Section 6.11 and, therefore, Seller agrees as follows:
(a)
Non-Compete. For a period of three (3) years from the date hereof, Seller shall not, and shall cause each of its Affiliates not to, directly or indirectly own,
maintain, engage in, or participate or have any interest in the operation of any aggregate mining business or ready-mix concrete business (collectively, the “Restricted Activities” and, each
individually a “Restricted Activity”) within a 60-mile radius from the front gate of the aggregate mine owned by Western in Marysville, California; provided, that, notwithstanding the foregoing,
3D Concrete LLC shall be permitted to continue to operate within the geographic regions that it operated in as of the Closing. This Section 6.11(a) shall not apply to, and shall not be deemed
breached as a result of, the ownership by Seller or any of its Affiliates of securities in a publicly held Person engaged, directly or indirectly, in Restricted Activities that in the aggregate represent
less than an aggregate of 5% of the outstanding beneficial ownership of such Person engaged, directly or indirectly, in Restricted Activities.
(b)
Non-Solicit. For a period of two (2) years from the date hereof, Seller shall not, and shall cause each of its Affiliates not to, directly or indirect, solicit the
employment of, or cause or attempt to cause to leave the employment of any Acquired Company, any Person who is, or was in the prior six (6) months, employed by any Acquired Company;
provided, however, that this Section 6.11(b) shall not apply to, or restrict, Seller or its Affiliates from soliciting or hiring any employee (i) who responds to a general solicitation or advertisement
that is not specifically targeted or direct at employees of any Acquired Company or (ii) whose employment has been terminated by any Acquired Company.
Delivery of Books and Records; Data Room
.
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(a)
Seller will deliver, or cause to be delivered, the books and records of the Acquired Companies (other than books and records related to the Yuba
Goldfields), including minute books and stock records (as applicable), to Buyer as promptly as practicable following the date hereof, but in any event within ten (10) Business Days of the date
hereof; provided, that Seller or its Affiliates, as applicable, shall be permitted to retain copies of such books and records in accordance with their internal document retention policies and
practices. Within ninety (90) days following the date hereof, Seller will deliver, or cause to be delivered, at Buyer’s sole cost and expense all records, reports or analyses related to the Yuba
Goldfields in the possession or under the control of Seller or its Affiliates as of immediately prior to the Closing.
(b)
Within two (2) Business Days following the date hereof, Seller shall grant Buyer such permissions as needed for Buyer to download all of the materials
(free of any watermarks) contained in the virtual data room established by Seller through Donnelley Financial Solutions Venue (Project Gold) in connection with the Transactions.
6.13

Teichert Guarantee.

(a)
Teichert hereby absolutely, irrevocably and unconditionally guarantees to Seller (and its successors and assigns) the payment and performance of Buyer’s
obligations herein as and when the same shall be due and payable, whether upon demand by Seller or by lapse of time, by acceleration of maturity or otherwise, and Teichert is hereby made fully
responsible for the acts and omissions of Buyer that constitute a breach of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement (collectively, the “Teichert Guarantee”). This Teichert Guarantee shall be a
full, unconditional, irrevocable, absolute and continuing guarantee of payment and performance and not a guarantee of collection, and Teichert shall remain liable for Buyer’s obligations herein
until the payment in full of all such obligations, provided that such Teichert Guarantee shall be subject to Teichert’s right to all defenses that Buyer has or would have had available to it (other than
pursuant to a bankruptcy proceeding of Buyer).
(b)
The Teichert Guarantee shall not be released, discharged, diminished or impaired by (i) any setoff, counterclaim, defense, act or occurrence which Teichert
may have against Seller or any of its Affiliates as a result of or arising out of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or any other transaction, (ii) the renewal, extension, modification or
alteration by Seller or any of its Affiliates or Buyer, with or without the knowledge or consent of Teichert, of this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or of any Liability of Buyer hereunder or
thereunder, (iii) any forbearance or compromise granted to Buyer by Seller when dealing with Buyer, except to the extent of such forbearance or compromise, (iv) any change in corporate structure
or ownership of Seller or Buyer or the bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, receivership, dissolution, winding-up or termination of Seller or Buyer, (v) the inaccuracy of any of the representations
and warranties of Seller or any of its Affiliates or Buyer under this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement, (vi) any neglect, delay, omission, failure or refusal of Seller or any of its Affiliates to
take or prosecute any action in connection with this Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or (vii) the full or partial release of Buyer from any Liability, except that Teichert shall be released
pro tanto to the extent Seller expressly releases Buyer from a Liability hereunder.
(c)
Teichert waives notice of (i) acceptance of this Teichert Guarantee and (ii) the creation, renewal, extension, modification, alteration or existence of any
Liability of Buyer hereunder or under any Ancillary Agreement.
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(d)
If under applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent transfer, moratorium or other similar laws of general application with respect to
creditors, Seller is required to refund part or all of any payment hereunder to Buyer, such payment shall not constitute a release from any Liability hereunder, and Teichert’s Liability and other
obligations hereunder shall be reinstated to such extent.
Post-Closing Conveyances
. If, at any time after the date hereof but prior to the five (5) year anniversary of the date hereof, Buyer identifies any real property interests or rights located in Yuba
County, California held by Seller or any of its Affiliates (other than the Acquired Companies) as of immediately prior to Closing that for any reason whatsoever were not conveyed or otherwise
transferred or assigned to one of the Acquired Companies prior to or at Closing (the “Retained Property”), Seller will promptly, and in any event within thirty (30) days from the earlier of Buyer’s
written notice to Seller of its identification of any such Retained Property, cause any Retained Property to be conveyed to Buyer or its designated Affiliate by quitclaim deed in the form attached
hereto as Exhibit A or other equivalent conveyance instrument reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and Seller, and in any case, such quitclaim deed or other equivalent conveyance instrument shall
not contain any representations or warranties by Seller or its applicable Affiliate with respect to the Retained Property being conveyed, and no conveyance of such Retained Property shall result in
any liability to Seller or its Affiliates. Neither Seller nor any of its Affiliates shall knowingly transfer or convey any Retained Property or any rights therein to any third party following the
Closing, other than as provided by this Section 6.14. Seller shall not be entitled to any additional consideration for any conveyances made pursuant to this Section 6.14.
ARTICLE VII – INDEMNITY
Survival of Representations and Warranties
. The Fundamental Seller Representations and the Fundamental Buyer Representations shall survive until the date that is sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable statute
of limitations period, unless, in each case, on or prior to such date a claim for indemnification, in accordance with the notice requirements under Section 7.4, is made with respect to any such
representation or warranty, in which case such representation or warranty shall survive until, but only for the purposes of, the resolution of such claim. The representations and warranties of Seller
contained in Article IV (other than the Fundamental Seller Representations) and the representations and warranties of Buyer contained in Article V (other than the Fundamental Buyer
Representations) shall survive until the date that is eighteen (18) months after the date hereof, unless on or prior to such date a claim for indemnification, in accordance with the notice
requirements under Section 7.4, is made with respect to any such representation or warranty, in which case such representation or warranty shall survive until, but only for the purposes of, the
resolution of such claim. Any covenant or agreement to be performed after the Closing shall survive the Closing in accordance with its terms until performed to the extent such covenant or
agreement is to be performed after the Closing.
7.2

Obligation of Seller and Eagle Materials to Indemnify.

(a)
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article VII, from and after the Closing, Seller and Eagle Materials (the “Seller Indemnifying Parties”) agree
jointly and severally to indemnify Buyer, its Affiliates (including the Acquired Companies), and their respective managers, officers, directors, employees, advisors (including attorneys,
accountants, consultants and financial advisors), equityholders, successors, assigns, agents and representatives
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(collectively, the “Buyer Indemnified Parties”) in respect of, and hold the Buyer Indemnified Parties harmless against, any and all losses, suits, proceedings, judgments, fines, awards, penalties,
demands, assessments, liabilities, damages, claims, deficiencies and all costs (including any costs of collection), expenses, including interest, penalties and reasonable attorneys’ and accountants’
fees and disbursements (each, a “Loss”, and collectively, “Losses”), based upon, resulting from or otherwise in respect of: (i) any breach of any representations and warranties of Seller in
Article IV; and (ii) any breach or nonperformance of any covenants or agreements of Seller in this Agreement to be performed after the Closing.
(b)
The obligation of the Seller Indemnifying Parties to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties for Losses pursuant to this Section 7.2 is subject to the
following limitations: (i) the Seller Indemnifying Parties shall not be required to provide indemnification to any Buyer Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 7.2(a)(i) unless the aggregate amount
of Losses incurred by all the Buyer Indemnified Parties in respect of any claim against the Seller Indemnified Parties for indemnification under Section 7.2(a)(i) exceeds $450,000 (the
“Deductible”), and then the Buyer Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 7.2(a)(i) for only the amount in excess of the Deductible; provided, however, that the
Seller Indemnifying Parties shall not have any indemnification obligations pursuant to Section 7.2(a)(i) with respect to any claim if the Losses relating to such claim are $25,000 or less (a “De
Minimis Claim”) regardless of whether or not the aggregate amount of all Losses has exceeded the Deductible (it being understood that Losses incurred with respect to any De Minimis Claim shall
be a deductible for which the Seller Indemnifying Parties shall bear no indemnification obligations and such Losses shall not be taken into account in determining whether the Deductible has been
satisfied); and (ii) in no event shall the aggregate amount of Losses for which the Seller Indemnifying Parties are obligated to indemnify the Buyer Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 7.2(a)(i)
exceed $7,000,000 (the “Cap”). The limitations set forth in this Section 7.2(b) shall not apply in respect of any claims for indemnification with respect to Fraud or the Fundamental Seller
Representations or pursuant to Section 7.2(a)(ii). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall the Seller Indemnifying Parties be obligated to indemnify the Buyer
Indemnified Parties pursuant to this Section 7.2 for any amounts that, in the aggregate, exceed the Base Purchase Price.
7.3

Obligation of Buyer to Indemnify.

(a)
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Article VII, from and after the Closing, Hammonton Farms and Teichert agree jointly and severally to indemnify
Seller, its Affiliates and their respective managers, officers, directors, employees, advisors (including attorneys, accountants, consultants and financial advisors), equityholders, successors, assigns,
agents and representatives (collectively, the “Seller Indemnified Parties”) in respect of, and hold the Seller Indemnified Parties harmless against, any and all Losses, based upon, resulting from or
otherwise in respect of: (i) any breach of any representation or warranty made by Buyer in Article V; or (ii) any breach or nonperformance of any covenants or agreements of Buyer in this
Agreement to be performed after the Closing.
(b)
The obligation of Buyer to indemnify the Seller Indemnified Parties for Losses pursuant to this Section 7.3 is subject to the following limitations: (i) Buyer
shall not be required to provide indemnification to any Seller Indemnified Party pursuant to Section 7.3(a)(i) unless the aggregate amount of Losses incurred by all the Seller Indemnified Parties in
respect of any claim against Buyer for indemnification under Section 7.3(a)(i) exceeds the Deductible, and
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then the Seller Indemnified Parties shall be entitled to indemnification pursuant to Section 7.3(a)(i) for only the amount in excess of the Deductible; provided, however, that Buyer shall not have
any indemnification obligations pursuant to Section 7.3(a)(i) with respect to any claim that is a De Minimis Claim regardless of whether or not the aggregate amount of all Losses has exceeded the
Deductible (it being understood that Losses incurred with respect to any De Minimis Claim shall be a deductible for which Buyer shall bear no indemnification obligations and such Losses shall
not be taken into account in determining whether the Deductible has been satisfied); and (ii) in no event shall the aggregate amount of Losses for which Buyer is obligated to indemnify the Seller
Indemnified Parties pursuant to Section 7.3(a)(i) exceed the Cap. The limitations set forth in this Section 7.3(b) shall not apply in respect of any claims for indemnification with respect to Fraud or
the Fundamental Buyer Representations or pursuant to Section 7.3(a)(ii). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall Buyer be obligated to indemnify the Seller
Indemnified Parties pursuant to this Section 7.3 for any amounts that, in the aggregate, exceed the Base Purchase Price.
7.4

Notice and Opportunity to Defend.

(a)
Claim Notice. A party entitled to indemnification hereunder (an “Indemnified Party”) shall give the indemnifying party (an “Indemnifying Party”) notice
of any matter which an Indemnified Party has determined has given or would give rise to a right of indemnification under this Agreement, promptly, and in an event within thirty (30) days, of such
determination, stating the amount of the Loss, if known, and method of computation thereof, and containing a reference to the provisions of this Agreement in respect of which such right of
indemnification is claimed or arises (such notice, a “Claim Notice”); provided, however, that the failure to provide a Claim Notice shall not release an Indemnifying Party from any of its
obligations under this Article VII except to the extent such party is prejudiced by such failure.
(b)
Third Party Claims. If the matter specified in the notice provided in Section 7.4(a) relates to a Third Party Claim, then, subject to the other provisions of
this Section 7.4(b), such Indemnifying Party shall be entitled to assume and control the defense of such Third Party Claim at its expense and through counsel of its choice if (i) the Indemnifying
Party gives notice to the Indemnified Party that it will assume the defense of such Third Party Claim within thirty (30) days of the receipt of such notice from the Indemnified Party (unless earlier
notice is reasonably necessary to respond in a timely manner to such Third Party Claim, in which case the Indemnifying Party shall give such earlier notice to the Indemnified Party), (ii) the Third
Party Claim involves only monetary damages and does not seek an injunction or other equitable relief against an Indemnified Party (except where such non-monetary relief is not the primary relief
sought in such claim), (iii) the Indemnifying Party actively and diligently defends the Third Party Claim, as reasonably determined by the Indemnified Party, (iv) the Third Party Claim does not
relate to any criminal proceeding or indictment against an Indemnified Party and (v) the Third Party Claim does not involve a matter for which the total Losses would, or would reasonably be
expected to, materially exceed an amount equal to the Base Purchase Price. In the event that the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of any Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party shall
have the right to participate in the defense of such Third Party Claim with counsel selected by it, and the Indemnified Party shall cooperate with the Indemnifying Party in good faith in such
defense. The Indemnifying Party will keep the Indemnified Party apprised to the extent reasonably practicable of all material developments, including settlement offers, with respect to the
applicable Third Party Claim. The fees and disbursements of the Indemnified Party’s counsel shall be at the expense of
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the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense of the Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 7.4(b), the Indemnifying Party shall not enter into settlement of any
Third Party Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), unless the settlement of such Third Party
Claim (A) imposes no Loss on any Indemnified Party and includes a customary full and general release of each Indemnified Party of all Losses arising from or related to the Third Party Claim and
no admission of fault or wrongdoing by any Indemnified Party, and (B) involves only monetary damages paid in full by the Indemnifying Party and no injunctive or other equitable relief.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, if the Indemnifying Party has assumed the defense of a Third Party Claim in accordance with this Section 7.4(b), no Third Party Claim
may be settled by the Indemnified Party without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party. Notwithstanding any other provision, for the absence of doubt, neither Buyer nor any of its
Affiliates nor, after the date hereof, the Acquired Companies shall have any rights with respect to any claim by a Governmental Body against Seller or any of its Affiliates (excluding the Acquired
Companies) with respect to its or their Taxes, it being understood that this Section 7.4 shall govern all Third Party Claims for Taxes for which Seller would be liable under this Agreement.
(c)
Assumption of Defense by Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party elects not to assume the defense of a Third Party Claim in accordance with Section
7.4(b) or does not deliver notice of its election to assume the defense within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice from the Indemnified Party (unless earlier notice is reasonably necessary to respond
in a timely manner to such Third Party Claim, in which case the Indemnifying Party shall give such earlier notice to the Indemnified Party), or in the event that any of the conditions specified in
clauses (ii) through (v) of Section 7.4(b) is or becomes unsatisfied (i) the Indemnified Party may assume the defense of the Third Party Claim in any manner it may reasonably deem appropriate,
and the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to participate in the defense of such Third Party Claim with counsel selected by it (at its cost and expense); provided, that the Indemnified Party
shall not consent to the entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party, which consent will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed,
(ii) the Indemnifying Party will reimburse the Indemnified Party for the reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs of defending against the Third Party Claim (including reasonable
attorneys’ fees and expenses for one law firm) to the extent such costs and expenses are indemnifiable Losses hereunder, and (iii) the Indemnifying Party will remain responsible for any Losses the
Indemnified Party may suffer resulting from, arising out of, relating to, in the nature of, or caused by the Third Party Claim in accordance with, and subject to the limitations of, this Agreement
(including this Article VII).
(d)
Direct Claims. If the matter specified in the notice provided in Section 7.4(a) relates to any claim, action, cause of action, demand, lawsuit, arbitration,
inquiry, audit, notice of violation, proceeding, litigation, citation, summons, subpoena or investigation of any nature, civil, criminal, administrative, regulatory or otherwise, whether at law or in
equity by an Indemnified Party on account of a Loss that does not result from a Third Party Claim (a “Direct Claim”), the Indemnifying Party shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of such
Claim Notice to respond in writing to such Direct Claim. If the Indemnifying Party does not so respond within such thirty (30) day period, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have rejected
such Direct Claim, in which case the Indemnified Party shall be free to pursue such remedies as may be available to the Indemnified Party on the terms and subject to the provisions of this
Agreement. If
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the Indemnifying Party in its response to such Direct Claim contests the payment of all or part of the amount claimed, then the Indemnifying Party and Indemnified Party shall use good faith
efforts to resolve such dispute.
7.5

Limitations on Liability.

(a)
Inconsistencies. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, the liability of Buyer and the Seller Indemnifying Parties under
this Agreement shall be limited in the manner set out in this Section 7.5. If there is any inconsistency between the provisions of this Section 7.5 and any other provision of this Agreement, then
the provisions of this Section 7.5 shall prevail.
(b)
Limitation of Damages. NEITHER BUYER, SELLER NOR EAGLE MATERIALS SHALL BE LIABLE FOR SPECIAL DAMAGES OR PUNITIVE,
EXEMPLARY OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES UNDER ANY PROVISION OF THIS AGREEMENT; PROVIDED, THAT THE FOREGOING SHALL NOT LIMIT A PERSON’S
ABILITY TO RECOVER ANY SUCH LOSSES ACTUALLY PAID TO A THIRD PARTY IN CONNECTION WITH A THIRD PARTY CLAIM. No Indemnified Party shall have any right to
assert any claim against any Indemnifying Party with respect to any Loss, cause of action or other claim to the extent such alleged Loss is a possible or potential Loss, cause of action or claim the
Indemnified Party believes may be asserted rather than an actual Loss, cause of action or claim that has been paid or incurred by, or asserted in writing against, such Indemnified Party.
(c)
Exclusive Remedy. Except as set forth in Section 2.3, Section 6.10 and Section 8.3, as expressly set forth in any Ancillary Agreement or with respect to
claims involving Fraud, following the Closing, the remedies provided in this Article VII shall be the sole recourse of the Parties for all Losses based upon, arising from or relating to any breach of
any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or the Transactions.
(d)
Calculation of Losses. The amount of any claims for Losses subject to indemnification by any Indemnifying Party under this Article VII shall be
calculated net of any amounts actually recovered by any Indemnified Party or its Affiliates (including the Acquired Companies after the Closing) under any third party, representation and warranty
or other indemnity provisions and insurance policies, taking into account any deductible or retention amount paid or payable by any Indemnified Party or its Affiliates (including any Acquired
Company). Buyer and Seller agree, as applicable, to make or cause to be made all commercially reasonable claims for indemnification or insurance under such third party indemnification
provisions or insurance policies that may be applicable to the matter giving rise to the indemnification claim hereunder.
(e)
Gross Negligence and Willful Misconduct. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, in no event shall any Indemnified Party be entitled to
indemnification pursuant to this Article VII to the extent any Losses were attributable to such Indemnified Party’s own gross negligence or willful misconduct.
(f)
No Duplication. Buyer and the Acquired Companies shall not be entitled to indemnification from the Seller Indemnified Parties hereunder to the extent
(i) Buyer has otherwise been compensated by reason of adjustments (pursuant to Section 2.3) in the calculation of the Closing Purchase Price relative to what it would have been absent such Loss,
(ii) a specific
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liability or reserve relating to such matter has been included in the calculation of the Final Adjustment Amount (pursuant to Section 2.3) or (iii) for a current liability of the type included in
Working Capital.
(g)
Subrogation. Upon making any payment to the Indemnified Party for any indemnification claim pursuant this Article VII, the Indemnifying Party shall be
subrogated, to the extent of such payment, to any rights which the Indemnified Party may have against any third parties with respect to the subject matter underlying such indemnification
claim. The Parties shall cooperate with each other in any notifications to insurers in respect of any claim by any Person who is not a Party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a Party to this
Agreement. If Buyer obtains representation and warranty insurance, it will not contain any subrogation rights against Seller or its Affiliates other than with respect to claims for Fraud. Promptly
following a request by the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified Party will take all reasonably necessary, proper or desirable actions to accomplish the foregoing at the Indemnifying Party’s sole
cost and expense.
Other Indemnification Matters
. All indemnification payments under this Article VII will be deemed adjustments to the Closing Purchase Price to the maximum extent permitted by applicable Law. For purposes
of determining (a) whether there has been any misrepresentation or breach of a representation or warranty and/or (b) the amount of Losses resulting therefrom, in either case, all qualifications or
exceptions in any representation or warranty relating to or referring to the terms “material”, “materiality”, “in all material respects”, “Material Adverse Effect” or any similar term or phrase shall
be disregarded and the representations and warranties of the Parties contained in this Agreement shall be read as if such terms and phrases were not included in them; provided, however, that
clauses (a) and (b) shall not apply with respect to Section 4.6(b)(i) and the terms “Material Contracts” and “Material Company IP Agreements,” and clause (a) shall not apply to Section 4.5,
Sections 4.9(a)(iii), (vi), (vii), (xi) and (xiii), Section 4.10(a) and Section 4.22.
ARTICLE VIII – MISCELLANEOUS
Expenses
. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Party shall bear its own expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of this Agreement and each other
agreement, document and instrument contemplated by this Agreement and the consummation of the Transactions.
8.2

Governing Law; Jurisdiction and Forum; Waiver of Jury Trial.

(a)
This Agreement, and all claims or causes of action (whether in contract, tort or otherwise) that may be based upon, arise out of or relate to this Agreement,
or the negotiation, execution or performance of this Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the Laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to any
choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of
Delaware. In addition, each of the Parties hereto (i) submits to the personal jurisdiction of the Delaware Court of Chancery in and for New Castle County, or in the event (but only in the event)
that the Delaware Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction over such dispute, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, or in the event (but only in the event)
that such United States District Court also does not have jurisdiction over such dispute, any Delaware State court sitting in New Castle County, in the event any dispute (whether in contract, tort or
otherwise) arises out
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of this Agreement or the Transactions, (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court, and (iii) agrees that it
will not bring any Legal Proceeding relating to this Agreement or the Transactions in any court other than the Delaware Court of Chancery in and for New Castle County, or in the event (but only
in the event) that the Delaware Court of Chancery does not have subject matter jurisdiction over such Legal Proceeding, the United States District Court for the District of Delaware, or in the event
(but only in the event) that such United States District Court also does not have jurisdiction over such Legal Proceeding, any Delaware State court sitting in New Castle County. Each Party agrees
that service of process upon such Party in any such Legal Proceeding shall be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 8.6.
(b)
EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A
TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, UNDER OR IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, ANY
ANCILLARY AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS. Each Party hereto (i) certifies that no representative, agent or attorney of any other Party has represented, expressly or otherwise, that
such other Party would not, in the event of litigation, seek to enforce that foregoing waiver and (ii) acknowledges that it and the other Parties hereto have been induced to enter into this Agreement
and the Ancillary Agreements, as applicable, by, among other things, the mutual waivers and certifications in this Section 8.2(b).
Specific Performance
. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any of the provisions of this Agreement were not performed, or were threatened to be not performed, in accordance with
their specific terms or were otherwise breached. Accordingly, the Parties acknowledge and agree that, subject to this Section 8.3, the Parties shall be entitled to an injunction, specific performance
and other equitable relief to prevent breaches or threatened breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement, this being in addition to any other
remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity.
Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers
. This Agreement (including the Company Disclosure Schedule and Buyer Disclosure Schedule and exhibits hereto and thereto), the Ancillary Agreements (and the exhibits and
schedules thereto) and the Confidentiality Agreement represent the entire understanding and agreement between the Parties hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement can be
amended, supplemented or changed, and any provision hereof can be waived, only by written agreement signed by all Parties hereto. No action taken pursuant to this Agreement, including any
investigation by or on behalf of any Party, shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Party taking such action of compliance with any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained
herein. The waiver by any Party hereto of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or as a waiver of any other
or subsequent breach. No failure on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such Party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy.
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Certain Interpretive Matters
. Unless otherwise expressly provided, for purposes of this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation shall apply:
(a)
Calculation of Time Period. When calculating the period of time before which, within which or following which any act is to be done or step taken
pursuant to this Agreement, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period shall be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-Business Day, the period in question shall end on
the next succeeding Business Day.
(b)

Dollars. Any reference in this Agreement to “$” shall mean U.S. dollars.

(c)
Exhibits/Schedules. All Exhibits and Schedules annexed hereto or referred to herein are hereby incorporated in and made a part of this Agreement as if set
forth in full herein. Any capitalized terms used in any Schedule or Exhibit but not otherwise defined therein shall be defined as set forth in this Agreement.
(d)
Headings. The provision of a Table of Contents, the division of this Agreement into Articles, Sections and other subdivisions and the insertion of headings
are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect or be utilized in construing or interpreting this Agreement. All references in this Agreement to any “Article” or “Section” are to the
corresponding Article or Section of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.
(e)
Usage. All pronouns and any variations thereof refer to the masculine, feminine or neuter, singular or plural, as the context may require. All terms defined
in this Agreement in their singular or plural forms have correlative meanings when used in this Agreement in their plural or singular forms, respectively. Unless otherwise expressly provided, the
words “include,” “includes” and “including” do not limit the preceding words or terms and shall be deemed to be followed by the words “without limitation.” All references to real property rights,
or rights in real property, shall be deemed to include water rights for purposes of Sections 4.6(b)(x), 4.17, 4.22(g), 4.22(h), 4.22(i), 5.9 and 6.14.
(f)
No Drafting Presumptions. The Parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement and the other agreements
contemplated hereby and, in the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as jointly drafted by the Parties hereto and no presumption or
burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.
Notices
. All notices and other communications under this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given (a) when delivered personally by hand (with written confirmation of
receipt), (b) when transmitted by electronic mail to the address set out below for such recipient if the sender on the same day sends a confirming copy of such notice, demand or other
communication by a recognized overnight delivery service (charges prepaid) or (c) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier (with written confirmation of receipt), in each
case at the following addresses (or to such other address as a Party may have specified by notice given to the other Party pursuant to this provision):
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If to Seller or Eagle Materials, to:
CCP Concrete/Aggregates LLC
c/o Eagle Materials Inc.
5960 Berkshire Lane, Suite 900
Dallas, Texas 75225
Attention: General Counsel
Email: jgraass@eaglematerials.com
With a copy to:
Sidley Austin LLP
2021 McKinney Avenue, Suite 2000
Dallas, Texas 75201
Attention: S. Scott Parel, Aaron Rigby
Telephone: (214) 981-3431, (214) 969-3538
Email: sparel@sidley.com, arigby@sidley.com
If to Buyer, to:
Teichert, Inc.
3500 American River Drive
Sacramento, CA 95864
Attention: Ron Gatto
Telephone: (916) 484-3282
Email: rgatto@teichert.com
With a copy to:
Shartsis Friese LLP
One Maritime Plaza, 18th Floor
San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: Michael Dell
Telephone: (415) 421-6500
Email: mdell@sflaw.com
Severability
. If any term or other provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced by any law or public policy, all other terms or provisions of this Agreement shall
nevertheless remain in full force and effect so long as the economic or legal substance of the Transactions is not affected in any manner materially adverse to any Party. Upon such determination
that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal, or incapable of being enforced, the Parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the
Parties as closely as possible in an acceptable manner in order that the Transactions are consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.
Binding Effect; Assignment; Third Party Beneficiaries
. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted
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assigns. Nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create any third party beneficiary rights in any person or entity not a party to this Agreement, except that (a) the Indemnified
Directors and Officers are express third-party beneficiaries of Section 6.6, (b) the Related Parties of the Parties (and, in the case of any Ancillary Agreement, the applicable parties thereto) are
express third-party beneficiaries of Section 8.11 and (c) the Seller Releasees and Buyer Releasees are express third-party beneficiaries of Section 8.13(a) and Section 8.13(b), respectively. No
assignment of this Agreement or of any rights or obligations hereunder may be made by any Party, directly or indirectly (by operation of Law or otherwise), without the prior written consent of the
other Parties hereto (which may be withheld in their sole discretion) and any attempted assignment without the required consents shall be void; provided, that, in connection with the Spin-Off,
without the consent of Buyer, Eagle Materials may assign all rights and obligations under this Agreement and any Ancillary Agreement to which it is a party to the publicly traded entity resulting
from the Spin-Off. No assignment of any obligations hereunder shall relieve the assigning Party hereto of any such obligations.
Counterparts
. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this Agreement and all of which, when taken together, will
be deemed to constitute one and the same agreement. This Agreement or any counterpart may be executed and delivered by electronic communications by portable document format (.pdf), each
of which shall be deemed an original.
Disclosure Schedule
. The Company Disclosure Schedule and Buyer Disclosure Schedule have been arranged for purposes of convenience only, in sections corresponding to the Sections of Article II,
Article III, Article IV, Article V and Article VI, as applicable. Any exception or qualification set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedule or Buyer Disclosure Schedule with respect to a
particular representation or warranty contained in Article IV or Article V of this Agreement, as applicable, shall be deemed to be an exception or qualification with respect to those other
representations and warranties contained in Article IV or Article V of this Agreement, as applicable, to which the relevance of such exception or qualification is reasonably apparent. To the extent
that any representation or warranty contained in Article IV or Article V of this Agreement is limited or qualified by the materiality of the matters to which the representation or warranty is given,
the inclusion of any matter in the Company Disclosure Schedule or Buyer Disclosure Schedule, as applicable, does not constitute a determination by Seller that such matters are material. In
addition, under no circumstances shall the disclosure of any matter in the Company Disclosure Schedule or Buyer Disclosure Schedule, as applicable, where a representation or warranty in
Article IV or Article V of this Agreement, as applicable, is limited or qualified by the materiality of the matters to which the representation or warranty is given imply that any other undisclosed
matter having a greater value or other significance is material.
Limitation on Recourse
. Any claim or cause of action based upon, arising out of, or related to this Agreement, the Ancillary Agreements or the Transactions may only be brought against Persons that are
expressly named as Parties (and, in the case of any Ancillary Agreement, the applicable parties thereto), and then only with respect to the specific obligations set forth herein. Other than the
Parties (and, in the case of any Ancillary Agreement, the applicable parties thereto), no Related Party of any Party (or the applicable party to any Ancillary Agreement), and no Related Party of a
Related Party shall have any liability or obligation for any of the representations, warranties, covenants, agreements, obligations or liabilities of any party under this
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Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or for any Legal Proceeding based on, in respect of, or by reason of, the Transactions, in each case, whether based on Contract, tort, fraud, strict liability,
other Laws or otherwise and whether by piercing the corporate veil, by a claim by or on behalf of a party or another Person or otherwise.
Provision Respecting Legal Representation
.
(a)
It is acknowledged by each Party that each of Seller, the Acquired Companies and their Affiliates have retained Sidley Austin LLP and Jeffer Mangels
Butler & Mitchell LLP (collectively, “Seller Counsel”) to act as their counsel in connection with the Transactions and the Ancillary Agreements. The Parties hereby agree that, in the event that a
dispute arises after the Closing between Buyer, any Acquired Company, and/or their Affiliates, on the one hand, and Seller and/or its Affiliates, on the other hand, Seller Counsel may represent
Seller and its Affiliates in such dispute even though the interests of Seller and its Affiliates may be directly adverse to Buyer, the Acquired Companies or their respective Affiliates, and even
though Seller Counsel may have represented an Acquired Company in a matter substantially related to such dispute, or may be handling ongoing matters for Buyer, any Acquired Company or any
of their Affiliates. Buyer further agrees that, as to all communications among Seller Counsel, Seller, any Acquired Company, and/or any of their respective Affiliates, or any of them, that relate
primarily to the Transactions and the Ancillary Agreements (collectively, the “Privileged Communications”), the attorney-client privilege and the expectation of client confidence belongs to Seller
and may be controlled by Seller and shall not pass to or be claimed by Buyer, the Acquired Companies or any of their Affiliates. The Privileged Communications are the property of Seller, and
from and after the Closing, none of the Acquired Companies, their Affiliates, or any Person purporting to act on behalf of or through any Acquired Company or its Affiliates will seek to obtain
such communications, whether by seeking a waiver of the attorney-client privilege or through other means. As to any such Privileged Communications made prior to the Closing, Buyer and the
Acquired Companies, together with any of their respective Affiliates, successors and assigns, further agree that no such party may use or rely on any of the Privileged Communications in any
Legal Proceeding against or involving any of the Parties after the Closing. The Privileged Communications may be used by Seller in connection with any dispute that relates in any way to the
Transactions and the Ancillary Agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a dispute arises after the Closing between Buyer, any Acquired Company or any of their Affiliates and
any Person who is not a Party to this Agreement or an Affiliate of a Party to this Agreement, each Acquired Company and its Affiliates may assert the attorney-client privilege to prevent
disclosure of confidential communications by Seller Counsel, or any of them, to such non-Party or Affiliate thereof; provided, however, that none of the Acquired Companies nor their Affiliates
may waive such privilege without the prior written consent of Seller.
(b)
Subject to Section 8.12(a), Seller agrees to provide a waiver of conflicts to the extent necessary for Buyer to engage Jeffer Mangels Butler & Mitchell LLP
following the Closing with respect to the Yuba Goldfields and related matters so long as such engagement (i) is unrelated to the Transaction or the negotiation, execution or performance of this
Agreement or any Ancillary Agreement or (ii) does not involve, concern or relate to any matter, including any adverse proceeding, between Buyer, any Acquired Company, and/or their Affiliates,
on the one hand, and Seller and/or its Affiliates, on the other hand.
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8.13

Release.

(a)
Buyer, on behalf of itself and each of its Subsidiaries (including the Acquired Companies), and each of their respective successors and assigns, hereby
irrevocably, unconditionally and completely waives and releases and forever discharges Seller, its Affiliates and each of their respective Related Parties and their respective successors and assigns
(such released Persons, the “Seller Releasees”), in each case, from all demands, proceedings, causes of action, suits, accounts, covenants, Contracts, agreements, Losses and other Liabilities
whatsoever of every name and nature, both in law and in equity, arising out of or related to events, circumstances or actions taken by the Seller Releasees (including the Acquired Companies)
occurring or failing to occur, in each case, at or prior to the Closing. Buyer shall not make, and Buyer shall not permit any of its Affiliates to make, any claim or demand, or commence any
proceeding asserting any claim or demand, including any claim of contribution or any indemnification, against any of the Seller Releasees with respect to any Liabilities released pursuant to this
Section 8.13(a). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 8.13(a) shall not constitute a release from, waiver of, or otherwise affect (i) any rights of Buyer or its Affiliates under this Agreement,
any Ancillary Agreement or any Liability expressly contemplated by this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any other transaction document to be in effect between Seller and Buyer (or their
respective Affiliates) after the Closing, or any enforcement thereof, (ii) any rights of Buyer or its Affiliates under any supply or other agreements between Seller and Buyer (or their respective
Affiliates) entered into in the ordinary course of business and described on Section 8.13 of the Company Disclosure Schedule, or any enforcement thereof, (iii) claims against Seller for Fraud or
(iv) any right of any Buyer Indemnified Party under Article VII.
(b)
Seller, on behalf of itself and each of its Subsidiaries (other than the Acquired Companies), and each of their respective successors and assigns, hereby
irrevocably, unconditionally and completely waives and releases and forever discharges the Acquired Companies and their respective successors and assigns (such released Persons, the “Buyer
Releasees”), in each case, from all demands, proceedings, causes of action, suits, accounts, covenants, Contracts, agreements, Losses and other Liabilities whatsoever of every name and nature,
both in law and in equity, arising out of or related to events, circumstances or actions taken by the Buyer Releasees occurring or failing to occur, in each case, at or prior to the Closing. Seller shall
not make, and Seller shall not permit any of its Affiliates to make, any claim or demand, or commence any proceeding asserting any claim or demand, including any claim of contribution or any
indemnification, against any of the Buyer Releasees with respect to any Liabilities released pursuant to this Section 8.13(b). Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Section 8.13(b) shall not constitute
a release from, waiver of, or otherwise affect (i) any rights of Seller or its Affiliates under this Agreement, any Ancillary Agreement or any Liability expressly contemplated by this Agreement,
any Ancillary Agreement or any other transaction document to be in effect between Seller and Buyer (or their respective Affiliates) after the Closing, or any enforcement thereof, (ii) any rights of
Seller or its Affiliates under any supply or other agreements between Seller and Buyer (or their respective Affiliates) entered into in the ordinary course of business and described on Section 8.13
of the Company Disclosure Schedule, or any enforcement thereof, (iii) claims against Buyer for Fraud or (iv) any right of any Seller Indemnified Party under Article VII.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as of the date first
written above.
CCP CONCRETE/AGGREGATES LLC

By:
Name: D. Craig Kesler
Title: Senior Vice President – Finance and
Treasurer
EAGLE MATERIALS INC.

By:
Name: D. Craig Kesler
Title: Executive Vice President – Finance and
Administration and Chief Financial
Officer

[Signature Page to Membership Interest Purchase Agreement]

HAMMONTON FARMS, LLC

By:
Name:
Title:

TEICHERT, INC.

By:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Membership Interest Purchase Agreement]

EXHIBIT A
FORM OF QUITCLAIM DEED
(See attached)

Exhibit 21
The following is a list of subsidiaries of Eagle Materials Inc., wholly-owned unless otherwise stated. This list of subsidiaries includes all of the significant subsidiaries of Eagle Materials Inc. as of May 22, 2020.

Entity Name

Jurisdiction of
Organization

AG DALLAS LLC
AG SOUTH CAROLINA LLC

Delaware
Delaware

AMERICAN GYPSUM COMPANY LLC

Delaware

AMERICAN GYPSUM MARKETING COMPANY LLC

Delaware

AUDUBON MATERIALS LLC
d/b/a Central Plains Cement Company LLC

Delaware

AUDUBON READYMIX LLC
d/b/a Quicksilver Readymix LLC

Delaware

CCP CEMENT COMPANY LLC

Nevada

CCP CONCRETE/AGGREGATES LLC
CCP GYPSUM LLC

Delaware
Nevada

CENTEX MATERIALS LLC
CRS PROPPANTS LLC
d/b/a Northern White Sand LLC

Delaware
Delaware

ILLINOIS CEMENT COMPANY LLC
EAGLE OIL AND GAS PROPPANTS HOLDINGS LLC
EAGLE OIL AND GAS PROPPANTS LLC
d/b/a Northern White Sand LLC
FAIRBORN CEMENT COMPANY LLC
HOLLIS & EASTERN RAILROAD COMPANY LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

KANSAS CITY AGGREGATE LLC
d/b/a Talon Concrete and Aggregates LLC

Delaware

KANSAS CITY FLY ASH LLC

Delaware

KANSAS CITY READYMIX LLC
d/b/a Talon Concrete and Aggregates LLC

Delaware

KOSMOS CEMENT COMPANY LLC

Delaware

MATHEWS READYMIX LLC

California

Delaware
Delaware

MOUNTAIN CEMENT COMPANY LLC
MOUNTAIN LAND & CATTLE COMPANY LLC

Nevada
Nevada

NEVADA CEMENT COMPANY LLC

Nevada

NORTHERN WHITE SAND LLC

Delaware

REPUBLIC PAPERBOARD COMPANY LLC
RIO GRANDE DRYWALL SUPPLY CO LLC

Delaware
Nevada

SKYWAY CEMENT COMPANY LLC
TEXAS CEMENT COMPANY

Delaware
Nevada

TEXAS LEHIGH CEMENT COMPANY LP
d/b/a Texas Lehigh Cement

50%

Texas

TLCC GP LLC

Delaware

TLCC LP LLC

Delaware

TULSA CEMEMT LLC
d/b/a Central Plains Cement Company LLC

Delaware

WESTERN AGGREGATES LLC

Nevada

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-82820) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-82928) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-84394) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-54102) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-163061) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-190487) of Eagle Materials Inc., and
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-228205) of Eagle Materials Inc.;

of our reports dated May 22, 2020, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Eagle Materials Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Eagle Materials Inc., included in this Annual Report
(Form 10-K) of Eagle Materials Inc. for the year ended March 31, 2020.
We also consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-82820) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-82928) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 33-84394) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-54102) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-163061) of Eagle Materials Inc.,
Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-190487) of Eagle Materials Inc., and
Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-228205) of Eagle Materials Inc.;

of our report dated May 22, 2020, with respect to the financial statements of Texas Lehigh Cement Company LP as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Eagle Materials Inc. for
the year ended March 31, 2020.
/s/ Ernst & Young

Dallas, Texas
May 22, 2020

Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Periodic Report Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Michael R. Haack, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Eagle Materials Inc.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures [as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)] and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated:

May 22, 2020

By:

/s/ Michael R. Haack
Michael R. Haack
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Periodic Report Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, D. Craig Kesler, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of Eagle Materials Inc.;

2.
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3.
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4.
The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures [as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)] and internal
control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a)
Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b)
Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c)
Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d)
Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case
of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5.
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)
All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and
b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Dated:

May 22, 2020

By:

/s/ D. Craig Kesler
D. Craig Kesler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

Certification of Periodic Report Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Eagle Materials Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael R. Haack, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:
(i)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(ii)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated:

May 22, 2020

By:

/s/ Michael R. Haack
Michael R. Haack
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 32.2

Certification of Periodic Report Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Eagle Materials Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended March 31, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, D. Craig Kesler, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. section 1350, as adopted pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:
(i)

the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(ii)

the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated:

May 22, 2020

By:

/s/ D. Craig Kesler
D. Craig Kesler
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE
Section 1503 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act contains reporting requirements regarding mine safety. The operation of our quarries is subject to regulation by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration, or MSHA, unde
Mine Act. Set forth below is the required information regarding certain mining safety and health matters for the twelve month period ended March 31, 2020 for our facilities. In evaluating this information, consideration should be given to factors such as: (i) the n
size of the quarry, (ii) the number of citations issued will vary from inspector-to-inspector and mine-to-mine, and (iii) citations and orders can be contested and appealed, and in that process, may be reduced in severity and amount, and are sometimes dismissed.

Mine or Operating Name/MSHA
Identification Number
3D Concrete LLC (2)
Lander, NV (2602434)
3D Concrete LLC (2)
Lyon, Nevada (2602412)
American Gypsum Company LLC
Albuquerque, NM (2900181)
American Gypsum Company LLC
Duke, OK (3400256)
American Gypsum Company LLC
Eagle, CO (0503997)
Centex Materials LLC
Buda, TX (4102241)
Central Plains Cement Company
Sugar Creek, MO (2302171)
Central Plains Cement Company
Tulsa, OK (3400026)
Fairborn Cement Company LLC
Greene County, OH (3300161)
Great Northern Sand LLC
Barron Co., WI (4703646)
Great Northern Sand LLC
Barron Co., WI (4703740)
Illinois Cement Company
LaSalle, IL (1100003)
Kosmos Cement Company LLC (3)
Jefferson, KY (1504469)
Mountain Cement Company LLC
Laramie, WY (4800007)
Nevada Cement Company LLC
Fernley, NV (2600015)
Northern White Sand LLC
Utica, IL (1103253)
Western Aggregates LLC
Yuba, CA (0404950)

Section 104
S&S Citations

Section
104(b)
Orders

0

0

0

0

0

$0

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$726

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$484

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$0

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$242

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$244

0

no

no

24

0

0

0

0

$148,533

0

no

no

7

0

0

0

0

$30,472

0

no

no

3

0

0

0

0

$ 10,725

0

no

no

1

0

0

0

0

$1,668

0

no

no

2

0

0

0

0

$725

0

no

no

3

0

0

0

0

$7,997

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$0

0

no

no

8

0

0

0

0

$30,276

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$742

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$780

0

no

no

0

0

0

0

0

$1,005

0

no

no

Section 104(d)
Section 110(b)
Citations and Orders (2) Violations

Section
107(a)
Orders

(1) All legal actions were penalty contests.
(2) On August 2, 2019, Eagle Materials Inc. acquired 3D Concrete LLC and began operating the facility on August 3, 2019.
(3) On March 5, 2020, Eagle Materials Inc. acquired Kosmos Cement Company LLC and began operating the facility on March 6, 2020.

Total Dollar Value of MSHA Total Number of Mining
Assessments Proposed
Related Fatalities

Received Notice of Pattern of
Violations Under Section 104(e)
(yes/no)

Received Notice of Potential to Have
Pattern Under Section 104(e)
Legal A
(yes/no)
Las

